Université de Montréal

The Research for International Response to the Loss and Damage Caused by Climate Change

Faculté de droit

Thèse présentée en vue de l'obtention

du grade de doctorat en droit

January 2021



Abstract

Climate change is becoming more and more serious, which has triggered extensive

discussion on how to deal with it. The international response are mitigation and adaptation. This

thesis considers that adaptation is more important for the Loss and Damage caused by climate

change. The first question addressed in the present thesis is what the definition of Loss and

Damage caused by climate change is. Another principal question is how to fulfill the adaptation

obligation in response to the Loss and Damage.

For the adaptation obligation, the research aims to give some suggestions: to make full use

of the measures under the Warsaw International Mechanism; to improve the implementation

mechanism of the Paris Agreement to ensure that the contracting parties fulfill their

international obligations. The thesis also analyzes China's countermeasures, and it suggests that

China should formulate appropriate emission reduction policies and foreign aid policies.

The thesis analyzes the "common but differentiated responsibility principle". The purpose

is to discuss the prospect of the principle on adaptation obligations. Countries adhere to the

principle and fulfill the adaptation obligations or the assistance obligations for other countries.

Keywords: climate change, loss and damage, mitigation obligations, adaptation obligations,

implementation and compliance Mechanism

ii

Résumé

Le changement climatique devient de plus en plus grave, ce qui a déclenché un débat approfondi sur la manière d'y faire face. La réponse internationale est l'atténuation et l'adaptation. Cette thèse considère que l'adaptation est plus importante pour les Pertes et Dommages causés par le changement climatique. La première question abordée dans la présente thèse est de savoir quelle est la définition des Pertes et Dommages causés par le changement climatique. Une autre question principale est de savoir comment remplir l'obligation d'adaptation en réponse aux Pertes et Dommages.

Pour l'obligation d'adaptation, la recherche vise à donner quelques suggestions: tirer pleinement parti des mesures du Mécanisme international de Varsovie; améliorer le mécanisme de mise en œuvre de l'Accord de Paris afin de garantir que les parties contractantes remplissent leurs obligations internationales. La thèse analyse également les contre-mesures de la Chine et suggère que la Chine devrait formuler des politiques appropriées de réduction des émissions et des politiques d'aide étrangère.

La thèse analyse le « principe de responsabilité commune mais différenciée ». L'objectif est de discuter de la perspective du principe sur les obligations d'adaptation. Les pays adhèrent au principe et remplissent les obligations d'adaptation ou les obligations d'assistance pour les autres pays.

Mots-clés: changement climatique, pertes et dommages, obligations d'atténuation, obligations d'adaptation, mécanisme de mise en œuvre et de conformité

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Introduction	1
Part 1 The definition of the Loss and Damage caused by climate change	18
1.1 The emergence and evolution of the Loss and Damage	18
1.1.1 Climate change	19
1.1.2 The consequences of climate change	30
1.1.3 Loss and Damage in international climate change law	45
1.2 The definition of the Loss and Damage	59
1.2.1 Defining the Loss and Damage	62
1.2.2 The characteristics of the Loss and Damage	71
1.2.3 Conclusion.	75
Part 2 The legal response to the Loss and Damage caused by climate change	77
2.1 The general ways in international environmental law to deal with reparation	
damage to the environment	78
2.1.1 The evolution of State Responsibility	
2.1.2 The ways for the damage to the environment	
2.2 The fulfilment of adaptation obligations for Loss and Damage	
2.2.1 The adaptation obligations for the Loss and Damage	
2.2.2 The relationship between adaptation and mitigation	
2.2.3 The existing tool for the adaptation obligations: Warsaw Inter-	
Mechanism	
2.2.3.1 Comprehensive risk	
2.2.3.2 Share information and enhance support	
2.2.3.3 Immigration programs	
2.3 Implementation and Compliance Mechanism	
2.3.1 The evolution of the Non-Compliance Mechanism	
2.3.2 The Compliance Mechanism in the Paris Agreement	
2.3.2.1 The deficiencies of the Compliance Mechanism	
2.3.2.2 The recommendations for the Compliance Mechanism	
2.3.3 A new approach to compliance controldomestic courts	
2.4 The domestic response to the climate change in China	
2.4.1 The functions of the National Development and Reform Commission	
2.4.2 The laws and reports for the climate change	
2.4.3 Climate change litigation in China	174
Part 3 The basic principle for addressing the Loss and Damage: common but different	entiated
responsibility principle	185
3.1 Overview of general principles in the international environmental law	186
3.2 The conceptual framework of common but differentiated responsibility princip	ole 197
3.2.1 Common responsibility	
3.2.2 Differentiated responsibility	
3.2.3 Philosophical roots for the principle	

3.3 The common but differentiated responsibility principle in climate change law	212
3.3.1 The proposition of the climate change treaties	213
3.3.2 The principle for mitigation obligations	216
3.3.3 The prospect of the principle on adaptation obligations	224
Conclusion	237
Bibliography	250

List of Abbreviations

Am J Comp L American Journal of Comparative Law

Am J Int'l L American Journal of International Law

Am J Legal Hist American Journal of Legal History

Ariz L Rev Arizona Law Review

art article

arts articles

Brook J Int'l L Brooklyn Journal of International Law

Cambridge LJ Cambridge Law Journal

Campbell L Rev Campbell Law Review

Can Canada

Can Bar J Canada Bar Journal

Comp & Int'l LJS Afr

Comparative and International Law Journal of

Southern Africa

ed edition/editor

eds editors

ER English Reports

ERPL European Review of Private Law

F Federal Reporter

F (2d) Federal Reporter (Second Series)

F (3d) Federal Reporter (Third Series)

F Supp Federal Supplement

GA General Assembly

Harv Int'l LJ Harvard International Law Journal

Harv L Rev Harvard Law Review

ILM International Legal Materials

IML International Maritime Law

Int'l Law International Lawyer

Int'l Rev L & Econ International Review of Law & Economics

J Justice/Judge

J Bus L Journal of Business Law

J Legal Stud Journal of Legal Studies

J Legis Journal of Legislation

LS Legal Studies

McGill LJ McGill Law Journal

NSW New South Wales

NSWLR New South Wales Law Reports

NZ New Zealand

n footnote

OR Official Records

para paragraph

paras paragraphs

Res Resolution

UN United Nations

UNTS United Nations Treaty Series

US United States / United States Reports

USC United States Code

Vict Victoria

vol volume

Yale LJ Yale Law Journal

Acknowledgements

First of all, I would like to express my heartfelt thanks to Professor Helene Trudeau for her support and encouragement. She helped me finish the thesis. Her guidance for my research and career is invaluable.

In addition, I would like to thank all the lecturers I met at Montreal University for their contributions to my professional knowledge accumulation, our lovely secretaries for their hard work, and our lovely librarians for their kindness. I also thank my classmates and friends for their generosity and kindness. They helped me overcome the difficulties and made me feel loved.

Last but not the least, I want to express my gratitude to my parents, who have supported me over the past three years. Their unselfish love brightens my past life and gives me the courage to embrace my future path.

Introduction

The Loss and Damage caused by climate change has been considered one of the threats to human beings and the global environment. The United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC)¹, in its Article 1, defines that "adverse effects of climate change' means changes in the physical environment or biota resulting from climate change which have significant deleterious effects on the composition, resilience or productivity of natural and managed ecosystems or on the operation of socio-economic systems or on human health and welfare." The *Kyoto Protocol* ²in Article 3 provides that "the Parties included in Annex I shall, individually or jointly, ensure that their aggregate anthropogenic carbon dioxide equivalent emissions of the greenhouse gases listed in Annex A do not exceed their assigned amounts, calculated pursuant to their quantified emission limitation and reduction commitments inscribed in Annex B and in accordance with the provisions of this Article, with a view to reducing their overall emissions of such gases by at least 5 percent below 1990 levels in the commitment period 2008 to 2012."

In 2010, the 16th Conference of the Parties to the *UNFCCC* established the Cancun Adaptation Framework with the objective of enhancing action on adaptation, including through international cooperation and coherent consideration of matters relating to adaptation under the Convention. The Cancun Agreement invites all Parties

1

¹ United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change, 4 June 1992, UNTS, (entered into force 21 March 1994), online: https://UNFCCC.int/resource/docs/convkp/conveng.pdf.

² Kyoto Protocol, December 1997, UNTS, (entered into force 16 February 2005), online: https://UNFCCC.int/resource/docs/convkp/kpeng.pdf.

to enhance action on adaptation under the Cancun Adaptation Framework, taking into account their common but differentiated responsibilities and respective capabilities, and specific national and regional development priorities, objectives and circumstances.³ The Cancun Adaptation Framework reemphasized the obligation of adaptation under Article 4 (1) (b) of the UNFCCC and invited Parties to cooperate regarding specific actions on the national, regional, and international levels when it comes to the issue of population movement due to climate change. 4 Under the Cancun Adaptation Framework, the "Warsaw International Mechanism on Loss and Damage" was eventually formed at the 19th Conference of the Parties to the UNFCCC in 2013. It decides that the Warsaw International Mechanism shall fulfil the role under the Convention of promoting the implementation of approaches to address loss and damage associated with the adverse effects of climate change. 5 Warsaw International Mechanism has the task of dealing with Loss and Damage, coordinating the work of existing institutions, holding meetings, and preparing materials. Through international cooperation, we consider the national conditions of each country to effectively fulfill its international obligations, and strengthens its capacity for disaster prevention and reduction. The Warsaw Mechanism enhances knowledge and understanding of comprehensive risk management approaches to address loss and damage associated

³ United Nations, Report of the Conference of the Parties on its sixteenth session, Official Records FCCC/CP/2010/7/Add.1 (Cancun: UN, 2010) at 4, online:

https://UNFCCC.int/documents?f%5B0%5D=conference%3A3399&f%5B1%5D=conference%3A3452.

⁴ Mariya Gromilova, "Finding Opportunities to Combat the Climate Change Migration Crisis: The Potential of the 'Adaptation Approach'" (2016) 33 Pace Envtl Rev 105 at 107.

United Nations, Report of the Conference of the Parties on its nineteenth session, Official Records FCCC/CP/2013/10/Add.1 (Warsaw: United Nations, 2013) at 6, online:

https://UNFCCC.int/documents?f%5B0%5D=conference%3A3667&f%5B1%5D=conference%3A3936&search=&page=0%2C0%2C1.

with the adverse effects of climate change. ⁶ It puts adaptation ⁷ obligation in an important position and its purpose is to strengthen adaptive capacity through international cooperation. In December 2015, a binding agreement, the *Paris Agreement*⁸ was adopted at the Conference of the Parties to the *UNFCCC*. In Article 8, it provided "Parties recognize the importance of averting, minimizing and addressing Loss and Damage associated with the adverse effects of climate change, including extreme weather events and slow onset events, and the role of sustainable development in reducing the risk of Loss and Damage. The Warsaw International Mechanism for Loss and Damage associated with Climate Change Impacts shall be subject to the authority and guidance of the Conference of the Parties serving as the meeting of the Parties to this Agreement and may be enhanced and strengthened, as determined by the Conference of the Parties serving as the meeting of the Parties to this Agreement."

As described above, international conventions or agreements mainly propose two kinds of obligations: mitigation obligations and adaptation obligations. "The mitigation measures under the climate change regime do not work well for addressing the loss and damage. Measures to reduce, or "mitigate," greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions are, of course, of central importance. However, even if the international community were to

⁶ United Nations, *Report of the Conference of the Parties on its nineteenth session*, Official Records FCCC/CP/2013/10/Add.1 (Warsaw: United Nations, 2013) at 6, online: https://UNFCCC.int/documents?f%5B0%5D=conference%3A3936&search=&page=0%2C0%2C1.

⁷ "Adaptation is the process of adjustment to actual or expected climate and its effects. In human systems, adaptation seeks to moderate or avoid harm or exploit beneficial opportunities. In some natural systems, human intervention may facilitate adjustment to expected climate and its effects". See R K Pachauri, Leo Mayer & Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, *Climate change 2014: synthesis report* (Geneva, Switzerland: Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, 2015) at 118, online:

http://www.ipcc.ch/publications and data/publications and data reports.shtml.

⁸ See Paris Agreement, 12 December 2015, UNTS, (entered into force 22 April 2016), online: https://UNFCCC.int/sites/default/files/english paris agreement.pdf.

adapt robust measures to mitigate GHG emissions, accumulated GHG emissions would nonetheless continue to warm the planet and change its climate. And the truth is that worldwide GHG emissions are increasing, not decreasing, with little sign of an imminent turnaround. Consequently, policymakers must focus not only on mitigating emissions, but also on adapting to climate change." ⁹ Countries should not be biased towards mitigation or adaptation. Legislation and policy should not be inclined to mitigation and ignore the role of adaptation. Countries should handle the relationship between mitigation and adaptation and make a good balance between them. In response to the Loss and Damage, my thesis is aiming to do some research on the fulfillment of adaptation obligation. Because the Warsaw International Mechanism was established to deal with Loss and Damage, and it mainly discussed adaptation measures, my research used the Warsaw International Mechanism as a legal tool to solve the problem of how to fulfill the obligation of adaptation. In 2017, the Conference of the Parties encourages Parties to actively engage in the work and to disseminate, promote and make use of the products of the Warsaw International Mechanism and its Executive Committee, including by: " (c) incorporating or continuing to incorporate the consideration of extreme weather events and slow onset events, non-economic losses, climate change impacts on human mobility, including migration, displacement and planned relocation, and comprehensive risk management into relevant policy, planning and action, as appropriate, and encouraging relevant bilateral and multilateral entities to support such efforts. The Conference of the Parties reiterates its invitation to

⁹ Alice Kaswan, "Climate Change Adaptation and Land Use: Exploring the Federal Role" (2013) 47 J Marshall Rev 509 at 509, 510. See also Elisabeth Long; Eric Biber, "The Wilderness Act and Climate Change Adaptation" (2014) 44 Envtl. L.623 at 623.

constituted bodies under the Convention, as appropriate, to continue to integrate into their work efforts to avert, minimize and address loss and damage associated with the adverse effects of climate change in developing countries that are particularly vulnerable to the adverse effects of climate change, vulnerable populations and the ecosystems that they depend on."¹⁰ "It can be seen that the Warsaw International Mechanism has been emphasizing the role of risk management and migration. Risk assessments can be quantitative, where the emphasis lies on the expression of numerical results, or they can include qualitative assessments. Broader definitions of risk assessment include the analysis of risk perception, economic considerations and risk trade-off analysis. It has been held that the process of risk assessment contains three main parts: the identification of potential outcomes; the estimation of the magnitude of these outcomes; and the probability of the realization of the outcomes."

The risk management of Warsaw International Mechanism can be improved from the process to provide the decision-makers of the Parties with tangible and accessible data upon which their decisions would be based. First, it is necessary to strengthen the action to address the gaps in the understanding of and expertise in approaches to addressing the loss and damage associated with the adverse effects of climate change. Second, it is necessary to improve the measures for collection, sharing, management and use of relevant data and information, including gender-disaggregated data. Third, it is proper to provide overviews on best practices, challenges, experiences and lessons

¹⁰ United Nations, *Report of the Conference of the Parties on its twenty-third session*, Official Records FCCC/CP/2017/11/Add.1 (Bonn: UN, 2017), online: https://UNFCCC.int/node/65126.

¹¹ Joakim Zander, *The Application of the Precautionary Principle in Practice: Comparative Dimensions* (Leiden: Cambridge University Press, 2010) at 17, 18.

acquired in undertaking the approaches to addressing such loss and damage. For small island states and the least developed countries, the loss and damage caused by climate change are permanent and irreversible. Due to permanent environmental change, people in these countries would face permanent displacement. Therefore, the formulation of effective immigration plans requires assistance from other countries through international cooperation and good faith in fulfilling their international obligations.

The Warsaw International Mechanism emphasizes the Parties' adaptation obligations but it does not provide the treatment for the non-compliance, so it is necessary to discuss the compliance mechanism. How to ensure Parties fulfill these obligations and how to deal with non-compliance by Parties are very important. "One of the most significant developments in the field of international environmental law has been the emergence of non-compliance procedures under various multilateral environmental agreements, occupying a function between conciliation and traditional dispute settlement." Some scholars consider the main elements of compliance procedures and mechanisms are as follows: objective of the procedures; structure, size and composition of the committee; functions of the committee; trigger; procedural rules; transparency (openness of proceedings for non-members of the committee); consequences to be recommended or decided upon by the Compliance Committee. 13

In 1987, Article 8 of Montreal Protocol on Substances that Deplete the Ozone

6

¹² Philippe Sands, *Principles of international environmental law*, 3rd ed. (Cambridge; New York: Cambridge University Press, 2012) at 163.

¹³ Fitzmaurice Malgosia, Ong David & Panos Merkouris, *Research handbooks in international law* (Cheltenham, UK: Edward Elgar, 2010) at 429.

Layer (Montreal Protocol)¹⁴ established the first non-compliance procedure. In 1990, the Implementation Committee was established by the second Meeting of the Parties to the Protocol. By decision IV/5 adopted in 1992, the Parties agreed to establish the Implementation Committee on a permanent basis along with the Non-Compliance Procedure under which the committee operates. Article 18¹⁵ of the *Kyoto Protocol* call on the Conference of the Parties approve appropriate and effective procedures and mechanisms to determine and to address cases of non-compliance with the provisions of this Protocol.

The main function of the non-compliance mechanism of the *Montreal Protocol* is to determine the situation of non-compliance, while the *Kyoto Protocol* promotes compliance by helping to build capacity and providing financial support. The enforcement branch under the *Kyoto Protocol* can impose mandatory measures on countries who do not comply with the treaty. Article 15¹⁶ of the *Paris Agreement* provides for a new compliance mechanism which is not a compliance mechanism for inheriting the *Kyoto Protocol*. This mechanism has no mandatory compliance

¹⁴ Montreal Protocol on Substances that Deplete the Ozone Layer (Montreal Protocol), 16 September 1987, UNTS, (entered into force on 26 January 1989), see online:

 $https://web.archive.org/web/20130419085218/http://ozone.unep.org:80/new_site/en/Treaties/treaty_text.php? treatyID=2.$

¹⁵ It provides that "the Conference of the Parties serving as the meeting of the Parties to this Protocol shall, at its first session, approve appropriate and effective procedures and mechanisms to determine and to address cases of non-compliance with the provisions of this Protocol, including through the development of an indicative list of consequences, taking into account the cause, type, degree and frequency of non-compliance. Any procedures and mechanisms under this Article entailing binding consequences shall be adopted by means of an amendment to this Protocol."

¹⁶ It provides that "a mechanism to facilitate implementation of and promote compliance with the provisions of this Agreement is hereby established. The mechanism referred to in paragraph 1 of this Article shall consist of a committee that shall be expert-based and facilitative in nature and function in a manner that is transparent, non-adversarial and non-punitive. The committee shall pay particular attention to the respective national capabilities and circumstances of Parties. The committee shall operate under the modalities and procedures adopted by the Conference of the Parties serving as the meeting of the Parties to this Agreement at its first session and report annually to the Conference of the Parties serving as the meeting of the Parties to this Agreement."

procedures, it is promotional, non-confrontational, non-punitive, and is of particular concern to the respective national capabilities of the Parties. Therefore, this compliance committee is not responsible for accountability, but a service institution of the Conference of the Parties. The provisions of the Paris Agreement on the compliance mechanism have limited its powers and have greatly weakened the coercive power of the compliance mechanism. In fact, it is impossible to punish States that do not comply with the convention by adopting a compliance mechanism. In Article 13¹⁷ of the *Paris* Agreement, it emphasizes the framework for transparency and the purpose of the framework for transparency is to fulfill the Parties' obligations of mitigation and adaptation. Article 13 and Article 14 of the Paris Agreement make specific arrangements for transparency, including: the national communications, biennial reports, biennial update reports, international assessment and review, international consultation and analysis, global stocktake. Maybe these arrangements make up for the shortcomings of the *Paris Agreement* without punitive measures and give the Parties great flexibility. In the future, first, the Conference of the Parties should develop standardized models for reporting, and clarify reporting procedures for Parties to monitor and review compliance by Parties. Second, the Conference of the Parties should put forward the consequences for Parties who do not comply with the conventions or agreements.

_

¹⁷ In Article 13 of the Paris Agreement, it provides that "the purpose of the framework for transparency of action is to provide a clear understanding of climate change action in the light of the objective of the Convention as set out in its Article 2, including clarity and tracking of progress towards achieving Parties' individual nationally determined contributions under Article 4, and Parties' adaptation actions under Article 7, including good practices, priorities, needs and gaps, to inform the global stocktake under Article 14."

In December 2018, the 24th Conference of the Parties to the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change was held in Katowice. The Conference proposed "Katowice Climate Package". The Katowice package includes guidelines that will operationalize the transparency framework. It sets out how countries will provide information about their Nationally Determined Contributions (NDCs)¹⁸ that describe their domestic climate actions. This information includes mitigation and adaptation measures as well as details of financial support for climate action in developing countries. The package also includes guidelines that relate to: the process for establishing new targets on finance from 2025 onwards to follow-on from the current target of mobilizing USD 100 billion per year from 2020 to support developing countries; how to conduct the Global Stocktake¹⁹ of the effectiveness of climate action in 2023; how to assess progress on the development and transfer of technology.²⁰ In response to transparency, implementation, and Global Stocktake, the Conference has formed a package and there are still no consequences for non-compliance.

About the methodology, in the thesis, the methods are legal positivism analysis and comparative analysis. Herbert Hart, a famous British philosopher of law and a representative of the New Analytical Jurists, believes that "law itself is a union of social

_

¹⁸ In 2015, 196 Parties came together under the Paris Agreement to transform their development trajectories so that they set the world on a course towards sustainable development, aiming at limiting warming to 1.5 to 2 degrees C above pre-industrial levels. Nationally determined contributions (NDCs) are at the heart of the Paris Agreement and the achievement of these long-term goals. NDCs embody efforts by each country to reduce national emissions and adapt to the impacts of climate change.

¹⁹ "It is a proposed five-yearly review of the impact of countries' climate change actions. Under the Paris Agreement, every country must present a climate action plan in five-yearly cycles." See https://indianexpress.com/article/explained/what-is-global-stocktake/.

^{20 &}quot;New Era of Global Climate Action to Begin under Paris Climate Change Agreement", online: https://UNFCCC.int/news/new-era-of-global-climate-action-to-begin-under-paris-climate-change-agreement-0.

rules: primary rules that guide behavior by imposing duties or conferring powers on people, and secondary rules that provide for the identification, alteration, and enforcement of the primary rules." ²¹ He also believes that international law is law, and international law is similar to domestic law. International law rules can also be divided into primary rules and secondary rules. The primary rules of international law are rules that stipulate international obligations that are generally observed by the subjects of international law, while the secondary rules of international law are to determine the existence of a violation of international obligations, that is, an internationally wrongful act, and to provide rules of legal consequences. According to Herbert Hart, a developed legal system should have secondary rules.

These rules establish a legal means for the recognition and enforcement of primary rules. First, they would facilitate identifying valid rules in the legal system in some authoritative ways. Second, they set out procedures for formal rules to change primary rules. Third, these rules ensure the implementation of the primary rules by establishing trial and law enforcement procedures. Herbert Hart also sought to ease the confrontation between legal positivists and natural jurists by making concessions to the theory of natural law. He believes that if any society is to survive, there must be certain rules of conduct that are possessed by the social organization, and these rules actually constitute the common factor of the laws for all societies. On the other hand, however, he firmly defended the basic principles of positivism. For example, he maintains that faithful legal obligations included all rules that were regarded as valid according to the formal

 $^{^{21}\,}$ H L A Hart, The concept of law, 3th (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2012) at xx.

standards of a legal system, although some of these rules may be incompatible with the common moral sense of the society.

Compared with other global environmental issues, the topic of climate change is complex and specific. On the one hand, in principle, any country and individual enjoys certain exclusive emission rights as a global public resource. On the other hand, any country and individual is inevitably affected by climate change, so it is necessary for them to take emission reduction measures and adaptation actions, especially to deal with the loss and damage caused by climate change. International conventions and agreements are thus needed to stipulate countries' obligations in emission reduction and adaptation. With the formation of the Paris Agreement, the obligations of all countries tend to be unified, showing that the international community resolutely defends its international obligations and guarantees the fulfillment of international obligations. In other words, the international community requires all countries to faithfully fulfill their international obligations. At the same time, it also takes into account the different responsibilities of countries for climate change and the differences in their capabilities to tackle it. The equity issues related to climate change are mainly the impact of global carbon emissions in human activities on global welfare as well the sharing of responsibilities among different groups and regions. In other words, when countries make responses to the loss and damage caused by climate change, adherence to the existing international obligations shall be in the first priority. However, the role of the values of fairness and justice in this process cannot be denied. Therefore, the methodology of this study will adopt the perspective of the New Analytical Jurists,

which acknowledges the positivist philosophy without discarding the natural law theory.

That is to say, one of the methodologies adopted by this study, i.e., the legal positivism analysis, comes from the New Analytical Jurists.

The concept of legal obligation is central to legal practice. Statutes, case law and legal arguments are characteristically framed in terms of what some person or class of persons is obligated to do.²² About the legal positivism analysis, the concept of legal obligation is central to legal practice. Statutes, case law and legal arguments are characteristically framed in terms of what some person or class of persons is obligated to do.²³ Therefore, we study the adaptation obligations for loss and damage and we need to analyze the provisions of international conventions and agreements. My dissertation analyzes the international law for climate change from the following elements: substantive rules; procedural rules; implementation and compliance mechanism. Substantive rules: the *Paris Agreement* aims to achieve climate mitigation, adaptation and finance through a series of cooperative frameworks and mechanisms, each of which establishes different legal rights and obligations for Parties, and explicitly makes provision for the needs of developing country Parties, especially the most vulnerable.²⁴ For example, Article 7 of the *Paris Agreement* provides that Parties should strengthen their cooperation on enhancing action on adaptation, taking into account the Cancun Adaptation Framework. In the preamble of *Paris Agreement*, it

²² Espagne Association internationale de philosophie du droit et de philosophie sociale Congrès mondial Grenade, *Legal theory: legal positivism and conceptual analysis = Teoría del derecho : positivismo jurídico y análisis conceptual : proceedings of the 22nd IVR World Congress, Granada 2005 , volume I,* Archiv für Rechtsund Sozialphilosophie Beiheft Nr 106; (Stuttgart: Franz Steiner Verlag, 2007) at 13.

²³ Antonio G M La Vina, "Climate Change, Scientific Uncertainty and International Law" (1993) 68 Phil LJ 17.

²⁴ Marie Claire Cordonier Segger, "Advancing the Paris Agreement on Climate Change for Sustainable Development" (2016) 5 Camb J Intl Comp L 202 at 208.

reiterated common but differentiated responsibility principle, therefore, it means that the principle can be a guidance not only for mitigation obligations but also for the adaptation obligations. "In dealing with the loss and damage caused by climate change, this principle is conducive to narrowing the gap in adaptive capacity of small island countries, the least developed countries and other countries, and it is conducive to countries to implement adaptation actions. Procedural rules and implementation and compliance mechanism: the Parties to the *UNFCCC* negotiations have addressed the climate change problem through a new, still very weak, legal regime, which consists of two main elements: a substantive rule and a procedural rule." ²⁵ In international conventions or agreements, substantive rules and procedural rules exist simultaneously. The function of procedural rules is to ensure the realization of substantive rules. Article 18 of *Kyoto Protocol* provided procedures and mechanisms to determine and to address cases of non-compliance and the Article 15 of the *Paris Agreement* developed a new compliance mechanism. Article 13 and Article 14 of the *Paris Agreement* make a framework of transparency for the implementation and compliance of the agreement.

The comparative analysis approach involves bringing together two or more analytical objects. As in any comparative exercise, with comparative law the study of similarities and differences is the heart of the endeavor.²⁶ "The purpose of the analysis will be the most important factor in determining where one should primarily look for difference, where for similarity, and where for both in equal measure. There can obviously be no uniform structure which fits all types, but most comparative enquiries

²⁵ Alexander Zahar, "Methodological Issues in Climate Law" (2015) 5 Climate L. 25 at 33.

²⁶ Esin Örücü & David Nelken, *Comparative law: a handbook* (Portland: Hart, 2007) at 25.

will involve three major stages: selection (of what will be compared), description (of the law and its context in the legal systems under consideration), and analysis."²⁷

The objects are the Ozone Regime and the Climate Change Regime. The purpose of comparative analysis is to improve the Paris Agreement for addressing the Loss and Damage. The Ozone Regime and the Climate Change Regime have many unification or harmonization aspects. For example, The Ozone Regime also recognized the common but differentiated responsibility principle for developing nations. "The Montreal Protocol granted developing nations a ten-year delay in implementing CFC reductions, and during that time period, permitted these nations to increase CFC consumption up to 0.3 kilograms per capita. It can be seen that the ozone regime has adopted the convention-protocol model. Climate change negotiations also followed an incremental policymaking approach through use of the convention-protocol model, which inserted flexibility into the regime."28 The Ozone Regime and the Climate Change Regime have some differences. The Implementation Committee of Montreal Protocol is to determine the situation of non-compliance, while the Kyoto Protocol established the enforcement branch which can impose mandatory measures on countries who do not comply with the treaty. From a methodological perspective, the second method of the thesis is comparative analysis. Because the thesis is an international level study of measures to deal with the loss and damage caused by climate

²⁷ Mathias Reimann & Reinhard Zimmermann, the Oxford handbook of comparative law (Toronto: Oxford University Press, 2006) at 406.

 $^{^{28}\,}$ Laura Thoms, "A Comparative Analysis of International Regimes on Ozone and Climate Change with Implications for Regime Design" (2003) 41 Colum J Transnatl L 797 at 818.

change, and does not compare the laws of two or more countries, the comparative analysis uses a comparison of two international mechanisms.

I have searched and studied the monographs and articles of scholars and found that scholars did not define the concept of Loss and Damage caused by climate change. They focused their research on establishing an international mechanism for Loss and Damage compensation. At the same time, I analyzed the Cancun Adaptation Framework, the Warsaw International Mechanism and the Paris Agreement for the Loss and Damage. These discussions on Loss and Damage focus on how to take measures to deal with the situation. But they do not clearly indicate what is the Loss and Damage caused by climate change. So my first original view was from the interest in the concept. With regard to how countries deal with Loss and Damage, my research points out that the current view of compensation by the international community for the Loss and Damage is difficult to achieve. My research considers the relationship between mitigation obligations and adaptation obligations, and demonstrates the importance of adaptation obligations. I use the Warsaw International Mechanism as a tool to deal with Loss and Damage, and to clarify the risk management and migration proposed by the Warsaw International Mechanism. Loss and Damage caused by climate change is different from transboundary damage involving only two or more countries and it is a global problem or challenge. In order to guarantee the performance of the adaptation obligations, I explored the evolution of the non-compliance mechanism of the convention and then made recommendations on the improvement of the new compliance mechanism proposed by the Paris Agreement. My contribution of a

response to the Loss and Damage is to improve effectiveness of climate change law by accelerating good legislation and promoting the implementation of existing conventions.

In Part 1, the thesis talks about the climate change and the consequences of climate change at first. It aims to do some research on the definition of the loss and damage caused by climate change. In the final, it defines the loss and damage: it can be that the actual or potential adverse consequences caused by greenhouse gas emissions which will act on the life, health, property and environment. The consequences threaten the survival and sustainable development of mankind which can be avoided or unavoidable.

The Part 2 describes the legal response to the loss and damage caused by climate change. There are two ways for legal response. One is the adaptation measure, and the other is the mitigation measure. In view of the loss and damage caused by climate change, the thesis believes that the most important are adaptation measures. States should seriously fulfill their adaptation obligations, and it proposes some recommendations for the Compliance Mechanism. Therefore, special emphasis should be placed on the role of Warsaw International Mechanism, which is the guidance of international law for States to fulfill their adaptation obligations. It is also the core legal tool to deal with the loss and damage caused by climate change. In this part, the thesis also analyzes China's legal response to deal with climate change. China should avoid principled and declarative legislation in dealing with climate change. At the same time China should be clear about its emission reduction obligations and formulate more

feasible international aid policies.

In Part 3, the thesis discusses the basic principle for addressing the loss and damage: common but differentiated responsibility principle. The purpose of this thesis is to discuss the prospect of the principle on adaptation obligations. The thesis considers that some countries should help the poorest countries, respect and protect the local indigenous knowledge. Countries adhere to the principle of common but differentiated to fulfill the adaptation obligations or assistance obligations for adaptation. Common but differentiated responsibility principle is the basic principle to deal with the loss and damage caused by climate change. It is different from other principles because it is based on the theory of fairness and justice, and its concept will be given a new meaning. Different countries can fulfill their international obligations according to their own capabilities, and countries with the ability can also assist countries with difficulties in fulfilling international obligations. This kind of "differentiation" is gradually moving towards the implementation of international obligations not stay in the discussion on the historical responsibility. It can be said that it is the transformation from "static differentiation" to "dynamic differentiation".

Part 1 The definition of the Loss and Damage caused by climate change

With the development of human industrial production, the impact of climate change has gradually intensified, and the loss and damage caused by climate change have come from adverse effects. The impact of climate change on territories, coastal ecosystems, biodiversity, population, and tourism in some countries has been translated into loss and damage that affect the survival and sustainable development of some countries. For example, as sea levels rise, Tuvalu's territory is sinking, some have been flooded, and some have been lost; a catastrophic tide in 2008 destroyed many houses, infrastructure and Food crops.²⁹ The damage to the Federated States of Micronesia is incalculable. The assessment report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) shows that although there is a process for the loss and damage of small island states caused by climate change, the catastrophic events that have occurred have directly proved climate change. The existence of loss and damage caused by climate change is an indisputable fact. There are divergent opinions on the nature of definitions and responsibilities, as well as response measures. And they have not yet been unified. Therefore, Part 1 discusses the definition of "loss and damage caused by climate change", "the consequences of climate change" and the provisions of international conventions and agreements on the adverse effects. In the final, it will put forward the definition of "Loss and Damage".

1.1 The emergence and evolution of the Loss and Damage

²⁹ See Michael B Gerrard & Gregory E Wannier, Threatened island nations: legal implications of rising seas and a changing climate (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2014).

Climate change raises a range of issues, such as science, economics, justice and rights. Scientific and economic issues have been discussed on a large scale in practice by the political, economic and academic circles. Accordingly, the legal issues in climate change should also be given universal attention by the international community. In the global climate change governance, the disputes of rights and responsibilities between countries are not only a difficult problem in politics, but also a difficult problem in legal theory. We need to study more about the loss and damage caused by climate change. The essence of the research is to regulate the human behavior or national behavior that causes climate change. We also need to study the rights, obligations and responsibilities of countries from the perspective of international law. First, we start with the concept of climate change.

1.1.1 Climate change

"Climate change refers to a change in the state of the climate that can be identified by changes in the mean and/or the variability of its properties and that persists for an extended period, typically decades or longer. Climate change may be due to natural internal processes or external forcing such as modulations of the solar cycles, volcanic eruptions and persistent anthropogenic changes in the composition of the atmosphere or in land use." "Greenhouse gases have been present in trace quantities in the atmosphere for the great majority of the Earth's history. They are added into the

³⁰ The core writing team, R K Pachauri, Leo Mayer & Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, *Climate change 2014: synthesis report* (Geneva, Switzerland: Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, 2015) at 120.

19

atmosphere by natural processes and by human activity." ³¹ "While natural GHGs keep the Earth warm enough to be habitable, increasing their concentrations through human activity may result in raising global temperature. This is an enhanced greenhouse effect, with GHG concentrations above those produced by natural processes." ³² "Hence, it is essential to distinguish between the natural greenhouse effect and the greenhouse effect caused by human activity."33 Human activities, particularly the combustion of fossil fuels and the large-scale transformation of land cover, affect ecosystems around the world. Changes in temperature, ocean, cryosphere and sea level are altering our environment, these changes will also affect environmental regulatory frameworks. We note that the UNFCCC, in its Article 1, defines climate change as: "a change of climate which is attributed directly or indirectly to human activity that alters the composition of the global atmosphere and which is in addition to natural climate variability observed over comparable time periods." The UNFCCC thus makes a distinction between climate change attributable to human activities altering the atmospheric composition and climate variability attributable to natural causes. Climate change stems from internal and external causes, and external causes are human activities. The thesis mainly examines climate change caused by human activities, and to regulate human activities and state behaviors from the perspective of international law to deal with Loss and Damage.

"It would seem that there is no reason for the world to hesitate before taking

³¹ Antonio G M La Vina, "Climate Change, Scientific Uncertainty and International Law" (1993) 68 Phil LJ 17 at 18.

³² Ibid.

³³ Ibid.

immediate action to limit or reduce GHG emissions. The problem often cited by those who would oppose a comprehensive international response to global warming is that there continues to be great uncertainty, associated with current models and data, within the scientific community. There is much debate on the extent and impact of the warming. There is also uncertainty about the global and regional distribution of climate change resulting from global warming."34 For example, in May 2001, President Bush asked the National Academy of Sciences to identify the greatest uncertainties in the science of climate change and assess "views on whether there are any substantive differences between the IPCC reports and the IPCC summaries".35 "The Bush administration has had to perform some deft leaps to maintain its solitary position on climate change. One of the more peculiar twists came during summer 2002 when the federal government, as a party to the UNFCCC, released one of its required periodic assessments. The document concluded that human activities were responsible for climate change and that the United States would suffer irrevocable environmental damage in coming decades." ³⁶ "But, the Bush administration continued to assert that climate change did not merit special action and that the Kyoto Protocol was a "fatally flawed" agreement. Instead of mitigating the effects of rising sea levels, species loss, and so forth, the White House's advice was that the United States and other countries should adapt to the inevitable changes."37

_

³⁴ Ibid at 29.

³⁵ Lisa Schenck, "Climate Change 'Crisis' - Struggling for Worldwide Collective Action" (2008) 19 Colo J Intl Envtl Pol 319 at 329.

³⁶ Maurie Cohen, "George W. Bush and the Environmental Protection Agency: A Midterm Appraisal" (2004) Soc Nat Resour, online:

 $< https://www.researchgate.net/publication/233078973_George_W_Bush_and_the_Environmental_Protection_Agency_A_Midterm_Appraisal>.$

³⁷ Ibid.

"Some countries have doubted the report of IPCC, but in recent years, the position of IPCC in dealing with climate change has been paid more and more attention. The IPCC provides regular assessments of the scientific basis of climate change, its impacts and future risks, and options for adaptation and mitigation. It was created in 1988 by the World Meteorological Organization (WMO) and the United Nations Environment Programm (UNEP), and it is an organization of governments that are members of the United Nations or WMO."38 "The objective of the IPCC is to provide governments at all levels with scientific information that they can use to develop climate policies. IPCC reports are also a key input into international climate change negotiations. For the assessment reports, IPCC scientists volunteer their time to assess the thousands of scientific papers published each year to provide a comprehensive summary of what is known about the drivers of climate change, its impacts and future risks, and how adaptation and mitigation can reduce those risks. An open and transparent review by experts and governments around the world is an essential part of the IPCC process, to ensure an objective and complete assessment and to reflect a diverse range of views and expertise. Through its assessments, the IPCC identifies the strength of scientific agreement in different areas and indicates where further research is needed." 39 "Through the IPCC, thousands of experts from around the world synthesize the most recent developments in climate science, adaptation, vulnerability, and mitigation every five to seven years. Governments request these reports through the intergovernmental process and the content is deliberately policy-relevant, but steers clear of any policy –

³⁸ See "IPCC - Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change", online:

history.shtml. Also see IPCC Secretariat, "About — IPCC", (2013), online: IPCC https://www.ipcc.ch/about/.

³⁹ See IPCC Secretariat, "About — IPCC", (2013), online: IPCC < https://www.ipcc.ch/about/>.

prescriptive statements. Government representatives work with experts to produce the "summary for policymakers" (SPM) that highlights the most critical developments in language accessible to the world's political leaders. Scholars, academics and students can dig into the chapters and supplementary materials for a thorough and deeper understanding of the evidence."⁴⁰

The IPCC has issued comprehensive assessments in 1990, 1996, 2001, 2007 and 2013, methodology reports, technical papers, and periodic special reports assessing specific impacts of climate change (the latest ones in the works: oceans and ice cover, land degradation, impacts of 1.5°C warming). "The fifth assessment report (AR5) is the most comprehensive synthesis to date. AR5 assessed more extensively than prior assessments the socioeconomic impacts of climate change and the challenges for sustainable development. The inclusive process by which IPCC assessments are developed and accepted by its members ensures exceptional scientific credibility." During its 43rd Session (Nairobi, April 2016), the Panel accepted the invitation from the UNFCCC to produce a Special Report by 2018 on the impacts of global warming of 1.5° C above pre-industrial levels and related global greenhouse gas emission pathways, and to prepare it in the context of strengthening the global response to the threat of climate change, sustainable development and efforts to eradicate poverty. In its reports, the IPCC describes the changes in atmosphere, ocean, cryosphere, sea level

⁴⁰ "The IPCC: Who Are They and Why Do Their Climate Reports Matter?", online:

https://www.ucsusa.org/global-warming/science-and-impacts/science/ipcc-backgrounder.html.

⁴¹ *Ibid*. Also see note 38.

⁴² See *The IPCC and the Sixth Assessment cycle*, Official Records, by IPCC Secretariat, Official Records (Switzerland, 2017).

and other fields. It describes the phenomena brought about by climate change through the summary of scientific data.

Atmosphere (rising temperatures): "each of the last three decades has been successively warmer at the Earth's surface than any preceding decade since 1850. The period from 1983 to 2012 was very likely the warmest 30-year period of the last 800 years in the Northern Hemisphere, where such assessment is possible and likely the warmest 30-year period of the last 1400 years. The globally averaged combined land and ocean surface temperature data as calculated by a linear trend show a warming of 0.85 [0.65 to 1.06] °C over the period 1880 to 2012, for which multiple independently produced datasets exist. The total increase between the average of the 1850-1900 period and the 2003–2012 period is 0.78 [0.72 to 0.85] °C, based on the single longest dataset available. For the longest period when calculation of regional trends is sufficiently complete (1901 to 2012), almost the entire globe has experienced surface warming." 43 "Human activities are estimated to have caused approximately 1.0°C of global warming above pre-industrial levels, with a likely range of 0.8°C to 1.2°C. Global warming is likely to reach 1.5°C between 2030 and 2052 if it continues to increase at the current rate. Warming from anthropogenic emissions from the preindustrial period to the present will persist for centuries to millennia and will continue to cause further long-term changes in the climate system, such as sea level rise, with associated impacts, but these emissions alone are unlikely to cause global warming of

⁴³ The core writing team, R K Pachauri, Leo Mayer, & Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, *supra* note 30 at 40. See also "UN climate report: what are the IPCC's main messages?", (30 September 2013), online: Clim Home News https://www.climatechangenews.com/2013/09/30/un-climate-report-what-are-the-ipccs-main-messages/>.

1.5°C. Climate-related risks for natural and human systems are higher for global warming of 1.5°C than at present, but lower than at 2°C. These risks depend on the magnitude and rate of warming, geographic location, levels of development and vulnerability, and on the choices and implementation of adaptation and mitigation options."⁴⁴

Ocean: "ocean warming dominates the increase in energy stored in the climate system, accounting for more than 90% of the energy accumulated between 1971 and 2010 with only about 1% stored in the atmosphere. On a global scale, the ocean warming is largest near the surface, and the upper 75 m warmed by 0.11 [0.09 to 0.13] °C per decade over the period 1971 to 2010. It is virtually certain that the upper ocean (0–700 m) warmed from 1971 to 2010, and it likely warmed between the 1870 and 1971. It is likely that the ocean warmed from 700 to 2000 m from 1957 to 2009 and from 3000 m to the bottom for the period 1992 to 2005."

Cryosphere: "the cryosphere, which represents all global snow, ice, and permafrost, contains nearly 80% of all freshwater. It includes seasonal snow, mountain glaciers, ice caps, ice sheets, seasonally frozen soils, permafrost, river ice, lake ice, and sea ice. Permafrost underlines as much as 25% of the global land surface. Seasonal snow has the largest area of any component of the cryosphere; at its maximum in late winter it

25

⁴⁴ Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, *Global warming of 1.5°C* (Switzerland: Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, 2018) at 6, 7.

⁴⁵ The core writing team, R K Pachauri, Leo Mayer, & Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, *supra* note 30 at 40. See also "UN climate report: what are the IPCC's main messages?", (30 September 2013), online: Clim Home News https://www.climatechangenews.com/2013/09/30/un-climate-report-what-are-the-ipccs-main-messages/>.

covers almost 50% of the land surface of the Northern Hemisphere. A huge proportion of the mass of the cryosphere is contained in ice sheets, but at tune scales of a century or less they are least sensitive to climate change." 46 "Many components of the cryosphere (i.e., snow, ice, and permafrost) are particularly sensitive to changes in atmospheric temperature. The last century has witnessed a massive loss and retreat of mountain glaciers, a reduction in the areal distribution of permafrost, and evidence of later freeze-up and earlier break-up of river and lake ice in many northern countries. These observations are consistent with a 0.5°C increase in the annual global mean temperature during the last century."47 "Over the last two decades, the Greenland and Antarctic ice sheets have been losing mass. Glaciers have continued to shrink almost worldwide. Northern Hemisphere spring snow cover has continued to decrease in extent. There is high confidence that there are strong regional differences in the trend in Antarctic sea ice extent, with a very likely increase in total extent. Glaciers have lost mass and contributed to sea level rise throughout the 20th century. The rate of ice mass loss from the Greenland ice sheet has very likely substantially increased over the period 1992 to 2011, resulting in a larger mass loss over 2002 to 2011 than over 1992 to 2011. The rate of ice mass loss from the Antarctic ice sheet, mainly from the northern Antarctic Peninsula and the Amundsen Sea sector of West Antarctica, is also likely larger over 2002 to 2011."48

⁴⁶ Robert T Watson, Marufu C Zinyowera & Richard H Moss, "Climate Change 1995: Impacts, Adaptations and Mitigation of Climate Change: Scientific-Technical Analyses." (1997) 78:8 Ecology at 245.

⁴⁷ Ibid at 29.

⁴⁸ The core writing team, R K Pachauri, Leo Mayer, & Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, *supra* note 30 at 42. See also "UN climate report: what are the IPCC's main messages?", (30 September 2013), online: Clim Home News https://www.climatechangenews.com/2013/09/30/un-climate-report-what-are-the-ipccs-main-messages/>.

Sea level: "Sea level rise under warming is inevitable. Thermal expansion would continue for many centuries after GHG concentrations have stabilized, for any of the stabilization levels assessed, causing an eventual sea level rise much larger than projected for the 21st century."49 "A sea-level rise of about 0.3 to 0.5 m by 2050 and about 1 m by 2100, together with a rise in temperature of the surface ocean layer of between 0.2 °C and 2.5 °C."50 "Over the period 1901–2010, global mean sea level rose by 0.19 [0.17 to 0.21] m. The rate of sea level rise since the mid-19th century has been larger than the mean rate during the previous two millennia. It is very likely that the mean rate of global averaged sea level rise was 1.7 [1.5 to 1.9] mm/y r between 1901 and 2010 and 3.2 [2.8 to 3.6] mm/y r between 1993 and 2010. Tide gauge and satellite altimeter data are consistent regarding the higher rate during the latter period. It is likely that similarly high rates occurred between 1920 and 1950. Since the early 1970s, glacier mass loss and ocean thermal expansion from warming together explain about 75% of the observed global mean sea level rise. Over the period 1993–2010, global mean sea level rise is, with high confidence, consistent with the sum of the observed contributions from ocean thermal expansion, due to warming, from changes in glaciers, the Greenland ice sheet, the Antarctic ice sheet and land water storage."51 "Sea level rise is expected to exacerbate inundation, storm surge, erosion and other coastal hazards, thus

 ⁴⁹ The Core Writing Team, Reisinger Pachauri and Andy Reisinger & Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, 2007: Climate Change 2007: Synthesis Report. Contribution of Working Groups I, II and III to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, (New York: UNEP, 2007) at 19. See also "UN climate report: what are the IPCC's main messages?", (30 September 2013), online: Clim Home News https://www.climatechangenews.com/2013/09/30/un-climate-report-what-are-the-ipccs-main-messages/.
 ⁵⁰ WJ. Mc G. Tegart, G.W. Sheldon and D.C. Griffiths& Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, Report of Working Group II of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (Commonwealth, Australia: Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, 1990) at 1.

⁵¹ The core writing team, R K Pachauri, Leo Mayer, & Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, *supra* note 30 at 42. See also "UN climate report: what are the IPCC's main messages?", (30 September 2013), online: Clim Home News https://www.climatechangenews.com/2013/09/30/un-climate-report-what-are-the-ipccs-main-messages/.

threatening vital infrastructure, settlements and facilities that support the livelihood of island communities. Deterioration in coastal conditions, for example through erosion of beaches and coral bleaching, is expected to affect local resources. By mid-century, climate change is expected to reduce water resources in many small islands, e.g. in the Caribbean and Pacific, to the point where they become insufficient to meet demand during low-rainfall periods. With higher temperatures, increased invasion by non-native species is expected to occur, particularly on mid- and high-latitude islands."52

In addition to the work of the IPCC, a number of important international meetings and conferences have been held to discuss the climate change problem. The Toronto Meeting attended by more than 300 of the world's experts in science, law, the environment, economics, government, and industry, was in June 1988. More than 300 scientists and policy makers from 46 countries, United Nations organizations, other international bodies and non-governmental organizations participated in the sessions. "Far-reaching impacts will be caused by global warming and sea-level rise, which are becoming increasingly evident as a result of continued growth in atmospheric concentrations of carbon dioxide and other greenhouse gases. Other major impacts are occurring from ozone—layer depletion resulting in increased damage from ultra-violet radiation. The best predictions available indicate potentially severe economic and social dislocation for present and future generations, which will worsen international tensions

The Core Writing Team, Reisinger Pachauri and Andy Reisinger & Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, 2007: Climate Change 2007: Synthesis Report. Contribution of Working Groups I, II and III to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, (New York: UNEP, 2007) at 52. See also "UN climate report: what are the IPCC's main messages?", (30 September 2013), online: Clim Home News https://www.climatechangenews.com/2013/09/30/un-climate-report-what-are-the-ipccs-main-messages/>.

and increase risk of conflicts among and within nations. It is imperative to act now."53

Other important conference is the Noordwijk Ministerial Conference. It was held in November 1989 in Noordwijk. The Conference was attended by representatives of 67 countries, 11 international organizations, and the Commission of the European Community (EC). The Declaration includes an important statement on stabilizing emissions of carbon dioxide (CO₂): "The Conference recognizes the need to stabilize, while ensuring stable development of the world economy, CO₂ emissions and emissions of other greenhouse gases not controlled by the Montreal Protocol. Industrialized nations agree that such stabilization should be achieved by them as soon as possible, at levels to be considered by the IPCC and the Second World Climate Conference of November 1990. In the view of many industrialized nations such stabilization of CO₂ emissions should be achieved as a first step at the latest by the year 2000."⁵⁴

The 1990 Second World Climate Conference leaded up to negotiation of the Framework Convention on Climate Change. It was held in Geneva, Switzerland in November 1990. The final declaration did not specify any international targets for reducing emissions. However, it did support a number of principles later included in the Climate Change Convention. These were climate change as a "common concern of humankind", the importance of equity, the "common but differentiated responsibilities" of countries at different levels of development, sustainable development, and the

⁵³ "Statement-from-1988-climate-change-conference-in-Toronto.png", online: https://254155-841844-raikfcquaxqncofqfm.stackpathdns.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/Statement-from-1988-climate-change-conference-in-Toronto.png.

⁵⁴ "Climate Change Fact Sheet 218", online: https://unfccc.int/resource/ccsites/senegal/fact/fs218.htm.

precautionary principle.⁵⁵ Whether it is the discussion of the causes of climate change or the international response measures taken by human beings, it is a powerful illustration of the existence of climate change.

1.1.2 The consequences of climate change

We can hear about some climate change events happening around us, such as the climate change impacts on the Lake Simcoe Watershed⁵⁶. "Higher air temperatures are delaying the timing of surface freezing (ice on) in the late fall or early winter, and promoting earlier thawing (ice off) in the late winter or early spring in a shorter duration of ice cover. Climate change has had a dramatic effect on the overall thermal structure of the lake between 1980 and 2012. The changing climate will affect Lake Simcoe's water quality and quantity, aquatic and terrestrial ecosystem structure and function, the frequency of extreme weather events and could cause damage to natural areas and shorelines. These changes will influence the way communities throughout the Lake Simcoe watershed manage natural assets and the infrastructure that has been built around them."⁵⁷

Climate change is a global issue. It has brought many negative effects to every region of the world. Examples of some adverse impacts for different regions are given

30

⁵⁵ "Climate Change Fact Sheet 217", online: https://unfccc.int/cop3/fccc/climate/fact17.htm.

⁵⁶ It is a vibrant and diverse habitat and a precious source of water. It sweeps across 3,400 square kilometers and 20 municipal borders, from the Oak Ridges Moraine in the south to the Oro Moraine in the north, through York and Durham regions, Simcoe County and the cities of Kawartha Lakes, Barrie and Orillia.

⁵⁷ "Archived - Lake Simcoe Climate Change Adaptation Strategy | Ontario.ca", online: https://www.ontario.ca/page/lake-simcoe-climate-change-adaptation-strategy#section-0>.

below: In Africa, by 2020, 75 to 250 million people are expected to face increasing water stress due to climate change. By 2020, yields of rain-fed agriculture will be reduced by 50% in some countries. Agricultural production, including food supplies, is expected to be severely affected in many African countries, which will further affect food security and exacerbate malnutrition.⁵⁸ In Asia, by the 2050s, freshwater supplies in Central, South, East, and Southeast Asia, especially large river basins, are expected to decrease. Coastal areas, especially the densely populated giant deltas of South, East, and Southeast Asia, will face great risks due to increasing floods from the oceans.⁵⁹ In Australia and New Zealand, by 2020, biodiversity is expected to be severely lost in some ecologically rich areas, including the Great Barrier Reef and the Queensland tropical wetlands. ⁶⁰ By 2030, water security issues are expected to worsen in southern and eastern Australia and northern and some eastern parts of New Zealand.⁶¹ In Europe, climate change will widen regional differences in European natural resources and assets, leading to increased risks of inland flash floods, more frequent coastal floods, and increased erosion (due to storms and rising sea levels). Mountain areas will face negative impacts such as glacier retreat, reduced snow cover, a shrinking winter tourism

The Core Writing Team, Reisinger Pachauri and Andy Reisinger& Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, 2007: Climate Change 2007: Synthesis Report. Contribution of Working Groups I, II and III to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, (New York: UNEP, 2007) at 11, 12. See also OA US EPA, "International Climate Impacts", online: </climate-impacts/international-climate-impacts>.

59 The Core Writing Team, Reisinger Pachauri and Andy Reisinger& Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, 2007: Climate Change 2007: Synthesis Report. Contribution of Working Groups I, II and III to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, (New York: UNEP, 2007) at 11, 12. See also "What impacts are expected in the future?", online: https://www.greenfacts.org/en/climate-change-ar4/l-3/5-future-projected-impacts.htm.

The Core Writing Team, Reisinger Pachauri and Andy Reisinger& Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change,
 2007: Climate Change 2007: Synthesis Report. Contribution of Working Groups I, II and III to the Fourth
 Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, (New York: UNEP, 2007) at 11, 12. See also
 Bryson Bates, Zbigniew W. Kundzewicz, Shaohong Wu and Jean Palutikof, Climate Change and Water. Technical
 Paper of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, (Geneva: IPCC Secretariat, 2008) at 91, 92.
 The Core Writing Team, Reisinger Pachauri and Andy Reisinger& Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change,
 2007: Climate Change 2007: Synthesis Report. Contribution of Working Groups I, II and III to the Fourth
 Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, (New York: UNEP, 2007) at 11, 12.

industry, and a substantial decline in species (by 2080, some regions will have a species decline of up to 60% under high emission conditions). ⁶² In Latin America, by the middle of this century, rising temperatures and a corresponding decrease in soil moisture are expected to lead to the gradual replacement of tropical forests in the eastern Amazon and semi-arid vegetation by dryland vegetation. In many parts of tropical Latin America, extinction risks on the severe loss of biodiversity. ⁶³ In North America, warming in the western mountains is expected to lead to reduced snow cover, increased winter flooding and reduced summer flows, increasing competition for overallocated water resources. In the early decades of this century, mild climate change will increase the total output of rain-fed agriculture by 5% to 20%, but the differences between regions are large. ⁶⁴

In Polar Regions, the predicted biophysical effects are mainly based on the reduction in the thickness and extent of glaciers, ice sheets, and sea ice, as well as changes in natural ecosystems that will affect many organisms, including migratory birds, mammals, and higher carnivores. 65 In Small Islands, rising sea levels are expected to exacerbate floods, storm surges, erosion and other coastal disasters, which will pose a huge threat to the critical infrastructure, settlements and facilities that support the livelihoods of island communities. 66

⁶² UNICEF Office of Research-Innocenti, "Child Rights at Risk: The case for joint action on climate change", online: *UNICEF-IRC* https://www.unicef-irc.org/article/928-child-rights-at-risk-the-case-for-joint-action-with-climate-change.html.

⁶³ Ibid.

⁶⁴ Ibid.

⁶⁵ Ibid.

⁶⁶ *Ibid*. See also United Nations, "Small Islands, Rising Seas", online: U N https://www.un.org/en/chronicle/article/small-islands-rising-seas.

We can see that the consequences of climate change occur in areas such as human health, heritages and biodiversity. In the conventions and documents of the international organizations, they either call the attention of the international community or directly address the serious consequences of climate change and call upon states to take measures to address the adverse consequences of climate change.

Constitution of the World Health Organization provides that "health is a state of complete physical, mental and social well-being and not merely the absence of disease or infirmity. The enjoyment of the highest attainable standard of health is one of the fundamental right of every human being without distinction of race, religion, and political belief, economic or social condition." The *UNFCCC* in Article 168 states the concept of "adverse effects of climate change", including its impact on human health and welfare. The preamble of the *Paris Agreement* states that "climate change is a common concern of humankind, Parties should, when taking action to address climate change, respect, promote and consider their respective obligations on human rights, the right to health, the rights of indigenous peoples, local communities, migrants, children, persons with disabilities and people in vulnerable situations and the right to development, as well as gender equality, empowerment of women and intergenerational equity." "The health status of millions of people is projected to be affected through, for example, increases in malnutrition; increased deaths, diseases and injury due to extreme

⁶⁷ Constitution of the World Health Organization, 22 July 1946, (entered into force on 7 April 1948), online: https://treaties.un.org/doc/Treaties/1948/04/19480407%2010-51%20PM/Ch_IX_01p.pdf.

⁶⁸ Article 1 of UNFCCC defines that "'adverse effects of climate change' means changes in the physical environment or biota resulting from climate change which have significant deleterious effects on the composition, resilience or productivity of natural and managed ecosystems or on the operation of socio economic systems or on human health and welfare."

weather events; increased burden of diarrheal diseases; increased frequency of cardiorespiratory diseases due to higher concentrations of ground-level ozone in urban areas
related to climate change; and the altered spatial distribution of some infectious
diseases."⁶⁹ "Global climate change will have diverse impacts on human health—some
positive, most negative. Changes in the frequencies of extreme heat and cold, the
frequencies of floods and droughts, and the profile of local air pollution and
aeroallergens would affect population health directly. Other health impacts would result
from the impacts of climate change on ecological and social systems. These impacts
would include changes in infectious disease occurrence, local food production and
undernutrition, and various health consequences of population displacement and
economic disruption."⁷⁰

The seventh session of the Human Rights Council in 2008 began to focus on the topic of "Human Rights and Climate Change". It put forward "we concerned that climate change poses an immediate and far-reaching threat to people and communities around the world and has implications for the full enjoyment of human rights."⁷¹ The sixteenth session in 2011 said "sustainable development and the protection of the environment can contribute to human well-being and the enjoyment of human rights.

⁶⁹ Susan Solomon, Dahe Qin, Martin Manning, Melinda Marquis, Kristen Averyt, Melinda Tignor, Henry LeRoy Miller and Zhenlin Chen & IPCC, Climate change 2007: the physical science basis; contribution of Working Group I to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (New York: UNEP, 2007) at 48

⁷⁰ James J McCarthy Osvaldo Canziani, Neil Leary, David Dokken and Kasey White & Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, *Climate change 2001: impacts, adaptation, and vulnerability: contribution of Working Group II to the third assessment report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change* (Cambridge, UK; New York: Cambridge University Press, 2001) at 42.

⁷¹ Human Rights Council, *Report of the Human Right Council on its seventh session*, Official Records A/HRC/7/78 (2008) at 65.

Environmental damage can have negative implications, both direct and indirect, for the effective enjoyment of human rights."⁷² Resolution of the twenty-fifth session in 2014 recalls "other relevant Human Rights Council resolutions on human rights and climate change, on the implications for human rights of the environmentally sound management and disposal of hazardous substances and wastes, on the human right to safe drinking water and sanitation, and on the right to food as well as relevant Commission on Human Rights resolutions on human rights and the environment as part of sustainable development."⁷³ The resolution of the twenty-ninth session in 2015 re-emphasized that "the adverse effects of climate change had a direct or indirect impact on the enjoyment of the highest attainable standard of physical and mental health. It emphasized that the adverse effects of climate change had a range of implications, both direct and indirect, for the effective enjoyment of human rights, including, inter alia, the right to life, the right to adequate food, the right to the enjoyment of highest attainable standard of physical and mental health, the right to adequate housing, the right to self-determination, the right to safe drinking water and sanitation and the right to development."⁷⁴

The Human Rights Council, as a subsidiary body of the United Nations General Assembly and directly accountable to all States Members of the United Nations, was established on 15 March 2006 in accordance with General Assembly resolution 60/251, replacing the United Nations Commission on Human Rights. The resolutions of the

⁷² Human Rights Council, *Report of the Human Rights Council on its sixteenth session*, Official Records A/HRC/16/2 (2011) at 25.

⁷³ Human Rights Council, *Report of the Human Rights Council on its Twenty-fifth session*, Promotion and protection of all human rights, civil, political, economic, social and cultural rights, including the right to development Official Records A/HRC/25/L.31 (2014) at 1.

⁷⁴ Human Rights Council, *Report of the Human Rights Council on its Twenty-ninth session*, Official Records A/HRC/29/L.21 (2015) at 2.

Human Rights Council repeatedly raise the issue of "climate change and human rights" and the impact of climate change on the right to health and other human rights related to the right to health. Although the resolutions are not international conventions, they emphasize the relationship between human rights and climate change, which reflects the international community's concern about human rights under the influence of climate change. Under the human rights protection mechanism, the international conventions on human rights provide for the principles or specific provisions for the protection of human rights, such as: *Universal Declaration of Human Rights* 75, *International Covenant on Economic Social and Cultural Rights* 76, *Convention on the Elimination of all Forms of Discrimination against Women* 77, *Convention on the Rights of the Child* 78, *European Social Charter* 79, *African Charter on Human and Peoples Rights* 80. In some areas, climate change is affecting the rights of special populations, such as children's rights. Climate change is an urgent challenge for the world's children. 81 Children are more vulnerable to the impact of climate change. In developing countries, it will become more difficult to maintain their commitment to the Convention

⁷⁵ Universal Declaration of Human Rights, 10 December 1948, online: https://www.ohchr.org/EN/UDHR/Documents/UDHR_Translations/eng.pdf.

⁷⁶ International Covenant on Economic Social and Cultural Rights, 16 December 1966, (entered into force 3 January 1976), online: https://www.ohchr.org/Documents/ProfessionalInterest/cescr.pdf.

⁷⁷ Convention on the Elimination of all Forms of Discrimination against Women, 18 December 1979, (entered into force on 3 September 1981), online: https://www.un.org/womenwatch/daw/cedaw/text/econvention.htm.

⁷⁸ Convention on the Rights of the Child, 20 November 1989, (entered into force 2 September 1990), online: https://www.ohchr.org/Documents/ProfessionalInterest/crc.pdf.

⁷⁹ European Social Charter, 18 October 1961, online:

https://rm.coe.int/CoERMPublicCommonSearchServices/DisplayDCTMContent? documentId=090000168048b059.

⁸⁰ African Charter on Human and Peoples Rights, June 27 1981, (entered into force October 21 1986), online:

http://www.humanrights.se/wp-content/uploads/2012/01/African-Charter-on-Human-and-Peoples-Rights.pdf. ⁸¹ UNICEF, "Child Rights at Risk: The case for joint action on climate change", online: *UNICEF-IRC*

< https://www.unicef-irc.org/article/928-child-rights-at-risk-the-case-for-joint-action-with-climate-change.html >.

on the Rights of the Child. Although all children's rights may be affected, 15 rights⁸² are particularly threatened by setbacks related to climate change.

The Paris Agreement is the first international environmental law treaty to be incorporated into the perspective of human rights law. The contents concerning human rights law are mainly reflected in the preamble. The agreement calls on all countries to pay attention to the protection of human rights such as "the right to health", "the rights of indigenous people" and "the right to development". When the constitution of the World Health Organization was formed, the international community did not pay attention to the impact of climate change on human health. With the increasing severity of climate change, the report of the Human Rights Council proposes to pay attention to the human rights under the impact of climate change. These documents show that the international community has gradually reached a consensus on the adverse impact of climate change on human rights, and the international community has begun to consider how to deal with the problem in the field.

International human rights institutions are actively calling on the international community to pay full attention to and protect human rights, so that the global response to climate change reflects all-round respect for human rights. Climate change has brought a crisis to human rights. However, from a legal point of view, climate change is not necessarily regarded as a violation of human rights law. Under the framework of international human rights law, the infringement of human rights law usually refers to

⁸² See Ibid.

the violation of a certain human rights obligation by a certain obligator. Therefore, not all negative effects on human rights can be regarded as human rights violations. For example, extreme weather events caused casualties, which infringed the right to life of these people. However, such violations are not caused by a country's violation of its specific human rights obligations, so it can't be regarded as a violation of human rights in the context of traditional international human rights law. Although climate change has brought "crisis" to human rights, climate change does not bring legal "infringement" to human rights. Climate change has brought about serious consequences for human survival and health, but it has not been recognized in international human rights law. The failure to establish an independent protection system in international human rights law does not mean that countries have not raised concerns about the consequences.

In the Article 2 of Convention On Biological Diversity 83, it provides that "biological diversity' means the variability among living organisms from all sources including, inter alia, terrestrial, marine and other aquatic ecosystems and the ecological complexes of which they are part: this includes diversity within species, between species and of ecosystems. 'Biological resources' includes genetic resources, organisms or parts thereof, populations, or any other biotic component of ecosystems with actual or potential use or value for humanity. 'Biotechnology' means any technological application that uses biological systems, living organisms, or derivatives thereof, to make or modify products or processes for specific use." The loss of biodiversity is the loss of the use value of biological species and ecosystems within the framework of

⁸³ Convention on Biological Diversity, 5 June 1992, 8 UNTS 214, (entered into force 29 December 1993), online: https://www.cbd.int/doc/legal/cbd-en.pdf.

economics, ecology and aesthetics.⁸⁴ The *Convention on Biological Diversity* is a legally binding convention aimed at protecting endangered plants and animals and maximizing the protection of the biodiversity. It covers all ecosystems, species and genetic resources, while connecting traditional conservation efforts with the economic goal of sustainable use of biological resources, and establishes the principle of fair and reasonable sharing of genetic resources.

Climate change as a threat to biodiversity is, however, nowhere mentioned in the *Convention on Biological Diversity*. It does not provide the negative consequences of climate change on biodiversity, but it does specify the concept of "loss of biodiversity". The loss of biodiversity does exist in some countries and regions. Due to projected climate change by the mid-21st century and beyond, global marine species redistribution and marine biodiversity reduction in sensitive regions will challenge the sustained provision of fisheries productivity and other ecosystem services. ⁸⁵ The impact of climate change on biodiversity and the important role of biodiversity in mitigating climate change make UNFCCC and Convention on Biological Diversity become two parallel and closely related international environmental conventions. "For the UNFCCC, focal issues related to biodiversity are as follows: LULUCF (Land Use, Land-Use Change and Forestry); REDD (Reducing Emissions from Deforestation and Forest Degradation). For the Biodiversity Convention, the major issues related to climate change are: Synergy; REDD; and related issues. The interlinkages between

⁸⁴ See Lakshman D Guruswamy, *International environmental law in a nutshell*, fourth edition, West nutshell series (StPaul, MN: West, a Thomson Reuters business, 2012) at 149.

⁸⁵ The core writing team, R K Pachauri, Leo Mayer & Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, Climate change 2014: synthesis report (Geneva, Switzerland: Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, 2015) at 13.

biodiversity and climate change have been recognized within both *UNFCCC* and the *Convention on Biological Diversity* as well as other international fora. Article 2 of the *UNFCCC*, for example, recognizes the importance of limiting climate change to a level that would allow ecosystems to adapt naturally to climate change. The *Convention on Biological Diversity* has adopted a number of decisions on biodiversity and climate change, and in 2001 formed an Ad Hoc Technical Expert Group (AHTEG) on Biodiversity and Climate Change, to consider the possible negative impacts of climate change related activities on biodiversity, identify the role of biodiversity in climate change mitigation and identify opportunities for achieving climate change and biodiversity co-benefits."⁸⁶ The global community urgently calls for further research and action to reduce the impact of climate change on biodiversity and to increase synergies between biodiversity conservation and climate change mitigation and adaptation activities.

Biodiversity is under unprecedented pressure in the context of climate change. Climate change as a global problem, its impact on the ecosystem is gradually reflected. Although at the beginning of the formation of the Convention on Biological Diversity, it did not specifically mention the loss of biodiversity caused by climate change, but in recent years, studies have found that the impact of climate change on biodiversity is becoming more and more serious. Climate change, biodiversity protection and sustainable development of human beings should be considered comprehensively. The loss of biodiversity has been the adverse consequence of climate change and can't be

⁸⁶ Secretariat of the Convention on Biological Diversity, *Key Messages from the Report of the Second Ad Hoc Technical Expert Group on Biodiversity and Climate Change* (2009) at 1.

disputed.

Moreover, due to climate change, hydrological and meteorological events such as heavy rain, flash floods, hurricanes, typhoons and storm surges have increased the frequency of disasters. As a result, sites around the world, especially in coastal areas below sea level, are more vulnerable than ever to being inundated by seawater. In addition, climate change has led to increased temperatures and increased fire incidents, making the cultural heritage of forested areas more risky than ever before.

In Article 1 of Convention Concerning the Protection of the World Cultural and Natural Heritage 87, it provides "for the purpose of this Convention, the following shall be considered as 'cultural heritage': monuments: architectural works, works of monumental sculpture and painting, elements or structures of an archaeological nature, inscriptions, cave dwellings and combinations of features, which are of outstanding universal value from the point of view of history, art or science; groups of buildings: groups of separate or connected buildings which, because of their architecture, their homogeneity or their place in the landscape, are of outstanding universal value from the point of view of history, art or science; sites: works of man or the combined works of nature and man, and areas including archaeological sites which are of outstanding universal value from the historical, aesthetic, ethnological or anthropological point of view." Article 2 provides that "for the purposes of this Convention, the following shall

⁸⁷ Convention Concerning the Protection of the World Cultural and Natural Heritage, 16 November 1972, UNTS 1977 No 15511, (entered into force 17 December 1975), online: https://whc.unesco.org/archive/conventionen.pdf.

be considered as 'natural heritage': natural features consisting of physical and biological formations or groups of such formations, which are of outstanding universal value from the aesthetic or scientific point of view; geological and physiographical formations and precisely delineated areas which constitute the habitat of threatened species of animals and plants of outstanding universal value from the point of view of science or conservation; natural sites or precisely delineated natural areas of outstanding universal value from the point of view of science, conservation or natural beauty." We can see that in the Convention Concerning the Protection of the World Cultural and Natural Heritage, it divides the world heritage into two categories: cultural heritage and natural heritage. Cultural Heritage can be distinguished in: Built Environment (Buildings, Townscapes, Archaeological remains); Natural Environment (Rural landscapes, Coasts and shorelines, Agricultural heritage); Artefacts (Books & Documents, Objects, Pictures). Driving force behind all definitions of Cultural Heritage is: it is a human creation intended to inform.⁸⁸ "The existing international conventions, recommendations and resolutions concerning cultural and natural property demonstrate the importance, for all the peoples of the world, of safeguarding this unique and irreplaceable property, to whatever people it may belong. Parts of the cultural or natural heritage are of outstanding interest and therefore need to be preserved as part of the world heritage of mankind as a whole."89

Cultural heritage is gradually unable to withstand the damage caused by climate

^{88 &}quot;What is Cultural Heritage", online: Culture in Development

http://www.cultureindevelopment.nl/Cultural_Heritage/What_is_Cultural_Heritage>.

⁸⁹ Convention Concerning the Protection of the World Cultural and Natural Heritage, 16 November 1972, UNTS 1977 No 15511, (entered into force 17 December 1975).

change, which will affect the value of cultural heritage and the future understanding and protection of cultural heritage. "For example, Hoi An Ancient Town, situated on the banks of the Thu Bon River in Viet Nam's central Quang Nam province, Hoi An is an exceptionally well-preserved example of a Far Eastern trading port that was active from the 15th to the 19th centuries. The old town has more than 1 100 wood-framed buildings, 800 of which date from the 16th and 17th centuries. Tourism is the main economic activity in the city and has surged since its listing as a World Heritage site, with the average number of tourists increasing by 20 percent year on year from 2003 to 2010. The city is prone to flooding during the annual rainy season, but climate change is expected to worsen conditions considerably in the future. Much of An Hoi is at or no more than 2 meters above sea level, so is vulnerable to sea-level rise, storm surges during typhoons, and coastal erosion."

In addition, sea level rise caused by climate change has inundated some countries' territories and may even drown them all, and some small island countries are about to disappear. The existence of a general State has four elements: first, people; second, land settled by people; third, there is a government; fourth, there is a sovereign government. Climate change-induced sea-level rise has inundated the territory of some countries, possibly even all of them, eventually leading to the disappearance of international personalities, that is, small island States. This is undoubtedly the most serious damage to small island States. It should also be noted that loss and damage can

⁹⁰ See Adam Markham et al, World heritage and tourism in a changing climate (UNESCO Publishing, 2016).

⁹¹ See Guimei Bai, *International Law* (Beijing: Peking University Press, 2015). See also Chengyuan Ma, International Law (Beijing: Renmin University Press, 2019).

damage caused by climate change not only endanger the interests of contemporary people, but also seriously hinder the sustainable development of small island countries and harm the interests of their future generations. In 2002, Tuvalu wanted to sue Australia and the United States over their greenhouse gas emissions. It said some of their islands have been flooded by rising sea levels caused by greenhouse gas emissions. In the period, Tuvalu was busy lobbying other island States from around the world. It wanted their help to launch a world court lawsuit against the two developed nations. Tuvalu considered Australia is the biggest per capita producer of greenhouse gases, and the United States is the world's single biggest polluter of such gases. In 2001, these concerns drove Tuvalu to last year request Australia and New Zealand to open their doors for its citizens to immigrate if they face imminent danger. New Zealand agreed to plan a 30-year immigration program. But Australia's Immigration Minister, Philip Ruddock, said this action was based on speculation. Australia committed to take its own measures to try to meet its Kyoto targets.⁹³

The adverse consequences of climate change are increasing in all regions of the world, and may even cause the sinking of some small island countries, resulting in the reduction of the main body of international law and further affecting the world pattern. As can be seen from the above, the adverse consequences of climate change affect human life and health and threaten the protection of human rights by the international

⁹² See "Tuvalu steps up threat to sue Australia, U.S.", online:

http://tuvaluislands.com/news/archived/2002/2002-09-10.htm.

⁹³ See Innocenti, supra note 62.

community. At the same time, climate change has adverse consequences on biodiversity, mainly manifested in habitat degradation and species reduction. Biodiversity is the wealth of all mankind and plays an important role in the existence and development of mankind. Therefore, the *Convention on Biological Diversity* provides a principled provision for the protection of biodiversity. As the world cultural and natural heritage of human common memory, under the influence of climate change, loss and damage have also occurred. According to *Convention Concerning the Protection of the World Culture and Natural Heritage*, human beings should respond to such loss and damage. These international conventions do not directly stipulate the adverse consequences of climate change, but they embody the protection of human rights, biodiversity and the world cultural and natural heritage. In the following section, we will study international conventions and agreements that specifically address the adverse effects of climate change.

1.1.3 Loss and Damage in international climate change law

For the first time, the term "loss and damage associated with climate change impacts" appeared in the Bali Action Plan adopted by the Thirteenth Meeting of the Parties in 2007. In 2010, the Cancun Adaptation Framework made a specific list of loss and damage. The Warsaw Climate Change Conference proposed the establishment of an international mechanism for the loss and damage related to climate change. The Paris Agreement proposes measures to avoid, minimize and deal with loss and damage associated with the adverse effects of climate change. These discussions on loss and

damage have focused on how to take measures to deal with such loss and damage without a uniform definition of what is the loss and damage caused by climate change. However, the impact of loss and damage is increasing, and the number of times mentioned in climate change law is also increasing.

The UNFCCC: "Intergovernmental Negotiating Committee (INC) first met in February 1991 and its government representatives adopted the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change, after just 15 months of negotiations, on 9 May 1992. At the Rio de Janeiro United Nations Conference on Environment and Development (or Earth Summit) of June 1992, the new Convention was opened for signature. It entered into force on 21 March 1994."94 "The Convention divides countries into three main groups with differing commitments: Annex I, Annex II, Nonannex I. Annex I Parties include the industrialized countries that were members of the OECD (Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development) in 1992, plus countries with economies in transition (the EIT Parties), including the Russian Federation, the Baltic States, and several Central and Eastern European States."95 "A requirement that affects only Annex I Parties is that they must adopt climate change policies and measures with the aim of reducing their greenhouse gas emissions to 1990 levels by the Year 2000. Annex II Parties consist of the OECD members of Annex I, but not the EIT Parties. They are required to provide financial resources to enable developing countries to undertake emissions reduction activities under the Convention

⁹⁴ Climate Change Secretariat, "Uniting on Climate A guide to the Climate Change Convention and the Kyoto Protocol" (2007) at 14, online: https://UNFCCC.int/resource/docs/publications/unitingonclimate_eng.pdf>.

^{95 &}quot;Parties & Observers | UNFCCC", online: https://unfccc.int/parties-observers.

and to help them adapt to adverse effects of climate change. In addition, they have to "take all practicable steps" to promote the development and transfer of environmentally friendly technologies to EIT Parties and developing countries. Non-annex I Parties – as they are termed for ease of reference – are mostly developing countries. Certain groups of developing countries are recognized by the Convention as being vulnerable to the adverse impacts of climate change, including countries with low-lying coastal areas and those prone to desertification and drought. Others (such as countries that rely heavily on income from fossil fuel production and commerce) feel more vulnerable to the potential economic impacts of climate change response measures."96

The *UNFCCC*, in its Article 1, defines that "adverse effects of climate change' means changes in the physical environment or biota resulting from climate change which have significant deleterious effects on the composition, resilience or productivity of natural and managed ecosystems or on the operation of socio-economic systems or on human health and welfare." Article 3.1 of the *UNFCCC* establishes the notion "common but differentiated responsibility". It provides "the Parties should protect the climate system for the benefit of present and future generations of humankind, on the basis of equity and in accordance with their common but differentiated responsibilities and respective capabilities. Accordingly, the developed country Parties should take the lead in combating climate change and the adverse effects thereof." Article 3.1 not

⁹⁶ Supra note 94 at 15.

⁹⁷ See United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change, 4 June 1992, UNTS, (entered into force 21 March 1994), online: https://UNFCCC.int/resource/docs/convkp/conveng.pdf.

only refers to the capacity of industrialized countries to mitigate climate change, but also establishing the leadership role with respect to climate change damage. 99 Article 3.3 of the UNFCCC provides the precautionary principle: "the Parties should take precautionary measures to anticipate, prevent or minimize the causes of climate change and mitigate its adverse effects. Where there are threats of serious or irreversible damage, lack of full scientific certainty should not be used as a reason for postponing such measures, taking into account that policies and measures to deal with climate change should be cost-effective so as to ensure global benefits at the lowest possible cost. To achieve this, such policies and measures should take into account different socio-economic contexts, be comprehensive, cover all relevant sources, sinks and reservoirs of greenhouse gases and adaptation, and comprise all economic sectors. Efforts to address climate change may be carried out cooperatively by interested Parties."100 Lack of scientific certainty cannot be used as an excuse to postpone such measures where there are threats of "serious or irreversible" damage. It is important to note that the precautionary principle not only applies to the prevention of climate change but also to the "mitigation of its adverse effects", i.e. to adaptation measures. 101 Article 4.1(b) provides that "all Parties formulate, implement, publish and regularly update national and, where appropriate, regional programs containing measures to mitigate climate change by addressing anthropogenic emissions by sources and removals by sinks of all greenhouse gases not controlled by the Montreal Protocol, and

⁹⁹ Roda Verheyen, *Climate change damage and international law: prevention, duties and state responsibility* (Leiden; Boston: MNijhoff; Brill, 2005) at 69.

¹⁰⁰ See *supra* note 97.

¹⁰¹ Verheyen, *supra* note 99 at 74.

measures to facilitate adequate adaptation to climate change." ¹⁰² At this time, UNFCCC put the adaptation obligation after mitigation, and it made clear the adaptation obligation of each country. UNFCCC has laid down the principles and pointed out the direction for jointly dealing with the adverse effects of climate change. The Kyoto Protocol reached in 1997 has made substantial progress. It has formulated the implementation mechanism, set specific emission reduction targets, and realized the transformation from the emission reduction system under the framework to a legally binding mechanism. The substantive progress of the Kyoto Protocol will be analyzed in detail below.

Kyoto Protocol: "The *Kyoto Protocol* is an international agreement linked to the *United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change*, which commits its Parties by setting internationally binding emission reduction targets. The *Kyoto Protocol* was adopted in Kyoto, Japan, on 11 December 1997 and entered into force on 16 February 2005. The detailed rules for the implementation of the Protocol were adopted at COP 7 in Marrakesh, Morocco, in 2001, and are referred to as the "Marrakesh Accords." Its first commitment period started in 2008 and ended in 2012." In Doha, Qatar, on 8 December 2012, the "Doha Amendment to the Kyoto Protocol" was adopted. "The amendment includes: new commitments for Annex I Parties to the *Kyoto Protocol* who agreed to take on commitments in a second commitment period from 1 January 2013

¹⁰² See *supra* note 97.

¹⁰³ See UNFCCC, "What is the Kyoto Protocol? | UNFCCC", (2020), online: What Kyoto Protoc https://unfccc.int/kyoto protocol>.

Doha Amendment to the Kyoto Protocol, 8 December 2012, online: https://unfccc.int/files/kyoto_protocol/application/pdf/kp_doha_amendment_english.pdf.

to 31 December 2020; A revised list of greenhouse gases (GHG) to be reported on by Parties in the second commitment period; and Amendments to several articles of the Kyoto Protocol which specifically referenced issues pertaining to the first commitment period and which needed to be updated for the second commitment period."105

In keeping with the UNFCCC, the Kyoto Protocol¹⁰⁶ in Article 3 provides that "the Parties included in Annex I shall, individually or jointly, ensure that their aggregate anthropogenic carbon dioxide equivalent emissions of the greenhouse gases listed in Annex A do not exceed their assigned amounts, calculated pursuant to their quantified emission limitation and reduction commitments inscribed in Annex B and in accordance with the provisions of this Article, with a view to reducing their overall emissions of such gases by at least 5 percent below 1990 levels in the commitment period 2008 to 2012."107 The Kyoto Protocol complements the UNFCCC and is an important tool to effectively prevent climate change damage through mitigation measures aimed at achieving the objective of the UNFCCC. In Article 12.1 and 12.2 of the Kyoto Protocol, it provides "a clean development mechanism is hereby defined. The purpose of the clean development mechanism shall be to assist Parties not included in Annex I in achieving sustainable development and in contributing to the ultimate objective of the Convention, and to assist Parties included in Annex I in achieving compliance with their quantified emission limitation and reduction commitments under Article 3."Article 12.8 of *Kyoto Protocol* provides "the Conference of the Parties

¹⁰⁵ Climate Change Secretariat, *supra* note 94.

¹⁰⁶ See Kyoto Protocol, December 1997, UNTS, (entered into force 16 February 2005), online: https://UNFCCC.int/resource/docs/convkp/kpeng.pdf.

serving as the meeting of the Parties to this Protocol shall ensure that a share of the proceeds from certified project activities is used to cover administrative expenses as well as to assist developing country Parties that are particularly vulnerable to the adverse effects of climate change to meet the costs of adaptation."¹⁰⁸ The "share of the proceeds" does not link the funding to the non-compliance of Parties. Funds are earmarked for adaptation and administrative costs, and they are only for the "particularly vulnerable" countries. Mitigation projects are not be funded through this special mechanism.

Issues on climate change have received significant attention from governments and nongovernmental actors since 1997, the year of which was marked by the conclusion of a historic agreement to reduce emissions of greenhouse gases pursuant to the Kyoto Protocol to the *UNFCCC*. The Kyoto Protocol sets emission reduction requirements of all countries as a goal with legal effect. Although the Kyoto Protocol does not explicitly put forward the loss and damage caused by climate change, it fully follows the UNFCCC goal, i.e., to deal with the "adverse effects of climate change" by cutting down greenhouse gas emissions.

Among the three mechanisms established by the Kyoto Protocol, the clean development mechanism is the only one that can be participated in by the developing countries. The CDM is purposed to assist parties not included in Annex I (mainly the developing countries) to achieve the ultimate goal of sustainable development and

¹⁰⁸ *Ibid*.

51

benefit the UNFCCC, while it is also supposed to assist parties included in Annex I to achieve their quantified emission limitation and reduction commitments under Articles 3 12 of the Kyoto Protocol on the cost of adaptation as mentioned above. They require the developed countries to assist the developing ones that are particularly vulnerable to the adverse effects of climate change to bear the costs of adaptation. It can be found that both mitigation and adaptation are emphasized, while also laying a foundation for the establishment of adaptation framework in the future. From that time, the international community began to pay more attention to the assistance by developed countries to developing countries in terms of adaptation policies.

Cancun Adaptation Framework: In 2010, the 16th Conference of the Parties to the UNFCCC established the Cancun Adaptation Framework with the objective of enhancing action on adaptation, including through international cooperation and coherent consideration of matters relating to adaptation under the Convention. ¹⁰⁹ It recognizes the need to strengthen international cooperation and expertise in order to understand and reduce loss and damage associated with the adverse effects of climate change, including impacts related to extreme weather events and slow onset events. ¹¹⁰

In the Cancun Agreements, there is a shared vision for long-term cooperative action. "All Parties share a vision for long-term cooperative action in order to achieve the objective of the Convention under its Article 2, including through the achievement

¹⁰⁹ See *Report of the Conference of the Parties on its sixteenth session,* Official Records FCCC/CP/2010/7/Add.1 (Cancun: UN, 2010), online: https://UNFCCC.int/resource/docs/2010/cop16/eng/07a01.pdf.

¹¹⁰ Report of the Conference of the Parties on its sixteenth session, Official Records FCCC/CP/2010/7/Add.1 (Cancun: UN, 2010) at 6.

52

of a global goal, on the basis of equity and in accordance with common but differentiated responsibilities and respective capabilities; this vision is to guide the policies and actions of all Parties, while taking into full consideration the different circumstances of Parties in accordance with the principles and provisions of the Convention; the vision addresses mitigation, adaptation, finance, technology development and transfer, and capacity-building in a balanced, integrated and comprehensive manner to enhance and achieve the full, effective and sustained implementation of the Convention, now, up to and beyond 2012."111 "It affirms that: (a) Scaled-up overall mitigation efforts that allow for the achievement of desired stabilization levels are necessary, with developed country Parties showing leadership by undertaking ambitious emission reductions and providing technology, capacitybuilding and financial resources to developing country Parties, in accordance with the relevant provisions of the Convention; (b) Adaptation must be addressed with the same priority as mitigation and requires appropriate institutional arrangements to enhance adaptation action and support; (c) All Parties should cooperate, consistent with the principles of the Convention, through effective mechanisms, enhanced means and appropriate enabling environments, and enhance technology development and the transfer of technologies to developing country Parties to enable action on mitigation and adaptation; (d) Mobilization and provision of scaled-up, new, additional, adequate and predictable financial resources is necessary to address the adaptation and mitigation needs of developing countries."112

__

¹¹¹ *Ibid at 2*.

¹¹² *Ibid at 3*.

Adaptation is a challenge faced by all Parties, and the enhanced action and international cooperation for adaptation is urgently required to enable and support the implementation of adaptation actions aimed at reducing vulnerability and building resilience in developing country Parties, so as to meet the urgent and immediate needs of those developing countries that are particularly vulnerable. Such enhanced action for adaptation should be undertaken in accordance with the Convention, while following a country-driven, gender-sensitive, participatory and fully transparent approach and taking into consideration vulnerable groups, communities and ecosystems; further, such action should be based on and guided by the best available science and, as appropriate, traditional and indigenous knowledge, with a view to integrating adaptation into relevant social, economic and environmental policies and actions, where appropriate. The Conferences of Parties established the Cancun Adaptation Framework, which encompasses the provisions laid out below, with an objective to enhance measurements about adaptation, including taking international cooperation and coherent consideration of matters relating to adaptation under the Convention.

"All Parties should enhance action on adaptation under the Cancun Adaptation Framework, taking into account their common but differentiated responsibilities and respective capabilities, and specific national and regional development priorities, objectives and circumstances, by undertaking, inter alia, the following: (a) Planning, prioritizing and implementing adaptation actions, including projects and programs, and actions identified in national and subnational adaptation plans and strategies, national adaptation programs of action of the least developed countries, national

communications, technology needs assessments and other relevant national planning documents; (b) Impact, vulnerability and adaptation assessments, including assessments of financial needs as well as economic, social and environmental evaluation of adaptation options; (c) Strengthening institutional capacities and enabling environments for adaptation, including for climate-resilient development and vulnerability reduction."¹¹³

The Cancun Adaptation Framework mentions the extension of loss and damage associated with the adverse effects of climate change, while it emphasizes the status of international cooperation. The Cancun Adaptation Framework puts adaptation actions before mitigation actions, and it emphasizes the importance of adaptation actions. As we know, the mitigation measures under the climate change regime do not work well for addressing the loss and damage. In the long run, reducing greenhouse gas emissions is an important strategy. However, in the current situation, the accumulation of greenhouse gases is still increasing the adverse consequences, so adaptation policy should be more important. Consequently, policymakers must focus not only on mitigating emissions, but also on adapting to climate change.¹¹⁴ Warsaw International Mechanism: the Alliance of Small Island States (AOSIS) ¹¹⁵ put forward a new "Multi-Window Mechanism" to address Loss and Damage from Climate Change Impacts. This "Multi-Window Mechanism" would consist of three inter-dependent components:

¹¹³ Ibid at 4.

¹¹⁴ Alice Kaswan, "Climate Change Adaptation and Land Use: Exploring the Federal Role" (2013) 47 J Marshall Rev 509 at 509, 510.

Alliance of Small Island States (AOSIS) is a coalition of small islands and low-lying coastal countries that share similar development challenges and concerns about the environment, especially their vulnerability to the adverse effects of global climate change. It functions primarily as an ad hoc lobby and negotiating voice for small islands developing States (SIDS) within the United Nations system, online: http://aosis.org/about/.

Insurance Component; Rehabilitation/Compensatory Component; Risk Management Component. These three components play different and complementary roles and comprise necessary components of an integrated approach to risk reduction, risk transfer and risk management efforts. Taken together, the three components aim to enhance adaptive capacity. 116 LDCs said that the impact of climate change already inflicted Loss and Damage that current levels of mitigation and adaptation can't address. It also called for urgent action including the establishment of an international mechanism to enhance action and support to help developing countries to address the Loss and Damage issue. It called for the functions and modalities of an international mechanism to be established in Warsaw.¹¹⁷ Developing countries require a portfolio of mechanisms, which may include insurance, to manage risks, as no one mechanism can meet the range of circumstances required by all countries. 118 There is a wide range of insurance models, from informal social arrangements, community schemes such as microinsurance and mutual insurance, to formal insurance where funds are collected by a profit-making third party, and reinsurance, which accepts risks that are too severe for smaller schemes or operators to retain.¹¹⁹

Under the Cancun Adaptation Framework, the "Warsaw International Mechanism on Loss and Damage" was eventually formed at the 19th Conference of the Parties to

¹¹⁶ See Alliance of Small Island States (AOSIS), *Multi-Window Mechanism to Address Loss and Damage from Climate Change Impacts*, Official Records (UNFCCC, 2008) at 1, online:

 $http://UNFCCC.int/files/kyoto_protocol/application/pdf/aosisinsurance061208.pdf.\\$

¹¹⁷ United Nations Climate Change Talks, United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (Organization) & Third World Network, *Warsaw news updates and climate briefings; November 2013* (2014) at 13.

¹¹⁸ Mechanisms to manage financial risks from direct impacts of climate change in developing countries, Official Records FCCC/TP/2008/9 (United Nations, 2008) at 1, online: https://UNFCCC.int/resource/docs/2008/tp/09.pdf. ¹¹⁹ Ibid at 6.

the UNFCCC in 2013. At the 19th Conference of the Parties, all Parties had another debate and expressed their positions and views on the new international mechanism. Developing countries negotiating at the 19th Conference of the Parties have repeatedly stated that creating an international mechanism under UNFCCC to address loss and damage is the biggest expectation they have of the Warsaw meeting. "G77+China proposed an idea to provide the basis of negotiations for creating such an international mechanism for loss and damage, which called for this issue to be treated as a third, separate, pillar in the UNFCCC process, in addition to mitigation and adaptation."120 "But developed countries have been reluctant to give such a prominent role under UNFCCC to loss and damage. For example, according to USA, its negotiating position at the 19th Conference of the Parties said that accepting loss and damage as a third pillar would mean "focusing on blame and liability". That is, developed countries would have to accept historical responsibility for emissions causing climate change and commit to paying the price. UK confirmed its support for the developed countries' resistance. It does not accept the argument on compensation. It considers the compensation analysis is fair and sensible, but it does not mean that UK are not committed to helping the poorest countries adapt."121

The main measures of UNFCCC are aimed at mitigation and adaptation. "It can be said that the two pillars of UNFCCC are mitigation and adaptation. At the 19th conference of the parties, developing countries proposed "loss and damage" as an

 [&]quot;G77 Walk-out at COP19 as Rich Countries Use Delaying Tactics | Inter Press Service", online:
 http://www.ipsnews.net/2013/11/g77-walk-out-at-cop19-as-rich-countries-use-delaying-tactics/.
 1bid at 77.

In other words, both developing and developed countries agree that the response measures of the Warsaw International Mechanism shall fulfil the role under the UNFCCC of promoting the implementation of approaches to address loss and damage associated with the adverse effects of climate change."

It is an international implementation of Article 4 of the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change. It is not a punitive, adversarial compensation mechanism, nor a compensation mechanism. At this time, Warsaw International Mechanism is still under the leadership of UNFCCC, but with the emergence of Paris Agreement, it gave Warsaw International Mechanism a new status.

Paris Agreement: In December 2015, a binding agreement, the Paris Agreement was adopted at the Conference of the Parties to the UNFCCC. In Article 8, it provided "Parties recognize the importance of averting, minimizing and addressing Loss and Damage associated with the adverse effects of climate change, including extreme weather events and slow onset events, and the role of sustainable development in

¹²² Report of the Conference of the Parties on its nineteenth session, Official Records FCCC/CP/2013/10/Add.1 (Warsaw: United Nations, 2013) at 6, online:

https://UNFCCC.int/documents?f%5B0%5D=conference%3A3667&f%5B1%5D=conference%3A3936&search=&page=0%2C0%2C1.

reducing the risk of Loss and Damage. The Warsaw International Mechanism for Loss and Damage associated with Climate Change Impacts shall be subject to the authority and guidance of the Conference of the Parties serving as the meeting of the Parties to this Agreement and may be enhanced and strengthened, as determined by the Conference of the Parties serving as the meeting of the Parties to this Agreement."

The Conference of the Parties after the Paris Agreement stressed the importance of the Warsaw International Mechanism. Under it, Parties were required to formulate and implement relevant national plans and strategies to seek to avoid, minimize and deal with loss and damage and reduce disaster risk. The Conference of Parties continued to reaffirm the role of the Executive Committee of the Warsaw International Mechanism in guiding the implementation of its functions. So far, Warsaw International Mechanism has been given a very important position in dealing with loss and damage. The specific analysis will be followed in succession.

1.2 The definition of the Loss and Damage caused by climate change

On 2 February 2018, the International Court of Justice issued a landmark judgment on compensation for environmental damages in Certain Activities Carried Out by Nicaragua in the Border Area (Costa Rica v. Nicaragua)¹²³, Compensation Owed by the

g

¹²³ This case is the judgment of the International Court of justice on environmental damage in recent two years. It is different from "case concerning pump mills on the river Uruguay (Argentina v. Uruguay)". The special feature of this case lies in the fact that the International Court of justice has for the first time made a judgment of over compensation to the injured State for environmental damage. However, in "case concerning pump mills on the river Uruguay (Argentina v. Uruguay)", the International Court of justice did not make a compensation judgment for environmental damage, but only required the relevant countries to comply with the procedural prior notice

Republic of Nicaragua to the Republic of Costa Rica. In 2010, Costa Rica contended that Nicaragua had occupied the territory of Costa Rica in connection with the construction of a canal from the San Juan River to Laguna los Portillos, and carried out certain related works of dredging on the San Juan River. Costa Rica consider that the dredging and the construction of that canal would seriously affect the flow of water to the Colorado River of Costa Rica, and would cause further damage to Costa Rican territory. The Court observes that, in the present case, the compensation to be awarded to Costa Rica is divided into two parts: compensation for environmental damage and compensation for costs and expenses incurred by Costa Rica in connection with Nicaragua's unlawful activities. The Court considers that Costa Rica is not entitled to pre-judgment interest on the amount of compensation for environmental damage; in determining the overall valuation of environmental damage, the Court has taken full account of the impairment or loss of environmental goods and services in the period prior to recovery. 124

It's a new decision of the International Court of Justice, Moreover, in this case, environmental damage was discussed again, and the issue of environmental damage became the focus of attention again. In the case of Costa Rica v. Nicaragua, ICJ did not adopt Costa Rica's theory of an "ecosystem approach" to damage assessment, and neither did it adopt Nicaragua's position that "replacement costs" be used to estimate

obligation.

¹²⁴ ICJ, 02/02/2018, No. 150, Costa Rica v Nicaragua (available on https://www.icj-cij.org/en/case/150).

¹²⁵ Costa Rica explains that, according to the ecosystem services approach, the value of an environment is comprised of goods and services that may or may not be traded on the market. Goods and services that are traded on the market (such as timber) have a "direct use value" whereas those that are not (such as flood prevention or gas regulation) have an "indirect use value".

¹²⁶ According to Nicaragua, the proper method for calculating this value is by reference to the price that would 60

environmental damages. ¹²⁷ In adjudging compensation for environmental damages caused by Nicaragua to Costa Rica, the ICJ took a rather 'incrementalist' approach to quantification and empirical proof for every head of damage asserted – a methodologically ambiguous and context-sensitive approach which is not easily replicable for future environmental cases, given the complex nature of environmental damages in any given dispute. ¹²⁸ The International Court of justice did not name its methodology. It takes into account the reasonable factors put forward by two countries and makes a judgment based on the reasonable factors. This case is the first time for the International Court of justice to make a judgment on environmental damage, because the fuzziness of methodology also brings difficulties to the later cases. The International Court of justice did not put forward a clear definition of environmental damage, but only discussed the amount of compensation, which is a defect and also a problem worthy of consideration.

Defining environmental damage remains a complex issue. In defining environmental damage, treaties and state practice reflect various approaches. A narrow definition of environmental damage is limited to damage to natural resources alone (air, water, soil, fauna and flora, and their interaction); a more extensive approach includes damage to natural resources and property that forms part of the cultural heritage; the

have to be paid to preserve an equivalent area until the services provided by the impacted area have recovered.
¹²⁷ ICJ, 02/02/2018 Costa Rica v. Nicaragua, supra note 124.

¹²⁸ Diane Desierto, "EJIL: Talk! — Environmental Damages, Environmental Reparations, and the Right to a Healthy Environment: The ICJ Compensation Judgment in Costa Rica v. Nicaragua and the IACtHR Advisory Opinion on Marine Protection for the Greater Caribbean", online: .

most extensive definition includes landscape and environmental amenity.¹²⁹ At present, no one explicitly puts forward the loss and damage caused by climate change as a kind of environmental damage. However, before people discuss what is the loss and damage caused by climate change, people need to understand the characteristics of environmental damage. The loss and damage caused by climate change are special, but it is still closely related to environmental damage. After exploring the characteristics of environmental damage, this section will summarize the characteristics of loss and damage caused by climate change.

1.2.1 Defining the Loss and Damage

As significant loss and damage from climate change increases, so does the need to consider how international law bears upon the issue. The international community has committed itself to increasing efforts to develop international law on liability and compensation for the victims of pollution damage. The Bali Action Plan, in the 13th Conference of the Parties in 2007, officially appeared the words "loss and damage associated with climate change impacts" for the first time. In 2010, the Cancun Adaptation Framework put forward the specific scope of the Loss and Damage. In 2013, "Warsaw International Mechanism on Loss and Damage" shall fulfil the role under the *UNFCCC* of promoting the implementation of approaches to address Loss and Damage.

http://assets.wwf.org.uk/downloads/beyond adaptation lowres.pdf.

62

¹²⁹ Philippe Sands, *Principles of international environmental law*, 3rd ed. (Cambridge ; New York: Cambridge University Press, 2012) at 706.

 $^{^{130}\,}$ Roda Verheyen & Peter Roderick, "Beyond Adaptation: The legal duty to pay compensation for climate change damage" (2008) WWF-UK at 13, online:

The Paris Agreement re-emphasizes the important position of the Warsaw International Mechanism. Some scholars also put forward the ideas about addressing the Loss and Damage, for example, we can establish a Compensation Fund or Commission, similar to the UN Claims Commission established to handle claims against Iraq for war-related damage, including environmental damage and depletion of natural resources. ¹³¹ Countries should establish the system of responsibility for compensation for transboundary harm arising from climate change. It should be guided by the rules of international law, the rules of state responsibility and the international law of compensation for environmental pollution damage. ¹³² The conventions, agreements and scholars' ideas focusing on how to take measures to deal with such Loss and Damage caused by climate change without the definition or the characteristics of the Loss and Damage.

In the Convention on Civil Liability for Damage Resulting from Activities Dangerous to the Environment (1993)¹³³, "'Damage' means: a. loss of life or personal injury; b. loss of or damage to property other than to the installation itself or property held under the control of the operator, at the site of the dangerous activity; c. loss or damage by impairment of the environment in so far as this is not considered to be damage within the meaning of sub-paragraphs a or b above provided that compensation for impairment of the environment, other than for loss of profit from such impairment,

.

¹³¹ Michael B Gerrard & Gregory E Wannier, *Threatened island nations: legal implications of rising seas and a changing climate* (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2014) at 443.

Jiang Xiaoyi, Qin Tianbao, "Climate Change Caused by Transboundary Damage Compensation Analysis" (2012)11 Learn Forum 72 at 74, 75.

¹³³ Convention on Civil Liability for Damage Resulting from Activities Dangerous to the Environment, 21 June 1993, online:

https://rm.coe.int/CoERMPublicCommonSearchServices/DisplayDCTMContent? document Id=090000168007c079.

shall be limited to the costs of measures of reinstatement actually undertaken or to be undertaken; d. the costs of preventive measures and any loss or damage caused by preventive measures. To the extent that the loss or damage referred to in sub-paragraphs a to c of this paragraph arises out of or results from the hazardous properties of the dangerous substances, genetically modified organisms or micro-organisms or arises or results from waste." ¹³⁴ In the Nagoya-Kuala Lumpur Supplementary Protocol on Liability and Redress to the Cartagena Protocol on Biosafety(2000)135, "'Damage' means an adverse effect on the conservation and sustainable use of biological diversity, taking also into account risks to human health, that: (i) is measurable or otherwise observable taking into account, wherever available, scientifically-established baselines recognized by a competent authority that takes into account any other human induced variation and natural variation; and (ii) is significant as set out in paragraph 3 below. In paragraph 3, a "significant" adverse effect is to be determined on the basis of factors, such as: (a) the long-term or permanent change, to be understood as change that will not be redressed through natural recovery within a reasonable period of time; (b) the extent of the qualitative or quantitative changes that adversely affect the components of biological diversity; (c) the reduction of the ability of components of biological diversity to provide goods and services; (d) the extent of any adverse effects on human health in the context of the Protocol."136

_

¹³⁴ See Article 2 of Convention on Civil Liability for Damage Resulting from Activities Dangerous to the Environment. The Convention has never entered into force, but its provision can give an example.

Nagoya-Kuala Lumpur Supplementary Protocol on Liability and Redress to the Cartagena Protocol on Biosafety, 29 January 2000, online: https://bch.cbd.int/protocol/NKL_text.shtml.

¹³⁶ See the Article 2 of the Nagoya-Kuala Lumpur Supplementary Protocol on Liability and Redress to the Cartagena Protocol on Biosafety, 29 January 2000, online: https://bch.cbd.int/protocol/NKL_text.shtml.

The Convention on the Regulation of Antarctic Mineral Resource Activities (1988) 137 provides that "Damage to the Antarctic environment or dependent or associated ecosystems' means any impact on the living or non-living components of that environment or those ecosystems, including harm to atmospheric, marine or terrestrial life, beyond that which is negligible or which has been assessed and judged to be acceptable pursuant to this Convention." 138 "Air Pollution" means the introduction by man, directly or indirectly, of substances or energy into the air resulting in deleterious effects of such a nature as to endanger human health, harm living resources and ecosystems and material property and impair or interfere with amenities and other legitimate uses of the environment, and "air pollutants" shall be construed accordingly. 139 "Pollution of the marine environment" means the introduction by man, directly or indirectly, of substances or energy into the marine environment, including estuaries, which results or is likely to result in such deleterious effects as harm to living resources and marine life, hazards to human health, hindrance to marine activities, including fishing and other legitimate uses of the sea, impairment of quality for use of sea water and reduction of amenities. 140 The distinction between environmental damage and pollution is illustrated by the Convention on Civil Liability for Damage Resulting from Activities Dangerous to the Environment, which provides that the operator shall not be liable under this Convention for damage which was caused by

¹³⁷ Convention on the Regulation of Antarctic Mineral Resource Activities, June 1988, online: https://www.ats.ag/documents/recatt/Att311 e.pdf.

¹³⁸ Ihid

¹³⁹ See Convention on Long-range Transboundary Air Pollution, 1979, (entered into force in 1983), online: https://www.unece.org/fileadmin/DAM/env/lrtap/full%20text/1979.CLRTAP.e.pdf.

¹⁴⁰ See United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea, United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea, 1982, UNTS, (entered into force in 1994), online:

http://www.un.org/Depts/los/convention agreements/texts/unclos/unclos e.pdf.

pollution at tolerable levels under local relevant circumstances. ¹⁴¹ Other conventions define the consequences of activities by using the term "adverse effects". For example, "adverse effects" means changes is the physical environment or biota, including changes in climate, which have significant deleterious effects on human health or on the composition, resilience and productivity of natural and managed ecosystems, or on materials useful to mankind. ¹⁴² The *UNFCCC*, in its Article 1, defines that "adverse effects of climate change". In 2007, the term "loss and damage associated with climate change impacts" is formally adopted for the first time in the Bali Action Plan. It is said that "disaster reduction strategies and means to address loss and damage associated with climate change impacts in developing countries that are particularly vulnerable to the adverse effects of climate change." ¹⁴³

Draft articles on Responsibility of States for Internationally Wrongful Acts (2001) provides that "injury includes any damage, whether material or moral, caused by the internationally wrongful act of a State." ¹⁴⁴ Draft articles on Prevention of Transboundary Harm from Hazardous Activities (2001) provides that "Harm' means harm caused to persons, property or the environment." ¹⁴⁵ In the Draft Principles on the

_

See Convention on Civil Liability for Damage Resulting from Activities Dangerous to the Environment, 21 June 1993, online: https://academic.oup.com/ulr/article-lookup/doi/10.1093/ulr/os-21.1.273.

See Vienna Convention for the Protection of the Ozone Layer, 22 March 1985, 26 ILM 1516, (entered into force 22 September 1988), online: https://treaties.un.org/doc/Treaties/1988/09/19880922%2003-14%20AM/Ch XXVII 02p.pdf.

See Report of the Conference of the Parties on its thirteenth session, Official Records FCCC/CP/2007/6/Add.1 (Bali: UN, 2007) at 4, online: https://UNFCCC.int/documents?f%5B0%5D=conference%3A3399.

¹⁴⁴ International Law Commission, Report of the International Law Commission on the work of its fifty-third session, Official Records A/56/10 (Geneva: International Law Commission, 2001), online: http://legal.un.org/ilc/reports/.

¹⁴⁵ International Law Commission, Report of the International Law Commission on the work of its fifty-third session, Official Records A/56/10 (Geneva: International Law Commission, 2001), online: http://legal.un.org/ilc/reports/.

Allocation of Loss in the case of Transboundary Harm Arising out of Hazardous Activities (2006), "'Damage' means significant damage caused to persons, property or the environment; and includes: (i) loss of life or personal injury; (ii) loss of, or damage to, property, including property which forms part of the cultural heritage; (iii) loss or damage by impairment of the environment; (iv) the costs of reasonable measures of reinstatement of the property, or environment, including natural resources; (v) the costs of reasonable response measures."146 In the Commentary of the Draft Principles on the Allocation of Loss in the case of Transboundary Harm Arising out of Hazardous Activities (2006) emphasizes the important role of concept, which is also the scope of "damage" which has been defined in the part of terms, it says "the present 'use of terms' seeks to define and set out the meaning of the terms or concepts used in the present draft principles. The definition of damage is crucial for the purposes of the present draft principles. The elements of damage are identified in part to set out the basis of claims for damage. Before identifying the elements of damage, it is important to note that damage to be eligible for compensation should acquire a certain threshold."147 Both previous drafts limit damage to persons, property or the environment. The 2006 Draft extends the scope of damage to the cost of restoration measures, essentially to achieve compensation in a more timely and effective manner. Before 2006, damage was regulated and dealt with in many fields. Some treaties were formed, and the international community did not form a unified convention system. These three drafts are also proposed by the International Law Commission to deal with the issue of

-

¹⁴⁶ International Law Commission, Report of the International Law Commission on the work of its fifty-eighth session, Official Records A/61/10 (Geneva: International Law Commission, 2006), online: http://legal.un.org/ilc/reports/.

¹⁴⁷ Ibid.

damage in various fields, although they are not yet binding. As for the loss and damage caused by climate change, the three drafts didn't mentioned or made a provision.

In addition to the International Law Commission's drafts contribution to the definition and treatment of damage, the cases of international dispute settlement in recent decades have also contributed to the definition and treatment of damage.

In the "Trail smelter case (United States, Canada)", the word "damage", shall mean and include such damage as the Governments of the United States and Canada may deem appreciable, and for the purposes of paragraphs (a) and (c)¹⁴⁸ hereof, shall not include occasional damage that may be caused by SO₂ fumes being carried across the international boundary in air pockets or by reason of unusual atmospheric conditions. Provided, however, that any damage in the State of Washington howsoever caused by said fumes on or after January 1, 1932, shall be the subject of indemnity by the company to any interests so damaged. ¹⁴⁹ In "Case Concerning Pulp Mills on the River Uruguay (Argentina v. Uruguay)", the Argentine Republic requests the International Court of Justice to adjudge and declare that, as a result, the Eastern Republic of Uruguay must pay compensation to the Argentine Republic for the damage caused by these internationally wrongful acts that would not be remedied by that situation being restored, of an amount to be determined by the Court at a subsequent

States."

 $^{^{148}}$ The report recommended of the International Joint Commission (Part I, Paragraphs (a) and (c)) is that "the company be required to proceed as expeditiously as may be reasonably possible with the works above referred to and also to erect with due dispatch such further sulphuric acid units and take such further or other action as may be necessary, if any, to reduce the amount and concentration of SO_2 fumes drifting from its said plant into the United States until it has reduced the amount by some means to a point where it will do no damage in the United

¹⁴⁹ Trail smelter case (United States, Canada), 1941 Trail Smelter Arbitral Tribunal 1905.

stage of these proceedings.¹⁵⁰ The concerns of the riparian population relate to the major risks of pollution of the river, deterioration in biodiversity, harmful effects on health and damage to fish stocks, as well as to the extremely serious consequences for tourism and other economic interests, as a result of the construction of the two pulp mills in the circumstances described in this Application.¹⁵¹ The Court points out that the principle of prevention, as a customary rule, has its origins in the due diligence that is required of a State in its territory. It is every State's obligation not to allow knowingly its territory to be used for acts contrary to the rights of other States. A State is thus obliged to use all the means at its disposal in order to avoid activities which take place in its territory, or in any area under its jurisdiction, causing significant damage to the environment of another State.¹⁵²

In the ICJ Compensation Judgment (Costa Rica v. Nicaragua), Nicaragua needs to compensate Costa Rica for its internationally wrongful acts. This case is preceded by the 2015 ICJ decision which found that disputed territory between Costa Rica and Nicaragua belonged to Costa Rica. Excavating three caños (channels) and establishing a military presence are unlawful. Nicaragua violated Costa Rica's territorial sovereignty. This finding rendered Nicaragua's activities unlawful under international law, which gave rise to an obligation of reparation by Nicaragua. 153

-

¹⁵⁰ ICJ, 2010, *Case Concerning Pulp Mills on the River Uruguay (Argentina v Uruguay)*, 1 (available on https://www.icj-cij.org/files/case-related/135/10779.pdf).

¹⁵¹ *Ibid*.

¹⁵² *Ibid*.

¹⁵³ See ICJ, 02/02/2018, No. 150, Costa Rica v Nicaragua (available on https://www.icj-cij.org/en/case/150).

In cases of alleged environmental damage, particular issues may arise with respect to the existence of damage and causation. The damage may be due to several concurrent causes, or the state of science regarding the causal link between the wrongful act and the damage may be uncertain. These are difficulties that must be addressed as and when they arise in light of the facts of the case at hand and the evidence presented to the Court. Ultimately, it is for the Court to decide whether there is a sufficient causal nexus between the wrongful act and the injury suffered.¹⁵⁴

The court ruled that Nicaragua must compensate Costa Rica for material damage, including environmental damage, caused by Nicaragua's unlawful activities in Costa Rica. The case was referred to the International Court of justice after the parties had not successfully determined the amount of compensation acceptable. In this case, the main issue of the dispute between the parties is to determine the appropriate method of compensation for environmental damage. In this case, the International Court of Justice did not adopt the methods¹⁵⁵ of assessing environmental damage proposed by both parties, but it exercised its discretion and adopted its own method of assessment. The court finally awarded Nicaragua compensation for Costa Rica, which indicates that the court acknowledged the existence of environmental damage, and the court did not challenge Nicaragua's unlawful acts and the causal relationship of environmental damage.

The above cases all involve the discussion of the amount of compensation and the

¹⁵⁴ ICJ, 02/02/2018, No. 150, Costa Rica v Nicaragua (available on https://www.icj-cij.org/en/case/150) at 13.

¹⁵⁵ We have talked about them above.

scope of compensation. Although the scope of compensation and the remedial measures taken in each case are different, generally, the damage should involve life, health, property and environment. These issues are the focus of the International Court of justice and some arbitration institutions in determining the scope of damage. Therefore, we can think that the definition of damage can be considered from the aspects of life, health, property and environment.

1.2.2 The characteristics of the Loss and Damage

As we know the *Draft articles on Prevention of Transboundary Harm from Hazardous Activities (2001)* provides that "hazardous activities" causing transboundary harm are the "activities not prohibited by international law". At the same time, the greenhouse gas emissions which cause the loss and damage of climate change are not illegal, so this is the common characteristics of both.

However, the loss and damage caused by climate change have unique characteristics, as follows:

(a) the subject of Loss and Damage is broad. Air resources belong to all mankind. It is not exclusive to any country or individual, and the responsibility for Loss and Damage caused by the use of air resources is also shared by all mankind. Responsibility is taken by some to include present and past emissions. This has been justified on three main grounds. "First, climate change results from the stock of accumulated historic

emissions. Second, the total amount of greenhouse gases that can be emitted to the atmosphere must be constrained (to a level determined by society's choice of global climate stabilization goal, and thus constitutes a finite common resource often loosely referred to as the 'atmospheric space' or the 'carbon budget'). Users of this resource whether current or historical — should be accountable for depleting the resource and precluding the access of others. Third, historical emissions reflect the use of a resource from which benefits have been derived, i.e., wealth, fixed capital, infrastructure, and other assets."156

For the time being, both developed and developing countries are the main emitters of greenhouse gases, and they are the subjects for the Loss and Damage caused by climate change. Therefore, the subject of responsibility is extensive. It is the countries, international organizations or individuals that have the rights and the obligations under the international law in the international community.

(b) The Loss and Damage is serious. "The Loss and Damage caused by climate change in small island states cannot be restored, and may be irreversible and permanent, such as flooding of land, acidification of farmland by seawater, lack of biodiversity, flooding of historical and cultural landscapes, etc. It can't be recovered at the end, even if it takes a long time. Small island developing States remain a special case for sustainable development in view of their unique and particular vulnerabilities, and we

¹⁵⁶ Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, Climate change 2014: mitigation of climate change: Working Group III contribution to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (New York, NY: Cambridge University Press, 2014) at 318.

acknowledge that climate change and sea-level rise continue to pose a significant risk to small island developing States and their efforts to achieve sustainable development and, for some, represent the gravest threat to their survival and viability. Climate change is one of the greatest challenges of our time, and we express profound alarm that emissions of greenhouse gases continue to rise globally. We are deeply concerned that all countries, particularly developing countries, are vulnerable to the adverse impacts. In this regard, we emphasize that adaptation to climate change represents an immediate and urgent global priority."¹⁵⁷ The Loss and Damage caused by climate change not only endanger the interests of the contemporary people, but also seriously hinder the sustainable development of some countries and harm the interests of their descendants. As a result, the Loss and Damage caused by climate change is serious.

(c) The country of conduct is also the victim country. Greenhouse gas emissions involve all countries. In the context of today's globalization, all countries will eventually share some of the risks of climate change, and individual countries will suffer the strongest climate change impacts and even Loss and Damage due to natural conditions and development levels. The victim country is also the country with greenhouse gas emissions. This feature is also the difference between the Loss and Damage caused by climate change and other environmental damage.

In addition, the causal relationship between damage and activities is complex.

There is a view that Loss and Damage caused by climate change can be regarded as a

72

¹⁵⁷ United Nations, *SIDS Accelerated Modalities of Action (SAMOA) Pathway*, Official Records A/69/L.6 (New York: United Nations General Assembly, 2014) at 9.

damage caused by internationally wrongful acts. For example, scholar Hannah Stallard believes that "it has been shown that there is a real possibility of establishing a breach under international law in the context of climate change damage. However, it must also be established that the breach has caused the damage. This requires the existence of a cause and effect relationship according to scientific or objective notions of physical sequence." 158 The requirement of causality constitutes the basis of any claim for compensation under international law and it is the core of the claim of traditional state responsibility. But the Loss and Damage caused by climate change will not necessarily succeed. This issue has not received sufficient attention in the climate change literature, undoubtedly because of its inherent complexity. However, it is a necessary condition for deciding whether compensation can be incurred. If the injured State wishes to put forward a claim according to the international obligations or international customary law, the injured State must prove that the damage has occurred. In the context of climate change damage, proving causality requires establishing a sufficient link between behaviors and the damage. Therefore, scientific evidence is particularly important in this regard, and the court will rely on this evidence to determine causality. A universal scientific consensus identifies the causal relationship between anthropogenic greenhouse gas emissions and climate change. However, the injured State cannot prove that the Loss and Damage have a causal relationship with the conduct of a particular State. Therefore, the above mentioned Tuvalu's lobbying of small island countries to sue Australia and the United States is no longer possible.

¹⁵⁸ Hannah Stallard, "Turning up the Heat on Tuvalu: An Assessment of Potential Compensation for Climate Change Damage in Accordance with States Responsibility under International Law" (2009) 15 Canterb Rev 163 at 182.

1.2.3 Conclusion

Climate change is one of the most serious challenges facing the world today. Without timely measures to reduce greenhouse gas emissions and comprehensive adaptation actions, the world will suffer more severe Loss and Damage from climate change. In order to jointly address climate change damage, countries have reached a series of international conventions such as the *United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change*, the *Kyoto Protocol* and the Paris Agreement to adjust countries' responses to climate change.

So far, the definition of Loss and Damage has not yet reached a general consensus, and there has been controversy in global climate change negotiations. The Loss and Damage caused by climate change are widespread. United States and Canada have raised the negative effects of climate change in their countries, but the developing countries, especially the least developed countries and small island states are facing the worst results. International negotiations have always focused on enhancing understanding to assess and address the Loss and Damage of these countries.

Above, we have studied international conventions, the draft articles of the International Law Commission and cases of transboundary harm. These international conventions, drafts and cases have defined environmental damage. From these definitions, it can be seen that environmental damage involves many fields, such as life, property and environment. International law needs to define and even classify the Loss

and Damage caused by climate change in order to deal with them more effectively. A clear definition will make the measures more legally binding. At the same time, the above distinction between Loss and Damage caused by climate change and transboundary damage illustrates the necessity of the independent existence of Loss and Damage caused by climate change. It is different from the concept of transboundary damage. What's more, there are many differences between the two kinds of damage in terms of treatment measures and legal basis.

In my view, the definition can be that the actual or potential adverse consequences caused by greenhouse gas emissions which will act on the life, health, property and environment. The consequences threaten the survival and sustainable development of mankind which can be avoided or unavoidable.

Part 2 The legal response to the Loss and Damage caused by climate change

Given limited climate capacity resources, how to define the rights and obligations of all parties is the core issue in addressing climate change. Legal response, as an important part of the international legal system in responding to climate change, emphasizes the feasibility of protecting rights and fulfilling obligations. According to the principle off "common but differentiated responsibilities" and the principle of respective capabilities, the response measures need to fully consider the different situations of countries. Now that the international community is widely concerned about climate change, the most important issue is not whether it is needed to take actions, because consensus has been basically reached on this issue. The key point is how to act.

Although there are differences in territory, population, economic strength, military strength and cultural quality among different countries, the German scholar Samuel Pufendorf once asserted that all people in the natural state are equal, and the personality persons in international law are in a natural state, so they are equal. The equality of state sovereignty refers to the equality in law. In fact, all countries can't be exactly identical. Therefore, the sovereign equality of states recognized in international laws refers not to de facto equality, but to legal equality. In other words, all countries enjoy

¹⁵⁹ See RP Anand, "Sovereign Equality of States in International Law" (1986) 197 Recl Cours 9 at 53. See also Feng Liu, "On sovereignty and international cooperation" (2003) 2:3 J Shaoyang Univ64 at 64.

¹⁶⁰ The equality of state sovereignty is a basic principle of modern international law. It is not only clarified in the theories of some international jurists, but also confirmed by modern international legal documents, especially the Charter of the United Nations.

equal rights and obligations under international laws. Therefore, to deal with the loss and damage caused by climate change, although the international community has stressed the historical responsibility of developed countries under UNFCCC, the international community is currently tending to prefer the idea that all countries should enjoy equal rights and perform their obligations equally.

2.1 The general ways in international environmental law to deal with reparation of the damage to the environment

Part 1 has enumerated the methods for defining or assessing damage in international environmental conventions or agreements, which also provide corresponding reparation measures for damage. While summarizing these reparation measures, this section analyzes new judgments of the International Court of Justice, and then illustrates the development of general reparation measures by case studies.

Entrusted with the mission of promoting the development and codification of international laws, the United Nations International Law Commission has conducted long-term research and codification on two issues: the State responsibility for the damage resulting from acts not prohibited by international laws, and the State responsibility for international crimes committed by States, which involves reparation measures for trans-boundary environmental damage. So far, the draft of the International Law Commission has not yet presented a systematic international convention or agreement, but it is of great significance to form and develop such

international environmental conventions. Therefore, studying the general reparation measures for environmental damage requires understanding the evolution and development of the theory of state responsibility.

2.1.1 The evolution of State Responsibility

Since the Second World War, the rapid development of science and technology has met people's growing needs, but also delivered untouchable disasters to mankind. The loss and disaster caused by the trans-boundary damage due to oil pollutions and nuclear leakages are incalculable. In the face of huge trans-boundary disasters, not only do the victims face enormous loss of life, health and property, but also the natural and social environment on which they depend for their survival has been greatly damaged, or even destroyed. Therefore, the international community has begun to pay attention to this issue, and some rules have been established in some areas to ensure timely and adequate compensation for victims of trans-boundary damage. However, such rules have not been widely applied in relevant fields of international laws, while relevant rules and systems need to be further improved. The emergence and continuous improvement of the system of state responsibility has its historical inevitability, because the system has been gradually established in the process of continuous progress of human society, the ongoing development of international law and the enhanced attention of the international community to the basic human rights of victims, including their environmental rights.

a. The contributions of the International Law Commission

The idea of developing international law by restating existing rules or by formulating new ones is not recent. In the Principles of International Law, Bentham envisaged that "If a citizen of the world had to prepare a universal international code, what would he propose to himself as his object? It would be the common and equal utility of all nations: this would be his inclination and his duty." ¹⁶¹ Although only specific texts accepted by Governments can constitute international law, private codification, i.e. research and proposals by various societies, institutions and individual authors, will also have a considerable impact on international law. The various draft codes and proposals are prepared by the Institut de Droit International, the International Law Association (both founded in 1873) and the Harvard Research in International Law (established in 1927), which have facilitated the work of various diplomatic conferences and they also have pushed the development of general multilateral conventions. The International Law Commission is a research institution of international law affiliated to the United Nations. On 21 November 1947, the General Assembly adopted resolution 174 (II), establishing the International Law Commission (ILC) and approving its statute.

The idea that the topic of state responsibility should be one of those which are to receive priority in the Commission's work met with the approval of all the members. Meanwhile, some members pointed out that it was the Commission's duty to examine all aspects of the question in the light of recent developments in international life. In

 $^{^{161}\,}$ See Jeremy Bentham, Principles of International Law (www.WealthOfNation.com, 2015).

the past, the theory of State responsibility had been centred on the treatment of aliens. Under modern international law, State responsibility arose less in connexion with the treatment of aliens than as a result of acts which endangered or might endanger international peace, such as aggression, denial of national independence, or of exchange of friendly relations with States, and violations of provisions of the United Nations Charter. 162 In the traditional international law concerning State responsibility, attention had been focused on such problems as denial of justice, the rule on the exhaustion of local remedies and indemnification. Those problems had not become obsolete but their relative importance had greatly diminished in modern international law. The Commission would of course be doing useful work by studying those problems but it should not stop there; it should go further and study particularly the problems arising in practice. Some other members expressed the view that the Commission should not confine its study to more theoretical and less controversial subjects such as general principles governing the responsibility of States. By doing so it would unduly limit the problem which the General Assembly requested it to study. Finally it was suggested that the Commission should first engage in a study of the general principles of responsibility and then proceed to a more detailed analysis within which the problems of responsibility for damage caused to aliens and its redress would find their proper place. 163 Before 1963, the review and codification of the issue of State Responsibility

_

¹⁶² International Law Commission, Yearbook of the International Law Commission: Report of the International Law Commission covering the work of its Fourteenth Session, Official Records A/CN.4/SER.A/1962/Add. I (Geneva: International Law Commission, 1962) at 188, online: http://legal.un.org/ilc/reports/. See also Xia Wan, "The New Development of The Liability for Transboundary Harm" (2018) 22:No.1 Contemp Law Rev; Zhonghai Zhou, "On international liability for transboundary damage caused by dangerous activities" (2007) 5 J Henan Inst Polit Sci Law Manag 68 at 69.

¹⁶³ International Law Commission, *Yearbook of the International Law Commission: Report of the International Law Commission covering the work of its Fourteenth Session*, Official Records A/CN.4/SER.A/1962/Add. I (Geneva: International Law Commission, 1962) at 188, online: http://legal.un.org/ilc/reports/

by the International Law Commission was mainly confined to diplomatic protection, but the International Law Commission soon realized that the study of State Responsibility should address a broader range of international obligations. ¹⁶⁴ In 1963, the report of the International Law Commission referred to "the juridical nature of State Responsibility is a subject which has been extensively discussed by the authorities. There is general agreement that the juridical nature of the responsibility resulting from breaches of international obligations is similar to that of civil responsibility under municipal law."

Draft articles on Responsibility of States for Internationally Wrongful Acts (2001)¹⁶⁶ served as a tool for describing the elements of the law on State Responsibility. Article 2 provides that apart from proving the breach of an obligation, a wrongful act must be attributed to a State for State Responsibility to arise. With the development of industrial science and technology, transboundary damages arising from hazardous activities are constantly emerging. Such hazardous activities are not prohibited by international law and they do not involve any breach of an international obligation and do not constitute an internationally wrongful act. In 1978, at the 30th session of the

¹⁶⁴ See International Law Commission, *Yearbook of the International Law Commission: Report of the International Law Commission covering the work of its Fourteenth Session*, Official Records A/CN.4/SER.A/1962/Add. I (Geneva: International Law Commission, 1962), online: http://legal.un.org/ilc/reports/.

¹⁶⁵ International Law Commission , *Report of the International Law Commission covering the work of its fifteenth session*, State responsibility Official Records A/CN.4/163 (Geneva: International Law Commission, 1963) at 249, online: http://legal.un.org/ilc/reports/.

¹⁶⁶ International Law Commission, *Report of the International Law Commission on the work of its fifty-third session*, Official Records A/56/10 (Geneva: International Law Commission, 2001), online: http://legal.un.org/ilc/reports/.

Lakshman D Guruswamy & Mariah Zebrowski Leach, *International environmental law in a nutshell*, fourth edition (St. Paul, MN: West Academic Press) at 91. See also International Law Commission, Report of the International Law Commission on the work of its fifty-third session, Official Records A/56/10 (Geneva: International Law Commission, 2001), at 34, online: http://legal.un.org/ilc/reports/.

International Law Commission, the topic of "international liability for injurious consequences arising out of acts not prohibited by international law" was included in the program of work. *Draft articles on Prevention of Transboundary Harm from Hazardous Activities (2001)* ¹⁶⁸ and *Draft Principles on the Allocation of Loss in the case of Transboundary Harm Arising out of Hazardous Activities* (2006) ¹⁶⁹ established the international liability regimes for such acts. The conduct of one State can give rise to injury within the territory of other States without violating any such rule of treaty or customary law. Responding to this challenge, the ILC has put forward a set of draft articles aimed at defining a State's liability for damages caused by acts that are not violations of international law. ¹⁷⁰

b. Application of State Responsibility

Fault. Studying the laws of various countries on torts¹⁷¹ can be seen that the elements necessary for general tort liability include: behavior, fault, damage and causation. Some special infringements do not consider whether the perpetrator is at fault. Regardless of the type of infringement, the tort liability requires three components: behavior, damage, and causation.

Article 2 of Draft articles on Responsibility of States for Internationally Wrongful

83

¹⁶⁸ International Law Commission, Report of the International Law Commission on the work of its fifty-third session, Official Records A/56/10 (Geneva: International Law Commission, 2001), online: http://legal.un.org/ilc/reports/.

¹⁶⁹ International Law Commission, Report of the International Law Commission on the work of its fifty-eighth session, Official Records A/61/10 (Geneva: International Law Commission, 2006), online: http://legal.un.org/ilc/reports/.

¹⁷⁰ Lakshman D Guruswamy & Mariah Zebrowski Leach, *supra* note 167 at 97, 98.

¹⁷¹ See Santo Davide Ferrara, *Personal Injury and Damage Ascertainment under Civil Law* (Switzerland: Springer International Publishing, 2016).

Acts (2001) specifies the conditions required to establish the existence of an internationally wrongful act of the State. "First, the conduct in question must be attributable to the State under international law. Secondly, for responsibility to attach to the act of the State, the conduct must constitute a breach of an international legal obligation in force for that State at that time." The ILC's commentary to the Draft raises a related question. "The question is whether fault constitutes a necessary element of the internationally wrongful act of a State. This is certainly not the case if by "fault" one understands the existence, for example, of an intention to harm. In the absence of any specific requirement of a mental element in terms of the primary obligation, it is only the act of a State that matters, independently of any intention." 173

Strict Liability and Absolute Liability. Strict liability may simply constitute a reversal of the burden of proof, allowing the defending State to exclude the wrongfulness of the act or exemption from liability. Absolute liability is more decisive and prohibits or very strictly restricts evidence of exclusion. As for strict liability, when the wrongful act of the actor causes the consequences of the infringement, as long as he cannot put forward the exemption, even if he has performed reasonable attention, he still has to bear the liability for infringement. The standard of fault required by strict liability is stricter than fault liability, but it is different from absolute liability. If the actor can put forward effective excuses, he will not bear strict liability. Regarding

_

¹⁷² See International Law Commission, Report of the International Law Commission on the work of its fifty-third session, Official Records A/56/10 (Geneva: International Law Commission, 2001), online: http://legal.un.org/ilc/reports/.

¹⁷³ International Law Commission, *Report of the International Law Commission on the work of its fifty-third session*, Official Records A/56/10 (Geneva: International Law Commission, 2001) at 36, online: http://legal.un.org/ilc/reports/.

absolute liability, when the actors violate specific obligations and cause consequences of infringement, no matter whether they have fault or not, they should bear tort liability according to law. Under absolute liability, the actor's fault is usually not taken into account, and the actor cannot bring the exemption. For example, *Convention on International Liability for Damage Caused by Space Objects* distinguishes between fault liability and absolute liability. ¹⁷⁴ In the case of absolute liability, the damage to the ground caused by space objects is considered. According to the liability for fault, the damage to places outside the earth's surface or to other space objects caused by spaces is considered.

In the *Draft articles on Responsibility of States for Internationally Wrongful Acts* (2001), in addition to proving the breach of obligations, the wrongful act must be attributed to the State, whether or not it is at fault. Meanwhile, the Article 8 of the *Draft articles on Responsibility of States for Internationally Wrongful Acts* (2001) provides: "the conduct of a person or group of persons shall be considered an act of a State under international law if the person or group of persons is in fact acting on the instructions of, or under the direction or control of, that State in carrying out the conduct." Studying the State responsibility, it is difficult for us to explore the subjective fault of the country. The International Law Commission gave up the discussion of "fault" with an emphasis on "attribution to the State". The Draft says "the wrongful act must be attributed to the

-

¹⁷⁴ In Article 2, it provides: "a launching State shall be absolutely liable to pay compensation for damage caused by its space object on the surface of the earth or to aircraft flight." In Article 3, it provides: "in the event of damage being caused elsewhere than on the surface of the earth to a space object of one launching State or to persons or property on board such a space object by a space object of another launching State, the latter shall be liable only if the damage is due to its fault or the fault of persons for whom it is responsible." In the case of absolute liability, the damage to the ground caused by space objects is considered. About liability for fault, space objects cause damage to places outside the earth's surface or to other space objects.

State" and it doesn't mentioned the defending State can exclude the wrongfulness of the act or exemption from liability. In the Article 39 of the Draft articles on Responsibility of States for Internationally Wrongful Acts (2001) provides: "in the determination of reparation, account shall be taken of the contribution to the injury by willful or negligent action or omission of the injured State or any person or entity in relation to whom reparation is sought."175 The ILC's commentary to the Draft raises "Article 39 deals with the situation where damage has been caused by an internationally wrongful act of a State, which is responsible for the damage in accordance with articles 1 and 28, except that the injured State, or the individual victim of the breach has materially contributed to the damage by some willful or negligent act or omission. Its focus is on situations which in national law systems are referred to as 'contributory negligence', 'comparative fault', 'faute de la victime' ".176 "Article 39 recognizes that the conduct of the injured State, or of any person or entity in relation to who sought the reparation, should be taken into account in assessing the form and extent of reparation. This is consonant with the principle that full reparation is due for the injury—but nothing more—arising in consequence of the internationally wrongful act. It is also consistent with fairness as between the responsible State and the victim of the breach."177 In the determination of repair, the Draft refers to the contribution of the injured state, not to defend state exclude the wrongfulness of the act or exemption from liability. Therefore, in this Draft, it does not involve strict liability or absolute liability.

_

¹⁷⁵ International Law Commission, *Report of the International Law Commission on the work of its fifty-third session*, Official Records A/56/10 (Geneva: International Law Commission, 2001) at 109, online: http://legal.un.org/ilc/reports/.

¹⁷⁶ Antonio G. M. La Vina, supra note 23.

¹⁷⁷ Ibid.

Causation. Judicial remedies based on state responsibility needs to prove causation, but proving causation is difficult. In particular, in environmental damage cases, it is sometimes difficult to prove the source country of environmental pollution. For example, On January 31, 2013, severe fog and haze swept over many cities of China again, and the PM2.5 index of Beijing and other places burst again. The air quality has reached the level of severe pollution. Japanese media expressed concern about this, saying that China's air pollution had an impact on Japan and had caused "transboundary pollution". Japanese media believe that serious air pollution in eastern China has begun to affect Japan, and some parts of Western Japan have detected excessive pollutants. However, on December 5, 2013, the Japanese media overturned previous statements, believing that PM 2.5 may not all come from China. Japan should grasp the origin of PM2.5 and take active measures. In the case that many countries are likely to be the source countries of environmental damage or environmental pollution, it is difficult for us to determine the source countries, that is to say, the proof of causation is difficult.

There is no exception to the principle stated in article 2 that there are two necessary conditions for an internationally wrongful act—conduct attributable to the State under the international law and the breach by that conduct of an international obligation of the State. The question is whether those two necessary conditions are also sufficient. It is sometimes said that international responsibility is not engaged by conduct of a State in disregard of its obligations unless some further element exists, in particular, "damage" to another State. But whether such elements are required depends on the content of the

 178 See Hong Wang et al, "A study of the meteorological causes of a prolonged and severe haze episode in January 2013 over central-eastern China" (2014) 98 Atmos Environ 146.

primary obligation, and there is no general rule in this respect.¹⁷⁹ Thus, the International Law Commission mainly takes international obligations as its main criterion in dealing with the issue of State responsibility. Violation of international obligations is one of the necessary conditions for incurring State responsibility. Causation has become a selective factor, sometimes it will be taken into account. Causation shall be governed by whether international obligations are prescribed or not.

c. International Liability

As we have already pointed out, the State Responsibility regime of the International Law Commission limits the application of State responsibility to apply only to wrongful acts. A situation in which a State has caused harm through acts prohibited by a treaty or custom. In fact, it is very likely that a country will cause damage to other countries within its jurisdiction or control. Such conduct does not violate international conventions or international customs.

In the *Draft articles on Prevention of Transboundary Harm from Hazardous Activities (2001)* ¹⁸⁰, Article 1 ¹⁸¹ limits the scope of the articles to activities not prohibited by international law and which involve a risk of causing significant transboundary harm through their physical consequences. Article 3 ¹⁸² provides the

¹⁷⁹ International Law Commission, Report of the International Law Commission on the work of its fifty-third session, Official Records A/56/10 (Geneva: International Law Commission, 2001) at 36, online: http://legal.un.org/ilc/reports/.

¹⁸⁰ International Law Commission, Report of the International Law Commission on the work of its fifty-third session, Official Records A/56/10 (Geneva: International Law Commission, 2001), online: http://legal.un.org/ilc/reports/.

Article 1: the present articles apply to activities not prohibited by international law which involve a risk of causing significant transboundary harm through their physical consequences.

¹⁸² Article 3: the State of origin shall take all appropriate measures to prevent significant transboundary harm or 88

"prevention", it is based on the fundamental principle sic utere tuo ut alienum non laedas, which is reflected in, in Principle 21 of the *Stockholm Declaration*¹⁸³ reading: "States have, in accordance with the Charter of the United Nations and the principles of international law, the sovereign right to exploit their own natural resources pursuant to their own environmental policies, and the responsibility to ensure that activities within their jurisdiction or control do not cause damage to the environment of other States or of areas beyond the limits of national jurisdiction."

International Liability mainly involves the *Draft articles on Prevention of Transboundary Harm from Hazardous Activities (2001)* and it is caused by acts that do not violate international law or international obligations. The ILC's commentary on the Article 1 of the Draft mentioned "the first criterion to define the scope of the articles refers to 'activities not prohibited by international law'. This approach has been adopted in order to separate the topic of international liability from the topic of State responsibility. The employment of this criterion is also intended to allow a State likely to be affected by an activity involving the risk of causing significant transboundary harm to demand from the State of origin compliance with obligations of prevention although the activity itself is not prohibited."¹⁸⁴ "The second criterion, found in the definition of the State of origin in Article 2 is that the activities to which preventive measures are applicable "are planned or are carried out" in the territory or otherwise

_

at any event to minimize the risk thereof.

¹⁸³ Stockholm Declaration, 16 June 1972, UNTS, online:

http://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.1177/0019556119890340.

¹⁸⁴ International Law Commission, Report of the International Law Commission on the work of its fifty-third session, Official Records A/56/10 (Geneva: International Law Commission, 2001), online: http://legal.un.org/ilc/reports/.

under the jurisdiction or control of a State. Three concepts are used in this criterion: "territory", "jurisdiction" and "control". Even though the expression "jurisdiction or control of a State" is a more commonly used formula in some instruments, the Commission finds it useful to mention also the concept of "territory" in order to emphasize the importance of the territorial link, when such a link exists, between activities under these articles and a State." 185 "For the purposes of these articles, territorial jurisdiction is the dominant criterion. Consequently, when an activity covered by the present articles occurs within the territory of a State, that State must comply with the obligations of prevention. "Territory" is, therefore, taken as conclusive evidence of jurisdiction. Consequently, in cases of competing jurisdictions over an activity covered by these articles, the territorially based jurisdiction prevails." ¹⁸⁶

Generally speaking, the International Law Commission's discussion on state responsibility tends to implement effective liability system, but it is not eager to establish a universal legal system of international liability. In order to compensate the victims directly from the operator, we should establish an international liability system. It is necessary to coordinate the international law and domestic law, substantive law and procedural law, so that the injured party can obtain timely and effective compensation.

As stated by the International Law Commission in its commentary, liability for transboundary damage focuses on the result of the act, not on the legality of the act. 187

¹⁸⁵ Antonio G. M. La Vina, *supra* note 23.

¹⁸⁷ Draft principles on the allocation of loss in the case of transboundary harm arising out of hazardous activities, with commentaries, Official Records, by International Law Commission, Official Records A/61/10 (the General

From the subject of responsibility, the state responsibility of a state for illegal acts is the responsibility of the state as the subject of international law, but does not include the responsibility of other non-state entities. While the responsibility of transboundary damage is the responsibility of the state, legal person, which is the responsibility of multiple subjects under the adjustment of international law system. There are a wide range of ways for the state to bear the state responsibility for illegal acts, including cessation and non-repetition; reparation; restitution; compensation; satisfaction. The main way to bear the liability for transboundary damage is compensation.¹⁸⁸

To sum up, the difference between the state responsibility caused by an internationally wrongful act and the liability for transboundary damage mainly lies in the fact that the state responsibility caused by an internationally wrongful act, while the liability for transboundary damage is due to the consequences of damage. It has nothing to do with whether it violates international law. From the perspective of the types of responsibility, the state responsibility caused by the internationally wrongful act involves a variety of remedies, while the liability for transboundary damage mainly lies in compensating the injured party.

In addition, the state responsibility of a state for an illegal act is only a responsibility in the sense of public international law, which is used to adjust the international legal relations between States, between States and international

Assembly, 2006).

¹⁸⁸ See Xia Wan, "The New Development of the Liability for Transboundary Harm" (2018) 22:No.1 Contemp Law Rev120 at 123.

organizations or between international organizations. However, the liability for transboundary damage is not simply a responsibility in public law. It is difficult to strictly regard the liability for transboundary damage as a responsibility in the sense of public international law, private international law or domestic law.

Draft articles on responsibility of states for internationally wrongful acts mainly discusses the determination of internationally wrongful acts and how to identify internationally wrongful acts as attributable to states. It also lists the types of responsibility and the reasons for exemption. The first problem to be solved in draft articles on prevention of transboundary harm from hazardous activities should be how to determine "hazardous activities" and then discuss the state's prevention obligations. The opinion of the International Law Commission is as follows: As for the scope of hazardous activities, the United Nations International Law Commission does not consider it necessary to make a unified list of provisions. A detailed list of activities is not without problems, and its role is not considered essential. Any such list may be incomplete and may soon need to be reviewed as technology evolves. Moreover, with the exception of some extremely dangerous activities, most of which are subject to special regimes, such as those in the nuclear field or in the field of outer space activities, the risks generated by an activity are basically determined by the application of specific technologies, the specific background and the mode of operation. The committee found it difficult to include all of these elements in a general list. The scope of hazardous activities may vary in different regions, so countries may specify which activities are hazardous activities in the region through bilateral, multilateral or regional

arrangements, or in national legislation. 189

Draft principles on the allocation of loss in the case of transboundary harm arising out of hazardous activities (2006) is a supplement to Draft articles on Prevention of Transboundary Harm from Hazardous Activities (2001). The international environmental law system should focus on the prevention of environmental damage, not on the responsibility of the environmental damage. Therefore, in the whole system of liability for transboundary damage, the duty of prevention is still dominant. Once the obligation of prevention has not protected the states from being harmed, the principles stipulated in Draft principles on the allocation of loss in the case of transboundary harm arising out of hazardous activities (2006) will promote the states to fulfill its obligations.

The Preamble of *Draft principles on the allocation of loss in the case of transboundary harm arising out of hazardous activities (2006)* emphasizes the principle of Rio Declaration on environment and development. That is to say, countries should enact laws to bear the responsibility of environmental damage and compensation for victims, and should take into account the polluter pays principle to promote the internalization of environmental costs. States should be aware that even if states comply with their obligations to prevent transboundary harm, there is a risk that hazardous activities may occur causing harm to other states or their nationals. Therefore, appropriate measures should be taken to ensure that the victims get timely and adequate

¹⁸⁹ See International Law Commission, *supra* note 187.

93

compensation.¹⁹⁰

Principle 3 of Draft principles on the allocation of loss in the case of transboundary harm arising out of hazardous activities (2006) clarifies the dual purpose of this draft. First, it is to ensure prompt and adequate compensation to victims of transboundary damage; and second, it is to preserve and protect the environment in the event of transboundary damage, especially with respect to mitigation of damage to the environment and its restoration or reinstatement. The ILC commentary emphasizes the importance of compensation and it said "the purpose of ensuring protection to victims suffering damage from transboundary harm has been an essential element from the inception of the topic by the Commission. In his schematic outline, Robert Q. Quentin-Baxter focused on the need to protect victims, which required "measures of prevention that as far as possible avoid a risk of loss or injury and, insofar as possible, measures of reparation". 191 The purpose of the establishment of principles on the allocation of loss in transboundary damage is not to establish an international liability system, but to establish fairness and justice that is conducive to protecting victims and encouraging social development and progress. The purpose of principles on the allocation of loss is to make the victims of transboundary damage get timely and adequate compensation. Its ultimate value is to establish and maintain environmental justice and environmental order. It is gradually established in the process of the continuous progress of human society. At the same time, the two draft articles have

_

¹⁹⁰ Huaiqiang Song, "An analysis on 'Draft principles on the allocation of loss in the case of transboundary harm arising out of hazardous activities'" (2010) 12 Leg Syst Soc 39 at 39. See also Benoît Mayer, "Whose Loss and Damage: Promoting the Agency of Beneficiary States" (2014) 4 Clim 267 at 297.

¹⁹¹ See International Law Commission, *supra* note 187.

accurately grasped the core part of the transboundary damage. They strengthen and clarifies the responsibility of the state as an environmental protector and regulator, and the state has the obligation to supervise all kinds of domestic behaviors according to domestic laws; they implement the liability of domestic operators for transboundary damage with international system.¹⁹²

In its codification work, the International Law Commission has clearly defined the relationship between this codification and other international treaties. The Draft principles on the allocation of loss in transboundary harm have general applicability. However, when there are special provisions, the parties concerned should apply their special provisions, and the general rule is only a supplementary rule. Principle 7 of Draft principles on the allocation of loss in the case of transboundary harm arising out of hazardous activities (2006) provides, "development of specific international regimes", and it said "Where, in respect of particular categories of hazardous activities, specific global regional or bilateral agreements would provide effective arrangements concerning compensation, response measures and international and domestic remedies, all efforts should be made to conclude such specific agreements. Such agreements should, as appropriate, include arrangements for industry and/or State funds to provide supplementary compensation in the event that the financial resources of the operator, including financial security measures, are insufficient to cover the damage suffered as a result of an incident. Any such funds may be designed to supplement or replace national industry-based funds." Other principles are complementary to this special

 $^{^{192}\,}$ See Xia Wan, "The New Development of the Liability for Transboundary Harm" (2018) 22:No.1 Contemp Law Rev120 at 121.

regimes, other principles are general guidance, and in specific areas, states deal with damage according to specific regimes.

The determination of liability for transboundary damage must be considered to be applicable to all fields of transboundary damage, and it should be effectively coordinated with the existing rules of international law. In terms of the system of transboundary damage, international law actually serves as the coordination of domestic law and international arrangements 193, and the determination of the operator's liability for damage has become an international obligation that must be fulfilled by the state. Through the connection with the state's obligations, the legitimate rights and interests of the victims of transboundary damage can be guaranteed by the international system, it is no longer subject to the different legal mechanisms of different countries. Transboundary damage may involve the accountability of international and domestic law systems. Therefore, when drawing up the draft allocation, the Commission took into account the differences in the legal systems of various countries, and it considered that to achieve a unified international system was difficult. Therefore, it combined principle 7 with other principles and proposed that the whole draft was not legally binding. The determination of liability for transboundary damage has a guiding role in the international legislation to deal with the loss and damage caused by climate change. The International Law Commission does not make a list of dangerous acts, and requires all countries to actively take preventive measures and fulfill their obligations of prevention. States need to use the draft principles as a universal guide, taking into

--

 $^{^{193}}$ Zhonghai Zhou, "On international liability for transboundary damage caused by dangerous activities" (2007) 5 J Henan Inst Polit Sci Law Manag 68 at 68.

account the legal systems of specific countries. The measures proposed by the international community to deal with the loss and damage caused by climate change are not unified yet. At present, we can learn some knowledge from the International Law Commission's opinions on dealing with transboundary damage.

2.1.2 The ways for the damage to the environment

First of all, the more common treatment is compensation.

Convention on International Liability for Damage Caused by Space Objects provides the way for the damage is "compensation". In the article 2 of the convention: "A launching State shall be absolutely liable to pay compensation for damage caused by its space object on the surface of the earth or to aircraft flight."¹⁹⁴

Draft articles on Responsibility of States for Internationally Wrongful Acts (2001) provides the international obligations of the States for the damage. The State responsible for the internationally wrongful act is under an obligation to cease that act, if it is continuing; it should offer appropriate assurances and guarantees of non-repetition, if circumstances so require. The responsible State have an obligation to make full reparation for the damage caused by the internationally wrongful act. Meanwhile, in article 34, it provides "forms of reparation":

"Full reparation for the injury caused by the internationally wrongful act shall take the form of restitution, compensation and satisfaction, either singly or in combination, in accordance with the provisions of this chapter." ¹⁹⁵

-

See the Convention on International Liability for Damage Caused by Space Objects, 1971, UNTS, (entered into force in September 1972), online: https://www.un-ilibrary.org/outer-space/international-space-law_b35fa155-en.
 International Law Commission, Report of the International Law Commission on the work of its fifty-third

The purposes of *Draft Principles on the Allocation of Loss in the case of Transboundary Harm Arising out of Hazardous Activities (2006)* are to ensure prompt and adequate compensation to victims of transboundary damage; and to preserve and protect the environment in the event of transboundary damage, especially with respect to mitigation of damage to the environment and its restoration or reinstatement. In the principle 4 of the *Draft Principles on the Allocation of Loss in the case of Transboundary Harm Arising out of Hazardous Activities (2006):*

- "1. Each State should take all necessary measures to ensure that prompt and adequate compensation is available for victims of transboundary damage caused by hazardous activities located within its territory or otherwise under its jurisdiction or control.
- 2. These measures should include the imposition of liability on the operator or, where appropriate, other person or entity. Such liability should not require proof of fault. Any conditions, limitations or exceptions to such liability shall be consistent with draft principle 3.
- 3. These measures should also include the requirement on the operator or, where appropriate, other person or entity, to establish and maintain financial security such as insurance, bonds or other financial guarantees to cover claims of compensation.
- 4. In appropriate cases, these measures should include the requirement for the establishment of industry-wide funds at the national level.
- 5. In the event that the measures under the preceding paragraphs are insufficient to provide adequate compensation, the State of origin should also ensure that additional financial resources are made available."¹⁹⁶

Response measures. The Nagoya-Kuala Lumpur Supplementary Protocol on Liability and Redress to the Cartagena Protocol on Biosafety (2010) provides the "response measures". It provides as follows:

"1. Parties shall require the appropriate operator or operators, in the event of damage, subject to any requirements of the competent authority, to: (a) immediately inform the competent authority; (b) Evaluate the damage; and (c) Take appropriate response measures. 2. The competent authority shall: (a) Identify the operator which has caused

98

session, Official Records A/56/10 (Geneva: International Law Commission, 2001), online: http://legal.un.org/ilc/reports/.

¹⁹⁶ International Law Commission, Report of the International Law Commission on the work of its fifty-eighth session, Official Records A/61/10 (Geneva: International Law Commission, 2006), online: http://legal.un.org/ilc/reports/.

the damage; (b) Evaluate the damage; and (c) Determine which response measures should be taken by the operator. 3. Where relevant information, including available scientific information or information available in the Biosafety Clearing-House, indicates that there is a sufficient likelihood that damage will result if timely response measures are not taken, the operator shall be required to take appropriate response measures so as to avoid such damage. 4. The competent authority may implement appropriate response measures, including, in particular, when the operator has failed to do so. 5. The competent authority has the right to recover from the operator the costs and expenses of, and incidental to, the evaluation of the damage and the implementation of any such appropriate response measures. Parties may provide, in their domestic law, for other situations in which the operator may not be required to bear the costs and expenses. 6. Decisions of the competent authority requiring the operator to take response measures should be reasoned. Such decisions should be notified to the operator. Domestic law shall provide for remedies, including the opportunity for administrative or judicial review of such decisions. The competent authority shall, in accordance with domestic law, also inform the operator of the available remedies. Recourse to such remedies shall not impede the competent authority from taking response measures in appropriate circumstances, unless otherwise provided by domestic law. 7. In implementing this Article and with a view to defining the specific response measures to be required or taken by the competent authority, Parties may, as appropriate, assess whether response measures are already addressed by their domestic law on civil liability. 8. Response measures shall be implemented in accordance with domestic law."197

Draft articles on Prevention of Transboundary Harm from Hazardous Activities (2001) underlines the "prevention" not the "compensation":

In article 3, it says "the State of origin shall take all appropriate measures to prevent significant transboundary harm or at any event to minimize the risk thereof." Article 9 provides the "consultations on preventive measures": "1. The States concerned shall enter into consultations, at the request of any of them, with a view to achieving acceptable solutions regarding measures to be adopted in order to prevent significant transboundary harm or at any event to minimize the risk thereof. The States concerned shall agree, at the commencement of such consultations, on a reasonable time frame for the consultations. 2. The States concerned shall seek solutions based on an equitable balance of interests in the light of article10. 3. If the consultations referred to in paragraph 1 fail to produce an agreed solution, the State of origin shall nevertheless take into account the interests of the State likely to be affected in case it decides to authorize the activity to be pursued, without prejudice to the rights of any State likely to be affected." ¹⁹⁸

aa

¹⁹⁷ See Convention on International Liability for Damage Caused by Space Objects, 1971, UNTS, (entered into force in September 1972), 15 October 2010, (entered into force 5 March 2018), online: https://treaties.un.org/doc/source/docs/UNEP_CBD_BS_COP_MOP_5_17-E.pdf.

¹⁹⁸ International Law Commission, Report of the International Law Commission on the work of its fifty-third session, Official Records A/56/10 (Geneva: International Law Commission, 2001), online: http://legal.un.org/ilc/reports/.

Draft Principles on the Allocation of Loss in the case of Transboundary Harm Arising out of Hazardous Activities (2006) also provides the "response measures" in the principle 5:

"(a) the State of origin shall promptly notify all States affected or likely to be affected of the incident and the possible effects of the transboundary damage; (b) the State of origin, with the appropriate involvement of the operator, shall ensure that appropriate response measures are taken and should, for this purpose, rely upon the best available scientific data and technology; (c) the State of origin, as appropriate, should also consult with and seek the cooperation of all States affected or likely to be affected to mitigate the effects of transboundary damage and if possible eliminate them; (d) the States affected or likely to be affected by the transboundary damage shall take all feasible measures to mitigate and if possible to eliminate the effects of such damage; (e) the States concerned should, where appropriate, seek the assistance of competent international organizations and other States on mutually acceptable terms and conditions." 199

In the conventions and agreements, they provide the ways for dealing with the damage and they have mentioned the compensation and the response measures. Part 1 mainly discusses the definition of loss or damage in the cases, and this part mainly deals with the treatment of loss or damage in the cases. In the "Trail smelter case (United States, Canada)", the tribunal made the decision "due to the operation of the Smelter, and disposition of claims for indemnity for damage has been made by the two Governments; but in no case shall the aforesaid compensation be payable in excess of the indemnity for damage." ²⁰⁰ In the "Case Concerning Pulp Mills on the River Uruguay (Argentina v. Uruguay), the International Court of Justice concluded that Uruguay had not violated its substantive obligations under the statute. However, in addition to this conclusion, the court stressed that, under the 1975 statute, the parties

¹⁹⁹ International Law Commission, Report of the International Law Commission on the work of its fifty-eighth session, Official Records A/61/10 (Geneva: International Law Commission, 2006), online: http://legal.un.org/ilc/reports/

²⁰⁰ Trail Smelter Arbitral Tribunal, 1941 *Trail smelter case (United States, Canada), supra* note 149.
100

have a legal obligation to collaborate through CARU and enable it to design the necessary tools to promote equitable use while protecting the river environment.²⁰¹

The International Court of Justice made a very important judgment on compensation for environmental damage in certain activities carried out by Nicaragua in the border area (Costa Rica v. Nicaragua), and the Republic of Nicaragua compensated the Costa Rica.²⁰² And the total amount of compensation awarded to Costa Rica is US\$378,890.59 to be paid by Nicaragua by 2 April 2018. This amount includes the principal sum of US\$358,740.55 and pre-judgment interest on the compensable costs and expenses in the amount of US\$20,150.04. Should payment be delayed, post-judgment interest on the total amount will accrue as from 3 April 2018.²⁰³

Although this is a case where a State commits a wrongful act ²⁰⁴ and then the State compensates the injured State, it is the first time that the International Court of Justice has made compensation for environmental damage. In the "Case Concerning Pulp Mills on the River Uruguay (Argentina v. Uruguay), the International Court of Justice did not ask Uruguay for compensation, but instead demanded that Uruguay take measures other than compensation, even if it was determined that Uruguay was in breach of its international obligations. In the "Trail smelter case (United States, Canada)", the tribunal demanded that Canada pay compensation to the United States, but this compensation was not made for environmental damage. Although this case is

²⁰¹ see ICJ, 2010 Case Concerning Pulp Mills on the River Uruguay (Argentina v. Uruguay), supra note 150.

²⁰² ICJ, 02/02/2018 Costa Rica v. Nicaragua, supra note 124. The compensation has been discussed in the Part 1.

 $^{^{\}rm 204}\,$ Nicaragua's unlawful activities have be explained in the Part 1. 101

very famous in the development of international environmental law, the definition of damage has not risen to the level of discussion.

Methodology for the valuation of environmental damage that Costa Rica considers most appropriate, which it terms the "ecosystem services approach". ²⁰⁵ Costa Rica believes that its "ecosystem services approach" is the latest internationally recognized practice. Nicaragua considers its methodology to be the standard approach to natural resource damage assessment. In particular, it notes that this was one of the methodologies followed by the United Nations Compensation Commission when assessing claims for environmental damage. ²⁰⁶ Nicaraguan believes that Costa Rica's claim that this method has been replaced is unjustified. In fact, Nicaraguan also believes that its assessment method is an international practice.

This case discusses how to assess environmental damage, and the assessment method can be used as a reference for dealing with climate change loss and damage, even if we think that compensation is currently difficult to deal with the issues of loss and damage caused by climate change.

2.2 The fulfilment of adaptation obligations for Loss and Damage

The subject of international law is a topic of great controversy. "Rights and obligations must apply to someone; hence, it is through subjects' doctrine that these

102

²⁰⁵ ICJ, 02/02/2018, No. 150, Costa Rica v Nicaragua (available on https://www.icj-cij.org/en/case/150) at 15. ²⁰⁶ Ibid at 16.

rights and obligations under international law are allocated."207 "The main subjects of international law are states, and for centuries states were held to be the only subjects of international law, save perhaps for a few oddities which would be considered subjects for historic reasons and, it seems, because states generally treated them as subjects."²⁰⁸ "States are the main subjects of international law and are generally considered to be sovereign, implying that they need not accept any authority from above or from anyone else unless they choose to do so. Importantly though, sovereignty is not a natural concept, but is, instead, socially constructed. Moreover, sovereignty itself does not signify very much; it does not, in and of itself, give rise to rights or obligations."209 The elements of states often derived from a convention concluded in the 1930s. The Montevideo Convention considers States should have a population, territory, a government and the capacity to enter into relations with other states.²¹⁰ "Next to states, it is generally accepted that international organizations play a pivotal role in global affairs and, therewith, in international law. International organizations are usually defined as intergovernmental organizations, created by states, usually by means of a treaty, in order to exercise a task or function that states themselves are unable or unwilling to perform."211

We have studied the subject of international law above. At the same time, the next important issue is the content of international law. At present, the international

²⁰⁷ Jan Klabbers, *International law* (Cambridge, United Kingdom: Cambridge University Press, 2013).

²⁰⁸ *Ibid*.

²⁰⁹ Ibid at 69

²¹⁰ See Montevideo Convention on the Rights and Duties of States, 26 December 1933, (entered into force 26 December 1934), online: https://www.ilsa.org/Jessup/Jessup15/Montevideo%20Convention.pdf.

²¹¹ Klabbers, *supra* note 207.

community has reached consensus on the content of international law. The substance of international law includes: the law of armed conflict, international criminal law, the sea law, the air law, the outer space law, the environment law and the law on the global economy. International law stipulates rights and obligations for states and international organizations in various fields, as well as in the field of climate change. For states and international organizations, while enjoying rights, they should also consider how to fulfil international obligations more effectively.

2.2.1 The adaptation obligations for the Loss and Damage

Due to the long-term and irreversible consequences for human and natural ecosystems, this has become a problem requiring a global response. The impact of climate change has risen from environmental issues to major development issues, and strategies to address development and poverty reduction will increasingly be included. The international community ensures that strong action is taken to address climate change. Without the participation of developing countries, the struggle to adapt to their influence will fail. The United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) establishes an overall framework for intergovernmental efforts to address the challenges posed by climate change. It encourages developed countries to stabilize greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions and urges developing countries to develop appropriate mitigation and adaptation action plans. Under the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change, adaptation has become increasingly important recently, but as a policy response, adaptation development is far less than

mitigation. But what is the "adaptation"? Does it means "we should do nothing, just waiting for the consequences of climate change? In the report of IPCC, it considers that: "adaptation is the process of adjustment to actual or expected climate and its effects. In human systems, adaptation seeks to moderate or avoid harm or exploit beneficial opportunities. In some natural systems, human intervention may facilitate adjustment to expected climate and its effects."²¹²

The Conference of the Parties, the highest body of the Convention, has made several decisions on adaptation over the years. These decisions involve support and funding from developed country Parties to assist developing countries in impact, vulnerability and adaptation assessments, capacity-building, training, education and public awareness, specific adaptation activities, technology transfer and exchange of experience through regional cooperation. In addition, it promotes the development of technologies that contribute to enhancing adaptation to climate change impacts. Climate adaptation policies refer to actions taken by international agencies and governments, including legislation, regulations and incentives to reduce vulnerability to climate change, including climate variability and extremes.

Before the Cancun Adaptation Framework, the Conference of Parties put forward some adaptation measures so that we can observe the development of the adaptation policies in UNFCCC.

²¹² See The core writing team, R K Pachauri, Leo Maye & Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, Climate change 2014: synthesis report (Geneva, Switzerland: Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, 2015) at 118, online: http://www.ipcc.ch/publications_and_data/publications_and_data_reports.shtml.
105

The developments of adaptation policies in UNFCCC:

Year	СОР	adaptation policies in UNFCCC
1995	COP 1	Regarding adaptation, the policies, programme priorities and eligibility
		criteria should apply adaptation to the adverse effects of climate change, as
		defined by the Convention, will require short, medium and long term
		strategies which should be cost effective, take into account important socio-
		economic implications, and should be implemented on a stage-by-stage
		basis in developing countries that are Parties to the Convention. ²¹³
1997	COP 3	To accelerate the development of methodologies for adaptation
		technologies, in particular decision-making tools to evaluate alternative
		adaptation strategies. ²¹⁴
1998	COP 4	Encourages all relevant international organizations to mobilize and
		facilitate efforts to provide financial resources needed by developing
		country Parties to meet their agreed incremental costs, including
		development and transfer of technologies, enhancement of endogenous
		capacities, and implementation of such measures as improving energy
		efficiency, exploiting renewable energies, enhancing sinks and preparing for
		adaptation to adverse effects of climate change. ²¹⁵

²¹³ Report of the Conference of the Parties on its first session, Official Records, Official Records FCCC/CP/1995/7/Add.1 (Berlin, 1995).

²¹⁴ Kyoto Protocol, December 1997, UNTS, (entered into force 16 February 2005), online: https://UNFCCC.int/resource/docs/convkp/kpeng.pdf.

 $^{^{215}}$ Report of the Conference of the Parties on its fourth session, Official Records, Official Records FCCC/CP/1998/16/Add.1 (BUENOS, 1998).

2001	COP 7	Establishment of NAPAs (National Adaptation Programs of Action)
		for Least Developed Countries (LDCs); and of the Adaptation Fund (AF),
		under the Special Climate Change Fund (SCCF), to finance adaptation
		projects and programs in developing countries that are Parties to the Kyoto
		Protocol. ²¹⁶
2002	COP 8	Parties should promote informal exchange of information on actions
		relating to mitigation and adaptation to assist Parties to continue to develop
		effective and appropriate responses to climate change. ²¹⁷
2004	COP 10	Requests the Global Environment Facility to support the activities
		through efforts to address adaptation in the climate change focal area and to
		mainstream it into other focal areas of the Global Environment Facility. ²¹⁸
2007	COP 13	Financial and technical support for capacity-building in the assessment
		of the costs of adaptation in developing countries, in particular the most
		vulnerable ones, to aid in determining their financial needs. ²¹⁹
2009	COP 15	New multilateral funding for adaptation will be delivered through
		effective and efficient fund arrangements, with a governance structure
		providing for equal representation of developed and developing countries.
		A significant portion of such funding should flow through the Copenhagen

²¹⁶ "National Adaptation Programmes of Action | UNFCCC", online:

https://unfccc.int/topics/resilience/workstreams/national-adaptation-programmes-of-action/introduction.

²¹⁷ The Ministers and other heads of delegation present at the eighth session of the Conference of the Parties to the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change, Official Records, Official Records (Delhi, 2002).

²¹⁸ Report of the Conference of the Parties on its tenth session, Official Records, Official Records FCCC/CP/2004/L.16 (Buenos Aires, 2004).

 $^{^{219}}$ Report of the Conference of the Parties on its thirteenth session, Official Records, Official Records FCCC/CP/2007/6/Add.1 (Bali, 2007).

	Green Climate Fund. ²²⁰

2.2.2 The relationship between adaptation and mitigation

The adaptation policies proposed by the Conferences of the Parties have been listed above, which require parties to take action to meet their adaptation obligations. The mitigation obligation is inseparable from the adaptation obligation. In the process of fulfilling the adaptation obligation, how to coordinate the adaptation obligation and mitigation obligation is also an important issue to deal with the loss and damage of climate change. When it comes to mitigation obligations, we clearly remember that the Kyoto Protocol stipulates the emission reduction obligations of relevant countries, as well as three important mechanisms related to mitigation. The mechanisms of Kyoto Protocol are International Emissions Trading; Clean Development Mechanism (CDM); Joint implementation (JI). With the emergence of the Paris Agreement, these three mechanisms have gradually dropped out of our sight. The emission reduction obligations of the contracting Parties have gradually changed from mandatory emission reduction targets to independent emission reduction targets. In the future emission reduction actions, we believe that the spontaneous actions of the people, such as "International Cooperation Initiatives (ICIs)" and government led independent emission reduction actions, such as "National Determined Contribution (NDCS)" will occupy the main position in the implementation of mitigation obligations.

²²⁰ Report of the Conference of the Parties on its Fifteenth session, Official Records, Official Records FCCC/CP/2009/L.7 (Copenhagen, 2009).
108

"International cooperation initiatives (ICIs)". The adverse effects of climate change have seriously hindered the sustainable development of some countries or regions. At the same time, climate change cannot be solved by one country or region. This means that we must act individually and collectively, especially effective measures to alleviate the adverse effects of climate change. One of the important aspects of dealing with the loss and damage caused by climate change is how to make use of atmospheric space and how to avoid more serious loss and damage caused by greenhouse gas emissions. This requires countries to strengthen cooperation and work together.

The Emissions Gap Report 2013²²¹ introduces the concept of the "International cooperation initiative" for the first time and classifies it as follows: "1. Global dialogues. These initiatives provide a forum for national governments to exchange information and understand national priorities. Some are primarily at the head-of-government level, such as the G8 and the G20; others at the ministerial level, such as the Major Economies Forum. Some include industry, academia, and/or civil society. These groups may issue statements of intent or voluntary commitments and otherwise contribute to consensus building. 2. Formal multilateral processes. A number of international organizations and formal international negotiation processes are addressing issues that are relevant to the reduction of greenhouse gas emissions. These include international treaties such as the Montreal Protocol on Substances that Deplete the Ozone Layer or sector specific

²²¹ From 2010 to 2019, UNEP has released the emissions gap report on global emissions every year. It is important report to track the emission reduction targets. It has compared where greenhouse gas emissions are heading against where they need to be, and highlighted the best ways to close the gap. 109

organizations such as the International Civil Aviation Organization or the International Maritime Organization. These international cooperative initiatives can produce binding international agreements to reduce emissions. 3. Implementation initiatives. There are many initiatives that focus on enabling countries to meet their pledges through sharing good practices and technical knowledge. Some concentrate on technical dialogues, including for instance the Mitigation and MRV Partnership, or the Clean Energy Ministerial. The more technical the discussion, the more non-governmental actors are often involved. Other initiatives go beyond dialogue to support sector-specific initiatives through the collective implementation and, in many cases, funding of programs or projects."²²²

The Emissions Gap Report 2015 defines "International cooperative initiative" as: Initiatives outside the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change aims at reducing emissions of climate forcers by, for example, promoting actions that are less GHG intensive, compared to prevailing alternatives. Initiative also involve national and sub-national partners.²²³ The ICIs considered are grouped into three categories, cities and regions, companies and sectors.

Cities and regions: Subnational governments can act on climate change mitigation in many ways. Sub-national jurisdictions, such as state or regional governments, have even attempted to compensate for the lack of political will at the national level. There are many ICIs in which several cities and regions cooperate; for example, UNEP's

UNEP, the Emissions Gap Report 2013 (Nairobi, Kenya: United Nations Environment Programme, 2013) at 29.
 UNEP, the Emissions Gap Report 2015 (Nairobi, Kenya: United Nations Environment Programme, 2015) at ix.

110

recent report on subnational actors lists twenty one initiatives of this type. A few started in the 1990s, while the majority started in the period 2005-2012 and some were announced during the UN Secretary-General's Climate Summit in September 2014. Initiatives focus on the following roles:

- "• Encouraging or facilitating emission reductions at the city and regional level, via knowledge sharing, capacity building and technical support for project planning and implementation
- Identifying partnerships and supporting local communities to become climate resilient
- Representing common city-level interests to influence policymakers at other levels
- Helping implement climate plans and low-carbon and climate-resilient economic development projects
- Achieving transparency and accountability by encouraging best practice in GHG emission reporting
- Helping overcome financial barriers and attract investors and accelerate additional capital flows into cities for low carbon projects."224

Companies initiatives: "Another set of ICIs engage private sector companies in mitigation activities. A total of 30 such initiatives are currently listed on the Climate Initiatives Platform. Many of these initiatives act more as convening platforms for exchange of best practice and advocacy than engaging in direct commitments. But some have objectives that indirectly lead to emission reduction, for example, those aiming to re-direct investment to clean energy." ²²⁵ "Sector initiatives: Sector initiatives are grouped around renewable energy, energy efficiency, industrial processes, low carbon transport, land restoration and reforestation, and marine energy." ²²⁶

In terms of current forms of cooperation and participants, the role of "international

²²⁴ Ibid at 36, 37.

²²⁵ Ibid at 40.

²²⁶ Ibid at 42.

cooperation initiatives" is reflected in the following aspects: encouraging or promoting emission reductions at the urban and regional levels by providing knowledge sharing, capacity building and technical support for project planning and implementation; Identify partnerships and support local communities to adapt to climate change impacts; represent common levels of interest to influence policy makers at other levels; help implement climate plans and low carbon and climate adaptation economic development projects; and achieve transparency through encouraging best practices. In short, through various channels of cooperation, participants share knowledge and experience or develop mutual assistance to develop low-carbon projects to minimize greenhouse gas emissions. The diversity of the participants and the diversity of the cooperation methods reflect the recognition and attention of the international cooperation initiative, which proves that it is very feasible. The Emissions Gap Report 2013 and the Emissions Gap Report 2015 discussed above are slightly different on the definition of the International Cooperation Initiative. The 2013 Emissions Gap Report considers that the "International cooperation initiative" includes a global dialogue, a formal multilateral process, and an implementation plan, which in turn identifies it as a broad concept. The Emissions Gap Report 2015 defines the "International Cooperation Initiative" as an initiative outside the *United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change* to reduce emissions of climate-driven factors. Therefore, this paper argues that the focus of the "International cooperation initiative" is action and isn't dialogue. "International cooperation initiative" is a policy measure outside the UNFCCC to coordinate the actions of various international law entities to reduce greenhouse gas emissions. It is independent of the UNFCCC but it is linked to the UNFCCC, an international

cooperation initiative that promotes international practices for emissions reduction, promotes the formation of international agreements related to emissions reductions.

Governments almost all have their own emission reduction policies, but the effects of emission reductions vary widely and cannot be measured by uniform standards. In the context of climate change mitigation, the "International cooperation initiative" is considered to be actor-led rather than the collaborative efforts of UNFCCC Party leaders, even though many international cooperation initiatives are still being carried out through cooperation with governments, because the government is often the key to achieving its reductions. The "International cooperation initiative" has many shortcomings. For example, extensiveness leads to insufficient depth and overlap between members. A limited number of participants is one of the important factors to hinder the effectiveness. Most initiatives are voluntary commitments that cannot be monitored, reported, and verified. In practice, actors may over-fulfill their commitments or may not achieve their goals; the private sector is widely involved in various initiatives and the private sector has not been supervised on the issue of emission reduction action.

In addition, there are many global or regional cooperation initiatives. For example, "the Global Methane Initiative (GMI)²²⁷ is a voluntary multilateral cooperation

three key sectors: Oil and Gas, Biogas, and Coal Mines. Learn more about the GMI." See

https://www.globalmethane.org/.

²²⁷ "The Global Methane Initiative (GMI) is an international public-private partnership focused on reducing barriers to the recovery and use of methane as a clean energy source. GMI's 45 Partner Countries and more than 700 Project Network members exchange information and technical resources to advance methane mitigation in

initiative aimed at reducing global methane emissions and using methane as a valuable clean energy source. Methane is the second largest greenhouse gas after carbon dioxide, accounting for about 20% of global emissions. Although methane in the atmosphere exists for a relatively short time and emits less than carbon dioxide, its potential for global warming is 28-34 times greater than that of carbon dioxide, so it is necessary to reduce methane emissions. The Global Methane Initiative aims to promote national project development related to methane emission reduction by linking governments, the private sector, banks, universities and non-governmental organizations for assessment, capacity-building, partnership building and information sharing." 228 The African Renewable Energy Initiative (AREI) 229 is a change owned and led by Africa. This initiative seeks to accelerate and expand Africa's enormous potential for renewable energy use. Supporting the actions of African Heads of State and Government on climate change under the authority of the African Union. AREI is built on the background of sustainable development and climate change response. According to the principles of the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change, the development strategy from low carbon to zero carbon can be achieved through climate financing. It recognizes the importance of rapidly expanding access to energy to enhance happiness, achieve economic development goals and sustainable development goals.

"Nationally Determined Contribution (NDCs)". Strengthening action to

²²⁸ See "Global Methane Initiative", online: https://www.globalmethane.org.

²²⁹ AREI was created as an Africa-owned and Africa-led initiative, with a people-centred approach to expand renewable energy use on the continent. The initiative was officially launched by African Heads of State under the African Union on December 2015 at the United Nations Climate Change Conference (COP21) in Paris.

114

address climate change will help countries achieve their goals of improving health, protecting the environment, and achieving sustainable development in order to meet the urgent needs of the public. The environmental and economic benefits of strengthening climate change response are obvious in both developed and developing countries. The mechanisms under the Kyoto Protocol are International Emissions Trading; Clean Development Mechanism (CDM); Joint implementation (JI). "Emissions trading enables Annex I Parties to acquire Assigned amount units (AAUs) from other Annex I parties that are able to more easily reduce emissions. It enables parties to pursue cheaper opportunities to curb emissions or increase removals wherever those opportunities exist, in order to reduce the overall cost of mitigating climate change."230 "The CDM is a mechanism by which Annex I parties can invest in emission reduction projects or afforestation or reforestation projects in developing countries and receive credit for the emission reductions or removals achieved. These projects contribute to sustainable development of the host country and generate emission allowances, called certified emission reductions (CERs) that can be used by the Annex I party in meeting its emission target."231 "Joint implementation is also a project-based mechanism. It allows Annex I parties to implement projects that reduce emissions, or increase removals using sinks, in other Annex I countries. Emission reduction units (ERUs) generated by such projects can then be used by investor Annex I Parties to help meet their emissions targets. To avoid double counting, a corresponding subtraction is made from the host Party's assigned amount. The term 'joint implementation' is convenient shorthand for

-

²³⁰ Climate Change Secretariat, "Uniting on Climate A guide to the Climate Change Convention and the Kyoto Protocol" (2007) at 31, online: https://UNFCCC.int/resource/docs/publications/unitingonclimate_eng.pdf>.

²³¹ *Ibid at 29.*

this mechanism, although it does not appear in the Kyoto Protocol."232

The Kyoto Protocol has divided the world into developed countries and developing countries: under the *UNFCCC*, the world is divided between Annex 1 (developed) and Non-Annex 1 (developing) countries.²³³ "It has been the most notable attempt to effectuate collective action and it served to, established emissions ceilings on 6 specified GHGs for 38 countries, with the 15 members of the European Union (EU) treated as a single unit, to be reached on average in the five-year accounting period 2008-2012."²³⁴ "The three important mechanisms under the Kyoto Protocol require different countries to reduce the greenhouse gas emission by the international collective actions. The goals of the Kyoto Protocol were to begin to reduce the growth of global greenhouse gas emissions. But the United States signed, but never ratified, the treaty, and pulled out in 2001. Canada signed, ratified, and then pulled out of the treaty in 2012 when it became clear that it would not meet its agreed emissions targets. Australia only joined in 2007, and has not met its agreed targets."²³⁵ Kyoto Protocol can only be judged as a failure so a new international action should be proposed.

The "Nationally Determined Contribution (NDCs)" proposed by most countries is a key step in the international community's response to climate change at present and in the future. "Nationally Determined Contribution (NDCs)" are at the heart of the Paris

²³⁴ Schenck, *supra* note 35.

²³² Ibid at 31.

²³³ Andrew Holland, "After Kyoto: Building an Effective Global Regime to Address Climate Change" 16 Whitehead J Dipl Intl Rel 53 2014 at 54. See also Haifeng Deng & Chiyuan Chen, "Common and Symmetrical Responsibility in Climate Change: A Bridging Mechanism for Adaptation and Mitigation" (2016) 9 J E Asia Intl 99 at 101.

 $^{^{235}\,}$ Andrew Holland, "After Kyoto: Building an Effective Global Regime to Address Climate Change" 16 Whitehead J Dipl Intl Rel 53 2014 at 53.

Agreement²³⁶. "In short, they represent the contribution of each Party towards meeting the objective of this Agreement. For example, NDCs should, in aggregate, set the world on a trajectory towards peaking of global emissions as soon as possible and rapid reductions thereafter towards a balance of emissions and removals. This is why, through their NDCs, each Party should specify, among other things, its plans to reduce its emissions."²³⁷

"Before the Paris Agreement, governments agreed that they would initiate or intensify domestic preparations for their intended nationally determined contributions (INDCs) towards achieving the objective of the Convention. At the time, the intention was to avoid a situation in which the Paris Agreement would have been agreed with no specific actions and timeframes for all its Parties. As such, INDCs were intended to cover this gap by inviting countries to outline the climate efforts they would undertake in the context of the Paris Agreement. The word "intended" was meant to indicate that these contributions were "intentions" with a view to formalizing them once the Paris Agreement had been adopted."238

"Nationally Determined Contribution (NDCs)" are the autonomous behaviors of the Parties. The legal basis for the Parties to set the mitigation targets is different, and the attributes of the mitigation targets are very different. For example, Canada has

117

²³⁶ In Article 4 of the Paris Agreement, it provides that "each Party shall prepare, communicate and maintain successive nationally determined contributions that it intends to achieve. Parties shall pursue domestic mitigation measures, with the aim of achieving the objectives of such contributions."

²³⁷ "The United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change handbook", online: https://unfccc.int/resource/bigpicture/>.

²³⁸ "The United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change handbook", online: https://unfccc.int/resource/bigpicture/>.

adopted local legislation to address climate change issues. The federal government's *Canadian Environmental Protection Act, 1999* ²³⁹requires the authorities to regulate greenhouse gases and reduce emissions through policy measures. According to the *Clean Air Act*²⁴⁰, *Energy Policy Act*²⁴¹, *Energy Independence and Security Act*²⁴², Environmental Protection Agency of the United States introduces measures for power plants to reduce carbon emissions; develop standards to address methane emissions from landfills, oil and gas sectors volume; reduce emissions of high-hydrofluorocarbons through new alternative energy policy projects. ²⁴³ "EU and its Member States act jointly. On the basis of the general political directions by the European Council, the European Commission submitted legislative proposals for the implementation of the 2030 climate and energy framework both in the emissions trading sector and in the non-traded sector, to the Council and the European Parliament in 2015-2016."²⁴⁴ "In some Member States, domestic legally-binding legislation has been already in place for the 2020 climate and energy package. The existing legislation for land use, land-use change and forestry is based on the existing accounting rules

²³⁹ Canadian Environmental Protection Act, 1999, online: https://www.canada.ca/en/environment-climate-change/services/canadian-environmental-protection-act-registry/publications/canadian-environmental-protection-act-1999.html.

²⁴⁰ Clean Air Act, 1990, United States Code as Title 42, Chapter 85, online: https://www.epa.gov/clean-air-act-overview/clean-air-act-text#what.

²⁴¹ Energy Policy Act, 1992, online: https://www.congress.gov/bill/102nd-congress/house-bill/776? cf chl jschl tk =ef8f1d28c36d17e513eb571390511ae2a59c3bef-1604053674-0-

 $AabMYRNIxNXXAVTLcM2UFl9krqNIIp78DMSKNs0fgYiVLhHHrvINluwU991u_PdAiVZQa6eB391FWBpbjQc9_wDxSFcvy5ckRGoebvm5pq-$

duFMuWzY03WiI24kaf_JlBszavBMokNrL_6s1_C69ieNO3_QFdslTGGVaYAOCU8WOyGcncuc6K58UotlD0wKLo3t5VY VkFrcaSEBEHdTAwldmgpNfn3HhjVt5ra0ko0msEAiR9HDqN6N6y5Au8TVCaXkKk3V0Xqf0L4lknZQI4yO0ZEHgdnHLQ Hj WnRJ9FErCYwxi0IX920Ro fLONu3w.

²⁴² Energy Independence and Security Act, 2007, online: https://www.epa.gov/greeningepa/energy-independence-and-security-act-2007.

²⁴³ Intended Nationally Determined Contribution of the USA, Official Records, Official Records (USA, 2015), online: https://www4.unfccc.int/sites/NDCStaging/Pages/All.aspx.

²⁴⁴ Intended Nationally Determined Contribution of the EU and its Member States, Official Records, Official Records (EU, 2015), online: https://www4.unfccc.int/sites/NDCStaging/Pages/All.aspx.

under the second commitment period of the Kyoto Protocol."245

The United States and Canada tend to use mitigation targets as a national policy and implement relevant domestic laws; while the European Union tends to confirm the mitigation target through a special legislation. It is very effective to implement the emission reduction targets through legislation. If the emission reduction target is used as an administrative goal, it may alter with the change of the government ruling party or the change of national development priorities for a period of time. A number of domestic legislation and corresponding regulations can guarantee the implementation of emission reduction actions and the achievement of emission reduction targets. However, most countries currently do not adopt domestic special laws to confirm the emission reduction targets of the "Nationally Determined Contribution".

The Paris Agreement will serve as a guide to global response to climate change after 2020. Nationally determined contributions (NDCs) are at the core of the Paris Agreement and the achievement of these long-term goals. NDCs reflect efforts of countries to reduce emissions and adapt to the climate change. The Paris Agreement (Article 4, paragraph 2) requires each Party to prepare, communicate and maintain successive nationally determined contributions (NDCs) that it intends to achieve. Parties shall pursue domestic mitigation measures, with the aim of achieving the objectives of such contributions. The important achievement of the Paris Agreement is to break through the "Kyoto protocol" model, which has long been a small area of

²⁴⁵ Ibid.

119

emission control and has low enthusiasm for participation in the country, and is generally involved in emission reduction actions. The "Kyoto Protocol" has created a "top-bottom" model of the international carbon emissions trading market, but has become a relatively closed carbon emissions trading system because it does not fully respect the autonomy and equal participation of the parties. The lack of practice in the Kyoto Protocol mechanism has led to a dispute over the abolition of the carbon emissions trading market in the Paris Agreement. The "Nationally Determined Contributions (NDCs)" established by the Paris Agreement mark the shift from "forced" to "autonomous" in global climate governance. In order to guarantee effective mitigation and to take into account both autonomy and equal participation, the Paris Agreement established a "top-bottom" mechanism. The new market mechanism no longer imposes special restrictions on credit transactions and respects the voluntary nature of participation and application by parties.

In 2016, Conference of the Parties' twenty-second session put forward the report about "adaptation component of the intended nationally determined contributions". Although the INDCs ²⁴⁶are diverse and each has some unique features, information on the following featured in many adaptation components: "(a) National circumstances informing the adaptation component; (b) Long-term goals and/or visions guiding the adaptation component; (c) Impact and vulnerability assessments; (d) Legal and

²⁴⁶ In December 2015, Prior to reaching the Paris Agreement, developed and developing countries submitted their national post-2020 climate action commitments, known as "Intended Nationally Determined Contributions (INDCs)". The word "intended" was used because countries were communicating proposed climate actions ahead of the Paris Agreement being finalized. However as countries formally join the Paris Agreement and look forward to implementation of these climate actions – the "intended" is dropped and an INDC is converted into a "Nationally Determined Contribution (NDC)".

regulatory frameworks, strategies, programs and plans that provide the basis for, or have informed, adaptation actions; (e) Measures or actions planned or under implementation in specific areas and/or sectors; (f) Costs, losses and/or damage due to climate impacts; (g) Means of implementation; (h) Monitoring and evaluation of adaptation; (i) Synergies between mitigation and adaptation." ²⁴⁷ This document provides an overview of the adaptation components of the INDCs and it presents an emerging trend, which is to promote the synergy of mitigation and adaptation.

Loss and damage caused by climate change already exist, and it is important to reduce greenhouse gas emissions. However, it seems that reducing greenhouse gas emissions has little effect on existing loss and damage. Therefore, this thesis considers that adaptation measures are the first measure to deal with loss and damage caused by climate change. The "Nationally Determined Contributions (NDCs)" and "International Cooperation Initiatives (ICIs)"mentioned above aim to reduce greenhouse gas emissions. These efforts to reduce greenhouse gas emissions show that the overall plan to address climate change still considers reducing greenhouse gas emissions as one of the important measures, but when dealing with a specific issue, such as loss and damage, countries need to consider the relationship between mitigation and adaptation, try to maintain a balance between them. The general direction is that both are equally important, but specific issues need to consider their circumstances. Mitigation measures have been discussed above, and the international community's discussion on adaptation measures has not been ignored. As can be seen from the existing Warsaw international

 $^{^{247}\,}$ Aggregate effect of the intended nationally determined contributions: an update, Official Records, Official Records FCCC/CP/2016/2 (Marrakech, 2016) at 16.

mechanism, the international community believes that mitigation measures and adaptation measures are equally important, and countries need to deal with the dynamic balance between the two. The following will focus on adaptation measures under the Warsaw International Mechanism.

2.2.3 The existing tool for the adaptation obligations: Warsaw International Mechanism

Before the 19th Conference of the Parties, in 2012, the 18th Conference of the Parties put forward the approaches to address loss and damage associated with climate change impacts in developing countries that are particularly vulnerable to the adverse effects of climate change to enhance adaptive capacity. "It highlighted the important and fundamental role of the Convention in addressing loss and damage associated with climate change impacts, especially in developing countries that are particularly vulnerable to the adverse effects of climate change, including by promoting leadership, collaboration and cooperation, at the national, regional and international levels and for a broad range of sectors and ecosystems, in order to enable coherent and synergistic approaches to address such loss and damage."²⁴⁸ There are important linkages between extreme weather events and slow onset events, and the importance of building comprehensive climate risk management approaches. ²⁴⁹ Before the formation of Warsaw international mechanism, the Conference of the Parties proposed to establish

²⁴⁸ Report of the Conference of the Parties on its eighteenth session, Official Records, Official Records FCCC/CP/2012/8/Add.1 (Doha, 2012) at 21.

an international mechanism to deal with the loss and damage caused by climate change in order to improve the adaptability. The Conference of the Parties still takes UNFCCC as the leading role and puts forward the importance of comprehensive risk management. The Warsaw International Mechanism does not set targets for reducing greenhouse gas emissions for each country. Its main goal is to take adaptation measures to deal with the loss and damage caused by climate change.

To sum up the measures proposed in the report of the 19th Conference of the Parties to achieve the objectives of Warsaw international mechanism, there are three main measures: comprehensive risk; share information and enhance support; migration programs.

2.2.3.1 Comprehensive risk

The discussion of the precautionary principle has never stopped. Although multilateral environmental treaties and various doctrines attempt to define it, the principle is still vague, and the content and nature of the precautionary principle still have considerable controversy. The precautionary principle evolved out of the German socio-legal tradition. A prominent example is principle 15 of the 1992 Rio Declaration adopted at the United Nations Conference on Environment and Development, which also explains the basic concept of "precaution": "in order to protect the environment, the precautionary approach shall be widely applied by States according to their capabilities. Where there are threats of serious irreversible damage, lack of full

scientific certainty shall not be used as a reason for postponing cost-effective measures to prevent environmental damage."250

The *UNFCCC* provides the "precautionary measures". In Article3, it provides that:

"The Parties should take precautionary measures to anticipate, prevent or minimize the causes of climate change and mitigate its adverse effects. Where there are threats of serious or irreversible damage, lack of full scientific certainty should not be used as a reason for postponing such measures, taking into account that policies and measures to deal with climate change should be cost-effective so as to ensure global benefits at the lowest possible cost. To achieve this, such policies and measures should take into account different socio-economic contexts, be comprehensive, cover all relevant sources, sinks and reservoirs of greenhouse gases and adaptation, and comprise all economic sectors. Efforts to address climate change may be carried out cooperatively by interested Parties."

Convention on Biological Diversity ²⁵¹ mentions the lack of "full scientific certainty." It provides that:

"Where there is a threat of significant reduction or loss of biological diversity, lack of full scientific certainty should not be used as a reason for postponing measures to avoid or minimize such a threat."

In Article 5.7 of Agreement on the Application of Sanitary and Phytosanitary Measures²⁵² provides that:

"In cases where relevant scientific evidence is insufficient, a Member may provisionally adopt sanitary or phytosanitary measures on the basis of available pertinent information, including that from the relevant international organizations as well as from sanitary or phytosanitary measures applied by other Members. In such circumstances, Members shall seek to obtain the additional information necessary for a more objective assessment of risk and review the sanitary or phytosanitary measure accordingly within a reasonable period of time."

Von Seht, Hauke & Ott, Hermann E, "EU Environmental Principles: Implementation in Germany" (2011) NO. 105 Wupp Pap, online: https://nbn-resolving.org/urn:nbn:de:bsz:wup4-opus-10776.

²⁵¹ See Convention on Biological Diversity, 5 June 1992, 8 UNTS 214, (entered into force 29 December 1993), online: https://www.cbd.int/doc/legal/cbd-en.pdf.

²⁵² See Agreement on the Application of Sanitary and Phytosanitary Measures, 15 April 1994, (entered into force on 1 January 1995), online: https://www.wto.org/english/docs_e/legal_e/15-sps.pdf. 124

Article 1 of Cartagena Protocol on Biosafety to the Convention on Biological Diversity²⁵³ provides that:

"In accordance with the precautionary approach contained in Principle 15 of the Rio Declaration on Environment and Development, the objective of this Protocol is to contribute to ensuring an adequate level of protection in the field of the safe transfer, handling and use of living modified organisms resulting from modern biotechnology that may have adverse effects on the conservation and sustainable use of biological diversity, taking also into account risks to human health, and specifically focusing on transboundary movements."

The concept of uncertainty is essential to the issue of the precautionary principle. Uncertain risks are used to denote risks for which the causal link between the activity and the hazard is unknown. Certain risks are risks for which the causal link is established. It is generally understood that the precautionary principle allows for the regulation of uncertain risks.²⁵⁴ When assessing whether there is a threat to public health and the environment in the future, the precautionary principle requires decision makers to consider the issue of "scientific uncertainty". ²⁵⁵ The legal applicable elements of the precautionary principle: 1. Uncertainty; 2. Determination of the threshold; 3. Balance of interests; 4. Adoption of appropriate preventive measures. ²⁵⁶ The most important distinction between precaution and prevention would be that prevention is concerned with the prevention of relatively certain risks and precaution, on the other hand, is concerned with the prevention of relatively uncertain risks. The important change that follows the precautionary concept in policy and decision-making

²⁵³ See Cartagena Protocol on Biosafety to the Convention on Biological Diversity, 29 January 2000, (entered into force on 11 September 2003), online: https://www.cbd.int/doc/legal/cartagena-protocol-en.pdf.

²⁵⁴ Joakim Zander, the Application of the Precautionary Principle in Practice: Comparative Dimensions (Leiden: Cambridge University Press, 2010).

²⁵⁵ Jacqueline Peel, *The precautionary principle in practice: environmental decision-making and scientific uncertainty*, Australian legal monographs (Annandale, N.S.W.: Federation Press, 2005).

²⁵⁶ Zhongmei Lv, Introduction to Environmental Law (Beijing: Peking University Press, 2015) at 52, 53, 54.
125

is that they should not be based on the assumed certainty of environmental knowledge, but on the certainty of the uncertainty of environmental knowledge. In other words, the regulation should to a greater degree be based on the management of uncertainty, and risk assessments should explicitly present and discuss related uncertainty. 257 The division of uncertainty risk and certainty risk does not seem to be practical, because the risks are uncertain, and the purpose of taking precautionary measures is to prevent the occurrence of damage, whether or not there is sufficient scientific evidence to prove that damage will occur in the future. Precautions are taken against damage that has not yet occurred, and damage that has not occurred means that it may or may not occur. The precautionary principle applies to different areas and is used to control and manage risks that may affect health and the environment, food safety and other areas. Because each field has different requirements for the scientific rationality of precautionary measures, the preconditions for taking precautionary measures are also different. Threshold is a critical value for applying the precautionary principle. Its role is mainly to solve the problem of application basis and also to prevent the abuse of the precautionary principle.

"Risks of global aggregate impacts are moderate under additional warming of between 1°C and 2°C, reflecting impacts on both the Earth's biodiversity and the overall global economy. Extensive biodiversity loss, with associated loss of ecosystem goods and services, leads to high risks at around 3°C additional warming. Aggregate economic

²⁵⁷ Hans Sanderson & Soren Petersen, "Power analysis as a reflexive scientific tool for interpretation and implementation of the precautionary principle in the European Union" (2002) 9:4 Environ Sci Pollut Res 221 at 224, online: http://link.springer.com/10.1007/BF02987494>.

damages accelerate with increasing temperature, but few quantitative estimates are available for additional warming of above 3°C." ²⁵⁸ Overall economic loss have increased, but there is still no quantitative prediction for temperatures rising above 3 °C. Global warming must be controlled below the 2°C to reduce global risks. In the 2014 assessment report, IPCC distinguished the impacts of temperature rise of 1 °C, 2 °C and 3 °C on human beings. Its ultimate purpose is to enhance human awareness of reducing greenhouse gas emissions. From the perspective of reducing greenhouse gases, human beings can fundamentally prevent the adverse effects of climate change. But the comprehensive risk management proposed here is linked with the early warning system, which is the prevention of impending loss and damage, and it needs more specific prevention obligations for the states than reducing greenhouse gas emissions.

2.2.3.2 Share information and enhance support

Climate involves more complex and potentially confounding variables than most environmental issues, and the localized modeling needed to aid adaptation decisions is especially difficult. However, deficiencies in knowledge are certainly not only limited to the effects of climate change; there also is substantial uncertainty regarding the efficacy of potential adaptation strategies. This lack of information is attributable in part to the fact that information about the performance of adopted resource management strategies is rarely, if ever, systematically generated. It is also partly due to insufficient avenues for sharing sources of information and coordinating action between potentially

The core writing team, R K Pachauri, Leo Mayer & Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, Climate change 2014: synthesis report (Geneva, Switzerland: Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, 2015) at 72.

interested parties. ²⁵⁹ Establishing a stable information sharing mechanism among stakeholders is a measure proposed by the Warsaw International Mechanism to solve the problem of loss and damage. International conventions and their institutions can't foster to form a good adaptation measure for climate change, as they are not designed to reduce the uncertainty of regulators and the public and to promote learning This thesis proposes to establish a revised regulatory infrastructure that requires and promotes systematic monitoring, assessment and adjustment of management decisions, and also establishes an interactive information-sharing network.

The information sharing mechanism needs to establish regulatory infrastructure, and also establishes an interactive information sharing network. From a macro perspective, it needs to establish an interactive mechanism to handle the relationship between countries. On a micro level, it also needs to establish a regulatory infrastructure to coordinate the relationships between state agencies within the country. Information sharing here is different from the prior notice obligation. "When developing and utilizing transboundary or shared water resources, all countries should make fair and reasonable use and do not cause significant harm. This is the most basic principle. When using water resources within their own territory or under their jurisdiction, they should take into account the interests of other coastal countries, so as to ensure that the development and utilization activities will not cause significant damage to the environment of other countries. Therefore, in the utilization of transboundary water

~ .

²⁵⁹ Alejandro E Camacho, "A Learning Collaboratory: Improving Federal Climate Change Adaptation Planning" (2011) 2011 BYU Rev 1821 at 1824.

resources, the state taking measures has the obligation of prior notice." ²⁶⁰ The information sharing and strengthening support here are the international obligations that all the capable contracting parties must fulfill on the premise of international cooperation, and the "prior notice obligation" is the obligation of specific countries to the countries that may be harmed. The obligation of information sharing and strengthening support is a substantive obligation stipulated by Warsaw international mechanism and Paris Agreement, but the prior notice obligation is procedural.

2.2.3.3 Immigration programs

The concept of environmental refugees has now been in circulation for more than twenty years. While the precise definition of environmental refugee varies from commentator to commentator, there are characteristics common to all interpretations. "During the late 1980s three categories of environmental refugees were identified that formed the basis of subsequent discussion on the topic. The first category includes those people temporarily displaced due to temporary environmental stress but who return to their habitat once the area has been rehabilitated, such as following a natural hazard or environmental accident. Second, environmental refugees might include those permanently displaced who have resettled elsewhere due to permanent environmental change that, in many cases, is often man-made, such as large dam projects. The third category of environmental refugees includes people who have migrated (either

⁻

temporarily or permanently) in search of a better quality of life as a result of progressive degradation of environmental resources."²⁶¹ For small island states and the least developed countries, the Loss and Damage caused by climate change are permanent and irreversible. Due to permanent environmental change, people in these countries face permanent displacement.

The UN Refugee Agency (UNHCR) has recognized the increasing number of people displaced by environmental change and the continuing international debate regarding the extension of the Refugee Convention to include environmental refugees. However, although the UNHCR has for a number of years demonstrated some limited involvement in environmental issues, it maintains there are significant and fundamental differences between traditional refugees accorded status under the Refugee Convention and those now more commonly referred to as environmental refugees. The concept of environmental refugees is not established in international law. "There are three critical legal issues remain unaddressed: Firstly, the legal status and level of assistance and protection will depend on the character of the movement, requiring the development of criteria to better distinguish between forced and voluntary movements of persons. One could ask whether those moving voluntarily and those being forcibly displaced across borders should be treated differently not only as regards assistance and protection while away from their homes, but also as regards their possibility to be

²⁶¹ Angela Williams, "Turning the Tide: Recognizing Climate Change Refugees in International Law" (2008) 30:4 Law Policy 502 at 506.

Angela Williams, "Turning the Tide: Recognizing Climate Change Refugees in International Law" (2008) 30:4 Law Policy 502 at 509. See also Calvin Bryne, "Climate Change and Human Migration" (2018) 8 UC Irvine Rev 761 at 781, 782.

admitted to other countries and remain there at least temporarily. Secondly, the right to be admitted and to stay on foreign territory is not guaranteed for those migrating or being displaced in the context of climate change, with the exception of those who qualify as refugees. The only exception is the prohibition - derived from the human rights prohibition of inhuman treatment - of forcible return of people to a country where they would be exposed to serious risks to life and health. Thirdly, the legal situation and the rights of persons on a foreign territory are only addressed through human rights law, but the specific needs of those migrating as a measure of adaptation or being displaced across borders are not taken into account. A set of status rights for such persons is missing in international law and their legal position will also depend on the characterization of their movement as voluntary or forced."²⁶³ In general, the questions can therefore be summarized as follows: 1) How does forced migration in the context of climate change fit with the history and practice of refugee protection? 2) What legal problems flow from such recognition? 3) How might these problems be resolved in an international/regional context?

In my opinion, the term "environmental refugees" or "climate change refugees" often appears in the media and in the literature, referring to people who have been forced to leave their homes and cross national borders due to increased frequency of adverse weather events or increased risk of widespread climate change. But the term has no basis in international law, so I believe that we should not abuse them. In the

²⁶³ Walter Kälin & Nina Schrepfer, *Protecting People Crossing Borders in the Context of Climate Change Normative Gaps and Possible Approaches*, PPLA/2012/01 (2012) at 43.

²⁶⁴ Benedict Blunnie, "Climate Change and Forced Displacement: Conceptual and Legal Issues" (2014) 4 Kings Inns Stud Rev 87 at 88.

future, the international conventions should separate the "Displacement", "Migration", and the "Planned relocation". In the report of "Human Mobility in the Context of Climate Change", it says that "Climate change is a driver of human mobility and is expected to increase the displacement of populations. COP20 in Lima is an opportune moment for policy makers to ensure that adaptation measures are taken to prevent and mitigate displacement in the context of climate change, including through migration as an adaptation strategy and planned relocation as an adaptation measure of last resort."²⁶⁵ In the report, the "Human Mobility" includes "Displacement", "Migration", and "Planned relocation". "Displacement " is situations where people are forced to leave their homes or places of habitual residence", "Migration is movements that are predominantly voluntary", and the "Planned relocation is an organized relocation, ordinarily instigated, supervised and carried out by the state with the consent or upon the request of the community."²⁶⁶

After the formation of the Warsaw International Mechanism, the Conference of the Parties in 2014 negotiated the composition of the Executive Committee of the Warsaw International Mechanism for loss and damage associated with climate change impacts. Small Island developing States (SIDS) and least developed country (LDC) parties are involved to give full respect and voice to those countries that are vulnerable to climate change. The 20th Conference of the Parties decides that Executive Committee of the Warsaw International Mechanism for Loss and Damage associated

-

²⁶⁵ Human Mobility in the Context of Climate Change (Lima: The Advisory Group on Climate Change and Human Mobility COP 20, 2014) at 3.

with Climate Change Impacts shall be composed of the following: "(a) Ten members from Parties included in Annex I to the Convention (Annex I Parties); (b) Ten members from Parties not included in Annex I to the Convention (non-Annex I Parties), comprising two members each from the African, Asia-Pacific, and the Latin American and Caribbean States, one member from small island developing States, one member from least developed country Parties, and two additional members from non-Annex I Parties."

It can be seen that before the 22nd Conference of the Parties, the focus of discussion at the Conference of the Parties was on risk management and information exchange and the composition of the Executive Committee. After the 22nd Conference of the Parties, immigration plan and human rights protection gradually became the focus of the conference. "The 22nd Conference of the Parties encourages Parties to incorporate or continue to incorporate the consideration of extreme events and slow onset events, non-economic losses, displacement, migration and human mobility, and comprehensive risk management into relevant planning and action, as appropriate, and to encourage bilateral and multilateral entities to support such efforts." "Parties have urgent need to avert, minimize and address these impacts through comprehensive risk management approaches, inter alia, through early warning systems, measures to enhance recovery and rehabilitation and build back and forward better, social protection

²⁶⁷ Report of the Conference of the Parties on its twentieth session, Official Records, Official Records FCCC/CP/2014/10/Add.2 (Lima, 2014) at 2.

²⁶⁸ Report of the Conference of the Parties on its twenty-second session, FCCC/CP/2016/10/Add.1 (Marrakech, 2016) at 9.

instruments, including social safety nets, and transformational approaches."269

The 24th Conference of the Parties invites Parties: "(a) to consider developing policies, plans and strategies, as appropriate, and to facilitate coordinated action and the monitoring of progress, where applicable, in their efforts to avert, minimize and address loss and damage; (b) to take into consideration future climate risks when developing and implementing their relevant national plans and strategies that seek to avert, minimize and address loss and damage and reduce disaster risks, as appropriate." "In the Annex, the report of the 24th Conference of the Parties proposed recommendations on integrated approaches to averting, minimizing and addressing displacement related to the adverse impacts of climate change. Conference of the Parties invites Parties to consider formulating laws, policies and strategies, as appropriate, that reflect the importance of integrated approaches to avert, minimize and address displacement related to the adverse impacts of climate change and in the broader context of human mobility, taking into consideration their respective human rights obligations and, as appropriate, other relevant international standards and legal considerations." 271

After three discussions in the Conference of the Parties, the 25th Conference of the Parties has put forward new requirements for the Warsaw International Mechanism.

To deal with the loss and damage caused by climate change, the parties should not only

²⁷¹ Ibid at 43.

²⁶⁹ Report of the Conference of the Parties on its twenty-third session, Official Records, by United Nations, Official Records FCCC/CP/2017/11/Add.1 (Bonn: UN, 2017) at 20.

²⁷⁰ Report of the Conference of the Parties serving as the meeting of the Parties to the Paris Agreement on the third part of its first session, Official Records, by Conference of the Parties, Official Records FCCC/PA/CMA/2018/3/Add.2 (Katowice, 2018) at 41.

consider increasing the ability of risk management but also protect the intellectual property and human rights of indigenous people. "The 25th Conference of the Parties reaffirms the importance of the Warsaw International Mechanism for averting, minimizing and addressing loss and damage in developing countries that are particularly vulnerable to the adverse effects of climate change. It recognizes the importance and value of indigenous, traditional and local knowledge."272

As for the current development of Warsaw International Mechanism, at the request of the Conference of the Parties, this international mechanism has always emphasized the role of risk management and assessment, and has paid more and more attention to immigration plans. After the formation of the Paris Agreement, the 25th Conference of the Parties proposed "parties should, when taking action to address climate change, respect, promote and consider their prospective obligations on human rights, the right to health, the rights of indigenous people, local communities, migrations, children, persons with disabilities and people in vulnerable situations and the right to development, as well as gender equality, empowerment of women and intergenerational equity." In fact, the response to climate change loss and damage has changed from the situation dominated by UNFCCC to the situation dominated by the Paris Agreement.

Under the guidance of the Paris Agreement, this thesis puts forward the following suggestions:

a) Make a special definition. At present, it is the most difficult problem to solve

²⁷² Report of the Conference of the Parties serving as the meeting of the Parties to the Paris Agreement on its second session, FCCC/PA/CMA/2019/6/Add.1 (Madrid, 2019) at 5.

the migration problem caused by climate change that the definition of climate migration is not clear. Currently there is no unified definition in legal terms as to a person displaced by climate change. The *African Union Convention on Internally Displaced Persons Kampala Convention* is the only international instrument aimed at a regional response that is the closest to recognizing people displaced by climate change wherein it defines "internally displaced persons" as: Persons or groups of persons who have been forced or obliged to flee or to leave their homes or places of habitual residence, in particular as a result of or in order to avoid the effects of armed conflict, situations of generalized violence, violations of human rights or natural or human-made disasters, and who have not crossed an international recognized State border.²⁷³

However, the Convention relating to the Status of Refugee ²⁷⁴ and Protocol relating to the Status of Refugees²⁷⁵ stipulate that "refugees" are formed because of race, religion, nationality, members of special social groups or political opinions. The definition of climate refugees should be depoliticized, and the specific situation of the "human mobility" includes "displacement", "migration", and "planned relocation". A special definition should be set up in the international legislation to deal with climate change, and a special definition should be made according to the specific situation.

b) Special bilateral and multilateral conventions should be formulated. While the

²⁷³ Kampala Convention, 23rd October 2009, (entered into force 6th December 2012, online: https://au.int/sites/default/files/treaties/36846-treaty-kampala_convention.pdf.

²⁷⁴ Convention relating to the Status of Refugees, 28 July 1951, (entered into force 22 April 1954), online: https://www.unhcr.org/3b66c2aa10.

²⁷⁵ Protocol relating to the Status of Refugees, 31 January 1967, (entered into force 4 October 1967), online: https://www.unhcr.org/3b66c2aa10.

inadequacy of the protection of climate change migrants under the Refugee Convention has been displayed in the earlier section, a multi-national treaty can be envisaged for addressing climate change migration. A new multilateral treaty could be specifically tailored to climate change migrants and avoid conflict with the existing refugee community. While this is a possible solution, it is riddled with many problems. ²⁷⁶ As the definition of climate refugees has not yet been unified, countries have different views on how to deal with climate refugees, so it seems difficult to form a unified treatment measures. The countries concerned can reach bilateral or multilateral treaties to deal with this issue according to the specific conditions of the two or more parties, and can also realize the development of international law in this field.

c) Set up special provisions. In view of the fact that the migration problem caused by climate change has become an unavoidable human rights crisis challenge for the international community, special provisions need to be set up in the new UN climate change convention to deal with the crisis. Since the immigration problem caused by climate change is a part of the measures to deal with climate change, it is suggested that this clause should be included in the future climate change convention, and it should be combined with other provisions to solve the problem. There are many problems involved in climate change migration. One of the fundamental problems is the funding for resettlement of refugees. Obviously, international assistance needs to be emphasized once again.

--

²⁷⁶ Akanksha Jumde & Nishan Kumar, "Climate Change Induced Migration: Challenges and Opportunities under International Law" (2018) Vol.4 Environ Law Soc J 1 at 11.

d) Domestic migration and international migration coexist. Existing efforts to support communities experiencing forced migration at the hands of climate change are numerous, reflecting the complex nature of both climate change and human movement. Those responses include: (1) international legal frameworks focused on environmental impacts; (2) international legal frameworks focused on immigration; (3) domestic legal actions; and (4) imposition of liability on responsible parties.²⁷⁷

Under the framework of international human rights law, the state not only has the obligation to ensure that the state's behavior does not violate human rights, but also has the responsibility to protect the human rights of its citizens from being affected, that is, the obligation to protect human rights. Although the necessity and importance of state responsibility related to climate change has been widely concerned, the discussion on human rights protection in the process of coping with climate change is still relatively general, and there is no clear description of the specific content of state responsibility. The international community may not have reached an agreement on international migration, but internal migration belongs to the internal affairs of a country. It is an obligation of the state to protect the rights of those displaced by climate change.

There are more and more discussions on climate refugees in the international community, and the conference of the parties to climate change and the Warsaw international mechanism are paying more and more attention to immigration plans. The significant impact of climate change on human rights has been mentioned in Part I,

 $^{^{\}rm 277}\,$ Calvin Bryne, "Climate Change and Human Migration" (2018) 8 UC Irvine Rev 761 at 773.

consequences of climate change. Therefore, in order to solve the problem of population migration caused by climate change, the international community should link this issue with international human rights law. At present, the international climate change legal system has not really been established, and the framework has problems of weak implementation. The current international climate change law system can't effectively deal with the global climate change crisis and the human rights challenges caused by climate change are less involved in the system. In the future, international human rights law should be introduced to protect migration caused by climate change.

The implementation of international human rights law of the international Convention on Human Rights stipulates that the system of national communications and individual communications has special features. The system of reconciliation of official documents sent or mailed by states is an important system by which States Parties utilize relevant international institutions to supervise other States Parties in fulfilling their obligations under international human rights conventions. In this regard, The Provisions of the *International Convention on Civil and Political Rights*²⁷⁸ are more representative. In accordance with articles 41 and 42 of the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights, States parties may make declarations at any time. At the same time, it was recognized that the Human Rights Committee could receive and consider documents sent or mailed from a state party that regionally accused another State Party of non-compliance with its obligations under the Convention.²⁷⁹ Some

_

²⁷⁸ International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights, 16 December 1966, (entered into force 23 March 1976), online: https://www.ohchr.org/en/professionalinterest/pages/ccpr.aspx.

²⁷⁹ Chengyuan Ma, *International Law* (Beijing: Renmin University Press, 2019) at 200.

communication system. For example, *Optional Protocol to the International Convention on Civil and Political Rights*²⁸⁰ provides, "A State Party to the Covenant that becomes a Party to the present Protocol recognizes the competence of the Committee to receive and consider communications from individuals subject to its jurisdiction who claim to be victims of a violation by that State Party of any of the rights set forth in the Covenant. No communication shall be received by the Committee if it concerns a State Party to the Covenant which is not a Party to the present Protocol." "Individuals who claim that any of their rights enumerated in the Covenant have been violated and who have exhausted all available domestic remedies may submit a written communication to the Committee for consideration." The international human rights conventions not only stipulate the obligations of the state, but also stipulate two special supervision systems. These become the differences between the international human rights conventions and other conventions, and can be used as the development direction of other international conventions.

Another system is the reporting system. With regard to the major international conventions on human rights, it generally provides for States Parties to submit reports to the relevant bodies within the time and procedures set forth in the conventions, which can indicate what measures have been taken, what progress has been made and what specific difficulties exist in the implementation of the conventions. Such reports should be considered by the relevant human rights bodies, which may also make non-legally

²⁸⁰ Optional Protocol to the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights, 1966, 999 UNTS 302, (entered into force March 23, 1976), online: http://hrlibrary.umn.edu/instree/b4ccprp1.htm. 140

of the *International Convention on Civil and Political Rights*, the need for the submission and hearing of national reports is the only mandatory regime in the monitoring procedures established by the Covenant. While States had no choice, as long as they were Parties to the *International Convention on Civil and Political Rights*, they were obliged to submit reports and had the power to check them before the Human Rights Committee.²⁸¹

The mechanism of international human rights law mainly depends on sovereign states to protect the human rights of their nationals, which makes them not to be infringed. Therefore, the human rights related to climate change requires the states parties to the human rights convention to assume responsibilities related to human rights, which can deal with climate change. While there is no international consensus on whether climate change violates human rights law, this does not preclude the obligation of States Parties to the convention on human rights to assume responsibilities related to climate change, which can keep human rights in the country from the negative effects of climate change.

2.3 Implementation and Compliance Mechanism

Ensuring compliance by members of the international community with their international environmental obligations continues to be a matter of serious concern.

²⁸¹ See Chengyuan Ma, International Law (Beijing: Renmin University Press, 2019) at 196.

States implement their international environmental obligations in three distinct phases. "First, by adopting national implementing measures; second, by ensuring that national measures are complied with by those subject to their jurisdiction and control; and, third, by fulfilling obligations to the relevant international organizations, such as reporting the measures taken to give effect to international obligations."²⁸²

First, a State usually assumes international obligations after the entry into force of its ratified treaties or the actions of international organizations bound by them. Therefore, it is usually necessary to enact, adopt or amend relevant national laws, or adopt administrative or other measures to influence national policies, plans or strategies. Some treaties²⁸³ explicitly require parties to take measures to ensure compliance with their obligations or to take appropriate measures within their competence to ensure compliance with the convention and any measures to enter into force under the convention. Some countries do amend the existing domestic laws or enact new special laws according to the provisions of international conventions in order to fulfill their international obligations. For instance, in China, since the promulgation of the first Criminal Law²⁸⁴ in 1979, the Standing Committee of the National People's Congress has paid attention to the international conventions China has acceded to. From 1981 to 1995, nearly half of the 24 special criminal laws passed by the Standing Committee of the National People's Congress confirmed the relevant provisions of the international

-

²⁸² Philippe Sands, *Principles of international environmental law*, 3rd ed. (Cambridge; New York: Cambridge University Press, 2012) at 135, 138.

²⁸³ 1969 Southeast Atlantic Convention; 1972 London Convention and 1996 Protocol.

²⁸⁴ Its function is equivalent to the Criminal Law Code in China. See http://www.law-lib.com/law/law view.asp?id=327.

conventions on criminal law to which China is a party.²⁸⁵ Therefore, amending the domestic law and adopting the relevant provisions of international conventions is one of the methods for some countries to comply with and implement the international conventions.

Second, once an obligation is fulfilled domestically, states parties must ensure that persons or organizations within their jurisdiction and control comply with international obligations. Many treaties explicitly require states to ensure compliance with these provisions or to apply for sanctions for non-compliance. Recognizing that there may be inadequacies in relying solely on states to fulfil their international obligations, it may not be possible to fully ensure the fulfilment of international obligations, because there may be inadequate resources or conditions for their fulfilment, and that individuals, groups and enterprises can play a role in ensuring compliance with and compliance with conventions, more and more countries are encouraging private implementation of national environmental obligations. For example, in the *Aarhus Convention*, Article 9²⁸⁶ stipulates the provisions for the public to supervise the state to perform its obligations.

Third, an important element of national compliance is the requirement that states

For example, in 1981, the Provisional Regulations for the punishment of military offense against duty shall be added to the war crimes. In 1990, the Decision of the Standing Committee of the National People's Congress on Drug Control supplemented the confirmation of drug crimes.

²⁸⁶ Each Party shall, within the framework of its national legislation, ensure that members of the public concerned (a) having a sufficient interest or, alternatively, (b) maintaining impairment of a right, where the administrative procedural law of a Party requires this as a precondition, have access to a review procedure before a court of law and/or another independent and impartial body established by law, to challenge the substantive and procedural legality of any decision, act or omission subject to the provisions of article 6 and, where so provided for under national law and without prejudice to paragraph 3 below, of other relevant provisions of this Convention. See Aarhus Convention, June 1998, (entered into force October 2001), online: https://www.unece.org/fileadmin/DAM/env/pp/documents/cep43e.pdf.

usually have to report on national implementation measures. Many environmental agreements require parties to report certain information to the international organization designated by the agreements. For example, the Montreal Protocol provides the "reporting data" in the Article 7²⁸⁷. The *Kyoto Protocol* provides that each Party shall submit information about the emissions to the Conference of the Parties in the Article7 ²⁸⁸. The article VIII of *International Whaling Convention* provides that each Contracting Government shall, so far as practicable and at intervals of not more than one year, transmit to the bodies designated by the Committee scientific information on whales and whaling as is available to the government.²⁸⁹ The State reports data, emission information and scientific information available to the designated body (e.g. the Secretariat) on controlled substances produced, imported and exported by the Government. Some information may be reported to other parties, as appropriate. In some cases, States should also indicate the legislative and administrative provisions they have adopted and other actions taken for the Convention, as well as the experience gained in this field. In a word, the information to be reported includes: statistical information on production, imports and exports; information on emissions or discharges;

-

²⁸⁹ International Whaling Convention, 2 December 1946, (entered into force on 10 November 1948), online: http://library.arcticportal.org/1863/1/1946%20IC%20for%20the%20Regulation%20of%20Whaling-pdf.pdf. 144

the Montreal Protocol provides the "reporting data" in the article 7: "Each Party shall provide to the secretariat, within three months of becoming a Party, statistical data on its production, imports and exports of each of the controlled substances for the year 1986, or the best possible estimates of such data where actual data are not available. Each Party shall provide statistical data to the secretariat on its annual production (with separate data on amounts destroyed by technologies to be approved by the Parties), imports, and exports to Parties and non-Parties, respectively, of such substances for the year during which it becomes a Party and for each year thereafter. It shall forward the data no later than nine months after the end of the year to which the data relate." See Montreal Protocol, September 1987, (entered into force January 1989), online:https://treaties.un.org/doc/publication/unts/volume%201522/volume-1522-i-26369-english.pdf.

288 The reporting information about the emissions: "Each Party included in Annex I shall incorporate in its annual inventory of anthropogenic emissions by sources and removals by sinks of greenhouse gases not controlled by the Montreal Protocol, submitted in accordance with the relevant decisions of the Conference of the Parties, the necessary supplementary information for the purposes of ensuring compliance with Article 3, to be determined in accordance with paragraph 4 below. See Kyoto Protocol, December 1997, UNTS, (entered into force 16 February 2005), online: https://unfccc.int/resource/docs/convkp/kpeng.pdf.

information on the grant of permits or authorizations, including the criteria therefor; information on implementation measures which have been adopted; details of decisions taken by national authorities; scientific information; and information on breaches or violations by persons under the jurisdiction or control of the party.²⁹⁰

Three approaches to implementation are discussed above. Especially with regard to the "report" approach, it should also be studied as a specific suggestion for improvement in the Paris Agreement below. After discussing implementation, the following research focuses on "Compliance Mechanism". "Many international procedures and mechanisms are available to assist in the pacific settlement of international disputes. Article 33 of *UN Charter* ²⁹¹ identified the traditional mechanisms including negotiation, enquiry, mediation, conciliation, arbitration, judicial settlement, resort to regional agencies or arrangements, or other peaceful means of their own choice.

At present, informal and non-binding mechanisms are considered the effective ways and they are more recognized by the international community such as negotiations and consultations, supplemented by more formal mechanisms such as conciliation, arbitration and judicial settlement. For example, in the Fisheries Jurisdiction case and the North Sea Continental Shelf case, the ICJ believes that the most appropriate method for resolving disputes is the negotiation method. The goal should be to define the rights

²⁹⁰ Philippe Sands, *Principles of international environmental law*, 3rd ed (Cambridge; New York: Cambridge University Press, 2012) at 143.

²⁹¹ The Charter of the United Nations, 26 June 1945, UNTS, (entered into force on 24 October 1945), online: https://www.un.org/en/sections/un-charter/un-charter-full-text/.

of both parties to balance and fairly control the distribution of benefits.²⁹² Therefore, we need to make full use of non-confrontational and non-punitive mechanisms in the process of resolving international disputes and promoting the countries to actively fulfill their obligations. The non-compliance mechanism below provides us with a good example.

2.3.1 The evolution of the Non-Compliance Mechanism

The number of international environmental treaties has been increasing. Countries around the world, especially developing countries, are bearing an increasingly heavy burden in implementing their obligations under international environmental treaties. At present, the international community is deliberately shifting its focus from the formulation of international environmental treaties to ensuring and promoting compliance and implementation of existing treaties. In this context, compliance mechanisms have emerged, and many international environmental treaties have established their own compliance mechanisms and procedures. Among them, the compliance mechanism of Kyoto Protocol is the most mature one in the international environmental treaties. However, the emergence of the compliance mechanism should date back to 1987.

In 1987, Article 8 of Montreal Protocol on Substances that Deplete the Ozone Layer (Montreal Protocol) established the first non-compliance procedure. In 1990, the

²⁹² Ibid.

Implementation Committee was established by the second Meeting of the Parties to the Protocol. In 1992, the Parties agreed to establish the Implementation Committee on a permanent basis along with the Non-Compliance Procedure under which the Committee operates. Article 18 of the Kyoto Protocol call on the Conference of the Parties approve appropriate and effective procedures and mechanisms to determine and to address cases of non-compliance with the provisions of this Protocol.

In the Kyoto Protocol, this can also be defined as the non-compliance regime which, according to Article 18 of the Kyoto Protocol, shall be adopted as an amendment to the Protocol if it includes binding consequences for the parties. The Kyoto Protocol therefore provides for the establishment of a non-compliance regime and leaves it to the parties, under the guidance of the COP, to define the details and procedures regarding the functioning of such a mechanism.²⁹³ It is important at this point to stress that the non-compliance regime of the Kyoto Protocol consists of the Compliance Committee which is divided into a facilitative branch and an enforcement branch. The facilitative branch assists all parties in the Kyoto Protocol implementation, while the enforcement branch is a quasi-judicial body which can propose decisions on parties in non-compliance, such as non-eligibility to participate in the flexible mechanisms. The main task of the Compliance Committee is to consider the 'questions of implementation' referring to the compliance by Annex I parties with the different obligations established by the Kyoto Protocol. "These obligations are: 1. Monitoring, reporting and verification obligations under Articles 5(1) (2) and 7(1) (4) of the Kyoto Protocol (Monitoring,

⁻

²⁹³ Leonardo Massai, The Kyoto Protocol in the EU: European Community and Member States under International and European Law (The Hague, The Netherlands: TMCAsser Press, 2011) at 46.
147

Reporting and Verification— MRV—obligations); 2. Eligibility requirements as defined under Articles 6, 12 and 17 of the Kyoto Protocol and the Marrakech Accords (eligibility requirements); 3.Quantified emission limitation and reduction commitments (QELRCs) under Article 3(1) of the Kyoto Protocol (Limitation and Reduction commitments)."²⁹⁴

We compare the non-compliance clauses, as shown in the table below:

	Montreal Protocol	Kyoto Protocol
Provision	Article 8: Procedures and institutional	Article 18: Procedures and
	mechanisms for determining non-	mechanisms to determine and to
	compliance	address cases of non-compliance
Institution	Implementation Committee	Conference of the Parties Compliance
	Meetings of Parties	committee:
	Secretariat	Plenary; Bureau; the facilitative
		branch; the enforcement branch
Functions	To gather information and information; to	The facilitative branch: to provide
	maintain an exchange of information with	advice and facilitation to Parties in
	the Executive Committee of the	implementing the Protocol; to
	Multilateral Fund; to review the	promote compliance by Parties with
	compliance procedures initiated by the	their commitments under the
	Secretariat or the State Party and make	

²⁹⁴ Ibid at 47.

commendations and measures for	Protocol; to provide for early warning
nsideration by Meetings of Parties.	of potential noncompliance
	The enforcement branch: to
	determine whether a Party included in
	Annex I is not in compliance with
	the Protocol; Adjustments to
	inventories in the event of a
	disagreement between an expert
	review team
ne country itself; other countries;	The country itself; other countries;
cretariat	expert review team
opropriate assistance, including	The facilitative branch:
sistance for the collection and reporting	Provision of advice and facilitation of
data, technical assistance, technology	assistance; Facilitation of financial
nsfer and financial assistance,	and technical assistance; Formulation
formation transfer and training; issuing	of recommendations.
utions; suspension, in accordance with	The enforcement branch:
e applicable rules of international law	to suspend the eligibility of that Party;
ncerning the suspension of the	Deduction from the Party's assigned
eration of a treaty, of specific rights and	amount for the second commitment
ivileges under the Protocol, whether or	period of a number of tonnes equal to
t subject to time limits, including those	1.3 times the amount in tonnes of
ncerned with industrial rationalization,	excess emissions. ²⁹⁵
	e country itself; other countries; cretariat propriate assistance, including istance for the collection and reporting data, technical assistance, technology unsfer and financial assistance, formation transfer and training; issuing attions; suspension, in accordance with applicable rules of international law incerning the suspension of the eration of a treaty, of specific rights and wileges under the Protocol, whether or a subject to time limits, including those

²⁹⁵ United Nations, *Report of the conference of the Parties on its seventh session*, Official Records

production, consumption, trade, transfer	
of technology, financial mechanism and	
institutional arrangements.	

2.3.2 The Compliance Mechanism in the Paris Agreement

The non-compliance Mechanism of Kyoto Protocol have no longer application after 2020. Because, the Paris Agreement established an Enhanced Transparency Framework (ETF) designed to build trust and confidence that all countries are contributing to fulfil the international obligations. The Katowice conference in 2018 built a framework that is applicable to all countries by adopting a detailed set of modalities, procedures and guidelines (MPGs) that make it operational. "Conference of Parties recognizes that the Capacity-building Initiative for Transparency, established pursuant to decision 1/CP.21, will continue to support developing country Parties, upon request, to build their institutional and technical capacity, both pre- and post- 2020. It also recognizing that flexibility for those developing country Parties that need it in the light of their capacities is reflected in the modalities, procedures and guidelines for the transparency of action and support."296 At the same time, Katowice conference put forward eight guiding principles for the modalities, procedures and guidelines of the enhanced transparency framework under the Paris Agreement. For example, it says the first guiding principle is "building on and enhancing the transparency arrangements under the Convention, recognizing the special circumstances of the LDCs and SIDS, and implementing the transparency framework in a facilitative, non-intrusive, non-

FCCC/CP/2001/13/Add.3 (Marrakesh, 2001) at 67-76, online:

 $[\]label{lem:https://unfccc.int/documents?f\%5B0\%5D=conference\%3A3620\&f\%5B1\%5D=conference\%3A3614\&search=\&page=0\%2C0\%2C1.$

²⁹⁶ Conference of the Parties, *supra* note 270.

punitive manner, respecting national sovereignty and avoiding placing undue burden on Parties." ²⁹⁷ The Modalities, procedures and guidelines for the transparency framework of Article 13 in the Paris Agreement have come out and the non-compliance Mechanism of Kyoto Protocol is gradually replaced.

The Paris Agreement is based on equity and embodies the principles of common but differentiated responsibilities and respective capabilities, while emphasizing the need to be based on different national conditions. It noted the specific needs and special circumstances of developing country Parties, especially those of developing country that are particularly vulnerable to the adverse effects of climate change, and fully took into account the financing and technology transfer. The Paris Agreement states that Parties should respect, promote and consider their human rights, the right to health, the rights of indigenous peoples, local communities, migrants, children, persons with disabilities and people in vulnerable situations and the right to development, as well as gender equality, empowerment of women and intergenerational equity. It not only requires the parties to respect the above rights, but also puts forward requirements for the implementation of this agreement. It believes that the parties must carry out education, training, publicity, public participation and public access to information and cooperation on the matters dealt with in this agreement. It recognizes the importance of governments and actors at all levels in addressing climate in accordance with the

-

²⁹⁷ The remaining seven principles are: The importance of facilitating improved reporting and transparency over time; Providing flexibility to those developing country Parties that need it in the light of their capacities; Promoting transparency, accuracy, completeness, consistency and comparability; Avoiding duplication of work and undue burden on Parties and the secretariat; Ensuring that Parties maintain at least the frequency and quality of reporting in accordance with their respective obligations under the Convention Ensuring that double counting is avoided; and Ensuring environmental integrity 151

respective domestic legislation of the Parties. Therefore, from the overall objective of the Paris Agreement, on the one hand, it stipulates international community should respect developing countries that are particularly vulnerable, and take full account of their difficulties and national conditions when implementing their obligations under the convention or the agreement. On the other hand, Paris Agreement stipulates the state's obligation to respect human rights and mentions the importance of domestic legislation for the implementation of international conventions or agreements. Although the goal of the Paris Agreement also falls on the state's fulfillment of international obligations and the promotion of the implementation of international conventions or agreements, there are some deficiencies in the content of the Paris Agreement on how countries comply with conventions and agreements and implement their obligations.

2.3.2.1 The deficiencies of the Compliance Mechanism

Article 13 and Article 15 of the *Paris Agreement* provides for a new compliance mechanism and it is different from the *Kyoto Protocol*. It has no mandatory compliance procedures, it is promotional, non-confrontational, non-punitive, and is of particular concern to the respective national capabilities of the Parties.

Status of Common but differentiated responsibilities. The Paris Agreement adheres to the CBDR principle within the framework of the Convention. In the Preamble, article 9 and article 13, the Paris Agreement separates the "least developed countries and small island developing States" from the camp of developing countries,

the classification of countries has shifted to developed countries, developing countries, least developed countries and small island developing States. Although the Paris Agreement still retains the distinction between developed and developing countries, it highlights that capable large developing countries should also contribute. That is to say, developed countries still need to support developing countries (including LDCs and SIDS), and capable developing countries should also provide assistance to LDCs and SIDS.²⁹⁸

The Paris Agreement does place "respective capabilities" in an important position, but it does not mean that the CBDR is weakened. The Paris Agreement's method of distinguishing countries is likely to cause misunderstandings among countries about CBDR. It emphasizes that aid from capable countries also strengthens rather than weakens the CBDR principles. The Paris Agreement needs to further clarify the status of the CBDR.

The efforts of emission reduction and capacity building. Although "top-bottom" emission reduction model in the Kyoto Protocol has encountered obstacles at the implementation level, it can comprehensively consider long-term global greenhouse gas emission reduction goals, and has a strict verification mechanism and compliance mechanism. The "bottom-up" emission reduction model in the Paris Agreement allows

States" (2014) 4 Clim 267 at 271.

²⁹⁸ See Haitang Li, "Construction of International Climate Governance System under the new situation -- from the perspective of Paris Agreement" (2016) 3 J China Univ Polit Sci Law 101 at 103. See also Margaretha Wewerinke-Singh & Curtis Doebbler, "The Paris Agreement: Some Critical Reflections on Process and Substance" (2016) 39 UNSWLJ 1486 at 1489; Benoît Mayer, "Whose Loss and Damage: Promoting the Agency of Beneficiary

countries to determine emission reduction targets through international negotiations according to their own circumstances, which is very flexible and voluntary. But this model is usually a short-term goal and lacks a link to long-term global emissions reduction targets. Although "global stocktake" is used as a way to evaluate the effectiveness of the implementation of the international climate agreement, its shortcomings are also obvious, that is, it is difficult to ensure the achievement of targets by relying on the parties' independent emission reduction programs and actions. Fund and technology have been the two main ways to strengthen capacity building. As the previous climate change conferences have not been able to properly resolve financial and technical issues, countries will hope to pin the Paris Agreement. Article 9 of the Paris Agreement requires developed countries to mobilize climate funding from various sources, means and channels, and postponed the target of "100 billion dollars annually by 2020" to "100 billion dollars annually by 2025", but it seems that the regulations did not satisfy people. In Article 10, the Paris Agreement reaffirmed the implementation of technology transfer without proposing new implementation measures. Therefore, the capacity building provisions of the Paris Agreement are more like a framework provision. Although they require more funding from developed countries, they lack a review mechanism and do not discuss the technology transfer mechanism²⁹⁹ in depth.

2.3.2.2 The recommendations for the Compliance Mechanism

aspects of climate technology development and transfer.

²⁹⁹ In 2010 the Conference of the Parties established the Technology Mechanism. The Technology Mechanism consists of two bodies: the Technology Executive Committee and the Climate Technology Centre and Network. The Technology Executive Committee is the Technology Mechanism's policy body. The Climate Technology Centre and Network is the implementation body of the Technology Mechanism. The Technology Executive Committee and the Climate Technology Centre and Network work together to enhance climate technology activities. Their functions are complementary and support developing country efforts to address both policy and implementation

The United Nations framework convention on climate change (UNFCCC), the Kyoto Protocol, the Paris agreement and many other climate change agreements all have the disadvantages. They lack a enforcement and a proper compliance mechanism. Some of the developed countries in annex I to the protocol have not kept their commitments and have not met their emission reduction targets. From the perspective of the implementation mechanism of the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) and Kyoto Protocol, the default liability of defaulters is very limited, which is only reflected in the allocation of emission reduction in the second commitment period, and the punishment is insufficient. This situation has led some developed countries to attribute them to "soft law" all the time, making it unable to provide clear guidance for the specific implementation behavior of contracting Parties and international climate change law.

First, an international climate tribunal or court should be established. In 2010, the Cancun climate conference in Mexico proposed for the first time the establishment of an international climate tribunal to monitor the implementation of the convention. When a country implements the international climate conventions, the executive body of the convention shall supervise and monitor the emission reduction of each country according to the legal procedures. Because climate change is different from other issues. Climate change issues is complex and long-term. So it determines the difference between climate cases and other cases. Therefore, judges hearing climate cases need to have the necessary expertise in the field of climate. A special international climate tribunal should be set up to settle global climate disputes, so as to resolve international

disputes arising from the implementation of the climate change conventions and agreements.

To solve this problem requires some expertise. Just as in the case of "Whaling in the Antarctic (Australia v. Japan: New Zealand inter interning)"300, "scientific research purpose" of JARPA II³⁰¹ is the focus of controversy. How to identify "the purpose of scientific research" is an expertise issue that the International Court of Justice needs to address. For the reasons given in this Memorial, and reserving the right to supplement, amplify or amend the present submissions, Australia requests the Court to adjudge and declare that Japan is in breach of its international obligations in authorizing and implementing JARPA II in the Southern Ocean. The Court is requested to adjudge and declare that JARPA II is not a program for purposes of scientific research within the meaning of Article VIII of the International Convention for the Regulation of Whaling (IWRC). 302 Japan argues that Australia's request should be rejected. Because Japan does not violate international obligations. JARPA II was established and implemented for scientific research purposes, in line with the exceptions under Article 8 of the International Convention for the Regulation of Whaling (IWRC)³⁰³. At the same time, Japan did not violate the procedural requirements for whaling for scientific research.³⁰⁴ On 20 November 2012, New Zealand invoked article 36 of the Statute of the International Court of Justice to apply for participation in the proceedings. In February

³⁰⁰ Australia v Japan: New Zealand inter interning, 2014 ICJ.

³⁰¹ It is a whaling plan called "Plan for the Second Phase of the Japanese Whale Research Program under Special Permit in the Antarctic".

³⁰² Australia v. Japan: New Zealand inter interning, 2014 ICJ at 17.

³⁰³ International Whaling Convention, 2 December 1946, (entered into force on 10 November 1948), online: http://library.arcticportal.org/1863/1/1946%20IC%20for%20the%20Regulation%20of%20Whaling-pdf.pdf. ³⁰⁴ Australia v. Japan: New Zealand inter interning, supra note 86 at 17.

2013, the International Court of Justice allowed New Zealand to participate in the proceedings.

New Zealand believes that Article 8 of the International Convention for the Regulation of Whaling (IWRC) should be interpreted in good faith in accordance with the object and purpose of International Convention for the Regulation of Whaling (IWRC). In addition to interpreting the Convention, New Zealand also raised the issue of burden of proof New Zealand believes that Japan has not made a clear explanation on what is scientific research and whether Japan has the right to decide whether the whaling plan is for scientific research. New Zealand's statement is relatively vague, in fact it believes that Japan should prove its own JARPA II for scientific research.³⁰⁵ In the finial, the Court stated that JARPA II is a continuous whaling program. It ordered Japan to revoke any existing authorizations, licenses and to avoid further licensing of the next step. The Court stated that all whaling activities that do not comply with Article 8 of IWRC fall under the commercial whaling activities set out in paragraph 10 of the timetable. After four years, the case came to a final judgment, and the International Court of Justice faced many difficulties in the settlement of international environmental disputes. The international law regulating international relations are increasingly closely integrated with science and technology, and thus it has strong scientific and technical characteristics. Many international environmental disputes must be resolved based on the understanding of science.

305 Ibid at18.

Arthur Cockfield put forward "A Synthetic Theory of Law and Technology". He considers that "a synthetic theory of law and technology that could contribute to the development of legal analysis at the intersection of law and technology". The theory is "synthetic" as it is based upon a synthesis of instrumental and substantive theories of technology. Generally speaking, instrumental theories tend to treat technology as a neutral tool without examining its broader social, cultural, and political impacts. In contrast, substantive theories emphasize the ways in which technological systems can exert "control" over individuals, often without their knowledge. A synthesis is necessary because each theory, standing alone, has disadvantages that reduce its potential for interfacing with legal analysis.³⁰⁶ Science and technology maybe different concepts. But in this part, I use understanding of science as a pre-procedure for technology. Of course, "A Synthetic Theory of Law and Technology" has a very reasonable place, however, I prefer to use technology as a tool in judicial proceedings. The case discussed above has been dealt with by the International Court of Justice, which took years to reach a judgement. Decisions are difficult to make because of a lack of scientific and technical knowledge. The discussion of this case was protracted and judicial resources were wasted. In the face of increasingly complex issues such as climate change, once it is incorporated into the scope of judicial practice, science and technology must be difficult to resolve. Only by increasing the professionalism of the courts can we better solve the problem.

Second, to establish the performance guarantee system. In the current climate

_

³⁰⁶ Arthur Cockfield, "A Synthetic Theory of Law and Technology" (2007) 8 Minn JL Sci Tech 475 at 475, 476. 158

change laws, there has been a lack of economic punishment system, which leads to the lack of enforcement of the climate change legal system. However, in the field of climate change, excessive economic penalties may reduce the capacity of the Parties to implement the convention. In addition, if the state itself fails to comply due to lack of funds, imposing financial penalties would be like adding insult to injury and further depriving the state of its capacity to implement the agreement. Therefore, the establishment of a performance guarantee system can be considered. All parties should pay a certain amount of performance guarantee fund, which can be used to pay the penalty when a state party defaults, so as to ensure the universal compliance and implementation of international climate change conventions or agreements.³⁰⁷

Third, to clarify the status of the common but differentiated responsibilities. Climate change conventions or agreements need to re-establish the status of CBDR principles and clarify the criteria. Although the Paris Agreement conditionally retains the CBDR principle, in the long term, the Paris Agreement lacks a relatively objective standard for classification. It is difficult to be accepted by countries all over the world to determine the state responsibility based on subjective identity standards, which will affect the realization of global climate justice. Therefore, there is an urgent need to establish a quantitative standard that can be recognized by both developed and developing countries. This standard will become the precondition of differential treatment. Therefore, it needs to be recognized by all countries. The specific meaning

_

Mingde Cao, "China's Legal Position and Strategy in Participating in International Climate Governance: From the Perspective of Climate Justice" (2016) 1 China Legal Science 29.

of common but differentiated responsibility principle and the development of this principle will be discussed in detail in Part 3.

An international climate tribunal or court under the climate change agreement is the most important of these three recommendations. The role of the law may be to resolve disputes. In order to urge countries to fulfill their obligations under international conventions, the establishment of specialized courts or arbitral tribunals is an effective form of supervision. Because, it can force countries to worry about being judged by the judiciary after disputes.

2.3.3 A new approach to compliance control---domestic courts

With the speed of the index after the Second World War, along with the spillover effects on the environment, the international community and national legislature responded with international treaties and national legislation to address different aspects of the environmental crisis. With new concerns about treaties and legislation, private law acts are effectively abandoned to address environmental issues. Environmental litigation has become the implementation of treaties and legislation, and is no longer a traditional private law act. ³⁰⁹ At the same time, the role of non-governmental organizations (NGOs) and individuals in the international community has become increasingly apparent. ³¹⁰ Many of non-governmental organizations (NGOs)

³⁰⁹ Brian J Preston, "Climate Change Litigation" (2011) 2011 Carbon Clim Rev 3 at 14. See also Hari Osofsky, "The Continuing Importance of Climate Change Litigation" (2010) 1 Clim 3.

³¹⁰ See Chiara Giorgetti, "The Role of Nongovernmental Organizations in the Climate Change Negotiations" (1998) 9 Colo J Intl Envtl Pol 115.

provide perspectives and information that are not commonly conveyed by states. NGOs are not merely driving forces in regime formation but are central in a legal framework that emphasizes inclusivity and accessibility. Tor example, The WTO Appellate Body Secretariat attempted this when it required NGOs who submitted amicus briefs in the Asbestos litigation to provide details of their interest in the claim. While many WTO Members were unhappy with what they perceived to be an illegitimate intervention by the Secretariat, the idea was sound. For NGOs to participate in regime interaction, they must be transparent about their funding, broadly accountable and have demonstrated expertise. There is further scope to develop alternative models to assess the credibility and accountability of non-state actors in regime interaction. It should be noted that the government needs to use criteria and procedures to assess the background, status, qualification and even reputation of NGOs, so as to ensure that the limited public participation areas are not abused by the subjects with poor qualification and credit.

The case between countries was discussed above, for example, the Trail Smelter Case; Pulp Mills on the River Uruguay (Argentina v. Uruguay); Nuclear Tests (Australia v. France). These cases drive the development of international environmental conventions, the international community has formed many types of international environmental conventions. Private law, individuals, and NGOs have played a role in the development of international conventions, and their domestic litigation have also

_

Margaret A Young, "Climate Change Law and Regime Interaction" 2011 Carbon Clim Rev 147 at 156. See also Chiara Giorgetti, "The Role of Nongovernmental Organizations in the Climate Change Negotiations" (1998) 9 Colo J Intl Envtl Pol 115 at 115.

supervised the state's implementation of the conventions. (Part 2.4 will discuss in detail)

The new approach to compliance control---domestic courts is recognized by some international conventions. For example, Principles 10 and 13 of the Rio Declaration emphasize the important function of domestic courts in the context of environmental protection. It provides that "Environmental issues are best handled with the participation of all concerned citizens, at the relevant level....Effective access to judicial and administrative proceedings, including redress and remedy, shall be provided." "States shall develop national law regarding liability and compensation for the victims of pollution and other environmental damage. States shall also co-operate in an expeditious and more determined manner to develop further international law regarding liability and compensation for adverse effects of environmental damage caused by activities within their jurisdiction or control to areas beyond their jurisdiction." "Their most important role is in enforcing national (and subnational) environmental laws and regulations, including those that implement environmental treaty obligations. A secondary role, and the one most relevant in this context, is their growing involvement in dealing with transboundary environmental dispute, chiefly through civil liability regimes. A third important function is in influencing the developing existing, rules and principles."313

The new approach protects the interests of citizens of all countries, while promoting domestic legislative reforms, monitoring countries' compliance with

.

³¹³Tim Stephens, *International courts and environmental protection*, Cambridge studies in international and comparative law (Cambridge, UK; New York: Cambridge University Press, 2009) at 79.

162

international conventions and fulfilling their international obligations. Therefore, it has a good future for development.

2.4 The domestic response to the climate change in China

In December 2018, the United Nations Climate Change Conference (COP24) in Katowice, Poland, completed the negotiation of the implementation rules of the Paris Agreement. It achieved a comprehensive, balanced and effective outcome, which will help the next comprehensive implement the requirements of the Paris Agreement. China's basic position and proposition on the Katowice Climate Change Conference: First, the negotiation of the implementation of the Paris Agreement on schedule should be the core task of the conference. It should adhere to the provisions of the Paris Agreement and ensure that the implementation arrangements of the agreement are reflected in detail and implemented. Common but differentiated responsibilities and the respective capacity principles, consider different national conditions, ensure that the follow-up arrangements reflect the balance of the package of results, and comprehensively cover all aspects of mitigation, adaptation, capital, technology, and capacity building. The second is to regard "implementation" as the main orientation of the conference, and to promote the implementation of the commitments and actions of the parties by 2020 and to lay a foundation for mutual trust for the implementation of the Paris Agreement after 2020. The international community should promote the early entry into force of the Kyoto Protocol Doha Amendment. Third, the promotion of dialogue should take the transition to green and low-carbon as an important signal from

the conference, and promote the exchange of best practices, explore opportunities for action, and promote international cooperation in an atmosphere of mutual trust, honesty, and win-win cooperation. The international community has passed on the implementation of the Paris Agreement in the field of climate change, promoting the global transition to a green and low-carbon, and building a positive signal of the community of human destiny. Fourth, we must properly solve the problem of funds as a breakthrough to promote the success of the conference. The high-level meeting of funds should be a political impetus for solving the problem of climate finance. Developed countries will give more detailed information on the implementation of the target of US\$100 billion per year by 2020. To meet the reasonable demands of developing countries on various climate funding issues.

During the conference, the China government delegation set up the "China Corner"³¹⁴ in the venue, covering topics such as low carbon development, carbon market, renewable energy, south-south cooperation, climate investment and financing, forest carbon sink, and local enterprise climate action. Three-dimensional publicity to introduce China's policies to address climate change and promote green and low-carbon development.

In our perspective, China government formulates guiding policies internally and it adheres to its commitment in 2016 in NDCS: China has set its own action target by

-

³¹⁴ At the United Nations Climate Change Conference, it is a panel meeting initiated by China. It mainly introduces China's domestic policies and current situation in response to climate change, and introduces China's specific suggestions on international response to climate change.
164

2030: carbon dioxide emissions will peak around 2030 and strive to reach the peak as soon as possible; carbon dioxide emissions per unit of GDP will decrease by 60% - 65% compared with 2005, non-fossil energy will account for about 20% of primary energy consumption, and forest reserves will increase by 45% compared with 2005 About 100 million cubic meters. 315 China has a unified emission reduction target and each province in China determines its own emission reduction target according to its own situation, such as the number and scale of enterprises and the technical level of enterprises. The purpose of China's financial assistance to other countries is to fulfill the obligations of international cooperation and to help other countries with its own efforts, even if its own capacity is limited.

2.4.1 The functions of the National Development and Reform Commission

In 2003, the National Development and Reform Commission (NDRC) was established as a component of the State Council in accordance with the State Council's institutional reform plan approved by the First Session of the Eleventh National People's Congress and the State Council Notice on Institutional Establishment.

In 2007, the State Council adjusted the "National Leading Group on climate change". Former Premier Jiabao Wen of the State Council was the group leader, Vice

-

³¹⁵ Intended Nationally Determined Contribution of the China, Official Records, Official Records (USA, 2015), online:

https://www4.unfccc.int/sites/ndcstaging/PublishedDocuments/China%20First/China%27s%20First%20NDC%20S ubmission.pdf.

Premier Li Keqiang and State Councilor Bingguo Dai were the vice leaders. There are 20 member units including the National Development and Reform Commission and the Ministry of Foreign Affairs. The NDRC is an integrated coordinating body for addressing climate change. Its functions in addressing climate change are: To study and propose major national strategies, plans and policies for addressing climate change, and to organize and implement domestic efforts to address climate change; to study and analyze major issues of international cooperation and foreign negotiations, to organize participation in international negotiations on climate change, to implement the UNFCCC, and to build the capacity to cope with climate change. Subsequently, the NDRC set up the Department of Climate Change, and defined its functions as: preparing for the plenary meeting of the leading group; studying and proposing major strategies and planning proposals for addressing climate change; coordinating cross sectoral and cross Bureau major issues related to climate change; organizing and coordinating the domestic implementation of the climate change convention and the Kyoto Protocol; and organizing participation in climate change negotiation and consultation.³¹⁶ The NDRC has 28 internal institutions, but the status of Department of Climate Change has not been clearly defined. It is only an institution under the NDRC and does not have the same status as other institutions. At present, the task of the Department of Climate Change is to coordinate other institutions, and to make policy recommendations on international issues related to climate change. The NDRC is still the main body to release final decisions and reports. From 2012 to 2017, the NDRC has released China's Policies and Actions for Addressing Climate Change in succession.

__

[&]quot;The National Development and Reform Commission", online: Main responsibilities of the NDRC http://www.ndrc.gov.cn/zwfwzx/jj/.

In addition to NDRC, the Ministry of Ecology and Environment is also an important department to deal with climate change. The mission of Ministry of Ecology and Environment is to improve environmental quality. Its mandates are (1) To establish and improve the fundamental system in China with respect to the ecological environment. (2) To coordinate, supervise, and regulate major ecological and environmental issues. (3) To supervise and administer to ensure the attainment of national emission reduction targets......³¹⁷ The Ministry of Ecology and Environment is mainly responsible for supervising and controlling environmental pollution and reducing greenhouse gas emissions. In dealing with climate change, its task is to accept the coordination of NDRC. In the future, NDRC and the Ministry of Ecology and Environment will play a major role in China's response to climate change.

2.4.2 The laws and reports for the climate change

Climate resources scarcity determines the impact of it brings the world tends to be unbalanced and unfair. Because the atmosphere itself has such characters as liquidity, inseparable, these features make the impact of climate change range direct spread to every country in the world, but the first to be affected and the deepest degree is one of the most vulnerable and most poor countries and people. Historically, most developing countries contributed less to greenhouse gas emissions than developed countries. Based on this consideration, the Kyoto Protocol divides Annex I countries and non-Annex I countries. Although some developed countries objected to this classification, it was

317 "Mandates", online: Ministry of Ecology and Environment the People's Republic of China http://english.mee.gov.cn/About_MEE/Mandates/>.

finally established in the Kyoto protocol. This shows that the international community demands the developed countries to bear historical responsibilities. However, with the rapid development of developing countries, some developing countries are also responsible for the current climate change results. They also have a lot of greenhouse gas emissions, such as China and India. Therefore, the statement that the developed countries bear historical responsibility is no longer applicable to the present situation. We can't focus on the developed countries only. The international community should consider the contribution of all countries to greenhouse gas emissions. At the same time, countries like China or India should also take measures to actively reduce greenhouse gas emissions.

For China, under the framework of the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change and the Kyoto Protocol, it does not undertake compulsory emission reduction obligations. It cannot be explained by "capacity", let alone simply obtain support from the status of a "developing country", but only by consistent objective standards. It could be "cumulative emissions per capita" or other indicators. Any country meeting this target will have to undertake compulsory emission reduction obligations, and China is no exception.

China is the largest developing country in the world, and also the developing country with the largest greenhouse gas emissions. China has been participating in the international community's response to climate change with and China has carried out various actions to address climate change, including preparing for the formulation of

relevant policies. In 2007, the State Council promulgated the National Program to Address Climate Change. In August 2008, the Standing Committee of the National People's Congress made the Resolution of the Standing Committee of the National People's Congress on Actively Addressing Climate Change. In 2010, the State formulated the National "Twelfth Five-Year Plan" and set up the chapter of climate change response. The above policies and legal documents are generally in principle and they provide the basic direction for China's climate change legislation. In 2013, the National Development and Reform Commission, the National People's Congress Environmental Investment Commission, the National People's Congress Law and Work Commission, the State Council's Legal Office and relevant departments jointly established a leading group on the drafting of a law to address climate change, which started the drafting of the Climate Change Law of the People's Republic of China, and initially formed a legislative framework.³¹⁸

Since 2017, China has strengthened multi-level consultation and dialogue with other countries on climate change, promoted consensus building and China tried to promote the global climate governance and international cooperation on climate change. The China government has always participated in the Post-Paris agreement negotiations and worked for the establishment of a fair, equitable and win-win global climate governance system.³¹⁹ For example, in September 2017, China, the EU and Canada

_

³¹⁸ See National Development and Reform Commission, *China's Policies and Actions for Addressing Climate Change* (Beijing: National Development and Reform Commission, 2013) at 7.

³¹⁹ Ministry of Ecology and Environment of the People's Republic of China, *China's Policies and Actions for Addressing Climate Change* (Beijing: Ministry of Ecology and Environment of the People's Republic of China, 2018) at 45, 46.

jointly sponsored and hosted the first ministerial conference on climate action in Montreal, Canada, and in June 2018, the second ministerial conference on climate action in Brussels, Belgium. In September 2018, China, as the initiator, jointly established the global adaptation committee to promote international cooperation on climate change and global adaptation actions.³²⁰

In July 2017, the ministry of finance, the ministry of agriculture, the ministry of water resources and the ministry of land and resources jointly issued "Measures for the administration of subsidies for disaster relief in agricultural production and for flood control and drought relief from the central government". China should respond to agricultural disasters, floods and droughts, and sudden geological disasters. The ministry of water resources conducted scientific flood control and water conservancy projects during the flood season, effectively prevented river floods, strengthened forecasting and early warning, issued 755 flood warnings to the public in a timely manner, launched 27 emergency responses, and sent more than 420 working groups to the frontline of flood and drought to support local governments in flood fighting and disaster relief.³²¹

China will strengthen the construction of key projects to harness rivers, promote the allocation of major water resources and key water source projects, and improve the defense against floods and droughts in river basins and ensure adequate water supply. China has improved its scientific and technological capabilities, continued to conduct

³²⁰ Ibid at 47.

321 Ibid at 22.

170

research and development of global and regional climate models, continued to conduct research on climate change prediction, and carried out research and development of comprehensive impact assessment models. Establish a disaster monitoring and early warning mechanism. China issued "the notification of monitoring water resources capacity", China should improve all levels of responsibility system for flood control and drought relief, perfect the flood prevention schemes to establish the drought monitoring system, construct 1021 automatic and manual monitoring sites. Scientific surveys of meteorological susceptibility diseases among regional populations were organized and early warning services for health risks of children in heat wave and high temperature were carried out in pilot cities.³²²

Policies and documents on climate change issued by the National Development and Reform Commission and the Ministry of Ecology and Environment mainly focus on energy conservation and emission reduction. China's response to climate change is more focused on controlling and harnessing polluted gases, and the response to climate change is not only about controlling the emission of polluted gases. How to deal with the risks brought by climate change, how to improve the ability of adaptation and how to strengthen the legislation of adaptation are also the key issues in the process of China's response to climate change. We can see that the legislative development of dealing with emergencies and sudden natural disasters is quite slow. There are mainly the following laws and regulations: *The General Emergency Plan for Public*

Emergencies, The Law of the People's Republic of China on Emergency Response, The National Environmental Emergency Plan.

The General Emergency Plan for Public Emergencies ³²³: In 2006, the State Council promulgated the General Emergency Plan for Public Emergencies, which clearly put forward the general principles for dealing with all kinds of public emergencies. It clearly puts forward six working principles for dealing with various types of public emergencies: people-oriented, reducing hazards; safety and security, prevention-oriented; unified leadership, hierarchical responsibility; standardization according to law, strengthening management; rapid response, coordinated response; relying on science and technology to improve quality. "General plan" is the general outline of the national emergency plan system. It clarifies the classification and framework system of all kinds of public emergencies, stipulates the organizational system and working mechanism of the State Council in dealing with special major public emergencies, and is a normative document guiding the prevention and disposal of all kinds of public emergencies.

The Law of the People's Republic of China on Emergency Response³²⁴: It was adopted by the 29th Meeting of the Standing Committee of the Tenth National People's Congress of the People's Republic of China on August 30, 2007, and has been in force

-

³²³ The General Emergency Plan for Public Emergencies, 2006, online: http://www.gov.cn/jrzg/2006-01/08/content 150878.htm.

The Law of the People's Republic of China on Emergency Response, 2007, online: http://www.gov.cn/ziliao/flfg/2007-08/30/content_732593.htm.

since November 1, 2007. "This Law is formulated in order to prevent and reduce the occurrence of emergencies, control, mitigate and eliminate serious social hazards caused by emergencies, regulate emergency response activities, protect the safety of people's lives and property, and safeguard national security, public security, environmental security and social order." "This Law shall apply to emergency prevention and emergency preparedness, monitoring and early warning, emergency disposal and rescue, post-accident recovery and reconstruction, etc." "The term 'emergencies' as mentioned in this Law refers to natural disasters, accident disasters, public health incidents and social security incidents that occur suddenly and cause or may cause serious social hazards and need to be dealt with by emergency measures." On the whole, the law considers that the disaster prevention is the main task and disaster treatments are the supplement measures. In order to conduct a comprehensive assessment of the emergency, it requires the government to establish a risk assessment system. It also mentioned the public's awareness of risk prevention and control. Therefore, the law puts forward the requirements for the government and the public, and we believe that the national level risk assessment system is the most important one. However, the law is too general and principled to deal with climate change. In the field of climate change, how to conduct risk assessment should be further discussed. In combination with the Warsaw International Mechanism, the comprehensive assessment for the risk from climate change should be considered in the legislation and practice.

The National Environmental Emergency Plan³²⁵: On December 29, 2014, the State

³²⁵ The National Environmental Emergency Plan, 2014, online: http://www.mee.gov.cn/ywgz/hjyj/yjzb/201912/t20191227 751708.shtml.

Council issued National Environmental Emergency Plan. It includes seven parts: general principles, organization and command system, monitoring, early warning and information report, emergency response, post-work, emergency support and supplementary rules, which will be implemented from the date of issuance.

China has no specific legislation on climate change adaptation measures. Some legal documents on prevention and corresponding emergencies guide China's adaptive measures. Therefore, China's climate change adaptation legislation is developing very slowly. Although China announced at the international conference that it will take a positive attitude to implement emission reduction measures, in the NDCs, China has determined its own action goal by 2030: carbon dioxide emissions peak around 2030 and strive to reach the peak as soon as possible. China will continue to adapt to climate change, and gradually improve its risk warning mechanism and disaster prevention and mitigation system. China's domestic efforts on adaptation measures are insufficient. At the same time, China has not expressed its attitude on "environmental refugees". At present, China does not accept people who are displaced due to the loss and damage of climate change.

2.4.3 Climate change litigation in China

³²⁶ Intended Nationally Determined Contribution of the China, Official Records, Official Records (USA, 2015), online:

https://www4.unfccc.int/sites/ndcstaging/PublishedDocuments/China%20 First/China%27 s%20 First%20 NDC%20 Submission.pdf.

In 2016, China Environmental Protection Federation³²⁸ v. Dezhou Jinghua Group Zhenhua Co., Ltd. was the first smog environmental public interest litigation in China. The plaintiff, China Environmental Protection Federation, complained that Zhenhua's two production lines had long discharged pollutants beyond the standard, causing serious air pollution, seriously affecting the lives of the surrounding residents, and had not been rectified after being punished by environmental protection authorities for many times, and continued to discharge pollutants into the atmosphere beyond the standard. The plaintiff requests the court to order that the defendant immediately stop discharging pollutants beyond the standard into the atmosphere and install additional facilities for preventing and controlling air pollution. Only after the competent administrative department of environmental protection has passed the acceptance test and put into use can he carry out production and business activities; the defendant compensates for the losses caused by discharging pollutants beyond the standard; the defendant compensates for the loss caused by refusing to correct the behavior of discharging pollutants beyond the standard; and Apologize publicly to the society; the defendant shall bear the expenses of litigation, inspection, appraisal, expert witnesses, lawyers and litigation expenses. The defendant Zhenhua Company responded that the defendant had stopped the infringement; the cause and effect of the plaintiff's complaint was difficult to determine, and the air pollution was dynamic and could not be determined that the air pollution was caused by an enterprise of the defendant; the appraisal opinion made by the plaintiff for damage was not recognized; the amount of

³²⁸ Approved by the State Council and registered by the Ministry of civil affairs, the China Environmental Protection Federation is a non-profit, national community organization voluntarily formed by people, enterprises and institutions who are enthusiastic about environmental protection and accept the business guidance, supervision and management of the Ministry of ecological environment and the Ministry of civil affairs.

175

damages claimed by the plaintiff and the claim for public apology by the media had no factual basis, and the plaintiff should consider it when making a claim. The defendant has actually invested in the operating costs; he agrees with the plaintiff's claim that the defendant place the compensation in a special financial account.

The court finally issued a judgment, requiring the defendant Dezhou Jinghua Group Zhenhua Co., Ltd. to compensate for the loss caused by excessive discharge of pollutants and pay to Dezhou City Special Fund Account³²⁹ for the restoration of Dezhou City's atmospheric environment quality; the defendant Dezhou Jinghua Group Zhenhua Co., Ltd. apologized to the public in the media above the provincial level; the defendant Dezhou Jinghua Group Zhenhua Co., Ltd. paid the plaintiff. Appraisal fees paid by the China Environmental Protection Federation (CEPA) and other litigation requests of the CEPA were rejected.³³⁰ The court held that the discharge of pollutants by enterprises, institutions and other producers and operators exceeding the pollutant discharge standards or the total emission control targets of key pollutants could be regarded as an act of great risk to the public interest. The excessive discharge of sulfur dioxide, nitrogen oxides and smoke and dust by the defendant Zhenhua Company will affect the service value function of the atmosphere. Among them, sulfur dioxide and nitrogen oxides are the precursors of acid rain. Excessive emissions can lead to property and personal damage. Excessive emissions of smoke and dust will affect the visibility

³²⁹ It is not an institution, but a fund account managed by Dezhou City. The funds of this account are mainly used for atmospheric environment quality restoration in Dezhou City.

³³⁰ "China Environmental Protection Federation v. Zhenhua Co., Ltd. of Dezhou Jinghua group, No. 10 of China's top ten influential lawsuits in 2016", online:

 $< http://www.pkulaw.cn/case/pfnl_1970324845557468.html?keywords=\%E9\%9B\%BE\%E9\%9C\%BE\&match=Exact>$

and cleanliness of the atmosphere, and also cause property and personal damage. So the court asked Zhenhua Company to compensate for the loss caused by excessive discharge and to pay special fund for the restoration of the atmospheric environment quality in Dezhou City.

As governments try to solve climate change problems by formulating national policies or participating in international negotiations, environmental advocates increasingly turn to courts to fill the gaps in climate change governance. Lawsuits seeking to mitigate or adapt to climate change have been initiated in many jurisdictions and include a wide range of legal forms. Actions have been taken against businesses that emit large amounts of greenhouse gases into the atmosphere and governments that fail to fully integrate climate change into planning and development decisions. Despite this diversity, the plaintiff faces a series of recurring problems or challenges in court. These problems reflect the complexity of climate change and the challenges it poses to traditional legal forms and governance methods. The common issues in climate change litigation are as follows: whether a single pollution facility is responsible for the global impact of climate change; and how to prove the causal relationship between greenhouse gas emissions and damage consequences.³³¹ For example, in 2006, Massachusetts, 11 other states and several environmental advocacy organizations requested the US Environmental Protection Agency to require carbon dioxide as a pollutant for air pollution. The petitioners believe that carbon dioxide and other gases from motor vehicles contribute to global warming and climate change. According to the Clean Air

 $^{^{331}}$ Hilary Sigman, "Legal Liability as Climate Change Policy" (2007) 155 U Pa Rev 1953 at 1953.

Act, they claim that "it may be reasonably expected to endanger public health or welfare". The Supreme Court ruled that if it finds harm to public health and welfare, the US Environmental Protection Agency must regulate the carbon dioxide emissions of cars. If the agency decides not to regulate emissions, the US Environmental Protection Agency must conclude that carbon dioxide emissions do not harm public health and welfare. In 2007, the US Supreme Court ruled in the "Massachusetts v. US Environmental Protection Agency" case, which held that carbon dioxide and greenhouse gases are air pollutants under the Clean Air Act and can be regulated by the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA). 332 The plaintiff believes that refusing to regulate such emissions will at least cause damage to Massachusetts, given that the US Environmental Protection Agency has failed to challenge the causal relationship between anthropogenic greenhouse gas emissions and global warming. The US Environmental Protection Agency considers this to be an exaggeration. It believes that its unregulated decision is so insignificant to the plaintiff that it cannot be brought to the federal court, and the relief sought will not alleviate global climate change and remedy the plaintiff's injury. Realistic possibilities, especially as China, India and other developing countries increase emissions may offset the emission reductions brought about by US EPA regulations.333

As a policy to address climate change, three basic principles of responsibility have

³³² See "Massachusetts v. Environmental Protection Agency", online: *Ballotpedia* https://ballotpedia.org/Massachusetts v. Environmental Protection Agency>.

³³³ See *Massachusetts et al v Environmental Protection Agency et al*, 2007 Supreme Court of the United States (available on https://www.informea.org/en/court-decision/massachusetts-et-al-v-environmental-protectionagency-et-al) at 3.

been proposed. First, it is possible to sue compensation for victims of climate change. Second, responsibility may motivate private actors to reduce greenhouse gas emissions. Finally, these lawsuits may change political conditions and facilitate the introduction of public policies to reduce greenhouse gas emissions.³³⁴ So far, climate change cases around the world have shown that courts have played a key role in adjusting legal governance systems to address complex climate change issues, and it is highly likely that they will continue to play such a role. Climate change litigation is a response to inadequate national legislation and efforts to promote broader legislative and policy changes or development. Principles formulated through litigation may serve as a basis for policy and legislation to address the effective convergence of climate change issues at the national and international levels. However, as stated in this paper, climate change litigation raises many difficult issues, and as a form of governance, it faces some challenges. Climate change litigation raises issues that cannot be resolved by courts, such as strong incentives and measures to reduce greenhouse gas emissions, and reforms in environmental assessment policies to promote flexibility and adaptability, which require government action.

From the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change to the Paris Agreement, these international conventions or agreements mainly put forward two kinds of obligations: mitigation obligations and adaptation obligations. How to ensure that the parties meet these obligations is crucial. Principles 10 and 13 of the Rio Declaration emphasize the important role of domestic courts in environmental

-

 $^{^{\}rm 334}$ Hilary Sigman, "Legal Liability as Climate Change Policy" (2007) 155 U Pa Rev 1953 at 1953.

protection. It provides that environmental issues are best addressed with the participation of all concerned citizens at the relevant level. At the national level, everyone should have appropriate access to information about environmental issues at the disposal of public institutions, including information about harmful substances and activities in their communities, and should have the opportunity to participate in decision-making processes. States should make information widely available in order to promote and encourage public understanding and participation. Effective access to judicial and administrative procedures, including compensation and remedies, should be provided. As for the implementation of international obligations, climate change litigation as a new way is worth learning from in China.

China's climate change policies and documents mainly focus on energy conservation and emission reduction. China is striving to establish a legal system and policy guidance for green production and consumption, and improve the green, low-carbon and circular economic system. China is striving to establish a market-oriented green technology innovation system, develop green finance, expand energy conservation and environmental protection industry, clean production industry and clean energy industry. At the same time, in judicial practice, the focus of the first public interest litigation of haze environment in China is also to control "excessive emission of pollutants". In the process of coping with climate change, China pays more attention to the control and treatment of pollution gases, while coping with climate change is not only to control the emission of pollution gases. How to deal with the risks brought by climate change, how to improve the adaptability and how to strengthen the legislation

of adaptability are also the key issues in the process of China's response to climate change. Mitigation and adaptation are key measures to deal with climate change, and their status is equally important. Countries should not be biased towards mitigation or adaptation. Legislation and policy should not tend to slow down and neglect the role of adaptation. Countries should address the relationship between mitigation and adaptation and strike a good balance between them. Especially in developing countries like China, they need to pay attention to climate change litigation. A series of issues raised in climate change litigation provide a new direction for national legislation on climate change in order to effectively fulfill international obligations.

With respect to legislation to combat climate change, apart from the *Decisions of the Standing Committee of the National People's Congress on the Ratification of the Framework Convention On Climate Change*³³⁵, issued in 1992, the special legal document is the Resolution on Active Response to Climate Change issued by the Standing Committee of the National People's Congress in August 2009, which declared the principles, positions, guidelines and policies of addressing climate change. Of that, it positioned climate change as an important opportunity and challenge for economic and social development, and emphasized the importance of strengthening the rule of law in dealing with climate change, enhancing the awareness and capacity of the whole society, and actively participating in international cooperation. Although the resolution deals with addressing climate change, it is primarily declaratory rather than normative.

^{335 &}quot;Decision of the Standing Committee of the National People's Congress on the ratification of the United Nations Framework Convention on climate change_ China National People's Congress website, online: http://www.npc.gov.cn/wxzl/gongbao/1992-11/07/content_1479248.htm.
181

At present, China's legislation on climate change is prominent in the legislative concept and specific legal system, which fails to deal with the adverse effects of climate change in a long-term, systematic and effective way, including the loss and damage in the wake of climate change, in no small measure. As things stand, China's legislation on climate change is lagging behind. Since the legal concept is the value orientation or spiritual guide implied by the law, it is necessary to attach equal importance to mitigation and adaptation in dealing with climate change. Of that, the legal concept of attaching equal importance to mitigation and adaptation should first be confirmed in the Constitution of the People's Republic of China³³⁶, so to speak, the constitutional basis of the legislative concept should be provided first. In China, the practice of addressing climate change has been pushed forward, and arrangements for addressing climate change have been reflected in some policy documents. At present, however, China has neither comprehensive legislation to tackle with climate change, nor any laws and regulations in the name of "climate change". Even the existing laws and regulations do not include "climate change" and relevant legal concepts, and the legal system to copy with climate change is seriously lacking. Plus, the necessary legislation to deal specifically with climate change is incomplete in China. And then, the existing legislation is mainly a document issued by the National Development and Reform Commission (or its joint efforts with relevant departments) and has more general provisions on dealing with climate change.

Although China has a vast territory, its regional economic development is uneven,

³³⁶ Constitution of the People's Republic of China, 1982, online: http://english.www.gov.cn/archive/laws_regulations/2014/08/23/content_281474982987458.htm. 182

and it is difficult to make detailed provisions in national legislation related to climate change, which provides a broad space for local legislation to promote climate change. In 2015, the revision of the Legislation law of the people's Republic of China³³⁷ extended the subject of local legislation to "cities divided into districts", whose People's Congress and its Standing Committee may formulate local regulations and rules on environmental protection and other matters according to the specific situation and actual needs of the city, provided that the laws at different levels are inconsistent with each other. "City divided into districts" is a legal term, and its coverage is basically the same as that of prefecture-level cities. There are also a few prefecture-level cities without municipal districts, such as Dongguan and Zhongshan in Guangdong Province, Jiayuguan in Gansu Province, and Sansha in Hainan Province. But Legislation Law also empowers it to apply mutatis mutand the provisions governing the granting of local legislative powers to cities divided into districts. Moreover, the revised Legislation Law not only establishes the law as the benchmark of the unified order, but also allows the production of multiple laws under the unified order, which further realizes the dynamic maintenance of the legislative purpose and establishes the legal basis for local regulations and local government regulations that are suitable for local places.

As far as addressing climate change is concerned, China should first update its legislative concept, attach equal importance to mitigation and adaptation, and promote legislation to address climate change, so as to avoid articles of principle and declaration. Plus, Chinese government should support local legislation and formulate specific

 $^{^{\}rm 337}$ Legislation law of the People's Republic of China, 2000, online: http://www.gov.cn/test/2005-08/13/content_22423.htm.

mitigation and adaptation measures according to the specific conditions of each province to promote the updating of China's constitutional concept via practical experience of each province, so as to provide a constitutional basis for dealing with the adverse impacts and even loss and damage of climate change in the future.

Part 3 The basic principle for addressing the Loss and Damage: common but differentiated responsibility principle

There is currently no uniform definition of what environmental principles are. Eloise Scotford considered "there is no definitive and universal catalogue of environmental principles. Further, it is not possible to state definitively what an 'environmental principle' is or means. Environmental principles are primarily policy ideas concerning how environmental protection and sustainable development ought to be pursued. They are 'policies' in the broad sense that environmental principles reflect courses of actions adopted to secure, or that tend to secure, a state of affairs conceived to be desirable."³³⁸

In the case law of the European courts, six environmental principles can be identified. "These are the preventive principle, the principle of rectification at source, and the precautionary principle, the polluter pays principle, the integration principle, and the principle of sustainable development. In the case law of the New South Wales, there is some overlap with these EU law environmental principles, although they are referred to as principles of 'ecological sustainable development' in New South Wales law. Thus there are identifiable versions of the precautionary principle, the polluter pays principle and the integration principle, although the latter two have explicitly different manifestations."³³⁹

Eloise Scotford, *Environmental principles and the evolution of environmental law* (Oxford: Hart Publishing, 2017) at 6. See also Philippe Sands, Principles of international environmental law, 3rd ed. (Cambridge; New York: Cambridge University Press, 2012) at 163.

³³⁹ See Ibid at 7.

All these environmental principles have a high profile in environmental law and policy internationally, and in environmental law scholarship. They constitute a group of policies and flourished the international environmental law, they also are becoming the legal instruments in the international environmental law.

The profile of environmental principles in environmental law has particularly grown internationally in recent decades because of their increasing presence in international treaties and soft law agreement, binding regional agreements, and domestic legislation. The wide range of environmental principles that have been formulated in international soft law agreements concerning sustainable development are of particular significance, since these provide an apparent basis on which to build a universal understanding of environmental principles as legal concepts.³⁴⁰ This section will describe the general principles and rules of international environmental law. These principles are general in nature as they may apply to all activities carried out or authorized by all members of the international community and apply to all aspects of the protection of the environment. As can be seen from a large number of international agreements and other acts, although general rules and principles are not necessarily universal, they are widely supported and often endorsed in practice.

3.1 Overview of general principles in the international environmental law

³⁴⁰ Ibid at 9.

The principles of international environmental law are guiding acts of international organizations and practice of States. There are: the principle reflected in Principle 21 of the Stockholm Declaration³⁴¹ and Principle 2 of the Rio Declaration³⁴², namely, that states have sovereignty over their natural resources and the responsibility not to cause transboundary environmental damage; the principle of preventive action; the principle of co-operation; the principle of sustainable development; the precautionary principle; the polluter-pays principle; and the principle of common but differentiated responsibility.³⁴³

States have sovereignty over their natural resources and the responsibility not to cause transboundary environmental damage. This principle is also called "no harm principle". Principle 21 of the Stockholm Declaration proposed the no harm principle. It was re-emphasized in the principle 2 of the 1992 Rio Declaration. This principle has been reaffirmed in the *United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change, Vienna Convention for the Protection of the Ozone Layer*³⁴⁴, *United Nations Convention to Combat Desertification in those Countries Experiencing Serious*

³⁴¹ Principle 21: States have, in accordance with the Charter of the United Nations and the principles of international law, the sovereign right to exploit their own resources pursuant to their own environmental policies, and the responsibility to ensure that activities within their jurisdiction or control do not cause damage to the environment of other States or of areas beyond the limits of national jurisdiction. See online: http://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.1177/0019556119890340.

³⁴² Principle 2: States have, in accordance with the Charter of the United Nations and the principles of international law, the sovereign right to exploit their own resources pursuant to their own environmental and developmental policies, and the responsibility to ensure that activities within their jurisdiction or control do not cause damage to the environment of other States or of areas beyond the limits of national jurisdiction. See online: http://www.unesco.org/education/pdf/RIO E.PDF.

³⁴³ Philippe Sands, *Principles of international environmental law*, 2nd ed. (Cambridge ; New York: Cambridge University Press, 2003) at 231.

³⁴⁴ Vienna Convention for the Protection of the Ozone Layer, 22 March 1985, 26 ILM 1516, (entered into force 22 September

^{1988).}online:http://mountainlex.alpconv.org/images/documents/international/convention_ozone_layer.pdf. 187

Drought and/or Desertification³⁴⁵. This principle is expressed as that "States have the sovereign right to exploit their own resources pursuant to their own environmental and developmental policies, and the responsibility to ensure that activities within their jurisdiction or control do not cause damage to the environment of other States or of areas beyond the limits of national jurisdiction".

The "no harm principle" is based on the responsibility of the State not to harm other countries or the environment beyond their jurisdiction. Under international law, states have a responsibility not to cause harm to or infringe on the rights of other states. The "no harm principle" was first used to solve the problem of transboundary damage. At the same time, it is gradually accepted as international customary law. As climate change became more and more serious, it was gradually required to be applied to the field of loss and damage caused by climate change. Palau sought the advisory opinion of the International Court of Justice at the United Nations General Assembly to clarify whether states have a legal responsibility to ensure that any greenhouse gas emissions on their territory do not harm other countries. In fact, regardless of whether the advisory opinion of the International Court of Justice is put forward, countries based on the customary international law in the field of international environmental law have an obligation to ensure that greenhouse gas emissions do not harm the development of other regions and

-

³⁴⁵ United Nations Convention to Combat Desertification in those Countries Experiencing Serious Drought and/or Desertification, online: https://treaties.un.org/doc/Treaties/1996/12/19961226%2001-46%20PM/Ch XXVII 10p.pdf.

See Roda Verheyen, Climate change damage and international law: prevention, duties and state responsibility (Leiden; Boston: MNijhoff; Brill, 2005) at 145.
 188

countries. The severity of the loss and damage caused by climate change has already hindered the sustainable development of small island nations. Therefore, all countries have an obligation to take action to support and guarantee the sustainable development of countries that are particularly vulnerable to climate change. At the same time, all countries have an obligation to achieve intergenerational equity without harming the interests of future generations.

At present, this principle has been generally accepted by the international community, and it seems that it can be used to solve the problem of loss and damage caused by climate change. However, since this principle was originally intended to solve the problem of transboundary damage, but the loss and damage caused by climate change is not transboundary damage (discussed in the part 1), this principle can't be completely used as a basic principle to deal with climate change.

The principle of co-operation. The principle has broad practical significance. Climate change has become a common concern of all countries in the world, and its results are mainly reflected in the UNFCCC and the Paris Agreement. As the basis of international cooperation, the conventions and the agreements have a guiding role for countries to fulfill their international obligations.

Principle 24 of the Stockholm Declaration reflects a general political idea on the international cooperation:

"International matters concerning the protection and improvement of the environment should be handled in a cooperative spirit by all countries, big and small, on an equal

189

footing. Cooperation through multilateral or bilateral arrangements or other appropriate means is essential to effectively control, prevent, reduce and eliminate adverse environmental effects resulting from activities conducted in all spheres, in such a way that due account is taken of the sovereignty and interests of all States."³⁴⁷

Principle 27 of the Rio Declaration states more succinctly:

"States and people shall co-operate in good faith and in a spirit of partnership in the fulfilment of the principles embodied in this Declaration and in the further development of international law in the field of sustainable development."³⁴⁸

The principle of "good-neighborliness" enunciated in Article 74 of the UN Charter in relation to social, economic and commercial matters has been translated into the development and application of rules promoting international environmental cooperation. The principle is reflected in many treaties and other international acts, and is supported also by state practice, in particular in relation to hazardous activities and emergencies. The obligation to co-operate is affirmed in many bilateral and global international agreements This principle starts with "good faith" and involves multiple concepts, such as "partnership", and "good-neighborliness". The above also mentioned the cooperation of countries in some activities for reducing greenhouse gas emission, including information exchange and sharing. Under the Warsaw International Mechanism, it also mentioned the sharing of information and technology cooperation. Therefore, this principle is also common in the field of climate change.

http://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.1177/0019556119890340.

-

³⁴⁷ Stockholm Declaration, 16 June 1972, UNTS, online:

³⁴⁸ Rio Declaration on Environment and Development, 14 June 1992, UNTS, online:

http://www.unesco.org/education/pdf/RIO_E.PDF.

³⁴⁹ Philippe Sands, *Principles of international environmental law*, 3rd ed. (Cambridge; New York: Cambridge University Press, 2012) at 249.

^{350 1982} UNCLOS, Article 123 and 197; 1985 Vienna Convention, Article 2(2); 1992 Biodiversity Convention, Article 5

³⁵¹ Case Concerning the Kasikili/Sedudu Island (Botswana/Namibia), 1999 ICJ.
190

It is universally applicable to countries in dealing with international relations, including in the field of international negotiations to address climate change. Because of this universality, it cannot be a special or basic principle guiding climate change.

The principle of sustainable development. Sustainable development has been accepted as global policy. The origins of the concept lie in provisions relating to the sustainable use of natural resource such as those found in the international law of fisheries.³⁵² But when it comes to environmental and social issues, the emergence of this principle dates back to 1992.

The concept appears, often as an objective or preamble reference, in most international statements and declarations related to environmental, social and economic issues since the 1992 Rio de Janeiro Earth Summit. It is not clear that "sustainable development", as such, can be accurately described as a single emerging principle of international environmental law, or as a customary norm that will eventually be accepted as binding on all States.353

It is currently difficult to describe "sustainable development" as a binding international legal principle. In international law, the concept of sustainable development may be binding on treaties and may also serve as a norm used by judges or governments to deal with specific issues. It may also be non-binding, but it is still

Scholarship Online (Oxford; Toronto: Oxford University Press, 2004) at 45.

191

³⁵² Nico Schrijver, The evolution of sustainable development in international law: inception, meaning and status, Pocketbooks of the Hague Academy of International Law (Leiden; Boston: Martinus Nijhoff, 2008) at 209. 353 Marie-Claire Cordonier Segger, Sustainable development law: principles, practices, and prospects, Oxford

convincing. International law increasingly includes legal instruments that may not be formally binding. Both the 1972 Stockholm United Nations Conference on the Human Environment and the 1992 Rio United Nations Conference on Environment and Development have made important contributions to the development of this new international policy discourse model. There are many so-called "soft laws" in international law related to sustainable development. For various reasons, countries sometimes prefer non-binding documents. Because, it seems easier to reach an agreement, the transaction costs are lower, the chances of developing a detailed strategy are greater, and often, the norm seems to respond better to scientific understanding or rapid economic changes under economic or social conditions.

The principle of preventive action and the precautionary principle. The precautionary principle is analyzed by some authors as a furthering of the principle of prevention of damage to the environment, which is itself undoubtedly well established as a norm of international customary law. The principle of precaution can be understood as a pre-prevention principle that dictates the application of measures earlier in the time-scale applicable to prevention measures, when science cannot prove that harm will occur, but there are risks that it will. It was noted that prevention and precaution cannot be separated easily. Both impose obligations of means and not of results, and both deal with potential future damage. The doctrine of precaution confronts the damage earlier than the doctrine of prevention.³⁵⁴

³⁵⁴ Benedicte Sage-Fuller, *The precautionary principle in marine environmental law: with special reference to high risk vessels*, Routledge research in international environmental law (London; New York: Routledge, 2013) at 68.

As we can see, Philippe Sands and Benedicte Sage-Fuller separated the "precaution" and "prevention", and they thought the concepts are different. But I have discussed them above, the two concepts are universal in judicial practice because it is very difficult to distinguish which time is earlier.

The polluter pays principle. It indicates that the costs of pollution should be borne by the person responsible for causing the pollution. The meaning of the principle, and its application to particular cases and situations, remains open to interpretation, particularly in relation to the nature and extent of the costs included and the circumstances in which the principle will, perhaps exceptionally, not apply. The principle has attracted broad support, and is closely related to the rules governing civil and state liability for environmental damage.³⁵⁵ In view of the different contributions to global environmental degradation, countries have common but differentiated responsibilities. In view of the pressure exerted by societies on the global environment and the technological and financial resources they possess, developed countries recognize their responsibility for pursuing sustainable development.³⁵⁶

In climate change area, as developed countries continue to emit large quantities of greenhouse gases, they violate the precautionary principle, so polluters should make efforts to do so. Principle 16 of the Rio Declaration provides that:

"National authorities should endeavour to promote the internalization of environmental costs and the use of economic instruments, taking into account the approach that the polluter should, in principle, bear the cost of pollution, with due regard to the public

-

³⁵⁵ Philippe Sands, *Principles of international environmental law*, 3rd ed. (Cambridge; New York: Cambridge University Press, 2012) at 228.

³⁵⁶ See the Rio Declaration, June 1992, ILM, online: http://www.unesco.org/education/pdf/RIO_E.PDF. 193

interest and without distorting international trade and investment."357

In combination with the principle of common but differentiated responsibilities, it is a moral and legal assumption that those who cause global climate change pollution should also reduce greenhouse gas emissions and help others adapt to the negative effects of pollution. This kind of greenhouse gas pollution can be described as a tort, and the polluter should pay a price for the economic benefits from the pollution. The polluter pays principle is the most powerful model of liability applicable to transnational corporations, which has been found in many multilateral environmental agreements, which directly stipulate that companies should bear legal responsibility for transboundary pollution they create.

The first international instrument to refer expressly to the polluter pays principle was the 1972 OECD Council Recommendation on Guiding Principles Concerning the International Economic Aspects of Environmental Policies.³⁵⁸ It described mainly the international aspects of environmental policies with particular reference to their economic and trade implications.

It said "Environmental resources are in general limited and their use in production and consumption activities may lead to their deterioration. When the cost of this deterioration is not adequately taken into account in the price system, the market fails to reflect the scarcity of such resources both at the national and international levels. Public measures are thus necessary to reduce pollution and to reach a better allocation of resources by ensuring that prices of goods depending on the quality and/or quantity of environmental resources reflect more closely their relative scarcity and that economic agents concerned react accordingly."³⁵⁹

³⁵⁷ *Ibid*.

³⁵⁸ Philippe Sands, Principles of international environmental law, 3rd ed. (Cambridge; New York: Cambridge University Press, 2012) at 230.

³⁵⁹ 1972 OECD Council Recommendation on Guiding Principles Concerning the International Economic Aspects of Environmental Policies, 26 May 1972, 14 ILM, online: https://legalinstruments.oecd.org/en/instruments/4.

The polluter pays principle involves the cost allocation, which is to allocate the cost of pollution prevention and control measures so as to encourage the rational use of environmental resources and avoid the distortion of international trade and investment. This principle involves polluting gases, and we should be clear about whether carbon dioxide is a polluting gas. This issue is discussed most enthusiastically in the United States. In Massachusetts v. Environmental Protection Agency (in 2007), the US Supreme Court held that the *Clean Air Act* gives the EPA the authority to regulate tailpipe emissions of greenhouse gases. Two years after the Supreme Court ruling, in 2009, the EPA issued an endangerment finding concluding that "greenhouse gases in the atmosphere may reasonably be anticipated both to endanger public health and to endanger public welfare." 360

Greenhouse gases, including CO2, meet the definition of "air pollutants" in the Clean Air Act and must be regulated by the EPA if it can be determined that they are hazardous to public health or welfare. Therefore, carbon dioxide is an air pollutant in the United States and if it endangers public health or welfare, it must be regulated. However, in most countries, there is a question as to whether carbon dioxide is classified in polluting gases. This is a problem that needs to be discussed. So far, no consensus has been reached. Therefore, how this principle is applied to the field of climate change is uncertain.

³⁶⁰ "Is CO2 a pollutant?" online: *Skept Sci* https://skepticalscience.com/co2-pollutant-advanced.htm. 195

The principle of common but differentiated responsibility has been developed from the application of equity in general international law, and the recognition that the special needs of developing countries must be taken into account in the development, application and interpretation of rules of international environmental law. ³⁶¹ It is provided in the Principle 7 of the Rio Declaration: States shall co-operate in a spirit of global partnership to conserve, protect and restore the health and integrity of the Earth's ecosystem. In view of the different contributions to global environmental degradation, States have common but differentiated responsibilities. The developed countries acknowledge the responsibility that they bear in the international pursuit of sustainable development in view of the pressures their societies place on the global environment and of the technologies and financial resources they command. ³⁶²

The legal obligations come first from common but differentiated responsibility's status as an emerging principle of customary international environmental law. But common but differentiated responsibility is also the explicit legal foundation of the UNFCCC or Kyoto Protocol. ³⁶³ This principle of common but differentiated responsibility appears throughout the UNFCCC and Kyoto Protocol. Common but differentiated responsibility has been called the "ethical anchor" of the Kyoto Protocol. One could also call it the legal anchor. ³⁶⁴ Because developed countries have caused and continue to cause disproportionate greenhouse gas pollution and benefit

³⁶¹ Philippe Sands, *Principles of international environmental law*, 3rd ed. (Cambridge; New York: Cambridge University Press, 2012) at 233.

³⁶² See Rio Declaration, June 1992, ILM, online: http://www.unesco.org/education/pdf/RIO_E.PDF.

 ³⁶³ David Takacs, "Carbon into Gold: Forest Carbon Offsets, Climate Change Adaptation, and International Law" (2009) 15 Hastings W-Nw J Envtl Pol 39 at 49. See also Rajamani Lavanya, "Differentiation in the Emerging Climate Regime" (2013) 14 Theor Inq 151 at 152.
 ³⁶⁴ Ibid.

disproportionately from it, and developing countries will be unfairly damaged by climate change. So developed countries have legal responsibility and financial and technical means to mitigate this problem.

3.2 The conceptual framework of common but differentiated responsibility

principle

3.2.1 Common responsibility

The principle of common but differentiated responsibility includes two elements. The first concerns the common responsibility of States for the protection of the environment, or parts of it, at the national, regional and global levels. The second concerns the need to take account of differing circumstances, particularly in relation to each States' contribution to the creation of a particular environmental problem and its ability to prevent, reduce and control the threat.³⁶⁵ Common responsibility describes the shared obligations of two or more states towards the protection of a particular environmental resource, taking into account its relevant characteristics and nature, physical location, and historic usage associated with it.³⁶⁶

"Common Concern". It has found the clear formulation related to climate change

Philippe Sands, *Principles of international environmental law*, 3rd ed. (Cambridge; New York: Cambridge University Press, 2012) at 233. See also Marian Buda, "Common but Differentiated Responsibility-International Environmental Law Principle" (2016) 2 J.L. & Pub. Admin. 82 at 82.

³⁶⁶ Philippe Sands, Principles of international environmental law, 3rd ed. (Cambridge; New York: Cambridge University Press, 2012) at 234.

197

in the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC), and protected biodiversity in the Convention on Biological Diversity. It covers all aspects of the global environment, which, because of their importance and the need for collective action to protect them, are designated as issues of common concern to mankind, whether in treaties or in decisions of the United Nations General Assembly. They supports the concept of 'common concern', as reflected in the UNFCCC, which acknowledges that 'change in Earth's climate and its adverse effects are a common concern of humankind' and the Convention on Biological Diversity affirms that 'biological diversity is a common concern of humankind' acent that a common concern of humankind' acent that a common doesn't have the concept but it recognizes "the interdependence of all countries with regard to genetic resources for food and agriculture" acent acent acent to genetic resources for food and agriculture acent acent acent to genetic resources for food and agriculture. At present some of those issues are climate change, species in danger and conservation of the biodiversity.

It has nothing to do with national jurisdiction³⁷⁰, it just stays in the field of people's consciousness, and has not yet formed an international law concept. The loss and damage from climate change brings many problems to dozens of countries in the world. In the face of more and more global problems, no country can be immune to it, and any

³⁶⁷ See United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change, 4 June 1992, UNTS, (entered into force 21 March 1994), online: https://UNFCCC.int/resource/docs/convkp/conveng.pdf.

198

³⁶⁸ See Convention on Biological Diversity, 5 June 1992, 8 UNTS 214, (entered into force 29 December 1993), online: https://www.cbd.int/doc/legal/cbd-en.pdf.

³⁶⁹ The Nagoya Protocol, 29 October 2010, (entered into force on 12 October 2014), online:

https://www.cbd.int/abs/doc/protocol/nagoya-protocol-en.pdf.

³⁷⁰ Jimena Murillo, "Common Concern of Humankind and Its Implications in International Environmental Law" (2008) 5 Macquarie J Intl Comp Envtl 133 at 141.

country should pay attention to it. So preventing and dealing with the loss and damage caused by climate change is a common concern of mankind. It is essential to understand that the climatic resources cannot be divided in geographic sectors according to the borders of each state; the climatic resources is a global ecosystem and it is affected as a whole by the individual actions taken by single countries. Therefore we now need to follow and implement international standards and minimums by all states.

"Common responsibility". The global impact of environmental issues requires a collective response, and collective responses should be based on shared responsibility. Legally, common but differentiated responsibility describe the common obligations of two or more states to protect specific environmental resources. On the other hand, it has been recognized that it is necessary to establish different levels so that different states can effectively adopt collective responses based on their capabilities and contribution to problems.

In the area of addressing climate change, common responsibility lays the legal foundation for Parties to response the loss and damage caused by climate change. State responsibility is an important principle that has long been established in international law. According to traditional international law, State responsibility refers to the responsibility of a State for its internationally wrongful act. If a country violates the obligations of international law and harms the interests of other countries, the country must assume responsibility in international law later. State responsibility developed the responsibility of non-prohibition of international law. State responsibility arising from

acts not prohibited by international law is actually a liability for transboundary damage. The conduct carried out by the State is not prohibited by international law, regardless of whether the State is at fault or not, and as long as there is serious damage, the State should assume state responsibility. As mentioned above, the responsibility for loss and damage caused by climate change is not a traditional state responsibility nor a responsibility for transboundary damage. It is a special responsibility that requires all countries to jointly take countermeasures.

Common concern relates to the problem of universal concern and is a psychological state of human beings. The common responsibility in the climate change area requires countries to take countermeasures. The international community is a society where sovereign states coexist. In the legal order of this society, all countries are independent sovereign states. Therefore, every country, big or small, strong or weak, and whatever political and economic system it has, should respect each other's sovereignty and communicate equally, which is the basis for international cooperation³⁷¹. Each country has equal legal status in international law, which means that all countries not only have equal rights, but also perform obligations and assume legal responsibilities equally. Therefore, in dealing with the loss and damage caused by climate change, all countries should fulfill their international obligations, take measures and bear the responsibility for the loss and damage.

-

³⁷¹ See Feng Liu, "On sovereignty and international cooperation" (2003) 2:3 J Shaoyang Univ133 at 141. See also Huaiqiang Song, "An analysis on 'Draft principles on the allocation of loss in the case of transboundary harm arising out of hazardous activities'" (2010) 12 Leg Syst Soc. 200

3.2.2 Differentiated responsibility

A series of resource issues, such as the oil crisis in the 1970s, negotiations on the law of the sea and the distribution of proceeds from deep seabed mining, have raised questions about the ownership of natural resources and the international obligations of the rich countries. Therefore, different treatments have also been proposed in the handling of international relations.

In practical terms, differentiated responsibility may result in different legal obligations.³⁷² "Differential treatment are littered through international environmental agreements, and can be divided into three broad categories: (1) provisions that differentiate between industrial and developing countries with respect to the central obligations contained in the treaty, such as emissions reduction targets and timetables; (2) provisions that differentiate between industrial and developing countries with respect to implementation, such as delayed compliance schedules, permission to adopt subsequent base years, delayed reporting schedules, and softer approaches to noncompliance; (3) provisions that grant assistance, *inter alia*, financial and technological."³⁷³

Lavanya Rajamani considers different treatment means different central

201

³⁷² Philippe Sands, Principles of international environmental law, 3rd ed. (Cambridge; New York: Cambridge University Press, 2012)*at 235*. See also Marian Buda, "Common but Differentiated Responsibility-International Environmental Law Principle" (2016) 2 J.L. & Pub. Admin. 82 at 84.

³⁷³ Lavanya Rajamani, *Differential treatment in international environmental law* (Oxford ; Toronto: Oxford University Press, 2006) at 93-94. See also Rajamani Lavanya, "Differentiation in the Emerging Climate Regime" (2013) 14 Theor Inq 151 at 154.

obligations, different implementation and some countries grant assistance. UNFCCC and the Kyoto protocol all stipulate "differentiated responsibilities." And the UNFCCC and the Kyoto Protocol mainly emphasize the mitigation obligations. When Parties fulfill their mitigation obligations, they consider differentiated responsibilities and consider the historical responsibility of developed countries. The Article 9 of the Paris Agreement prescribes that "developed country Parties shall provide financial resources to assist developing country Parties with respect to both mitigation and adaptation in continuation of their existing obligations under the Convention." Obviously, in the Paris Agreement, differentiated responsibilities are not only the guiding principle for Parties to fulfill their mitigation obligations, but also the requirements for Parties to fulfill their adaptation obligations. There is a gap in adaptive capacity between the developed countries and developing countries and the gap covers three important areas: finance, technology and knowledge. Differentiated responsibilities can push the developed countries or some capable countries providing financial, technological and knowledge assistance to countries particularly vulnerable to climate change to narrow the adaptation gap.

"The presence of the principle of CDR is the result of a complex negotiation process between developing and developed countries. Developed countries wanted an inclusive international agreement for maximum effect and legitimacy. Developing countries hesitated to commit themselves to reduction targets when they had historically not contributed to global greenhouse gas stocks, nor benefited from such emissions in the form of elevated standards of living. Thus, in order to reach a comprehensive

international agreement that brought all the necessary players to the table, the first COP used the principle of CDR to strike a political compromise with continuing legal implications."³⁷⁴ However, it is not enough to rely on political compromise. We need to provide a deeper legal philosophy basis to guide countries to perform their international obligations more actively after the Paris Agreement is reached. It will also promote the implementation of the provisions on dealing with loss and damage in the Paris Agreement.

3.2.3 Philosophical roots for the principle

The United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change has established the principle of "common but differentiated responsibilities", but the legal and ethical basis of the principle is ambiguous. As a result, different interpretations have been drawn from it. For example, the developed countries place more emphases on "common", while the developing ones put more stresses on the word of "differentiated". Although the Kyoto Protocol, which aims to implement the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change, has set up specific emission reduction targets for the period of 2008-2012, it is only a result of negotiations between all parties in accordance with their own interests and circumstances, not based on any specific reason. On the other hand, in the field of academic research, some studies are mainly devoted to putting forward various just emission reduction plans, but rarely focus on building up a just consensus to support these plans. For example, some scholars regard equal emission

-

³⁷⁴ Mary J Bortscheller, "Equitable but Ineffective: How the Principle of Common but Differentiated Responsibilities Hobbles the Global Fight against Climate Change" (2010) 10 Sustain Dev Pol 49 at 50. 203

per capita as a principle of justice, and many claims also describe how to implement the principle of per capita emission reduction in detail; but there are only few preliminary understandings and simple analyses on why to take the principle of per capita as the basis of just emission reduction. Generally, a sufficient theoretical discussion is lacked. If a strong consensus can't be reached on the fundamental issue of the legal or ethical basis, no matter what kind of emission reduction plan is chosen, it will be considered as a political and expedient one, difficult to become the basis for promoting the continuous emission reduction by all countries. Therefore, what is needed is not a new or esoteric philosophical, political or legal theory, but how to apply certain relatively familiar ideas in the special circumstances of climate change.

"International distributive justice". International distributive justice is developed from Rawls's theory of justice. Although it has been controversial and questioned, it can explain many problems as a political theory and provide a theoretical basis for these problems. Perhaps we can use it to explain the rationality of "common but differentiated responsibility principle". "The principles of justice seeing to the prerequisites for happiness are as follows: First principle: Each person is to have an equal right to the most extensive total system of equal basic liberties compatible with a similar system of liberty for all. Second principle: Social and economic inequalities are to be arranged so that they are both: (a) to the greatest benefit of the least advantaged, consistent with the just savings principle, and (b) attached to offices and positions open to all under conditions of fair equality of opportunity."375

³⁷⁵ Otfried Höffe, John Rawls: a theory of justice, Ebook Central (Leiden; Boston: Brill, 2013) at 7. 204

The first principle pertains to civil and political rights, the second to material and non-material interests. Together the two principles result in a liberal and social constitutional state, so in a constitutional democracy which first includes a competitive economy (market economy) and which secondly also wants to do justice to future generations.³⁷⁶ In accordance with the first principle, that of the most extensive equal basic liberties, the in part civil, in part political basic as well as human rights are equal for all. According to the second principle, they are however only acceptable within an economic or social sphere, though also there they cannot be used for rewarding natural assets of a physical, psychological or intellectual nature with a higher social prestige and a greater share of material goods.³⁷⁷ Rawls definitely gives priority to the first principle. Because liberty is absolutely in the best interests of mankind. In any case, to balance any constraint of basic rights against individual or collective economic advantages is unfair. However, Rawls did not raise his theory of justice as an international theory. The theory of justice mainly describes a domestic society and has little discussion about relations between countries.

However, Charles Beitz used Rawls's theory to propose an international distribution justice about natural resources. He believes that the parties under the international original position know that the natural resources on the surface of the earth are unevenly distributed. Compared with natural talents, the distribution of natural resources around the world is morally more accidental. Therefore, the parties in the international original state will treat the distribution of resources in the same way as the

³⁷⁶ *Ibid*.

377 Ibid at 23.

natural talents in the original state of Rawls's theory of justice. Charles Beitz believes that the two principles of Rawls can be applied to international distribution justice by appropriate reinterpretation. He considered that the subject of international distributive justice is complex, but the philosophical idea that motivates concern about it is simple. The most fundamental requirement of any system of political morality, whether domestic or international, is that institutions should respect the equal moral standing or, one might say, the equal moral worth of everyone whom they affect. This is not the same thing as a requirement of equal treatment, because there are circumstances in which persons can, with justice, be treated unequally. Equal respect is the weaker requirement that differences in how persons are treated should be justifiable in terms of morally relevant differences in their situations.³⁷⁸

Meanwhile, Charles Beitz considered international distribution justice was one of the elements of international liberalism. He considered the international liberalism has four elements: "(1) a conception of the moral foundations of principles of international conduct; (2) an account of international political justice, including the prerogatives of the state, the authority of international law and institutions, and the minimum requirements of fair participation in international governance; and (3) an account of distributive justice, including the distributive responsibilities of states and the extent, if any, to which the institutional structure of international order should seek to influence the global distribution of resources and wealth. Together these elements should, in turn, form the basis of (4) a doctrine of human rights, understood as universal minimum

_

 $^{^{378}}$ Charles R Beitz, "Recent international thought" (1988) 43 Intl J 183 at 191. 206

standards of legitimacy for social institutions."379

He concentrated on the international distributive justice and he thought the doctrine of human rights was its consequences. So he established the relationship between international distributive justice and human rights. "He said that any plausible form of international liberalism should include an interpretation of the doctrine of human rights. Human rights today serve as terms of reference for foreign policy in many of the liberal democracies; as normative standards for policy in international financial and development institutions; and as a basis of appeal for international or supranational intercession in cases of otherwise irresolvable domestic dispute. In all of these respects human rights play what might be called an institutional role; that is, they operate as standards to be applied both by and to domestic and international institutions."380 In addition, it is important that human rights play another role in international life. They form the basis for a series of non-governmental organizations to criticize and monitor government actions, which may affect the way countries implement their international obligations or the domestic political culture. John Rawls's Theory of Justice raises two well-known principles: everyone has the broadest equality and fundamental freedoms, so everyone should have an equal right; when social and economic inequalities the society can adhere to the principle of difference, but it can protect the interests of all people under the conditions of fair and equal opportunities.

_

³⁷⁹ Charles Beitz, "International Liberalism and Distributive Justice: A Survey of Recent Thought" (1999) Vol. 51:No. 2 World Politics 269 at 270.

³⁸⁰ *Ibid at 295*.

In fact, these two principles reflect the concerns of person. And Charles Beitz's connection of international distributive justice with human rights is also a concern for person. In fact, Rawls began to disapprove of his theory of justice as an international theory. The theory of justice mainly describes a domestic society and has little to do with relations between countries. Regarding the international distributive justice theory, it is not Charles Beitz's unreasonable "kidnapping" of Rawls's theory of justice, but the development of Rawls's point of view through the concern of person.

What we need to understand is John Rawls did not care completely about international distributive justice. "The Law of Peoples" represents a fascinating, original, and possibly surprising elaboration of the brief remarks on international justice in Rawls's earlier work.³⁸¹ At this time, the principle of justice listed by Rawls is different from the two principles in the theory of justice. At this time, they seem more like an endorsement of the basic principles of existing international treaties. The law of peoples divides into ideal and non-ideal theory. Ideal theory consists of principles that apply to an idealized world political society of well-ordered domestic societies in which the principles are fully complied with and in which all societies operate in background conditions that favor just (or decent hierarchical) institutions.³⁸² These principles of ideal theory apply to conduct in the non-ideal world in two ways: by regulating relations among well-ordered liberal and hierarchical societies and by establishing goals for these societies to pursue in their relations with societies that are not well ordered. In particular,

-

³⁸¹ Charles Beitz, "International Liberalism and Distributive Justice: A Survey of Recent Thought" (1999) Vol. 51:No. 2 World Politics 269 at 273.

³⁸² *Ibid* at 274.

each society now burdened by unfavorable conditions should be raised to, or assisted toward, conditions that make a well-ordered society possible. This requirement is the source of the international distributive obligations of well-to-do societies: they must do what they can to assist societies facing unfavorable conditions to develop institutions capable of satisfying their own peoples' human rights and meeting their basic needs.³⁸³

Ideal theory apply to conduct in the non-ideal world to regulate the well-ordered societies and the not well-ordered ones. The rich countries must do what they can to assist societies facing unfavorable conditions to satisfy their own peoples' basic needs. That is to say, Rawls is turning the theoretical focus to dealing with the relationship between countries, he has already mentioned the assistance between countries. Rawls's theory of the law of peoples is an important advance over his brief remarks on international justice in A Theory of Justice, particularly in its recognition of duties of assistance that require a significantly higher level of international transfers than those that take place today. However, these duties are not consequences of any principle of justice. 384 "International distributive justice" comes from Rawls' justice theory, which can solve many international political problems. On the issue of common but differentiated responsibilities, this theory also provides an idea. In the international community, all countries should receive equal treatment and share responsibilities equally. At the same time, the theory also provides a reasonable theory for international assistance. In a word, justice provides a reasonable basis for the principle of common but differentiated responsibility. The following will be discussed from the perspective

³⁸³ Ibid at 275.

384 Ibid at 276.

of fairness.

"Iure naturae aequum est neminem cum alterius detrimento et iniuria fieri locupletiorem". Many of the doctrines of the ancient Roman jurist Pomponius were later absorbed by Justinian's "the Digest". He proposed that "according to natural law, anyone who is rich by causing loss or damage to others is unfair (iure naturae aequum est neminem cum alterius detrimento et iniuria fieri locupletiorem)" is also included. This maxim embodies the importance and respect of the Roman law to the natural law. The natural law provides theoretical guidance for the Roman law, and the Roman law can make up for its various shortcomings and gradually improve. The idea of Roman natural law originated from ancient Greece.

To Cicero, law is the highest reason, implanted in nature, which commands what ought to be done and forbids the opposite. The very root and origin of the law is in nature or, as he also puts it, in God. For the mind of God cannot exist without reason, and divine reason cannot but have this power to establish right and wrong. God, therefore, is the inventor, interpreter and sponsor of natural law. The Gods have given it to the human race. It is the supreme law, the only true law and genuine justice. In fact, justice does not exist at all, if it does not come from nature or right reason.³⁸⁵ Cicero believes that following nature and living according to natural law means that as long as people themselves acquire the things they want according to natural requirements, this must be the most legal and most beautiful way of life. The thoughts of ancient Roman

385 Levy E, "Natural Law in the Roman Period" (1949) 2 NAT INST PROC at 45.

210

jurists are deeply influenced by the "Stoic school of philosophy". To live according to reason is to live according to nature. Regarding the role of nature, Aldo Leopold believes that air, soil, water, plants, animals, and humans are all part of the community of life. In this community of life, each member has its right to continue to exist, and at least in some respects, they can continue to exist in the natural state.³⁸⁶

Pomponius evaluates fairness and justice on the premise of natural law. It is a concentrated expression of the combination of nature and law. In the natural state, human beings should respect each other's rights to survival and development. From the perspective of the state, each country has an obligation to respect others' right of the country to survive and develop. No country has the right to decide which countries share resources on Earth or which countries do not share resources on Earth. Any country has the right to continue to exist and make rational use of natural resources. Although the loss and damage caused by climate change has not become a serious problem at the beginning of this motto, which reflects the principles of natural law. The principles of legal philosophy it describes can be applied to the new problems in today's world, namely the loss and damage caused by climate change. As a public object, air resources belong to all human beings and are not exclusive to any country or individual. The greenhouse gas emissions of countries are exploiting this public resource and are the rights of each country. Due to the protection of public resources and respect for the interests of other countries, each country cannot use air resources to cause nuisance to other countries. If it causes nuisance, it must take restrictions or even prohibit measures.

³⁸⁶ Aldo Leopold, a Sand County Almanac (New York: Oxford University Press, 1966) at 219.

The development of industry and science and technology in developed countries is much earlier than that in developing countries. Greenhouse gas emissions affect the global climate. Climate change has caused loss and damage to some countries, especially small island countries and developing countries that are vulnerable to the adverse effects of climate change. However, developed countries have benefited from such greenhouse gas emissions that have a severe impact on the global climate, a fact that benefits from the loss and damage of other countries is extremely unfair. Although the above-mentioned responsibility for loss and damage caused by climate change is all countries, developed countries have historical responsibility for such loss and damage, and developed countries bear primary responsibility for early greenhouse gas emissions. The principle was put forward at the beginning of fairness and justice. It is reasonable to try to analyze the theoretical basis of the principle from "international distributed justice" and "pomponius legal proverb". However, with the complexity of the issue of climate change, it is not enough to simply consider fairness and justice and the historical emission responsibility of developed countries, and this principle will be gradually given a new meaning. It will be discussed in detail below.

3.3 The common but differentiated responsibility principle in climate change law

The principle makes developed countries the first actors in reducing emissions, and allows developing countries to follow over time. The notion of common but differentiated responsibilities is not new: it reflects general principles of equity in international law. The principle was present in nascent form in the 1987 Montreal

Protocol, which acknowledged the "special situation" of developing countries by allowing them to delay their compliance with Protocol control measures for ten years. The UNFCCC has attempted to duplicate this successful model in a climate change context.387

3.3.1 The proposition of the climate change treaties

Warsaw international mechanism for loss and damage associated with climate change impacts will enhance action and support, including finance, technology and capacity building, to address loss and damage associated with the adverse effects of climate change, so as to enable countries to undertake actions, including by:

"(i) Providing technical support and guidance on approaches to address loss and damage associated with climate change impacts, including extreme events and slow onset events; (ii) Providing information and recommendations for consideration by the Conference of the Parties when providing guidance relevant to reducing the risks of loss and damage and, where necessary, addressing loss and damage, including to the operating entities of the financial mechanism of the Convention, as appropriate; (iii) Facilitating the mobilization and securing of expertise, and enhancement of support, including finance, technology and capacity-building, to strengthen existing approaches and, where necessary, facilitate the development and implementation of additional approaches to address loss and damage associated with climate change impacts, including extreme weather events and slow onset events."

In the Preamble of UNFCCC, it considers:

"The global nature of climate change calls for the widest possible cooperation by all countries and their participation in an effective and appropriate international response, in accordance with their common but differentiated responsibilities and respective capabilities and their social and economic conditions."

³⁸⁷ Mary J. Bortscheller, supra note 374.

In the Kyoto Protocol, it provides all Parties, taking into account their common but differentiated responsibilities and their specific national and regional development priorities, objectives and circumstances, without introducing any new commitments for Parties not included in Annex I, but reaffirming existing commitments under the Convention should: Develop cost-effective country programs where relevant and to the extent possible; Develop, implement, publish and regularly update measures that contain climate change mitigation and contribute to adequate programs of countries that are subject to climate change measures; Enhance the cooperation to promote effective ways to develop, apply and disseminate technologies related to climate change; Enhance the cooperation at the international level and facilitate the development and implementation of education and training.

In the Preamble to the Paris Agreement, it provides:

"The Parties to Paris Agreement, in pursuit of the objective of the Convention, and being guided by its principles, including the principle of equity and common but differentiated responsibilities and respective capabilities, in the light of different national circumstances have agreed obligations under the agreement."

Before the formation of the Paris Agreement, the parties to UNFCCC gave their views on the new agreement to be included in 2015. "A number of developing countries from the Like-Minded Developing Countries (LMDC), which includes Bolivia, China, Cuba, Dominica, Ecuador, Egypt, El Salvador, India, Iran, Iraq, Malaysia, Mali, Nicaragua, the Philippines, Saudi Arabia, Sri Lanka, Sudan, and Venezuela, emphasized the importance of the equity and CBDR principle and the continued

recognition of differentiation of the nature and level of obligations between developed and developing countries. Similar views were also expressed by the Alliance of Small Island States (AOSIS), which does not want a re-interpretation or re-writing of the Convention's principles, provisions and annexes. The LDCs also stressed the importance of the principle of CBDR."388

Developed countries stress the need for the new agreement to allow for mitigation commitments that reflect 'fairness' and "fair shares", with the European Union also referring to the need for "equity". The developed countries do not want categorization of countries to be Annex 1 and non-Annex 1 or a developed—developing country "binary approach" or "two-room approach". They stress the need for a "dynamic" approach to the principle of CBDR. Hence, they are opposed to a differentiation in obligations based on a developed—developing country binary but are for differentiation based on type and scale of efforts among countries.³⁸⁹

It is obvious that both developing and developed countries recognize the status of CBDR in the new agreement. Developing countries believe that CBDR is applicable to mitigation and adaptation, and mitigation is in the context of UNFCCC. For example, China considered "post-2020 enhanced actions are to comprehensively implement the provisions of the Convention covering limitation, adaptation, finance, technology development and transfer and capacity building. Adaptation actions shall be further

215

³⁸⁸ Different views of countries on workstream 1 of Durban Platform, by Meena Raman (Bonn, 2013).
389 Ibid.

enhanced with support."³⁹⁰ Developed countries do not deny that CBDR is applicable to mitigation and adaptation, but put forward their own views. The developed country didn't refer to the historical responsibility of developed countries for contributing the global emissions of greenhouse gases. The developed countries emphasize the need for a spectrum of commitments for mitigation from all countries and for a common accounting, transparency and review system in the new agreement.

It can be seen that developed countries and developing countries have a recognition attitude towards CBDR, which can not only guide the Parties to fulfill their mitigation obligations, but also guide them to fulfill their adaptation obligations. However, developing countries believe that the implementation of mitigation obligations should follow the UNFCCC to distinguish Annex I countries from non-Annex I countries, and the historical responsibilities of developed countries should not be ignored. Developed countries are opposed to this approach, believing that all countries should commit themselves to the implementation of mitigation obligations.

3.3.2 The principle for mitigation obligations

The discussion on "developing country" and "developed country". The United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change clarifies that developed countries should bear the responsibility of taking the lead in reducing emissions and providing financial technical support to developing countries. Annex I country Parties (developed

³⁹⁰ Ibid.

countries and countries with economies in transition) should take the lead in reducing emissions. Annex II countries (developed countries) should provide developing countries with funds and technology to help developing countries cope with climate change. The United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change recognizes the priority needs of developing countries to eradicate poverty and develop the economy. The UNFCCC recognizes that per capita emissions in developing countries are still relatively low, so the share of global emissions will increase, and economic and social development and poverty eradication are priorities for developing countries.³⁹¹ With regard to the mitigation obligations, the Convention divides Annex I countries, Annex II countries and non-Annex I countries, and actually uses the concepts of developed and developing countries directly. The Convention does not provide a clear answer regarding the criteria for the classification of "developing country" and the "developed country". The designations of "developed" and "developing" are intended for statistical convenience and do not necessarily express a judgement about the stage reached by a particular country or area in the development process.³⁹² The Kyoto Protocol stipulates that Annex I countries should reduce their total annual greenhouse gas emissions by at least 5% from 1990 to 2008.393 At the same time, developed countries can adopt the three "flexible compliance mechanisms" of "emissions trade", "joint implementation" and "clean development mechanism" as complementary means to complete emission reduction obligations.

³⁹¹ See United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change, 4 June 1992, UNTS, (entered into force 21 March 1994), online: https://unfccc.int/resource/docs/convkp/conveng.pdf.

³⁹² See "UNSD — Methodology", online: Standard country or area codes for statistical use (M49) https://unstats.un.org/unsd/methodology/m49/>.

³⁹³ See Kyoto Protocol, December 1997, UNTS, (entered into force 16 February 2005), online: https://unfccc.int/resource/docs/convkp/kpeng.pdf.

Unlike the Kyoto Protocol with its two-tiered, commitment-or-not approach, the Copenhagen Accord of 2009 sets up a three-tiered system for assigning responsibility to cut emissions. These tiers are: developed countries with quantified targets; developing countries who "will" take some action; and LDCs and SIDS, who "may" take action, contingent upon funding from the international community.³⁹⁴ It provides that "Annex I Parties that are Party to the Kyoto Protocol will thereby further strengthen the emissions reductions initiated by the Kyoto Protocol. Non-Annex I Parties to the Convention will implement mitigation actions. Least developed countries and Small Island developing States may undertake actions voluntarily and on the basis of support."³⁹⁵ Although the actualized emission reductions resulting from these three tiers of responsibility remains uncertain, in the long term the new three-tiered architecture reveal itself to be one of the most significant political outcomes of the Copenhagen negotiations.³⁹⁶

Copenhagen accord of 2009 divides the country into three types, and specifically refers to the emission reduction tasks of the least developed countries and Small Island developing States. "The detailed provisions of LDCs need to refer to the Committee for development policy (CDP) standard. The Committee for Development Policy (CDP), a subsidiary body of the UN Economic and Social Council, is – inter alia – mandated to review the category of LDCs every three years and monitor their progress after graduation from the category. The identification of LDCs is currently based on three

-

³⁹⁴ Douglas Bushey & Sikina Jinnah, "Evolving Responsibility -The Principle of Common but Differentiated Responsibility in the UNFCCC" (2010) 6 Publicist 1 at 5.

³⁹⁵ Supra note 220.

 $^{^{\}rm 396}\,$ Douglas Bushey & Sikina Jinnah, $supra\,$ note 394.

criteria: per capita gross national income (GNI), human assets and economic vulnerability to external shocks. The latter two are measured by two indices of structural impediments, namely the human assets index and the economic vulnerability index: 1. Income criterion, based on a three-year average estimate of GNI per capita for the period 2011-2013, based on the World Bank Atlas method (under \$1,025 for inclusion, above \$ 1,230 for graduation as applied in the 2018 triennial review). 2. Human Assets Index (HAI) based on indicators of: (a) nutrition: percentage of population undernourished; (b) health: mortality rate for children aged five years or under; (c) education: the gross secondary school enrolment ratio; and (d) adult literacy rate. 3. Economic Vulnerability Index (EVI) based on indicators of: (a) population size; (b) remoteness; (c) merchandise export concentration; (d) share of agriculture, forestry and fisheries; (e) share of population in low elevated coastal zones; (f) instability of exports of goods and services; (g) victims of natural disasters; and (h) instability of agricultural production. In the review process, the Committee determines threshold levels on each of the three criteria to identify the countries to be added to or graduated from the category. The thresholds for graduation are higher than for inclusion. In the identification process, the HAI and EVI thresholds are fixed by the Committee."397

It can be seen that the main purpose of distinguishing between developing and developed countries is for statistics, and there is no international convention that regulates their concepts or distinguishing standards. Therefore, it is unreasonable to use the two concepts in the international conventions on climate change, which may cause

397 See "Criteria for Identification and Graduation of LDCs", online: UN-OHRLLS http://unohrlls.org/about-ldcs/criteria-for-ldcs/).

the subject of international obligations to be unclear. While the Copenhagen accord of 2009 surmounted some important political barriers with respect to issues such as articulating a shared vision, the most important responsibility related movements occurred with regard to: "(1) differentiation of developing countries; (2) measurement, reporting, and verification (MRV) of nationally appropriate mitigation actions (NAMAs); and (3) articulating clear goals for finance. Although the Accord is not the legally binding agreement many had hoped for, it is nonetheless an important landmark in the history of the regime. Specifically, the Accord represents the next significant step after Bali in reshaping the principle of CDR within the regime."398 In general, the provisions of Copenhagen Accord for "developing countries" and "developed countries" are more significant for undertaking of the common but differentiated responsibilities. Developing countries are the majority of the world and also the areas which need development. Development issues and increasingly critical global issues are most concentrated and prominent. Although some developing countries have achieved rapid development, this situation has not changed the serious gaps between the countries in terms of material wealth, development level, technological level and international status.

Although China's economic aggregate and international status have been significantly improved, it is still a developing country. Moreover, China also has its own unique understanding and cognition of the concept of "developing countries." According to China's argument, "developing country" is not a purely economic concept from the beginning, but a political, social and cultural concept. In addition to

-

³⁹⁸ Douglas Bushey & Sikina Jinnah, *supra* note 394.

maintaining the stability of the existing international order, China also has the responsibility to promote the reform of the international order and the realization of international justice, so as to create a fair and just international environment for the developing countries. Even within quite a long time in the future, the developing countries will still be China's main arena for fulfilling its responsibilities as a major power. As a developing country, China's pressing task is still to solve the domestic economic and social problems which are urgent. At the same time, China's GHG emissions are still increasing, so China also has the responsibility to cope with the climate change. In considering and fulfilling China's international responsibility, China should take actions based on its own condition.

In brief, developed countries do not want to classify countries into Annex I and non-Annex I, but developing countries hold that the implementation of mitigation obligations should follow the provisions of the UNFCCC and distinguish the Annex I and non-Annex I countries. At first, the historical responsibility of developed countries cannot be ignored; but now, the international community should no longer emphasize the historical responsibility of developed countries. Based on the above differences, the discussion on these two concepts does not relate to how the international community is divided into different camps to deal with climate change, because this discussion is not just to highlight the differences between the two. The significance of discussing these two concepts lies in how to allocate the obligations and responsibilities.

From MRV to NDCs. The Bali Action Plan introduced language on "measurable, reportable and verifiable" greenhouse gas (GHG) mitigation actions and commitments, as well as support for GHG mitigation actions in developing countries. In the report of Bali Action Plan, it says that "the Conference of Parties should enhance the national/international action on mitigation of climate change, including, inter alia, consideration of: (i) Measurable, reportable and verifiable nationally appropriate mitigation commitments or actions, including quantified emission limitation and reduction objectives, by all developed country Parties, while ensuring the comparability of efforts among them, taking into account differences in their national circumstances; (ii) Nationally appropriate mitigation actions by developing country Parties in the context of sustainable development, supported and enabled by technology, financing and capacity-building, in a measurable, reportable and verifiable manner."399

"Annex I Parties that are Party to the Kyoto Protocol will thereby further strengthen the emissions reductions initiated by the Kyoto Protocol. Delivery of reductions and financing by developed countries will be measured, reported and verified in accordance with existing and any further guidelines adopted by the Conference of the Parties, and will ensure that accounting of such targets and finance is rigorous, robust and transparent." ⁴⁰⁰ Mitigation actions taken by Non-Annex I Parties will be subject to their domestic measurement, reporting and verification the result of which will be reported through their national communications every two years. Non-Annex I Parties will communicate information on the implementation of their

³⁹⁹ *Supra* note 212.

⁴⁰⁰ *Supra* note 213.

actions through National Communications, with provisions for international consultations and analysis under clearly defined guidelines that will ensure that national sovereignty is respected.⁴⁰¹ Developed countries, interested in independent verification of developing country mitigation actions, were pushing for international MRV. Conversely, many developing countries, citing sovereignty concerns, resisted this position, calling instead for domestic MRV, which could subsequently be shared with the UNFCCC via national communications.⁴⁰²

The requirements for measurement, reporting and verification (MRV) of nationally appropriate mitigation actions (NAMAs) are one of the crucial topics concerning the agenda of international negotiations to address climate change mitigation measures. For developing countries, mitigation actions need to be developed in a bottom-up manner, so as to achieve reductions relative to the baseline emissions. And they are supported by technology and finance. On the other hand, developed countries need to provide technology, financing and capacity-building in a MRV manner, so that developing countries can take national mitigation actions. In fact, MRV still endorse the principle of common but differentiated responsibilities. However, developing countries have a concern about national sovereignty, because they believe that the verification of information and data will pose a threat to their national sovereignty. This concern is also the main reason why MRV is controversial.

The Paris Agreement emphasizes the identity of the obligations of all the Parties

⁴⁰¹ *Supra* note 205.

402 Douglas Bushey & Sikina Jinnah, supra note 394.

223

and no longer stresses whether a country is a developed or a developing country. This Agreement also requests each country to outline and communicate their post-2020 climate actions, known as their NDCs, which involve the emission reduction commitment and voluntary information notification by most countries. They are independent and voluntary in the verification of emission reduction information. Unlike MRV, NDCS does not involve any threat to sovereignty.

3.3.3 The prospect of the principle on adaptation obligations

Prevention of dangerous interference is specified as the "ultimate objective" of the UNFCCC (Article 2).⁴⁰³ In this regard, it is important to reduce the overall impact of climate change through adaptation. The implementation of the obligation of adaptation requires measures at all levels. If some countries fail to fulfill their international obligations, they need support at the international level.

Adaptation is therefore defined as "adjustment in natural or human systems in response to actual or expected climatic stimuli or their effects, which moderates harm or exploits beneficial opportunities". It involves adjustments to decrease the vulnerability of communities, regions and nations to climate variability and change, and to promote sustainable development. To be most effective, adaptation must proceed at different levels simultaneously. Adaptation is in fundamental ways inherently "local" (the direct impacts of climate change are felt locally) and response measures must be

-

 $^{^{\}rm 403}\,$ A Saleem Khan, "Adaptation Policy Road Map Appraisal" 2012 42 Envtl Pol 312 at 312.

tailored to local circumstances. However, for these efforts to be robust, they must be guided and supported by national policies and strategies. For some countries, these, in turn, need to be facilitated through international measures.⁴⁰⁴

In current international climate change negotiations, there are proposals for introducing further levels of differentiation between states: not just between developed and developing parties but also between states: not just between least developed countries and major developing countries, the capacities of all countries, and the principle of 'common but differentiated' responsibility has also resulted in the establishment of special institutional mechanism to provide financial, technology and other technical assistance to developing countries to help them implement the obligations of particular treaties.⁴⁰⁵

Shaping future adaptation governance: perspectives from the poorest countries. Adaptation and mitigation alone cannot avoid all the impacts of climate change; however, they can complement each other and together significantly reduce the risks of climate change. In the short and long term, adaptation is necessary to cope with the effects of warming. There are barriers, constraints and costs, but these are not fully understood. In the long run, climate change is likely to exceed the adaptive capacity of the human system. The time of this will vary by industry and region. In the report of IPCC, it considers that "there are sharp differences across regions and those in the

⁴⁰⁴ A Saleem Khan, "Adaptation Policy Road Map Appraisal" 2012 42 Envtl Pol 312 at 312.

⁴⁰⁵ Philippe Sands, Principles of international environmental law, 3rd ed. (Cambridge; New York: Cambridge University Press, 2012) at 236. See also Rajamani Lavanya, "Differentiation in the Emerging Climate Regime" (2013) 14 Theor Inq 151 at 152.

weakest economic position are often the most vulnerable to climate change. There is increasing evidence of greater vulnerability of specific groups such as the poor and elderly not only in developing but also in developed countries. Moreover, there is increased evidence that low-latitude and less developed areas generally face greater risk, for example in dry areas and megadeltas."406

By the concept of the poorest of the poor, we refer to a fraction of the poor who are vulnerable to climate change and at the same time unable to benefit from a particular action aimed at reducing vulnerability and securing or improve their livelihoods. The reasons for their inability may vary from context to context. The fact that climate change is expected to severely harm the poorest of the poor, who are by definition notoriously difficult to reach, implies that climate change policy has a special responsibility to seek new ways of assisting the poorest of the poor to overcome destitution and deprivation.⁴⁰⁷ The concept of the poorest of poor is an analytical tool for understanding the difficulties of reaching certain groups of people in any society, not only in developing regions. And the report of IPCC is also saying that "the poor and elderly not only in developing but also in developed countries".

When adopting adaptation measures, developing countries, if they have the capacity, should also assist people in poor countries and regions in need. For example,

agency and adaptation (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2010) at 292, 293.

⁴⁰⁶ The Core Writing Team, Reisinger Pachauri and Andy Reisinger & Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, 2007: Climate Change 2007: Synthesis Report. Contribution of Working Groups I, II and III to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, (New York: UNEP, 2007) at 19. ⁴⁰⁷ Frank Biermann, Philipp H Pattberg & Fariborz Zelli, Global climate governance beyond 2012: architecture,

the China Meteorological Administration is developing global meteorological services and working hard to improve its capabilities of "global monitoring, global forecasting, and global services." The China Meteorological Administration is willing to help African countries to improve their meteorological disaster prevention and mitigation capabilities. At present, China's geostationary meteorological satellites represented by the Fengyun-2H star, as well as several "Fengyun" polar orbiting meteorological satellites, can monitor meteorological disasters in Africa in real time. In 2018, the China Meteorological Administration established a "Fengyun" satellite international user disaster prevention and mitigation emergency protection mechanism. According to the application of relevant countries, the "Fengyun" meteorological satellite can make high-frequency subregional observations and provide products to the affected areas. The China Meteorological Administration welcomes African countries to register as users of the emergency safeguard mechanism, and is willing to receive training from African weather forecasters to the International Training Center of the World Meteorological Center (Beijing) to improve the monitoring, forecasting and assessment of tropical cyclones in African countries. From 2013 to 2018, China provided meteorological project assistance to Comoros, Zimbabwe, Kenya, Namibia, Cameroon, Sudan, Congo, Guinea, etc. under the framework of the China-Africa Cooperation Forum to help African countries improve their weather service capabilities. In September 2018, the Beijing Summit the Seventh Ministerial Conference of the Forum on China-Africa Cooperation adopted the Forum on China-Africa Cooperation-Beijing Action Plan (2019-2021). One of the cooperation projects is: China is willing to continue to provide African countries with "Fengyun" meteorological satellite data and products, as well as necessary technical support, continue to provide African countries with meteorological and remote sensing application facilities and education and training assistance, support the implementation of African meteorology (weather and climate services) strategies, and improve disaster prevention and mitigation in Africa and respond to climate change ability. The China Meteorological Administration will work with relevant departments to implement this project and continue to vigorously promote China-Africa meteorological cooperation.⁴⁰⁸

In fulfilling its international responsibilities, China needs to cooperate and coordinate with other countries and participate in the global governance process together. But in my opinion, China's assistance measures, such as "Fengyun" geometric satellite, are controversial. In fact, China's policy of international cooperation is well intentioned, but some measures will arouse suspicion from the international community. With regard to "Fengyun" meteorological satellite, I think China should carefully consider it, because even helping other countries without capacity to detect disasters also involves the national sovereignty of other countries. I think that national sovereignty is a sensitive issue, and the policy of international assistance should take into account the views of other countries.

Expand indigenous governance in climate change. The *United Nations*Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous People (UNDRIP) highlights many human rights standards that are legally binding. It is important to recognize that international

408 "China Climate Change Info-Net", online: http://en.ccchina.org.cn/>.

228

norms and their application change over time-as does indigenous customary law. 409 Many indigenous people live in fragile ecosystems and climate change is likely to affect their lands, resources, hunting and fishing activities, with subsequent impacts for economies, health and land rights. Indigenous peoples have largely been excluded from the international political discourses around climate change and the negotiations over responses to it. With Indigenous peoples representing 350 million people around the world, this exclusion is undemocratic. 410 International law is evolving, particularly in the human rights and indigenous rights sphere, and this needs to be fully reflected in climate change responses.

Research on indigenous environmental knowledge has been undertaken in many countries, often in the context of understanding local oral histories and cultural attachment to place. For example, the subsistence of indigenous civilizations in the Americas relied on the resources cropped under the prevailing climate conditions around their settlements. In the highlands of today's Latin America, one of the most critical limitations affecting development was, and currently is, the irregular distribution of water. This is due to the particularity of atmospheric processes and extreme conditions, rapid run off in deep valleys and changing soil conditions. Melting snow in the tropical Andes used to be, and still is, a reliable source of water. However,

_

⁴⁰⁹ Paul Martin et al, *The search for environmental justice*, paperback edition, The IUCN Academy of Environmental Law series (Cheltenham, UK: Edward Elgar Publishing, 2017) at 315.

⁴¹⁰ Second International Indigenous Forum on Climate Change, "Declaration of Indigenous Peoples on Climate Change" (2002) 7 Austl Indig Rep 97.

⁴¹¹ IPCC, 2007: Climate Change 2007: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability. Contribution of Working Group II to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, Official Records (UK: IPCC, 2007) at 833.

⁴¹² Ibid at 864.

the water flows into the valley within the bounded watercourse and only brings the water to some places. In addition, there is little or no melting water in the valleys and hills outside the glaciers of the mountain ranges, in the snow covered areas and in the plateau areas. Therefore, on a large scale, human activities depend on seasonal rainfall. As a result, the pre-Colombian communities has developed a variety of adaptive actions to meet their needs. Today, although the scale may be different, the problem of achieving the necessary balance between water availability and demand is actually the same.

Under such limitations, from today's Mexico to northern Chile and Argentina, the pre-Colombian civilizations developed the necessary capacity to adapt to the local environmental conditions. "Such capacity involved their ability to solve some hydraulic problems and foresee climate variations and seasonal rain periods. On the engineering side, their developments included rainwater cropping, filtration and storage; the construction of surface and underground irrigation channels, including devices to measure the quantity of water stored. They also were able to interconnect river basins from the Pacific and Atlantic watersheds, in the Cumbe valley and in Cajamarca. Other capacities were developed to foresee climate variations and seasonal rain periods, to organize their sowing schedules and to program their yields. These efforts enabled the subsistence of communities which, at the peak of the Inca civilization, included some 10 million people in what is today Peru and Ecuador." Nowadays, in the increasingly severe climate conditions, the increase of greenhouse effect and the rapid retreat of

413 See Ibid at 864.

230

glaciers make the situation worse. It is very useful to re-examine and update such adaptation measures. Education and training of current community members in knowledge and technical competence will be the way forward.

The term 'indigenous knowledge' is used to describe the knowledge systems developed by a community as opposed to the scientific knowledge that is generally referred to as 'modern' knowledge. Indigenous knowledge is the basis for local-level decision-making in many rural communities. It has value not only for the culture in which it evolves, but also for scientists and planners striving to improve conditions in rural localities. Incorporating indigenous knowledge into climate change policies can lead to the development of effective adaptation strategies that are cost-effective, participatory and sustainable. Understanding "indigenous knowledge" helps to deal with the special relationship between indigenous people and the environment. The unique relationships that indigenous people have with their environments mean that changes to these relations have implications for self-determination and sovereignty, resource use and economic security, health and recreation, culture and spirituality. Therefore, it is essential that negotiations over responses to global climate change account for those unique relationships and anticipate outcomes for indigenous peoples based on that understanding.

In the Sahel, "local farmers have developed several adaptation measures that have enabled them to reduce their vulnerability to climate variability and extremes. One

414 Ibid at 865.

important step in reducing the vulnerability of a climatic hazard is the development of an early warning system for the prediction or forecast of the event. There is a wealth of local knowledge based on predicting weather and climate. A study of weather knowledge in various parts of the Sahel reveals the wealth of knowledge that farmers possess. These farmers have developed intricate systems of gathering, prediction, interpretation and decision-making in relation to weather."415 In order to integrate indigenous knowledge into formal climate change mitigation and adaptation studies, certain steps must be taken. The first step is to acknowledge that indigenous knowledge has provided communities with the capability of dealing with past and present vulnerabilities to climatic extremes and other stresses. Second, one must adopt the bottom-up participatory approach that encourages the highest level of local participation. Third, the local communities should be seen as equal partners in the development process. It is basically an internal process, which only may be enhanced by outside assistance. Local actors should progressively take the lead while external partners back their efforts to assume greater responsibility for their development. Reducing vulnerability entails the strengthening of adaptive capacities of vulnerable individuals and groups.416

Under the adverse effects of climate change, poor people in developing countries (including least developed countries and small island States) have heavy burdens. The impact of these developing countries on climate change is far less than that of developed

-

⁴¹⁵ A Nyong Æ F Adesina Æ B Osman Elasha, "The value of indigenous knowledge in climate change mitigation and adaptation strategies in the African Sahel" (2007) 17 Mitig Adapt Strat Glob Change at 793.

⁴¹⁶ *Ibid at 795*.

countries, and the risks are concentrated in these poor countries, which is obviously unfair. Therefore, it is necessary to strengthen international cooperation to help these developing countries cope with the adverse effects of climate change. Therefore, in assisting these poor countries, aid projects need to integrate indigenous knowledge into formal climate change mitigation and adaptation studies. Projects need to recognize that indigenous knowledge has the capacity to provide local response to climate change loss and damage. Projects must be participatory from the bottom to up, encouraging the widest participation. At the same time, local communities and local organizations should be regarded as equal subjects to deal with climate change. Local governments and society organizations should gradually take the lead and external projects should support local efforts and provide more support for improving local adaptability.

In the context of dealing with the loss and damage caused by climate change, the Paris Agreement requires that parties take action to address climate change, respect, promote and consider their respective obligations on human rights, the right to health, the rights of indigenous peoples, local communities, migrants, children, persons with disabilities and people in vulnerable situations and the right to development, as well as gender equality, empowerment of women and intergenerational equity. The Paris Agreement provides "to respect the rights of indigenous people". It shows that the importance of indigenous knowledge has been gradually accepted by international conventions or agreements. These issues need to be taken into account when countries formulate international aid policies or domestic mitigation and adaptation policies. Therefore, countries should fulfill their international obligations to respect for

indigenous peoples and respect for the local cultural traditions and production methods.

The international conventions and agreements dealing with climate change initially stipulated Annex I countries and non-Annex I countries. Now the Paris Agreement stipulates that all countries should make emission reduction commitments, no longer distinguishing Annex I countries from non-Annex I countries. In the implementation of the adaptation obligation, according to the principle of respective capacity, each country should fulfill its adaptation obligation according to its own capacity, and at the same time, provide assistance to the poorest countries. In fact, the focus of the principle of common but differentiated responsibility has gradually changed from emphasizing the historical responsibility of developed countries to emphasizing the common responsibility of all countries. As mentioned above in "Philosophical roots for the principle", this principle has given rise to new meanings. The Paris Agreement endorses a markedly different notion of differentiation under the CBDR principle from that of previous understandings. The rigid separation of developed and developing country obligations which characterized the Kyoto Protocol has been replaced with a commitment by all countries to develop and implement "nationally determined contributions" (NDCs) to the global climate change response. 417 Despite the diminished role for the CBDR principle in relation to prescriptive substantive mitigation commitments under the Paris Agreement, there is increasing scope for the CBDR principle to shape procedurally oriented implementation and

⁴¹⁷ Jacqueline Peel, "Re-evaluating the Principle of Common But Differentiated Responsibilities in Transnational Climate Change Law" (2016) 5 TEL 245 at 248. See also Harro van Asselt & Stefan Bossner, "The Shape of Things to Come: Global Climate Governance after Paris", (2016) CCLR46.

support mechanisms under the Paris Agreement. 418 CBDR will continue to play a key role in adaptation, capital and technology transfer, capacity-building and compliance. Under the guidance of this principle, some countries need to help those countries that are unable to fulfill their obligations under the Paris Agreement. At the same time, the Paris agreement needs to specify what the consequences will be if some countries fail to fulfill their aid obligations. From here we see that, the implementation mechanism of the Paris Agreement is not perfect.

The "differentiated responsibility" in the Paris Agreement remains connected to the UNFCCC but contains new elements regarding progression over time. The Paris Agreement gives the concept a new 'dynamic' orientation. In UNFCCC and Kyoto Protocol, differentiated responsibility is a kind of "static differentiation". Annex I countries are stipulated in the Kyoto Protocol, which determines that some developed countries fulfill their emission reduction obligations. The Kyoto Protocol has fixed this difference in the form of law. In the Paris Agreement, the scope of application of differentiated responsibility is expanded, which applies not only to mitigation obligations, but also to adaptation obligations. At the same time, it is also applicable to the performance of international obligations. Different countries can fulfill their international obligations according to their own capabilities, and countries with the ability can also assist countries with difficulties in fulfilling international obligations. This kind of differentiation is gradually moving towards the implementation of international obligations. This is a "dynamic differentiation".

..

⁴¹⁸ Anna Huggins & Md saiful Karim, "Shifting Traction: Differential Treatment and Substantive and Procedural Regard in the International Climate Change Regime" (2016) 5 TEL 427 at 428.
235

The concept of "common responsibility" has been discussed in detail above, which embodies the common interests and the sovereign equality of all countries. All countries have equal rights and obligations as well as equal responsibilities. This concept is also the embodiment of the "principle of sovereign equality" in international law. Its effect is intended to promote all countries to actively undertake corresponding international responsibilities. Common but differentiated responsibility principle is the basic principle to deal with the loss and damage caused by climate change. It is different from other principles because it is based on the theory of fairness and justice, but its concept will be given new meaning. With the complexity of climate change, it will be gradually developed to adapt to the new situation.

Conclusion

Climate change affects human survival and development. It is a long-term challenge facing humankind. International climate change legislation and negotiations are gradually progressing. Both developed and developing countries need to take positive actions in international negotiations to address climate change. They should be responsible for the sustainable development of mankind. The adverse consequences caused by climate change pose a serious threat to all countries. Due to fragile ecosystems, weak infrastructure, and poor economic stability, small island nations have suffered particularly severe loss and damage under the impact of climate change. May be it is permanent and irreversible. 419

As early as in 1991, the Alliance of Small Island States had proposed addressing loss and damage caused by climate change. Since then, scholars and international organizations have also made many suggestions on how to deal with the loss and damage caused by climate change, but the definition of the loss and damage caused by climate change and the nature of the responsibility for loss and damage caused by climate change have not been unified. So it is necessary to summarize and study it, and then discuss the countermeasures. "Loss and damage caused by climate change" is not an empty political concept. It is a concept that needs to be comprehensively and accurately defined in the legal sense. Its emergence has promoted the formation of a new and special legal relationship.

237

⁴¹⁹ Michael B. Gerrard & Gregory E. Wannier, *supra* note 29.

Seemingly, the loss and damage are caused by climate change, but actually, such loss and damage originate from human's greenhouse gas emissions. This means that in this new and special relationship between rights and obligations, some countries become the subject of rights due to loss and damage, and those countries, international organizations and individuals that emit greenhouse gases become the performers of the obligations or the sharers of responsibilities. Although the existence of loss and damage caused by climate change is already an indisputable fact, there are divergent opinions on the nature of definitions and responsibilities and the response measures, which have not yet been unified. The irrationality of compensation as a response has been discussed above. 420

Moreover, the international community has noticed that the mitigation actions alone do not play a very effective role in addressing the loss and damage caused by climate change, so this study proposes that adaptation measures be the first response measures. Nevertheless, it is necessary to clearly define the loss and damage caused by climate change before discussing the countermeasures. After analyzing the relevant international conventions and documents of international conferences and the opinions of scholars, this study clarifies the meaning of such loss and damage in the following definition: the actual or potential adverse consequences, caused by greenhouse gas emission, which act on the life, health, property and environment. Such consequences

-

⁴²⁰ Compensation has been mentioned as a remedy for environmental damage. However, when dealing with the loss and damage caused by climate change, the determination of the subject of responsibility and the amount of compensation for damage is more complicated. So this method is not applicable.
238

threaten the survival and sustainable development of mankind, whether avoidable or unavoidable.

Given generally, the current view holds that the loss and damage caused by climate change are transboundary damage. However, after summarizing the characteristics of such loss and damage, this study concludes that they are not transboundary damage. Further, the responsibility for such loss and damage is not a responsibility for transboundary damage or for internationally wrongful acts.

Based on the causes of the loss and damage and the current status of international climate change negotiations, two suggestions are put forward for countermeasures. First, to establish new emission reduction targets. NDC made by major countries have set up the commitments to reducing greenhouse gas emissions, but most countries have not reached a consensus on the nature of NDC. Therefore, it is recommended that all countries strengthen their domestic legislations to grant a legal nature to the emission reduction targets, in order to enforce strong emission reduction actions and effectively fulfill their international obligations. Second, to improve the "Warsaw International Mechanism" by strengthening international cooperation and establishing an adaptation system. The functions of the Warsaw International Mechanism provide some ideas on how the international community could respond to climate change from an adaptation perspective.

To cope with the loss and damage caused by climate change, countries need to discharge their international obligations, and this process requires the legislative and administrative support of each country. The performance of both mitigation and adaptation obligations requires related countries to offer adequate financial and technical support. Funds and technologies have always been the focus of attention of the international community. As the previous climate change conferences have not been able to properly resolve financial and technical issues. For some countries, these, in turn, need to be facilitated through international measures. To meet this challenge, the following requirements are considered: information; capacity; technology; Institutions; financial resources. 421 Any effective strategies must be based on the best available information as well as the cost and effectiveness of possible response measures; the countries' priority shall be to strengthen the things most relevant to understanding potential climate impacts and developing response strategies. And the success in adapting to climate change depends in part on acquiring and developing suitable technologies that are tailored to the specific needs and circumstances of each country in certain areas. Such adaptation measures must be integrated between the existing institutions, establish focal points at the international level for providing expertise, and formulate and coordinate comprehensive strategies.

With regard to the fulfilment of obligations under international environmental treaties, all nations across the globe, in particular the developing countries, are bearing an increasingly high burden. The international community is now deliberately shifting

_

 $^{^{421}}$ A Saleem Khan, "Adaptation Policy Road Map Appraisal" 2012 42 Envtl Pol 312 at 313. 240

its focus from elaborating the international environmental treaties to ensuring and promoting the compliance and implementation of the existing treaties. To this end, noncompliance mechanism arises at the historic moment, as many international environmental treaties have established their own non-compliance mechanisms and procedures. In this respect, the Kyoto Protocol provides the fastest and most mature implementation mechanism of the international environmental treaties. In effect, the settlement of international disputes can be divided into political settlement and legal settlement. The former covers: negotiation and consultation; mediation; investigation; and reconciliation. And the latter mainly includes arbitration and judicial decision.⁴²² Another way to resolve the disputes arising from the fulfilment of obligations under international conventions is to report cases of non-compliance through an implementation mechanism. Given that the implementation mechanism of the Paris Agreement is not yet complete, it currently plays a role of monitoring the parties' obligations under international conventions or agreements, and the procedures have not yet been established for those countries failing to comply with international conventions to report their situations of non-compliance.

As is universally recognized, the Paris Agreement is based on equity and embodies the principle of common but differentiated responsibilities as well as respective capabilities, while emphasizing that it must be based on different national conditions. It refers to the specific needs and special circumstances of developing country Parties, particularly those that were particularly vulnerable to the adverse effects of climate

⁴²² Ma, *suprα* note 279. See also Guimei Bai, International Law (Beijing: Peking University Press, 2015).

change, while taking full account of financing and technology transfer. Plus, it stipulates that all parties should respect, promote and consider the human rights, the right to health, the rights of indigenous peoples, local communities, migrants, children, persons with disabilities and vulnerable persons, the right to development and gender equality, and the empowerment and intergenerational equity. Moreover, it requires the parties not only to respect these rights, but also to implement this agreement; in addition, the parties must provide education, training, publicity, public participation and public access to information and cooperation on the matters covered by the agreement. Furthermore, it also recognizes the importance of governments and players at all levels in addressing climate issues in accordance with the respective national legislations of all parties. As far as the overall objectives of the Paris Agreement are concerned, on the one hand, it specifies respect for particularly vulnerable developing countries and full consideration of their difficulties and national circumstances in performing their obligations under the conventions or agreements. On the other hand, the Paris Agreement sets out the obligation of states to respect human rights and refers to the importance of domestic legislation to implement international conventions or agreements. While the Paris Agreement is purposed to drive states to fulfill their international obligations and implement international conventions or agreements, it has some deficiencies in how states comply with them and perform their international obligations.

Based on the current implementation mechanism established by the Paris Agreement, "a performance guarantee system needs to be established. In the current

climate change law, there has been a lack of economic penalties, so the climate change law system lacks enforcement. As such, a performance guarantee system can be established, that is, all parties should pay a certain amount of performance guarantee fund, which can be used to pay a penalty in case of default of a state party, thus ensuring universal adherence to and implementation of an international climate change convention or agreement." 423 Meanwhile, the status of the Executive Committee of the Warsaw International Mechanism on Loss and Damage related to climate change impacts should be established, and in fact, it was established at the Nineteenth Conference of the Parties. It operates under the direction of the Conference of the Parties to guide the implementation of the functions of the Warsaw International Mechanism. Each year, the Executive Committee of the Warsaw International Mechanism submits an implementation report to the Conference of the Parties on their fulfilment of the functions of the Warsaw International Mechanism, so as to monitor the implementation of the obligations under the Warsaw International Mechanism. In the future, it can provide guidance and assistance to states in their implementation of international obligations, and can act as a coordinating body to help and supervise parties in implementation of their international obligations.

Therefore, it is required that the international community to accelerate the climate change legislation process and improve the implementation of existing conventions to enhance the effectiveness of climate change law. For the sake of studying the

-

⁴²³ Mingde Cao, "China's Legal Position and Strategy in Participating in International Climate Governance: From the Perspective of Climate Justice" (2016) 1 China Legal Science 29 at 41.

international law of dealing with climate change, some scholars hope to start from the dimension of unjust enrichment, find theoretical basis and conduct systematic discussion based on this research method. 424 From the perspective of unjust enrichment, it is difficult for countries to reach an agreement, because the provisions on unjust enrichment are different. With a view to effectively dealing with climate change, attention should be paid to the existing international laws to analyze the rights and obligations stipulated under such laws as well as the existing international conventions and agreements. This seems more persuasive for further discussions on how to promote the fulfilment of international obligations by states. There is no doubt that to cope with the loss and damage caused by climate change requires all countries to fulfill their international obligations, and such fulfillment in turn requires the legislative and administrative support of all countries. With regard to the management of loss and damage due to climate change, the Paris Agreement does not propose more specific measures, but only reaffirms the role and function of the Warsaw International Mechanism. In order to ensure the performance of international obligations, the Paris Agreement proposes a new implementation mechanism, which is actually a kind of procedural supervision over the implementation of international conventions by states parties. Furthermore, addressing the loss and damage from climate change requires the international community to focus on and improve the existing adaptation rules, while providing certain monitoring and appropriate assistance to those countries with problems in their implementation.

 $^{^{424}\,}$ See Aura Weinbaum, "Unjust Enrichment: An Alternative to Tort Law and Human Rights in the Climate Change Context" (2011) 20 Pac Rim Pol J 429 at 454.

Because the Paris Agreement does not propose more specific measures, this study chooses the Warsaw International Mechanism as the primary tool to explore the loss and damage caused by climate change. The main contents of the Warsaw International Mechanism include: risk assessment, information exchange, and immigration planning. Accordingly, this study conducts in-depth analysis and research from these three areas as the main measures to deal with such loss and damage. Broadly, these three measures can also be regarded as part of adaptation measures. The treatment of such loss and damage requires both mitigation and adaptation measures by all countries. This study finds that the adaptation measures are particularly important at present. Such loss and damage already exist, and are suffered by some countries in a particularly obvious manner. In the international community, some countries claim that the developed countries should compensate the countries that have suffered such loss and damage. However, this claim cannot be realized, because the formation of such loss and damage cannot be fully blamed on the developed countries; rather, other countries are also responsible. The countries that have suffered such loss and damage and the countries that are responsible for such loss and damage may be identical. Then how to make compensation? So this is difficult to resolve. The Paris Agreement once again proposes the principle of common but differentiated responsibilities. The subjects of the principle have not been strictly clarified, and the division of the concepts of developed countries and developing countries is not able to effectively help implement this principle. However, attention should be paid to the actual situation and the actual results by the international community, which can provide assistance for the countries and groups that need it most. Anyway, the international community shall not let the principle of

common but differentiated responsibilities lose its value and role, nor challenge its status.

At their core, the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) negotiations can be understood as a series of attempts to operationalize the international legal principle of "common but differentiated responsibilities." The negotiations make clear that a global agreement to address the problem of climate change must necessarily apportion responsibility to act among diverse parties. The principle of common but differentiated responsibilities has guided the process of apportionment within the UNFCCC since its inception in 1992. 425 Different understandings and interpretations of "common but differentiated responsibilities" have resulted in distinct designs for the international climate regime. Greenhouse gas emissions and the consequences of climate change have transformed the global welfare levels, leading to redistribution of climate costs and benefits among different groups and individuals; therefore, climate-related international negotiations shall involve fairness issues. Whether a plan can be accepted by policy makers and the public in various countries and finally become a realistic scheme for the international climate system through negotiation would mainly depend on two factors: (1) whether it lies on some solid fairness principles; and (2) whether it has strong operability and feasibility. The principle of "common but differentiated responsibilities" does not take the development of a country as the criterion of distinction, and the distinction between the concepts of developed and developing countries is also not clear, as mentioned above.

⁴²⁵ Douglas Bushey & Sikina Jinnah, "Evolving Responsibility -The Principle of Common but Differentiated Responsibility in the UNFCCC" (2010) 6 Publicist 1 at 1.

Further, the definition of these two concepts does not appear in any other international conventions or agreements. Also, the criteria used to distinguish different parties in the field of climate change are inconsistent with the levels of national development commonly understood. The principle of "common but differentiated responsibilities" does not have a universal understanding, but this situation should not become a reason for evasion of international responsibility. Given that the international community has not yet reached consensus on understanding of "common but differentiated responsibilities", this principle cannot be expected to become a customary international law. As a direction of efforts, the international community shall continue to adhere to "common but differentiated responsibilities" and promote it as a specific principle in the field of international climate change.

The development of "common but differentiated responsibilities" as illustrated in this study is also reflected in the implementation of adaptation obligations. The focus on the indigenous peoples and the poorest countries is to break through the traditional distinction between developed and developing countries. This study hopes that the international community may pay more attention to human rights when it asks member states to fulfill their adaptation obligations. The ethics related to climate change is reflected in its impact on human rights and social justice, because climate change is not only an environmental issue, but also a matter of justice and human rights, as well as a issue dangerously intertwined with race and class. All colored people, indigenous people and low-income people across the world suffer most from the adverse effects of climate change. The risk of climate change also has serious impacts on some

particularly poor countries, since it is difficult for people in these countries to enjoy basic human rights fairly. In a word, international cooperation among countries should be strengthened to assist the countries stricken by climate change.

The contributions of this study are demonstrated in presenting certain specific suggestions on dealing with the loss and damage from climate change by the international community, while proposing reasonable advice on China's response to climate change. Further, this study points out that the three measures under the "Warsaw International Mechanism" should be improved and puts forward specific implementation plans. In the process of dealing with the loss and damage caused by climate change, countries should attach importance to the three major measures under the Warsaw International Mechanism. In the principle of "common but differentiated responsibilities" and concerning the obligation of mitigation and adaptation proposed in the Paris Agreement, this study suggests that China take effective legislative and administrative measures to fulfill its mitigation and adaptation obligations and deal with the loss and damage caused by climate change. Meanwhile, in terms of legislation, China should avoid declarative and principled provisions. And in terms of foreign policy, China should undertake the corresponding international assistance obligations, which need to be implemented according to its ability. The issue of international assistance involves international human rights and other related topics, which should be seriously considered by all countries when they fulfill their international obligations and assist other countries.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

INTERNATIONAL CONVENTIONS

Convention on Biological Diversity, 5 June 1992, 8 UNTS 214, (entered into force 29 December 1993)

Convention Concerning the Protection of the World Cultural and Natural Heritage, 16 November 1972, UNTS 1977 No 15511, (entered into force 17 December 1975)

Kyoto Protocol, December 1997, 1LNTS 1, (entered into force 16 February 2005).

Montreal Protocol on Substances that Deplete the Ozone Layer, 14–16 September 1987, 32ILM 874, (entered into force on 26 January 1989).

Paris Agreement, 12 December 2015, 55 ILM 740, (entered into force 22 April 2016).

Vienna Convention for the Protection of the Ozone Layer, 22 March 1985, 26 ILM 1516, (entered into force 22 September 1988).

Vienna Convention on Civil Liability for Nuclear Damage, 21 May 1963, (entered into force 12 November 1977).

NATIONAL STATUTES

Canadian Environmental Protection Act, SC 1999, c 33.

Clean Air Act of 1963 §7401,1963.

Energy Policy Act of 2005, Pub L No 109-58, 119 Stat. 594.

Energy Independence and Security Act of 2007, Pub L No 110-140, 121 Stat. 1492.

The Climate Change Response Act 2002 (NZ), 2002/40.

SECONDARY MATERIAL: MONOGRAPHS

Arbour, J Maurice. *Droit international de l'environnement*, 2nd ed (Cowansville, Québec: Yvon Blais, 2012).

Asselt, Harro van. *The fragmentation of global climate governance : consequences and management of regime interactions* (Northampton: Edward Elgar, 2014).

Adger, W. Neil et al. "Human Security," in IPCC Climate Change 2014: Impacts, 250

Adaptation, and Vulnerability Part A: Global and Sectoral Aspects, Contribution of Working Group II to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2014)

Ahnish, F.A. *The International Law of Maritime Boundaries and the Practice of States in the Mediterranean Sea* (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1994).

Akhtar, Rais et al, eds. Climate Change and Human Health Scenario in South and Southeast Asia, Advances in Asian Human-Environmental Research (Switzerland: Springer International Publishing, 2016).

Aleinikoff, Alex. Protected Characteristics and Social Perceptions: An Analysis of the Meaning of Membership of a Particular Social Group (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2003).

Archer, David and Stefan Rahmstorf. *The Climate Crisis: An Introductory Guide to Climate Change* (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2010).

Asit, Biswas K., Tortajada Cecilia et al, eds. *Water Security, Climate Change and Sustainable Development, Water Resources Development and Management* (Singapore: Springer, 2016).

Boumghar, Mouloud & Ottavio Quirico. Climate change and human rights: an international and comparative law perspective, Routledge research in international environmental law (New York: Routledge, 2016).

Bodansky, Daniel et al. the Oxford handbook of international environmental law (Toronto: Oxford University Press, 2007).

Bos, Maarten. A methodology of international law (Amsterdam: North-Holland, 1984).

Baba, Alper, Tayfur Gökmen, Gündüz Orhan, Howard Ken W.F., Friedel Michael J., Chambel Antonio, et al, eds. *Climate Change and its Effects on Water Resources-Issues of National and Global Security, NATO Science for Peace and Security Series* (Netherlands: Springer, 2011).

Beach, Heather L. *Transboundary freshwater dispute resolution: theory, practice, and annotated references, Water resources management and policy series* (Tokyo: United Nations University Press, 2000).

Bianchi, Andrea & Anne Peters. *Transparency in International Law* (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2013).

Biermann, Frank, Philipp H Pattberg & Fariborz Zelli. *Global climate governance beyond 2012: architecture, agency and adaptation* (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2010).

Bodansky, Daniel. *The Art and Craft of International Environmental Law* (Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 2010).

Boyle, A. & Freestone, D. *International Law and Sustainable Development: Past Achievements and Future Challenges* (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1999).

Brownlie. Principles of International Law (Oxford, Oxford University Press, 2003).

Bryant, Christopher R., Sarr Mamadou A., De'lusca Ke'nel et al, eds. *Agricultural Adaptation to Climate Change* (Switzerland: Springer International Publishing, 2016).

Carpenter, R. *Discontinuity in Greek Civilization* (Cambridge, Cambridge University Press, 1966).

Carvalho, Charles Jones, Leila Maria Véspoli de et al, eds. *The Monsoons and Climate Change Observations and Modeling.Springer Climate* (Switzerland: Springer International Publishing, 2016).

Chasek, Pamela S. & David L. Downie, and Janet Welsh Brown. *Global Environmental Politics*, 4th ed. (Boulder: Westview Press, 2006).

Churchill, R.R. the Law of the Sea, (Manchester: Manchester University Press, 1999).

Cowie, Jonathan. *Climate Change: Biological and Human Aspects*. (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2007).

Craik, Neil. The international law of environmental impact assessment: process, substance and integration, MyiLibrary (Cambridge, UK; New York: Cambridge University Press, 2008).

Cronin, Patrick M. Cronin, ed. Cooperation from Strength: The United States, China and the South China Sea (Washington, DC: Center for New American Security, 2012).

Desai, Bharat H. *Institutionalizing international environmental law* (New York: Transnational Publishers, 2004).

Dong, Wenjie, Huang Jianbin, Guo Yan, Ren Fumin et al, eds. *Atlas of Climate Change: Responsibility and Obligation of Human Society, Springer Atmospheric Sciences* (Berlin: Springer, 2016).

Drake, Jeanette L., Kontaret, Yekaterina Y., Eichelberger, John C., Scott Rupp, T., Taylor, Karen M., et al, eds. *Communicating Climate-Change and Natural Hazard Risk and Cultivating Resilience ,Case Studies for a Multi-disciplinary Approach, Advances in Natural and Technological Hazards Research* (Switzerland: Springer International Publishing, 2016).

Dreze, Jean, Meera Samson, and Satyajit Singh. *The Dam and the Nation: Displacement and Resettlement in the Narmada Valley* (New Delhi: Oxford University Press, 1996)

Durham, W.H. Coevolution, Genes, Culture and Human Societies (Stanford, Stanford University Press, 1992).

Durrant, Nicola. *Legal responses to climate change* (Annandale, N.S.W.: Federation Press, 2010).

Edwards, David et al, eds. *Plant Genomics and Climate Change* (New York: Springer, 2016).

Elsner, James B., Hodges Robert E., Malmstadt Jill C., Scheitlin Kelsey N., et al, eds. *Hurricanes and Climate Change* (Netherlands: Springer, 2010).

Elsner, James B., Jagger Thomas H., Lynch Jim M., et al, eds. *Hurricanes and Climate Change* (New York: Springer, 2000).

Esty, Daniel C. *Greening the GAT: Trade, Environment and the Future* (Washington, DC: Institute for International Economics, 1994).

Francioni, Francesco & Tullio Scovazzi. *International responsibility for environmental harm, International environmental law and policy series* (Boston: Graham & Trotman, 1991).

Faure, Michael & Marjan Peeters. Climate change liability, new horizons in environmental and energy law (Cheltenham: Edward Elgar, 2011).

Feller, Erika, and Volker Tirk, and Frances Nicholson. *Refugee Protection in International Law* (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2003).

Fernando, H. J. S, Z. B. KlaiC & J. L. McCulley. *National Security and Human Health Implications of Climate Change* (Dordrecht, the Netherlands: Springer Science & Business Media, 2012).

Fitzmaurice, M, David M Ong & Panos Merkouris. Research handbook on international environmental law, Research handbooks in international law (Cheltenham, UK: Edward Elgar, 2010).

Flinterman, Cees, Barbara Kwiatkowska & J G Lammers. *Transboundary air pollution: international legal aspects of the co-operation of states* (Dordrecht; Boston: Hingham, MA: MNijhoff; Distributors for the USand Canada, Kluwer Academic Publishers, 1986).

Ford, James D., Berrang-Ford Lea et al, eds. *Climate Change Adaptation in Developed Nation From Theory to Practice, Advances in global change research* (Netherlands: Springer, 2011).

Ford, James D., Berrang-Ford Lea et al, eds. *Climate Change Adaptation in Developed Nations From Theory to Practice, Advances in global change research* (Dordrecht: Springer, 2011).

Freer, Smith Peter H., Broadmeadow Mark S.J., Lynch Jim M., et al, eds. *FORESTRY AND CLIMATE CHANGE* (UK: Cromwell Press, 2007).

Freestone D. & Barnes, R. *The Law of the Sea: Progress and Prospects* (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2006).

French, D. *International Law and Policy of Sustainable Development* (Manchester: Manchester University Press, 2005).

Gillespie, Alexander. Climate change, ozone depletion and air pollution: legal commentaries within the context of science and policy (Leiden: Martnus Nijhoff, 2006).

Guruswamy, Lakshman D & Mariah Zebrowski Leach. *International environmental law in a nutshell*, 4th ed, West nutshell series (Saint Paul, MN: West Academic Press, 2012).

Gerrard, Michael B & Gregory E Wannier. *Threatened island nations: legal implications of rising seas and a changing climate* (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2014).

Gao, Wei, Schmoldt, Daniel L., Slusser James R. et al, eds. *UV Radiation in Global Climate Change, Measurements, Modeling and Effects on Ecosystems* (Beijing and Berlin: Tsinghua University Press, 2010).

Glen, George et al, eds. *The Impact of Climate Change on European Lakes* (Netherlands: Springer, 2010).

Goodman, Ryan & DerekJinks. *Promoting Human Rights through International Law* (Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press, 2013).

Goodwin-Gill, Guy S., and Jane McAdam. "The Refugee in International Law" (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2003).

Guzman, Andrew. *Overheated: The Human Cost of Climate Change* (Oxford, Oxford University Press, 2013).

Hart, Herbert. *The concept of law*, 3rd ed (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2012).

Hamilton, Michael S. *Mining Environmental Policy: Comparing Indonesia and the USA*, first edition.. ed (London: Taylor and Francis, 2017).

Handl, Günther, Robert E Lutz & American Society of International Law International Environmental Law Interest Group. *Transferring hazardous technologies and substances: the international legal challenge, International environmental law and policy series* (London; Boston: Graham & Trotman, 1989).

Harrison, Kathryn A. *Passing the Buck: Federalism and Canadian Environmental Policy* (Vancouver: University of British Columbia Press, 1996).

Hathaway, James *Rights of Refugees under International Law* (Cambridge: Cambridge Univ. Press, 2005)

He, Xiangbai et al, eds. Legal Methods of Mainstreaming Climate Change Adaptation in Chinese Water Management (Singapore: Springer, 2016).

Helm, Dieter. Climate Change Policy. (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2005).

Higgins, R. *Problems and Process: International Law and How We Use It* (Oxford: Clarendon Press, 2003).

Hijioka, Yasuaki & Erda Lin and Joy Jacqueline Pereira. "Chapter 24: Asia," in Climate Change 2014: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability: IPCC 5th Assessment Report (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2014).

Impacts on Cultural Heritage and Cultural Diversity (Frankfurt: Internationaler Verlag der Wissenschaften, 2014).

Independent Evaluation Group Knowledge Programs and Evaluation Capacitet al, eds. *Climate Change and the World Bank Group, Phase I: An Evaluation of World Bank*

Win-Win Energy Policy Reforms (Washington: The International Bank for Reconstruction and Development, 2009).

Issar, Arie S., Zohar Mattanyah et al, eds. *Climate Change – Environment and History of the Near East* (New York: Springer Nature, 2007).

Ivanova, Maria H. Can the Anchor Hold? Rethinking the United Nations Environment Programme for the 21st Century (New Haven: Yale School of Forestry and Environmental Studies, 2005).

Jaccard, Mark et al, *Hot Air: Meeting Canada's Climate Change Challenge* (Toronto: Douglas Gibson Books, 2007).

Jaideep, Kumar Bisht, Singh Meena Vijay, Kumar Mishra Pankaj, Pattanayak Arunava et al, eds. *Conservation Agriculture An Approach to Combat Climate Change in Indian Himalaya* (Singapore: Springer, 2016).

Jayakumar, S et al. *Transboundary pollution: evolving issues of international law and policy, NUS Centre for International Law series* (Cheltenham, UK: Edward Elgar Publishing, 2015).

Juillet, Luc, "Le federalisme et l'environnement" in Manon Tremblay, Les politiques publiques canadiennes (Presses de l'universite Laval, 1998)

Kaime, Thoko. *International climate change law and policy: cultural legitimacy in adaptation and mitigation, Routledge research in international environmental law* (London: New York: Routledge, 2014).

Kotzé, Louis J & Thilo Marauhn. *Transboundary governance of biodiversity, Legal aspects of sustainable development* (Boston: Brill Nijhoff, 2014).

Kuhn, T. *The Structure of Scientific Revolution* (Chicago, Chicago University Press, 1970).

Lal Rattan, Sivakumar Mannava V.K., Faiz S.M.A., Mustafizur Rahman A.H.M., Islam Khandakar R. et al, eds. *Climate Change and Food Security in South Asia* (Netherlands: Springer, 2011).

Lal, Rattan, Kraybill David, Hansen David O., Singh Bal Ram, Mosogoya Theodosy, Olav Eik Lars et al, eds. *Climate Change and Multi-Dimensional Sustainability in African Agriculture Climate Change and Sustainability in Agriculture* (Switzerland: Springer International Publishing, 2016).

Lawn, Philip et al, eds. Resolving the Climate Change Crisis The Ecological Economics of Climate Change (Dordrecht: Springer, 2016).

Macpherson, Cheryl C. et al, eds. *Bioethical Insights into Values and Policy Climate Change and Health, Public Health Ethics Analysis 4*, (Switzerland: Springer Nature, 2016).

Maljean-Dubois, Sandrine, Aix-Marseille Université Centre d'études et de recherches internationales et communautaires & France) European Environmental Law Forum Conference Aix-en-Provence. *The effectiveness of environmental law*, European Environmental Law Forum series ; volume 3 (Cambridge, United Kingdom: Intersentia, 2017).

Marshall, Dale, *Provincial Power Play: Breaking Awayfrom Federal Inaction on Climate Change* (Vancouver: David Suzuki Foundation, 2008).

McCaffrey, S.C. *The Law of International Watercourses: Non-Navigational Uses* (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2003).

McDermott, Hughes, David et al, eds. *ENERGY WITHOUT CONSCIENCE Oil, Climate Change, and Complicity* (Durham and London: Duke University Press, 2007).

McElroy, Michael & D. James Baker. *Climate Extremes: Recent Trends with Implications for National Security* (Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Center for the Environment, 2012).

Melillo, Jerry M. & Terese Richmond and Gary W. Yohe. *Highlights of Climate Change Impacts in the United States: The Third National Climate Assessment* (U.S. Global Change Research Program, 2014).

Miskel, James. *Disasters Response and Homeland Security: What Works, What Doesn't* (Stanford: Stanford University Press, 2008).

Mrinmoy, Majumder, Saha Apu K., et al, eds. *Impact of Climate Change on Hydro-Energy Potential A MCDM and Neural Network Approach*, *Springer Briefs in Energy* (Singapore: Springer, 2016).

Musco, Francesco et al, eds. Counteracting Urban Heat Island Effects in a Global Climate Change Scenario (Switzerland: Springer, 2016).

National Resource Council. Levees and the National Flood Insurance Program: Improving Policies and Practices (National Academy Press, 2013).

Nihoul, Jacques C.J., Kostianoy, Andrey G. et al, eds. *Influence of Climate Change and Sub-Arctic Conditions* (Netherlands: Springer, 2009).

Obinger, Herbert & Stephan Leibfried and Francis G. Castles. *Federalism and the Welfare State: New World and European Experiences* (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2005).

Örücü, Esin & David Nelken. Comparative law: a handbook (Portland: Hart, 2007).

P Manna, *School's In: Federalism and the National Education Agenda* (Washington, DC: Georgetown University Press, 2006).

Park, Deok-Young et al, eds. *Legal Issues on Climate Change and International Trade Law* (Switzerland: Springer International Publishing, 2016).

Phuong, Catherine. *The International Protection of Internally Displaced Persons* (Cambridge: Cambridge Univ. Press, 2005).

Roda, Verheyen. Climate change damage and international law: prevention, duties and state responsibility (Leiden: Martnus Nijhoff, 2005).

Reimann, Mathias & Reinhard Zimmermann. *The Oxford handbook of comparative law* (Toronto: Oxford University Press, 2006).

Rajamani, L. Differential Treatment in International Environmental Law (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2006).

Rawls, John, *Theory of Justice* (Cambridge, MA: Harvard U.P.: The 3dknap Press, 1999).

Roggema, Rob et al, eds. *Adaptation to Climate Change: A Spatial Challenge* (New York: Springer, 2009).

Rosenberg, Elizabeth & David Titley and Alexander Wiker. *Arctic 2015 and Beyond- A Strategy for U.S. Leadership in the High North, Policy Brief* (Washington, DC: Center for New American Security, December 2014).

Rozema Jelte, Aerts Rien, Cornelissen Hans et al, eds. *Plants and Climate change*, Tasks for vegetation science (The Netherlands: Springer, 2006).

Sultan, Friedrich. Fairness in international climate change law and policy (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2009).

Sands, Philippe. *Principles of international environmental law*, 3rd ed (Cambridge; New York: Cambridge University Press, 2012).

Sunstein, Cass R. Risk and reason: safety, law and the environment (New York: Cambridge University Press, 2002).

Salzmann, Nadine, Huggel Christian, Nussbaumer Samuel U., Ziervogel Gina, et al, eds. *Climate Change Adaptation Strategies –An Upstream-downstream Perspective* (Switzerland: Springer International Publishing, 2016).

Sands, P. *Principles of International Environmental Law* (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2003).

Schmidt, Vivien A. "Democracy and Legitimacy in the European Union," in the Oxford Handbook of the European Union, ed. ErikJones, Anand Menon, and Stephen Weatherill (Oxford: Oxford University 233 Press, 2012).

Singh, S.N.et al, eds. *Environmental Science and Engineering, Climate Change and Crops* (Berlin: Springer, 2009).

Skoufias, Emmanuel et al, eds. *Cities and Climate Change* (OECD: OECD Publishing, 2012).

Skoufias, Emmanuel et al, eds. *The Poverty and Welfare Impacts of Climate Change Quantifying the Effects, Identifying the Adaptation Strategies* (Washington: The International Bank for Reconstruction and Development, 2012).

Sloan, Stanley R & NATO. *The European Union and the Atlantic Community: 7he Transatlantic Bargain Challenged* (Lanham, MD: Rowman & Littlefield Publishers, 2005).

Snidal, Duncan. "Rational Choice and International Relations" in Walter Carlsnaes, Thomas Risse & Beth A. Simmons, eds, *Handbook of International Relations* (London, UK: Sage Publications, 2013).

Solinge, Tim Boekhout van. "The Illegal Exploitation of Natural Resources," in the Oxford Handbook of Organized Crime, ed. Letizia Paoli (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2014).

Speth, James Gustave & Peter M. Haas. *Global Environmental Governance* (Washington, DC: Island Press, 2006).

Stem, Nicholas. *The Economics of Climate Change: The Stern Review* (Cambridge: 259

Cambridge Univ. Press.2007).

Stevenson, Hayley & John S. Dryzek. *Democratising Global Climate Governance* (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2014).

Stoutenburg, Jenny Grote. *Disappearing Island States in International Law* (Leiden, the Netherlands: BRILL, 2015).

Strom, robert et al, eds. *HOT HOUSE-Global Climate Change and the Human Condition* (New York: Springer & Praxis Publishing, 2007).

Trudeau, Hélène & Université de Montréal Faculté de droit. *Droit international public avancé [recueil de cours]: DRT 6830B : (La pollution industrielle et le droit)* (Montréal: Coop droit, Université de Montréal, 2013).

The BACC Author Team et al, eds. Assessment of Climate Change for the Baltic Sea Basin (Berlin: Springer, 2007).

Thompson, Brian, Cohen Marc J., et al, eds. *The Impact of Climate Change and Bioenergy on Nutrition* (United Nations: Springer & The Food and Agriculture Organization, 2012).

Torquebiau, Emmanuel et al, eds. *Climate Change and Agriculture Worldwide* (Éditions Quæ: Springer, 2016).

Uttam, Roy, Majumder Mrinmoy et al, eds. *Impact of Climate Change on Small Scale Hydro-turbine Selections*, *Springer Briefs in Energy* (Singapore: Springer, 2016).

Uttam, Roy, Majumder Mrinmoy et al, eds. *Vulnerability of Watersheds to Climate Change Assessed by Neural Network and Analytical Hierarchy Process, SpringerBriefs in Water Science and Technology* (Singapore: Springer, 2015).

Vranes, Erich. Trade and the environment: fundamental issues in international law, WTO law, and legal theory (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2009).

Van Staden, Maryke et al, eds. Local governments and climate change: sustainable energy planning and implementation in small and medium sized communities, Advances in global change research (New York: Springer, 2010).

Verner, Dorte, Breisinger Clemens et al, eds. *Economics of Climate Change in the Arab World Case Studies from the Syrian Arab Republic, Tunisia, and the Republic of Yemen,*

A WORLD BANK STUDY (Washington: The International Bank for Reconstruction and Development, 2013).

Victor, David G "Climate Accession Deals: New Strategies for Taming Growth of Greenhouse Gases in Developing Countries" in Joe Aldy & Rob Stavins, eds, Post-Kyoto International Climate Policy: Implementing Architectures for Agreement (Cambridge University Press, 2010).

Vogler, John et al, eds. *Climate Change in World Politics* (London: Palgrave Macmillan, 2016).

Watchman, Paul Q. Climate change: a guide to carbon law and practice (London: Globe Law and Business, 2008).

Walter, Leal Filho et al, eds. *Climate Change and Disaster Risk Management, Climate Change Management* (Berlin: Springer, 2013).

Walter, Leal Filho et al, eds. Climate Change and the Sustainable Use of Water Resources, Climate Change Management (Berlin: Springer, 2012).

Walter, Leal Filho et al, eds. Experiences of Climate Change Adaptation in Africa, Climate Change Management (Berlin: Springer, 2011).

Walter, Leal Filho et al, eds. *The Economic, Social and Political Elements of Climate Change, Climate Change Management* (Berlin: Springer, 2011).

Walter, Leal Filho et al, eds. *Universities and Climate Change,Introducing Climate Change to University Programmes* (Berlin: Springer, 2010).

Walter, Leal Filho, Adamson Kathryn, Dunk, Rachel M., Azeiteiro Ulisses M., Illingworth Sam, Alves Fátima et al, eds. *Implementing Climate Change Adaptation in Cities and Communities Integrating Strategies and Educational Approaches*, *Climate Change Management* (Switzerland: Springer International Publishing, 2016).

Walter, Leal Filho, Knieling Jörg et al, eds. *Climate Change Governance, Climate Change Management* (Berlin: Springer, 2013).

Walter, Leal Filho, Musa Haruna, Cavan Gina, Hare Paul O', Seixas Julia et al, eds. *Climate Change Adaptation, Resilience and Hazards, Climate Change Management* (Switzerland: Springer International Publishing, 2016).

Walter, Leal Filho, Azeiteiro Ulisses M., Alves Fátima et al, eds. *Climate Change and Health Improving Resilience and Reducing Risks* (Switzerland: Springer International Publishing, 2016).

Werrell, Caitlin E. & Francesco Femia, eds. *the U.S. Asia-Pacific Rebalance, National Security and Climate Change* (Washington, DC: Center for Climate and Security, 2015).

Worster, D.E. Dust Bowl: The Southern Plains in the 1930s (New York, Oxford University Press, 1982).

Yaro, Joseph A., Hesselberg Jan et al, eds. *Adaptation to Climate Change and Variability in Rural West Africa* (Switzerland: Springer International Publishing, 2016).

Zachariadis, Theodoros et al, eds. Climate Change in Cyprus Review of the Impacts and Outline of an Adaptation Strategy, SpringerBriefs in Environmental Science (Switzerland: Springer, 2016).

SECONDARY MATERIAL: ARTICLES

Aaron, Ezroj. "Climate Change and International Norms" (2011) 27 J Land Use & Envtl L 69.

Acello, Richard. "Climate Change" (2009) 95 A.B.A. J. 29.

Addaney, Michael Addaney & Elsabe Boshoff and Bamisaye Olutola. "The Climate Change and Human Rights Nexus in Africa" (2017) 9 Amsterdam L.F. 5.

Adger, W., Barnet, J., Chapin, F., & Ellemor H. "This must be the place: underrepresentation of identity and meaning in climate change decision-making" (2011), online: http://www.lter.uaf.edu/pdf/1553 Adger Barnett 2011.pdf.

Adler, Robert S. & Elliot M. Silverstein. "When David Meets Goliath: Dealing with Power Differentials in Negotiation" (2000) 5 HARV. NEGOT. L. REV. 1, 68.

Agarwal, A., & Narain, S. "Global warming in an unequal world: A case of environmental colonialism" (1991), online: http://cseindia.org/challenge_balance/readings/GlobalWarming%20Book.pdf.

Aguilar, Soledad Aguilar. "Outcomes of the Cancun Conference" (2011) 41 Envtl. Pol'y & L. 10.

Aguilar, Soledad, and Eugenia Recio. "Climate Law in Latin American Countries.' In Climate Change and the Law, edited by Erkki J. Hollo, Kati Kulovesi, and Michael 262

Mehling" (2013) Dordrecht: Springer 653.

Ahn, S. J., & Graczyk, D. "Understanding energy challenges in India—Policies, players and issues. Partner Country Series." (2012), online: http://www.iea.org/publications/freepublications/publication/India_study_FINAL_WEB.pdf.

Ajiade, Idowu. "Distributive Justice and Human Rights in Climate Policy: The Long Road to Paris" (2016) 7 J.

Akiwumi, P. "UNEP's Regional Seas Programme: Approach, Experience and Future Plans" (1998) Marine Policy 22.

Alcega, Sergio Salinas. "The Paris Agreement of December 2015: The Replacement of Multilateralism by Multipolarity in International Climate Cooperation" (2018) 70 R.E.D.I. 53.

Alexeew, Johannes, Linda Bergset, Kristin Meyer, Juliane Petersen, Lambert Schneider, and Charlotte Unger. "An Analysis of the Relationship between the Additionality of CDM Projects and their Contribution to Sustainable Development" (2010) 10 International Environmental Agreements 233.

Alkhami, Ali Siddiq & Paul Slovic. "A Psychological Study of the Inverse Relationship between Perceived Risk and Perceived Benefit" (1994) 14 Risk Analysis 1085.

Alkire, S. "Dimensions of human development" (2002), online: http://www.unicef.org/socialpolicy/files/Dimensions of Human Development.pdf.

Allen, Myles, Pardeep Pall, Daithi Stone, Peter Stott, David Frame, Seung-Ki Min, Toru Nozawa, and Seiji Yukimoto. "Scientific Challenges in the Attribution of Harm to Human Influence on Climate" (2007) 155 University of Pennsylvania Law Review 1353.

Allott, Philip. "State Responsibility and the Unmaking of International Law" (1988) 29 Harvard Journal of International Law 1.

Amr, M.S. "Diversion of international watercourses under international law" (2002) 10 African Yearbook of International Law 109.

Ananthapadmanabhan, G., Srinivas, K., & Gopal, V. "Hiding behind the poor. Greenpeace Report on Climate Injustice" (2007), online: http://www.greenpeace.org/india/Global/india/report/2007/11/hiding-behind-the-poor.pdf.

Andersson, Krister, Tom P. Evans, and Kenneth R. Richards. "National Forest Carbon Inventories: Policy Needs and Assessment Capacity" (2009) 93 Climatic Change 69.

Andresen, Steinar, and Lars H. Gulbrandsen. "The Role of Green NGOs in Promoting Climate Compliance" In Implementing the Climate Regime: International Compliance, edited by Jon Hovi, Olav Stokke, and Geir Ulfstein. London: Earthscan, (2005) 169.

Andresen, Steinar. 'The Climate Regime: A Few Achievements, but Many Challenges' (2014) 4 Climate Law 21.

Arriaza, Naomi Roht. "Human Rights in the Climate Change Regime" (2010) 1 J. Hum. Rts. & Env't. 211.

Arthur, W. B. "Competing technologies, increasing returns and lock-in by historical events" (1989) Economic Journal 99.

Asselt, H. van & F. Sindico and M. A. Mehling. "Global Climate Change and the Fragmentation of International Law" (2008) 30 Law & Policy 423.

Asselt, Harro van & Stefan Bossner. "The Shape of Things to Come: Global Climate Governance after Paris" (2016) 2016 CCLR 46.

Asselt, Harro Van. "Copenhagen Chaos -Post-2012 Climate Change Policy and International Law" (2010) 2 Amsterdam L.F. 9.

Blunnie, Benedict. "Climate Change and Forced Displacement: Conceptual and Legal Issues" (2014) 4 King's Inns Student L Rev 87.

Bélanger, Alexis. "Canadian Federalism in the Context of Combating Climate Change" (2011) 20:1 Constitutional Forum 2011.

Bodansky, Daniel. "The United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change: A Commentary" (1993) 18 Yale J Int'l L451.

Bushey, Douglas& Sikina Jinnah. "Evolving Responsibility-The Principle of Common but Differentiated Responsibility in the UNFCCC" (2010) 6 Publicist 1.

Burns, Wil. "Loss and Damage and the 21st Conference of the Parties to the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change" (2015) 22 ILSA J Int'l & Comp L 415.

Burleson, Elizabeth. "Multilateral Climate Change Mitigation" (2006) 41 USFL Rev 373.

Behrens, Arno. "Financial Impacts of Climate Change Mitigation: Global Resource Requirements and Proposals for International Burden Sharing" (2009) 3:2 Carbon & Climate Law Review 9.

Browner, Carol M. "Global Climate Change: Threats and Solutions" (1997) 13 J Land Use & Envtl L 273.

Bushey, Douglas & Sikina Jinnah. "Evolving Responsibility -the Principle of Common But Differentiated Responsibility in the UNFCCC" (2010) 6 Publicist 1.

Bodansky, Daniel. "The Copenhagen Climate Change Conference: A Postmortem" (2010) 104:2 the American Journal of International Law 230.

Bergkamp, Lucas. "The Paris Agreement on Climate Change: A Risk Regulation Perspective" (2016) 7:35 Eur J Risk Reg 109.

Bach, Tracy. "Human Rights in a Climate Changed World: The Impact of COP21, Nationally Determined Contributions, and National Courts" (2016) 40 Vt. L. Rev. 561.

Baer, Paul. "Who Should Pay for Climate Change -Not Me" (2013) 13 Chi. J. Int'l L. 507.

Baker, Shalanda H. "Climate Change and International Economic Law" (2016) 43 Ecology L.Q. 53.

Bakker, Stefan, Constanze Haug, Harro Van Asselt, Joyeeta Gupta, and Raouf Saïdi. "The Future of the CDM: Same Same, But Differentiated?" (2011) 11 Climate Policy 752.

Bancal, Jean-Charles; Julia Kalfon. "The Institutional and Contractual Instruments of Kyoto's Clean Development Mechanism" (2009) 2009 Int'l Bus. L.J. 665.

Banga, R. "Critical issues in India's service led growth" (2005), online: http://icrier.org/pdf/WP171.pdf.

Baron, Jonathan. "Thinking about Global Warming" (2006) 77 CLIMATIC CHANGE 137.

Barratt-Brown, Elizabeth P. "Building a Monitoring and Compliance Regime under the Montreal Protocol" (1991) 16 Yale Journal of International Law 519.

Barrett, Scott. "Climate Treaties and the Imperative of Enforcement" (2008) 24(2) Oxford Review of Economic Policy 239.

Barrett, Scott. "The Incredible Economics of Geoengineering" (2008) 39 ENVTL. & RESOURCE ECON. 45.

Beard, James E. "An Application of the Principles of Sustainability to the Problem of Global Climate Change: An Argument for Integrated Energy Services" (1996) 11 J. ENVTL. L. & LITIG. 191.

Beer, Stephanie & Kai P. Purnhagen. "Legal Aspects of Climate Change and Climate Policies" (2009) 34 DAJV Newsl. 162.

Bellassen, Valentin, and Sebastiaan Luyssaert. "Managing Forests in UncertainTimes" (2014) 506 Nature 153.

Bellavia, Jeremy M. "What Does Climate Justice Look Like for the Environmentally Displaced in a Post Paris Agreement Environment - Political Questions and Court Deference to Climate Science in the Urgenda Decision" (2016) 44 Denv. J. Int'l L. & Pol'y 453.

Bender, Phillip. "A State of Necessity: IUU Fishing in the CCLAMR Zone" (2008) 13 OCEAN & COASTAL L.J. 233.

Betsill, Michele. "Environmental NGOs Meet the Sovereign State: The Kyoto Protocol Negotiations on Global Climate Change" (2002) 13 Colo. J. Int'l Envtl. L. & Pol'y 49.

Beyer, Stefanie. "Environmental Law and Policy in the People t Republic of China" (2006) 5 CHINESE J. INT'L L. 185.

Beyerlin, Ulrich. "Different Types of Norms in International Environmental Law: Policies, Principles, and Rules" in Daniel Bodansky ed, the Oxford Handbook of International Environmental Law (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2007).

Biber, Eric. "Adaptive Management and the Future of Environmental Law" (2013) 46 AKRON L. REV. 933.

Biber, Eric. "Climate Change and Backlash" (2009) 17 N.Y.U. ENVTL. L.J. 1295.

Biesbroek, Robbert & Judith Klostermann and Catrien Termeer and Pavel Kabat. "Barriers to Climate Change Adaptation in the Netherlands" (2011) 2 Climate L. 181.

Bilder, Richard B. "Beyond Compliance: Helping Nations Cooperate" in Dinash Shelton ed, Commitment and Compliance: The Role of Non-Binding Norms in the International Legal System (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2000).

Billett, S. "Dividing climate change: Global warming in the Indian mass media." (2009), online: http://sciencepolicy.colorado.edu/students/envs_4800/billett_2009.pdf.

Biniaz, Susan. "Climate Change Negotiations: Legal and Other Issues on the Road to Paris" (2016) 48 Case W. Res. J. Int'l L. 103.

Bishop, Kirsten. "Liberalized Trade and International Environmental Law and Policy: Australia's Negotiations under the Kyoto Protocol" (1998) 36 Can. Y.B. Int'l L. 181.

Blanco, Sandra & Enrique Carrasco. "The Functions of the IMF and the World Bank" (1999)9 TRANSNAT'L L. & CONTEMP. PROBS. 67.

Blasi, Gary & John T. Jost. "System Justification Theory and Research: Implications for Law" (2006) 94 Cal. L. Rev. 1119.

Blomquist, Robert F. "Comparative Climate Change Torts" (2012) 46 Val. U. L. Rev. 1053.

Bluemel, Erik B. "Unraveling the Global Warming Regime Complex: Competitive Entropy in the Regulation of the Global Public Good" (2007) 155 U. PA. L. REV. 1981.

Bodansky, Daniel. "The Copenhagen Clinate Change Conference-A Post Mortem" (2010) 104 AM. J. INT'L L. 230.

Bodansky, Daniel. "The United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change: A Commentary" (1993) 18 Yale J Intl L 451.

Bodle, Ralph & Lena Donat and Matthias Duwe. "The Paris Agreement: Analysis, Assessment and Outlook" (2016) 2016 CCLR 5.

Bortscheller, Mary J. "Equitable but Ineffective: How the Principle of Common but Differentiated Responsibilities Hobbles the Global Fight against Climate Change" (2010) 10 Sustainable Dev. L. & Pol'y 49.

Bothe, Michael. "Doha and Warsaw: Reflections on Climate Law and Policy" (2014) 4 Climate L. 5.

Boustan, Leah Platt & Matthew E Kahn and Paul W Rhode. "Moving to Higher Ground: Migration Response to Natural Disasters in the Early Twentieth Century" (2012) 102 American Economic Review 238.

Bouwer, Laurens M "Projections of Future Extreme Weather Losses under Changes in

Climate and Exposure" (2013) 33(5) Risk Analysis 915.

Boyd, Emily, Nate Hultman, J. Timmons Roberts, Esteve Corbera, John Cole, Alex Bozmoski, Johannes Ebeling, Robert Tippman, Philip Manna, Katrina Brown, and Diana M. Liverman. "Reforming the CDM for Sustainable Development: Lessons Learned and Policy Futures" (2009) 12(7) Environmental Science and Policy 820.

Bradford, W. "International Legal Compliance: An Annotated Bibliography" (2004) 30(2) North Carolina Journal of International Law 379.

Bradford, William. "International Legal Compliance: Surveying the Field" (2005) 36(2) Georgetown Journal of International Law 495.

Brechin, Steven R. "Comparative Public Opinion and Knowledge on Global Climatic Change and the Kyoto Protocol: The U.S. versus the World?" (2003) 23 Int'l J. Soc. & Soc. Pol'y 106.

Briffault, Richard. "The Local Government Boundary Problem in Metropolitan Areas" (1996) 48 STAN. L. REV. 1115.

Brooks, Nick et al. "The Determinants of Vulnerability and Adaptive Capacity at the National Level and the Implications for Adaptation" (2005) 15 GLOB. ENVTL. CHANGE 151.

Broude, T. "Behavioral International Law" (2015) 163 University of Pennsylvania Law Review 1099.

Brown, Chester. "International, Mixed, and Private Disputes Arising under the Kyoto Protocol" (2010) 1(2) Journal of International Dispute Settlement 447.

Brown, Donald A. "The U.S. Performance in Achieving Its 1992 Earth Summit Global Warming Commitments" (2002) 32 Envtl. L. Rep.10741.

Brown, Marilyn A. "Market Failures and Barriers as a Basis for Clean Energy Policy" (2001) 29 ENERGY POL'Y 1197.

Browner, Carol M. "Global Climate Change: Threats and Solutions" (1997) 13 J Land Use & Envtl L 273.

Brunnée, Jutta, and Stephen J. Toope. "Interactional International Law: An Introduction" (2011) 3(2) International Theory 307.

Brunnée, Jutta. 'The Kyoto Protocol: Testing Ground for Compliance Theories?" (2003) 63 Zeitschrift für Ausländisches Öffentliches Recht und Völkerrecht 255.

Brunnée, Jutta. "A Fine Balance: Facilitation and Enforcement in the Design of a Compliance Regime for the Kyoto Protocol" (2000) 13(2) Tulane Environmental Law Journal 223.

Bryne, Mark. "Climate Crime: Can Responsibility for Climate Change Damage be Criminalised" (2010) 2010 Carbon & Climate L. Rev. 278.

Bums, William C.G. "Potential Causes of Action for Climate Change Damages in International Fora: The Law of the Sea" (2006) 2 INT'L J. SUSTAINABLE DEV. L. & POL'Y 27.

Bums, William. "Potential Causes of Action for Climate Change Impacts under the United Nations Fish Stocks Agreement" (2007) 7 INT'L J. SUSTAINABLE DEV. L. & POL'Y 2. 37.

Burns, Wil. "Loss and Damage and the 21st Conference of the Parties to the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change" (2016) 22 ILSA J. Int'l & Comp. L. 415.

Burns, William C. G. "Potential Causes of Action for Climate Change Impacts under the United Nations Fish Stocks Agreement" (2007) 7 Sustainable Dev. L. & Pol'y 34.

Busse, M. & Hefeker, C. "Political risk, institutions and foreign direct investment" (2007) 23 European Journal of Political Economy 397.

Butler, Henry N. & Jonathan R. Macey. "Externalities and the Matching Principle: The Case for Reallocating Environmental Regulatory Authority" (1996) 14 YALE L. & POL'Y REV. 23.

Buzbee, William W. "Asymmetrical Regulation: Risk, Preemption, and the Floor Ceiling Distinction" (2007) 82 N.Y.U. L. REV. 1547.

Buzbee, William W. "Urban Sprawl, Federalism, and the Problem of Institutional Complexity" (2009) 68 FORDHAM L. REV. 57.

Byravan, Sujatha, and Sudhir Chella Rajan. "Providing New Homes for Climate Change Exiles" (2006) 6Climate Policy247.

Burleson, Elizabeth. "Climate Change Displacement to Refuge" (2010) 25 J. Envtl. L.

& Litig. 19.

Black, Elizabeth C. "Climate Change Adaptation: Local Solutions for a Global Problem" (2010) 22 Geo. Int'l Envtl. L. Rev. 359.

Badichek, Gregg. "The Threat Divider: Expanding the Role of the Military in Climate Change Adaptation" (2016) 41 Colum. J. Envtl. L. 139.

Brasseur, Guy P. "Claire Granier, Mitigation, Adaptation or Climate Engineering" (2013) 14 Theoretical Inq. L. 1.

Bardi, Jessica D. "Environmental Adaptation, Legislation Adaptation: Keeping up with the Eco-Terrorists" (2015) 41 New Eng. J. on Crim. & Civ. Confinement 159.

Blazey, Patricia & Paul Govind. "Financial Adaptation Challenges for the Insurance Industry Due to Climate Change" (2007) 4 Macquarie J. Bus. L. 15.

Craig, Robin Kundis. "Adapting Water Law to Public Necessity: Reframing Climate Change Adaptation as Emergency Response and Preparedness" (2010) 11 Vt. J. Envtl. L. 709.

Camacho, Alejandro E. "A Learning Collaboratory: Improving Federal Climate Change Adaptation Planning" (2011) 6 BYU L Rev 1821.

Camacho, Alejandro E. "Legal Adaptive Capacity: How Program Goals and Processes Shape Federal Land Adaptation to Climate Change" (2016) 87 U Colo L Rev 711.

Colenbrander, Aalt. "International Framework Agreements an Analysis of the International Framework Agreement as an Instrument for Improving Working Standards in Global Business Operations" (2016) 12:1 Utrecht Law Review 109.

Carlarne, Cinnamon P. "The Glue That binds or the Straw That Broke the Camel's Back? Exploring the Implications of U.S. Reengagement in Global Climate Change Negotiations" (2010) 19 Tul J Int'l & Comp L 113.

Carlarne, Cinnamon P. "Climate Change, Cultural Heritage & the Oceans: Rethinking Regulatory Approaches to Climate Change" (2009) 17 Se Envtl LJ 271.

Cabral, Neal J. "The Role of Renewable Portfolio Standards in the Context of a National Carbon Cap-and-Trade Program" (2007) 8 SUSTAINABLE DEV. L. & POL'Y 13.

Caldeira, Ken, and Steven J. Davis. "Accounting for Carbon Dioxide Emissions: A Matter of Time" (2011) 108(21) PNAS 8533.

Camacho, Alejandro E. "A Learning Collaboratory: Improving Federal Climate Change Adaptation Planning" (2011) BYU L. REV. 1821.

Camacho, Alejandro E. "Adapting Governance to Climate Change: Managing Uncertainty through a Learning Infrastructure" (2009) 59 EMORY L.J. 1. 12.

Camacho, Alejandro E. "Assisted Migration: Redefining Nature and Natural Resource Law under Climate Change" (2010) 27 YALE J. ON REG. 171.

Camacho, Alejandro E. "Beyond Conjecture: Learning About Ecosystem Management from the Glen Canyon Dam Experiment" (2008) 8 NEV. L.J. 942.

Camacho, Alejandro E. "Going the Way of the Dodo: De-Extinction, Dualisms, and Reframing Conservation" (2015) 92 WASH. U. L. REV 849.

Camacho, Alejandro E. "Mustering the Missing Voices: A Collaborative Model for Fostering Equality, Community Involvement and Adaptive Planning in Land Use Decisions, Installment Two" (2005) 24 STAN. ENVTL. L.J. 269.

Camacho, Alejandro E. "Transforming the Means and Ends of Natural Resources Management" (2011) 89 N.C. L. REV. 1405.

Campbell, David. "After Doha: What Has Climate Change Policy Accomplished?" (2013) 25(1) Journal of Environmental Law 125.

Campbell, Troy H. & Aaron C. Kay. "Solution Aversion: On the Relation between Ideology and Motivated Disbelief" (2014) 107 J. PERSONALITY & SOC. PSYCHOL. 809.

Cao, Mingde. "Greenhouse Gas Emission Reduction Climate Change Legislation" (2013) 43 Envtl. Pol'y & L. 52.

Carlarne, Cinnamon & Michael Depledge. "Sick of the Weather: Climate Change, Human Health and International Law" (2007) 9 ENVTL. L. REV. 231.

Carlarne, Cinnamon. "Delinking International Environmental Law & Climate Change" (2014) 4 MICH. J. ENVTL. & ADIUN. L. 1, 39.

Carlarne, Cinnamon. "Risky Business: The Ups and Downs of Mixing Economics, Security and Climate Change" (2009) 10 Melbourne Journal of International Law 439.

Carlson, Ann E. "Federalism, Preemption, and Greenhouse Gas Emissions" (2003) 37

U.C. DAVIS L. REV. 281.

Carrico, Amanda R. et al. "Does Learning about Climate Change Adaptation Change Support for Mitigation?" (2015) 41 J. ENVTL. PSYCHOL. 19.

Cash, David & Susanne Moser. "Linking Global and Local Scales: Designing Dynamic Assessment and Management Processes" (2000) 10 GLOBAL ENVTL. CHANGE 109.

Castaneda,Itza; Cintia Aguilar; Allison Rand. "Measurement and Reporting: Important Elements of Gender Mainstreaming in Environmental Policies" (2013) 22 Cornell J L & Pub Pol'y 667.

Catrien, Termeer. "The Regional Governance of Climate Adaptation: A Framework for Developing Legitimate, Effective, and Resilient Governance Arrangements" (2011) 2 Climate L 159.

Cazorla, M. & Toman, M. "International equity and climate change policy" (2000) 27 Climate Issue Brief 1.

Chao, B., Y. Wu, and Y. Li. "Impact of Artificial Reservoir Water Impoundment on Global Sea Level" (2008) Science 320.

Chapman, Sophie & Martijn Wilder and Ilona Millar and Arjuna Dibley. "Implementing REDD+ under the NFCCC: Basic Requirements and Guidance for Developing National Policy and Legal Frameworks" (2015) 2015 CCLR 101.

Checkel, Jeffrey T. "Why Comply? Social Learning and European Identity Change" (2001) 53(3) International Organization 553.

Chemerinsky, Erwin et al. "California, Climate Change, and the Constitution" (2007) 37 ENVTL. L. REP. 10053.

Chimni, B. S. "The Geopolitics of Refugee Studies: A View from the South" (1998) 11Journal of Refugee Studies 350.

Christopherson, M. "Toward a rational harvest: The United Nations Agreement on Straddling Fish Stocks and Highly Migratory Species" (1996) 5 Minnesota Journal of Global Trade 357.

Church, Jonathan. "Enforcing the Climate Change Act" (2015) 4 UCLJLJ 109.

Churchill, Robin R., and Geir Ulfstein. "Autonomous Institutional Arrangements in

Multilateral Environmental Agreements: A Little-Noticed Phenomenon in International Law" (2000) 94 American Journal of International Law 623.

Ciais, P., P. Rayner, F. Chevallier, P. Bousquet, M. Logan, P. Peylin, and M. Ramonet. "Atmospheric Inversions for Estimating CO2 Fluxes: Methods and Perspectives" (2010) 103 Climatic Change 69.

Cole, Daniel H. "Climate Change, Adaptation, and Development" (2008) 26 UCLA J. ENVTL. L. & POI'Y 1. 2.

Colomer, J. "Leadership games in collective action" (1995), online: http://rss.sagepub.com/content/7/2/225.short.

Connor, Linda H., and Nick Higginbotham. "Natural cycles" in Lay Understandings of Climate Change" (2013) 23 Global Environmental Change 1852.

Cook, Anthony E. "King and the Beloved Community: A Communitarian Defense of Black Reparations" (2000) 68 GEO. WASH. L. REV. 959.

Cooper, Jessica. "Environmental Refugees: Meeting the Requirements of the Refugee Convention" (1998) New York University Environmental Law Journal 6.

Cosens, Barbara. "Transboundary River Governance in the Face of Uncertainty: Resilience Theory and the Columbia River Treaty" (2010) 30 J. LAND RES. & ENVTL. L. 229.

Covington, Michelle. "Ethical Climate Change Policy and the Individual Moral Challenge" (2015) 42 Ecology L.Q. 521.

Craig, Robin Kundis. "'Stationarity is Dead' -Long Live Transformation: Five Principles for Climate Change Adaptation Law" (2010) 34 HARV. ENVTL L. REV. 9. 55.

Craig, Robin Kundis. "Climate Change, Oceans, Public Health, and the Law" (2014) 4 Climate L. 85.

Cullet, P. "Equity and flexibility mechanisms in the climate change regime: conceptual and practical issues" (1999) 8 RECIEL168.

Cunliffe, S. Alex, and Michael Pugh. "The Politicalisation of UNHRC in the Former Yugoslavia" (1997) 10 Journal of Refugee Studies 134.

Cliquet, An & Chris Backes, Jim Harris, Peter Howsam. "Adaptation to Climate Change - Legal Challenges for Protected Areas" (2009) 5 Utrecht L. Rev. 158.

Deng, Haifeng & Chiyuan Chen. "Common and Symmetrical Responsibility in Climate Change: A Bridging Mechanism for Adaptation and Mitigation" (2016) 9 J. E. Asia & Int'l L. 99.

Di Leva, Charles E. & Xiaoxin Shi. "The Paris Agreement and the International Trade Regime: Considerations for Harmonization" (2016) 17 Sustainable Dev L & Pol'y 20.

Druzin, Bryan H. "A Plan to Strengthen the Paris Climate Agreement" (2015) 84 Fordham L Rev Res Gestae 18.

DeSombre, Elizabeth R. "Climate Change and Global Environmental Governance" (2008) 14 Global Governance 111.

Dagmar, Lohan. "Assessing the Mechanisms for the Input of Scientific Information into the UNFCCC" (2006) 17 Colo J Int'l Envtl L & Pol'y 249.

Dai, Xinyuan. "Why Comply? The Domestic Constituency Mechanism" (2005) 59 International Organization 363.

Dana, David A. & Hannah J. Wiseman. "A Market Approach to Regulating the Energy Revolution: Assurance Bonds, Insurance, and the Certain and Uncertain Risks of Hydraulic Fracturing" (2014) 99 IOWA L. REV. 1523.

Danish, Kyle W. "An Overview of the International Regime Addressing Climate Change" (2007) 7 Sustainable Dev. L. & Pol'y 10.

Danish, Kyle. "Review of A. Chayes and A.H. Chayes, the New Sovereignty" (1997) 37 Virginia Journal of International Law 789.

Daschle, Tom. "Changing the Political Climate on Climate Change" (2008) 9 Geo. J. Int'l Aff. 93.

Daugherty, Steven. "The Unfulfilled Promise of an End to Timber Dominance on the Tongass: Forest Service Implementation of the Tongass Timber Reform Act" (1994) 24 ENVTL. L. 1573.

Davidson, Nestor M. "Cooperative Localism: Federal-Local Collaboration in an Era of State Sovereignty" (2007) 93 VA. L. REV. 959.

Deccan Chronicle. "India should guide the world on fighting climate change, says

Narendra Modi" (2015), online: http://www.deccanchronicle.com/150406/nation-cur rent-affairs/article/india-should-have-taken-lead-climate-change-modi-two-day.

DeGroot, Judith & Linda Steg. "General Beliefs and the Theory of Planned Behavior: The Role of Environmental Concerns in the TPB" (2007) 37 J. APPLIED SOC. PSYCHOL 1817.

Dehm, Julia. "Carbon Colonialism or Climate Justice: Interrogating the International Climate Regime from a TWAIL Perspective" (2016) 33 Windsor Y.B. Access Just. 129.

Demange, Lia Helena Monteiro de Lima. "The Principle of Resilience" (2013) 30 PACE ENVTL. L. REV. 695.

Dembach, John C. "Overcoming the Behavioral Impetus for Greater U.S. Energy Consumption" (2007) 20 PAC. MCGEORGE GLOBAL Bus. & DEV. L.J. 15.

Deng, Haifeng Deng & Chiyuan Chen. "Common and Symmetrical Responsibility in Climate Change: A Bridging Mechanism for Adaptation and Mitigation" (2016) 9 J. E. Asia & Int'l L. 99.

Dernbach, John C. & Seema Kakade. "Climate Change Law: An Introduction" (2008) 29 Energy L.J. 1.

Dernbach, John. "Stabilizing and Then Reducing U.S. Energy Consumption: Legal and Policy Tools for Efficiency and Conservation" (2007) 37 ENVTL. L. REP. 10003.

Dias, R.A. & Mattos, C.R. and Balestieri, J.A.P. "The limits of human development and the use of energy and natural resources" (2006) 24 Energy Policy1026.

Dietz, Simon. "The Impacts of Climate Change: Perspective from the Stern Review" (2007) 13 Brown J. World Aff. 173.

Diringer, Elliot. "A Patchwork of Emissions Cuts" (2013) 501 Nature 307.

Disch, David. "A Comparative Analysis of the "Development Dividend" of Clean Development Mechanism Projects in Six Host Countries" (2010) 2 Climate and Development 50.

Docherty, Bonnie & Tyler Giannini. "Confronting a Rising Tide: A Proposal for a Convention on Climate Change Refugees" (2009) 33 Harvard Environmental Law Review 349.

Doeile, Meinhard. "Climate Change and the Use of the Dispute Settlement Regime of the Law of the Sea Convention" (2006) 37 J. OCEAN DEV. & INT'L L. 319.

Doelle, Meinhard & Steven Evans and Tony George Puthucherril. "The Role of the UNFCCC Regime in Ensuring Effective Adaptation in Developing Countries: Lessons from Bangladesh" (2014) 4 Climate L. 327.

Doelle, Meinhard. "Climate Change and the Use of the Dispute Settlement Regime of the Law of the Sea Convention" (2006) 37 OCEAN DEV. & INT'L L. 319.

Doelle, Meinhard. "International Law in the Era of Climate Change" (2014) 4 Climate L. 169.

Doelle, Meinhard. "The Birth of the Warsaw Loss & Damage Mechanism" (2014) 2014 CCLR 35.

Doelle, Meinhard. "The Copenhagen Climate Talks: The End of the Road for the UNFCC or a Step forward in the Evolution of the Regime" (2010) 2 Amsterdam L.F. 71.

Doelle, Meinhard. "The Kyoto Protocol: Reflections on its Significance on the Occasion of its Entry into Force" (2004) 27(2) Dalhousie Law Journal 555.

Doelle, Meinhard. "The Legacy of the Climate Talks in Copenhagen: Hopenhagen or Brokenhagen" (2010) 2010 Carbon & Climate L. Rev. 86.

Donahue, Debra L. "Western Grazing: The Capture of Grass, Ground, and Government" (2005) 35 ENVTL. L. 721.

Doremus, Holly. "Science Plays Defense: Natural Resource Management in the Bush Administration" (2005) 32 ECOLOGY L.Q. 249.

Doudda, John Von & ALlison Corkery and Renee Chartres. "Human Rights and Climate Change" (2007) 14 Austl. Int'l L.J. 161.

Dougald, Joseph Mac & Peter Kochenburger. "Insurance and Climate Change" (2013) 47 J. Marshall L. Rev. 101.

Dow, Stephen. "Climate Change and Sustainable Energy Act 2006" (2007) 9 Envtl. L. Rev. 279.

Downs, George W. & David M. Rocke and Peter N. Barsoon "is Good News about

Compliance Good News about Cooperation?" (1996) 50:3 Int.'Org. 379.

Downs, George W. "Enforcement and the Evolution of Cooperation" (1998) 19 Michigan Journal of International Law 319.

Driesen, David. "Thirty Years of International Environmental Law: A Retrospective and Plea for Reinvigoration" (2003) 30 SYRACUSE J. INT'L L. & COM. 353.

Droege, Susanne Droege. "The Trade System and Climate Action: Ways Forward under the Paris Agreement" 13 S.C. J. Int'l L. & Bus. 195 (2017)

Drumbl, Mark A. "Poverty, Wealth, and Obligation in International Environmental Law" (2002) 76(4) Tulane Law Review 843.

Drummond, Laura. "UNFCCC Green Climate Fund Created" (2011) 11 Sustainable Dev. L. & Pol'y 69.

Dubash, N., & Rajan, S. "The politics of power sector reform in India" (2001), online: http://pdf.wri.org/power_politics/india.pdf.

Dubash, Navroz K., Markus Hagemann, Niklas Höhne, and Prabhat Upadhyaya. "Developments in National Climate Change Mitigation Legislation and Strategy" (2013) 13 Climate Policy 649.

Dubois, Sandrine Maljean & Thomas Spencer and Matthieu Wemaere. "The Legal Form of the Paris Climate Agreement: A Comprehensive Assessment of Options" (2015) 2015 CCLR 68.

Duffy, Rosaleen & Melaine Stroebel. "Protecting Holidays Forever: Climate Change and the Tourism Industry" (2015) 22 Brown J. World Aff. 7.

Dupasquier, C. & Osakwe, P.N. "Foreign direct investment in Africa: Performance, challenges, and responsibilities" (2006) 17 Journal of Asian Economics 241.

Durant, A.J., Corinne Le Quéré, C. Hope, and A.D. Friend. "Economic Value of Improved Quantification in Global Sources and Sinks of Carbon Dioxide" (2011) 369 Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society A 1967.

Dwyer, DwyJohn P. "The Practice of Federalism under the Clean Air Act" (1995) 54 MD. L. REV. 1183.

Eggert, Hakkan. "The Centenary of Jens Warming's Optimal Landing Tax in Fisheries"

(2012) 26 MARINE RESOURCES ECON. 107.

Ehrmann, Markus. "Procedures of Compliance Control in International Environmental Treaties" (2002) 13 Colorado Journal of International Environmental Law and Policy 377.

Ellis, J. "The Straddling Stocks Agreement and the Precautionary Principle as Interpretive Device and Rule of Law" (2001) 32 ODIL289.

Ellis, Jane, Harald Winkler, Jan Corfee-Morlot, and Frédéric Gagnon-Lebrun. "CDM: Taking Stock and Looking Forward" (2007) 35(1) Energy Policy 15.

Engel, Kirsten H. & Barak Y. Orbach. "Micro Motives and State and Local Climate Change Initiatives" (2008) 2 HARV. J.L. & PUB. POL'Y 119.

Engel, Kirsten H. & Scott R. Saleska. "Subglobal Regulation of the Global Commons: The Case of Climate Change" (2005) 32 Ecology L.Q. 183.

Engel, Kirsten H. "Harnessing the Benefits of Dynamic Federalism in Environmental Law" (2006) 56 EMORY L.J. 159.

Engel, Kirsten H. "Mitigating Global Climate Change in the United States: A Regional Approach" (2005) 14 N.Y.U. ENVTL. L.J. 54.

Engel, Kirsten H. "State Standing in Climate Change Lawsuits" (2011) 26 J. Land Use & Envtl. L. 217.

Engel, Kirsten H. "The Dormant Commerce Clause Threat to Market-Based Environmental Regulation: The Case of Electricity Deregulation" (1999) 26 ECOLOGY L.Q. 243.

Errin, S. "Law in a vacuum: the common heritage doctrine in outer space law" (1984) 7 Boston College International and Comparative Law Review 403.

Esty, Daniel C. "Good Governance at the Supranational Scale: Globalizing Administrative Law" (2006) the Yale Law Journal 115.

Euston, tanley R. "Rebooting State Planning: Climate Change and the Energy Challenge" (2005) 57 lanning & Envtl. L. 3.

Farber, Daniel A. "Adapting to Climate Change: Who Should Pay" (2007) 23 J Land Use & Envtl L 1.

Farber, Daniel A. "Catastrophic Risk, Climate Change, and Disaster Law" (2013) Asia Pacific Journal of Environmental Law 19.

Farber, Daniel A. "Basic Compensation for Victims of Climate Change" (2007) 155(6) University of Pennsylvania Law Review 1605.

Farber, Daniel A. "Carbon Leakage versus Policy Diffusion: The Perils and Promise of Sub global Climate Action" (2013) 13 CHI. J. INT'L L. 359.

Farber, Daniel A. "Climate Adaptation and Federalism: Mapping the Issues" (2009) SSRN Journal, online: http://www.ssrn.com/abstract=1468621.

Farber, Daniel A. "Introduction: The Role of Lawyers in a Disaster Prone World" (2007) 31 NOVA L. REv. 403.

Farber, Daniel A. "The Case for Climate Compensation: Justice for Climate ChangeVictims in a Complex World" (2008) 2008(2) Utah Law Review 377.

Fairbanks, Sandra Jane. "Climate Change and Moral Responsibility" (2014) 4 Earth Jurisprudence & Envtl. Just. J. 57.

Famin, F. "Climate Change Negotiations: An analysis of the Kyoto Protocol" (1998) 10 International Journal of Environmental Pollution428.

Fan, Mary D. "Political Climate Change Surrounding Alternatives to Incarceration" (2011) 38 Hum. Rts. 6.

Farina, Cynthia R et al. "Rulemaking in 140 Characters or Less: Social Networking and Public Participation in Rulemaking" (2011) 31 PACE L. REV. 382.

Faure, Michael G. "Effectiveness of Environmental Law: What Does the EvidenceTell Us?" (2012) 36 William and Mary Environmental Law and Policy Review 293.

Faure, Michael. "The Regulator's Dilemma: Caught between the Need for Flexibility & the Demands of Foreseeability. Reassessing the Lex Certa Principle" (2014) 24 ALB. L.J. SCI. & TECH. 283.

Feigenson, Neal et al. "Perceptions of Terrorism and Disease Risks: A Cross-National Comparison" (2004) 69 Mo. L. Rev. 991.

Felipe, J., Kumar, U., & Abdon, A. "Exports, capabilities, and industrial policy in India. Agricultural sector overview" (2010), online: http://www.ficci-b2b.com/sector-overview-pdf/Sector-agri.pdf.

Finholt, Thomas A. & Gary M. Olson. "From Laboratories to Collaboratories: A New Organizational Form for Scientific Collaboration" (1997) 8 PSYCHOL. SCI. 28.

Finnemore, Martha. "Are Legal Norms Distinctive?" (2000) 32 New York University Journal of International Law and Politics 699.

Finus, Michael. "The Enforcement Mechanisms of the Kyoto Protocol: Flawed or Promising Concepts?" (2008) 1 Letters in Spatial and Resource Sciences 13.

Firstpost. "India will push for polluter pays policy at Paris climate change meet, says Prakash Javadekar—Firstpost. Firstpost" (2015), online: http://www.firstpost.com/india/india-will-seek-climate-justice-for-the-billions-of-poor-of-this-world-at-paris-climate-change-meet-2517138.html.

Fischman, Robert L. "The National Wildlife Refuge System and the Hallmarks of Modern Organic Legislation" (2002) 29 ECOLOGY L.Q. 457.

Fitzmaurice, Malgosia, and Catherine Redgwell. "Environmental Non-Compliance Procedures and International Law" (2000) 31 Netherlands Yearbook of International Law 35.

Fitzmaurice, Malgosia. "Responsibility and Climate Change" (2010) 53 German Y.B. Int'l L. 89.

Flatt, Victor B. & Jeremy M. Tarr. "Adaptation, Legal Resiliency, and the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers: Managing Water Supply in a Climate-Altered World" (2011) 89 N.C. L. REV. 1499.

Flatt, Victor B. "Adapting Laws for a Changing World: A Systemic Approach to Climate Change" (2012) 64 FLA. L. REV. 269.

Frakes, J. "The common heritage of mankind principle and the deep seabed, outer space, and Antarctica: will developed and developing nations reach a compromise?" (2003) 21 Wisconsin International Law Journal 409.

Frankx, E. "Regional Marine Environmental Protection Regimes in the Context of UNCLOS" (1998) 13 International Journal of Marine and Coastal Law 307.

Fraser, Barbara. "Carving Up the Amazon" (2014) 509 Nature 418.

Fraser, Evan et al. "Bottom Up and Top Down: Analysis of Participatory Processes for Sustainability Indicator Identification as a Pathway to Community Empowerment and

Sustainable Environmental Management" (2006) 78 J. OF ENVTL. MGMT. 114.

Freeman, Jody & Andrew Guzman. "Climate Change and U.S. Interests" (2009) 109 Colum. L. Rev. 1531.

Freeman, Jody & David B. Spence. "Old Statutes, New Problems" (2014) 163 U. PA. L. REV. 1. 5.

Freeman, Jody. "Collaborative Governance in the Administrative State" (1997) 45 UCLA L. REV 21.

Freeman, Jody. "Obama Administration's National Auto Policy: Lessons from the Car Deal" (2011) 35 Harvard Environmental Law Review.

French, D. (2000) "Developing states and international environmental law: the importance of differentiated responsibilities" (2000) 49 International and Comparative Law Quarterly 35.

French, Duncan, and Lavanya Rajamani. "Climate Change and International Environmental Law: Musings on a Journey to Somewhere" (2013) 25(3) Journal of Environmental Law 437.

Fuller, Thomas & Andrew C. Revkin. "Climate Plan Looks beyond Bush's Tenure" (2007) N.Y. TIMES 1.

Ford, Jamie Kay & Erick Giles, "Climate Change Adaptation in Indian Country: Tribal Regulation of Reservation Lands and Natural Resources" (2015) 41 Wm. Mitchell L. Rev. 519.

Farber, Daniel A. "Climate Adaptation and Federalism: Mapping the Issues" (2009) 1 San Diego J. Climate & Energy L. 259.

Godden. Lee & Francine Rochford, Jacqueline Peel, Lisa Caripis. "Law, Governance and Risk: Deconstructing the Public-Private Divide in Climate Change Adaptation" (2013) 36 U.N.S.W.L.J. 224.

Gruber, Stefan. "The Impact of Climate Change on Cultural Heritage Sites: Environmental Law and Adaptation" (2011) 2011 Carbon & Climate L. Rev. 209.

Grossman, David A. "Warming up to a Not-So-Radical Idea: Tort-Based Climate Change Litigation" (2003) 28 Colum J Envtl L 1.

Giorgetti, Chiara. "The Role of Nongovernmental Organizations in the Climate Change

Negotiations" (1998) 9 Colo J Int'l Envtl L & Pol'y 115.

Gromilova, Mariya. "Finding Opportunities to Combat the Climate Change Migration Crisis: The Potential of the 'Adaptation Approach'" (2016) 33 Pace Envtl L Rev 105.

Green, Andrew. "Self-Control Individual Choice, and Climate Change" (2008) 26 Va Envtl LJ 77.

Galpern, Dan. "Climate Change: Urgency and Response" (2008) 23 J Envtl L & Litig 191.

Gray, Kevin R. "Transboundary Environmental Disputes along the Canada-US Frontier: Revisiting the Efficacy of Applying the Rules of State Responsibility" (2006) 43 Can. Y.B. Int'l L. 333.

Gage, Andrew. "Climate Change Litigation and the Public Right to a Healthy Atmosphere" (2013) 24 J. ENVTL. L. & PRAC. 257.

Garmestani, Ahjond S. "Adaptive Management and Governance: Policy Options for Building Resilience" (2009) 87 NEB. L. REV. 1036.

Gaye, A. "Access to energy and human development" (2007), online: http://hdr.undp.org/ sites/default/files/gaye amie.pdf.

Gehring, Thomas. "International Environmental Regimes: Dynamic Sectoral Legal Systems" (1990) 1 Y.B. INT'L ENVTL. L. 35.

Geisiger, Alex. "A Belief Change Theory of Expressive Law" (2002) 88 IOWA L. REV. 35.

Geissler, N. "The International Protection of Internally Displaced Persons" (1999) 11 International Journal of Refugee Law 11.

Gerrard, Michael B. "Introductory Comments: The Current State of Climate Change Law" (2010) 10 Sustainable Dev. L. & Pol'y 2.

Ghaleigh, Navraj Singh. "Two Stories about E.U. Climate Change Law and Policy" (2013) 14 Theoretical Inq. L. 43.

Gichira, Peter S. Gichira & Jones F. Agwata and Kariuki D. Muigua. "Climate Finance: Fears and Hopes for Developing Countries" (2014) 22 J.L. Pol'y & Globalization 1.

Giesberts, Ludger, Alexander Sarac, and John Wunderlin. "The Institutional Design of the CDM Appeals Body: Recent Developments and Key Considerations" (2011) 5

Carbon and Climate Law Review 277.

Gillespie, Alexander. "Implementation and Compliance concerns in International Environmental Law" (2002) NZJEL Volume 7.53.

Gillespie, Alexander. "Small Island States in the Face of Climatic Change: The End of the Line in International Environmental Responsibility" (2003) 22UCLA Journal of Environmental Law and Policy109.

Glickman, Robert L. "Ecosystem Resilience to Disruptions Linked to Global Climate Change: An Adaptive Approach to Federal Land Management" (2009) 87 NEB. L. REV. 833.

Glicksman, Robert L. "Climate Change Adaptation: A Collective Action Perspective on Federalism Considerations" (2010) 40 ENVTL. L. 1159.

Globerman, S. & Shapiro, D. "Global foreign direct investment flows: the role of governance infrastructure" (2002) 30 World Development 1899.

Gogarty, Brendan. "Climate-Change Displacement: Current Legal Solutions to Future Global Problems" (2011) J.L. INFO. & SCI.176.

Gold, Joseph. "Natural Disasters and Other Emergencies Beyond Control: Assistance by the IMF" (1990) 24 International Law 621.

Goldsmith, Arthur A. "Is Governance Reform a Catalyst for Development?" (2007) 20(2) Governance 165.

Goldsmith, Jack L., and Eric A. Posner. "A Theory of Customary International Law (1999) 66 University of Chicago Law Review 1113.

Goldsmith, Jack L., and Eric A. Posner. "International Agreements: A Rational Choice Approach" (2003) 44 Virginia Journal of International Law 113.

Gordeeva, Yelena M. "The Russian Federation and the International Climate Change Regime" (2014) 2014 CCLR 167.

Gordon, H. Scott. "The Economic Theory of a Common-Property Resource. The Fishery" (1954) 62 J. POL. ECON. 124.

Grant, Ruth W. & Robert O. Keohane. "Accountability and Abuses of Power in World Politics" (2005) American Political Science Review 99.

Grasso, Marco, and J. Timmons Roberts. "A Compromise to Break the Climate Impasse" (2014) 4 Nature Climate Change 543.

Green, Shelby D. "The Search for a National Land Use Policy: For the Cities' Sake" (1998) 26 FORDHAM URB. L.J. 69.

Gremillion, Thomas M. "Setting the Foundation: Climate Change Adaptation at the Local Level" (2011) 41 ENVTL. L. 1221.

Griffith, Janice C. "Smart Governance for Smart Growth: The Need for Regional Governments" (2001) 17 GA. ST. U. L. REV. 1019.

Grindle, Merilee S. "Good Enough Governance: Poverty Reduction and Reform in Developing Countries" (2004) 17 Governance 525.

Grob, Alexander. "A Structural Model of Environmental Attitudes and Behavior" (1995) 15 J. ENVTL. PSYCHOL209.

Grossman, David A. "Warming Up to a Not-So-Radical Idea: Tort-Based Climate Change Litigation" (2003) 28 COLUM.J. ENVTL. L. 1, 12.

Grossman, Margaret Rosso. "Climate Change and the Law" (2010) 58 Am. J. Comp. L. 223.

Grover, A. "Electricity Act 2003: Opportunities and threats—Crisil young thought leaders" (2003), online: http://www.crisil.com/youngthoughtleader/winners/07-Grover-NM.PDF.

Grzybowski, A. & McCaffrey, S.C. and Paisley, R.K. "Beyond international water law: successfully negotiating mutual gains agreements for international watercourses" (2010) 22 Pacific McGeorge Global Business & Development Law Journal 139.

Guruswamy, L.D. "Climate change: the next dimension" (1999) 15 Journal of Land Use & Environmental Law 341.

Guruswamy, Lakshman. "Climate Change: The Next Dimension" (2000) 9 J. Transnat'l L. & Pol'Y341.

Guruswamy, Lakshman. "The Promise of the United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea: Justice in Trade and Environment Disputes" (1998) 25 ECOLOGY L.Q. 189.

Gusti, Mykola, and Matthias Jonas. 'Terrestrial Full Carbon Account for Russia:

Revised Uncertainty Estimates and their Role in a Bottom-up/Top-Down Accounting Exercise" (2010) 103 Climatic Change 159.

Gutermann, Paul E. "Climate Change Disclosure Obligations" (2008) 17 Bus. L. Today 38.

Guzman, Andrew T. "A Compliance Based Theory of International Law" (2002) 90 California Law Review 1823.

Hailemariam, Adane Kebede. "Global Warming and the Search for a Single Equity Principle for the Distribution of Burdens" (2008) 1 Jimma U JL 1.

Harper, Christina K. "Climate Change and Tax Policy" (2007) 30 B C Int'l & Comp L Rev 411.

Halvorssen, Anita M. "UNFCCC, the Kyoto Protocol, and the WTO - Brewing Conflicts or Are They Mutually Supportive" (2008) 36 Denv J Int'l L & Pol'y 369.

Horstmann, Britta & Achala Chandani Abeysinghe. "The Adaptation Fund of the Kyoto Protocol: A model for financing adaptation to climate change?" (2011) 3 Climate Law 415.

Hodas, David. "The Climate Change Convention and Evolving Legal Models of Sustainable Development" (1995) 13 Pace Envtl L Rev 75.

Hey, Ellen. "The Precautionary Concept in Environmental Policy and Law: Institutionalizing Caution" (1992) 4 Geo Int'l Envtl L Rev 303.

Holland, Andrew. "After Kyoto: Building an Effective Global Regime to Address Climate Change" (2014) 16 Whitehead J Dipl & Int'l Rel 53.

Huggel, Christian et al. "Potential and limitations of the attribution of climate change impacts for informing Loss and Damage discussions and policies" (2015) 133:3 Climatic Change 453.

Helmer, Wallimann. "Justice for climate Loss and Damage" (2015) 133:3 Climatic Change 469.

Habib, M. and Zurawicki, L. "Corruption and foreign direct investment" (2002) 33 Journal of International Business Studies 291.

Hagmann, Tobias. "Confronting the Concept of Environmentally Induced Conflict" (2005) 6 Peace, Conflict and Development1.

Hailun, Y.G. "Measuring and monitoring energy access: Decision-support tools for policymakers in Africa" (2012) 47 Energy Policy 56.

Haites, Erik, and Farhana Yamin. "Overview of the Kyoto Mechanisms" (2004) 5(1) International Review for Environmental Strategies 199.

Hall, Lorelyn. "Technology Tranfers under the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change" (2005) 17 Colo. J. Int'l Envtl. L. & Pol'y 59.

Hall, Margaux J and David C Weiss. "Avoiding Adaptation Apartheid: Climate Change Adaptation and Human Rights Law" (2012) 37 Yale Journal of International Law 309.

Hall, Noah D. "Interstate Water Compacts and Climate Change Adaptation" (2010) 5 Envtl. & Energy L. & Pol'Y J. 237.

Halvorssen, A.M. "Common but differentiated commitments in the future climate change regime – amending the Kyoto Protocol to include Annex C and the Annex C Mitigation Fund" (2007) 18 Colorado Journal of International Environmental Law and Policy 247.

Halvorssen, Anita M. "Global Response to Climate Change-From Stockholm to Copenhagen" (2008) 85 DENV. U. L. REV. 841.

Halvorssen, Anita M. "The Kyoto Protocol and Developing Countries-the Clean Development Mechanism" (2005) 16 COLO. J. INT'L ENVTL. L. & POL'Y 353.

Halvorssen, Anita, and Jon Hovi. "The Nature, Origin and Impact of Legally Binding Consequences: The Case of the Climate Regime" (2006) 6 International Environmental Agreements 157.

Hamilton, Sarah R. "Comment, Developments in Climate Change" (2004) COLO. J. INT'L ENVTL. L. & POL'Y. 2003 Y.B. 37.

Handl, Günter. "Compliance Control Mechanisms and International Environmental Obligations" (1997) 5 Tulane Journal of International and Comparative Law 29.

Hanekamp, Jaap C; Lucas Bergkamp. "The Best Available Science and the Paris Agreement on Climate Change" (2016) 7 Eur J Risk Reg 42.

Hannon, John. "Slowly Warming to Climate Change" (2017) 44 Ecology L.Q. 511.

Hanrath, J., & Leggewie, C. "Revolution 2.0? The role of digital media in political mobilisation and protest" (2013), online: https://www.academia.edu/10198612/Revolution 2.0 The Role of Digital Media in Political Mobilisation and Protest.

Hara, Noriko et al. "An Emerging View of Scientific Collaboration: Scientists' Perspectives on Collaboration and Factors that Impact Collaboration" (2003) 54 J. AM. Soc'Y FOR INFO. SCI. & TECH. 952.

Hare, William, Claire Stockwell, Christian Flachsland, and Sebastian Oberthür. "The Architecture of the Global Climate Regime: A Top-Down Perspective" (2010) 10 Climate Policy 600.

Harris, Paul G. "Risk-Averse Governments" (2014) 4 Nature Climate Change 245.

Harris, Paul G. Harris. "Climate Change and Global Citizenship" (2008) 30 Law & Pol'y 481.

Harswick, Tamara L. "Developments in Climate Change" (2003) 14 Colo. J. Int'l Envtl. L. & Pol'y 25.

Hatch, Michael T. "The Role of Renewable Energy in German Climate Change Policy" (2010) 1 Renewable Energy L. & Pol'y Rev. 141.

Hathaway, Oona A. "Between Power and Principle: An Integrated Theory of International Law" (2005) 72(2) University of Chicago Law Review 469.

Hausler, Kristin & Robert McCorquodale. "Climate Change and Its Impact on Security and Survival" (2011) 37 Commw. L. Bull. 617.

Hecht, Sean B. "Climate Change and the Transformation of Risk: Insurance Matters" (2008) 55 UCLA L. REV. 1559.

Heinzerling, Lisa & Frank Ackerman, "Law and Economics for a Warming World" (2007) 1 HARV. L. & POL'Y REV 331.

Heinzerling, Lisa. "Climate Change at EPA" (2012) 64 Fla. L. Rev. 1.

Heller, Thomas C. "Environmental Realpolitik: Joint Implementation and Climate Change" (1996) 3 Ind. J. Global Legal Stud. 295.

Hernandez, Jenny R and Anne D Johnson. "A Call to Respond: the International Community's Obligation to Mitigate the Impact of Natural Disasters" (2011) 25 Emory International Law Review 1087.

Hilgartner S., & Bosk, C. "Rise and fall of social problems: A public arenas model" (1988), online: http://www.unc.edu/~fbaum/teaching/PLSC_SOC_497_SP_2008/Hilgartner_Bosk_AJS_1988.pdf. Accessed 31 July 2014.

Hill, Robert. "The International Climate Change Agreement: An Evolution" (2001) 24 U.N.S.W.L.J. 543.

Hill, Tony. "UN Climate Change Conference Durban: Outcomes and Future of the Kyoto Protocol" (2011) 7 Macquarie J. Int'l & Comp. Envtl. L. 92.

Hilson, Chris. "It's All About Climate Change, Stupid! Exploring the Relationship between Environmental Law and Climate Law" (2013) 25(3) Journal of Environmental Law 359.

Hodgkinson, David et al. "The Hour When the Ship Comes in: A Convention for Persons Displaced by Climate Change" (2010) 36 MONASH U. L. REV. 69.

Hoffmann, Hillary M. "Climate Change and the Decline of the Federal Range: Is Adaptive Management the Solution?" (2014) 15 VT. J. ENVTL. L. 36.

Horn, Laura Horn. "Is Litigation an Effective Weapon for Pacific Island Nations in the War against Climate Change" (2009) 12 Asia Pac. J. Envtl. L. 169.

Horn, Laura. "The Kyoto Protocol: Australia's Commitment and Compliance" (2001) 24 U.N.S.W.L.J. 583.

Horstmann, Britta, and Achala Chandani Abeysinghe. "The Adaptation Fund of the Kyoto Protocol: A Model for Financing Adaptation to Climate Change?" (2011) 2(3) Climate Law 415.

Hovi, Jon, Camilla Breteville Froyn, and Guri Bang. "Enforcing the Kyoto Protocol: Can Punitive Consequences Restore Compliance?" (2007) 33 Review of International Studies 435.

Hovi, Jon, Mads Greaker, Cathrine Hagem, and Bjart Holtsmark. "A Credible Compliance Enforcement System for the Climate Regime" (2012) 12(6) Climate Policy 741.

Hsiung, Wayne & Cass R. Sunstein. "Climate Change and Animals" (2007) 155 U. Pa. L. Rev. 1695.

Huang, Peter H. "International Environmental Law and Emotional Rational Choice" (2002) 31(1) Journal of Legal Studies S237.

Hudson, Blake. "Coastal Land Loss and the Mitigation-Adaptation Dilemma: Between Scylla and Charybdis" (2012) 73 Louisiana Law Review 31.

Huq, Saleemul & Erin Roberts, and Adrian Fenton. "Loss and Damage" (2013) 3(11) Nature Climate Change 947.

Irish, Maureen F. "LDCs, Climate Change and Trade" (2012) 5 Law& Dev. Rev. 2.

Ijaiya, Hakeem. "Legal and Institutional Framework for Achieving Sustainable Development in Nigeria through the Clean Development Mechanisms" (2015) 20 U. Botswana L.J. 46.

ILA. "New Delhi Declaration of Principles of International Law Relating to Sustainable Development" (2002) 2 International Environmental Agreements: Politics, Law and Economics211.

Isenberg, Jordan, and Catherine Potvin. "Financing REDD in Developing Countries: A Supply and Demand Analysis" (2010) 10(2) Climate Policy 216.

Islam, M. Rafiqul. "The Sudanese Darfur Crisis and Internally Displaced Persons in International Law: The Least Protection for the Most Vulnerable" (2006) 18 International Journal of Refugee Law354.

Jamieson, Dale. "Climate Change, Consequentialism, and the Road Ahead" (2013) 13 Chi J Int'l L 439.

Johnsson, Amy. "Climate Change in International Environmental Law an Introduction" (2013) 17 E & Central Eur J on Envtl L 1.

J. Preston. "Climate Change Litigation (Part 1)" (2011) 2011 Carbon & Climate L. Rev. 3.

Jacobs, Rebecca E. "Treading Deep Waters: Substantive Law Issues in Tuvalu's Threat to Sue the United States in the International Court of Justice" (2005) 14 PAC. RIM L. & POLY J 103.

Jaggard, Lyn. "Climate Change Politics, the UN and National Interests" (2008) 38 Envtl. Pol'y & L. 230.

Jaiswal, S., Gupta, A., & Mankad, M. "India's not waiting" (2010), online: http://switch board.nrdc.org/blogs/ajaiswal/indias_not_waiting.html.

Jarvis, Ryan. "Sinking Nations and Climate Change Adaptation Strategies" (2010) 9 Seattle J. Soc. Just. 447.

Javadekar, P. "Statement made at the 20th Conference of Parties (COP-20) in Lima" (2014), online:http://envfor.nic.in/content/statement-hon%E2%80%99ble-minister-high-level-segment-unfccc-cop-20-december-9-2014.

Jaworski, Ann. "Encouraging Climate Adaptation through Reform of Federal Crop Insurance Subsidies" (2016) 91 NYU L Rev 1684.

Johnston, Jason Scott Johnston & Heidi M. Hurd. "Climate Change and the Courts" (2011) 160 U. Pa. L. Rev. PENNumbra 33.

Jones, C. "Rethinking the legacy of President Obama" (2015), online: http://www.huf fingtonpost.com/clarence-b-jones/rethinking-the-legacy-of-president-obama b 6923550.html?ir=India&adsSiteOverride=in.

Jones, Pens. "Urban Regeneration's Poisoned Chalice: Is There an Impasse in Community Participation-Based Policy?" (2003) 40 URBAN STUD. 581.

Joyce, Patrick. "Agreement between Australia and Indonesia on Climate Change" (1997) 2 Asia Pac. J. Envtl. L. 209.

Joyner, Christopher. "Rethinking International Environmental Regimes: What Role for Partnership Coalitions?" (2005) I J. INT'L L. & INT'L REL. 89.

Jung, M. "Host Country Attractiveness for CDM non-sink projects" (2006) Energy Policy 2174.

Kaswan, Alice. "Climate Change, Consumption, and Cities" (2009) 36 Fordham Urb LJ 253.

Kaswan, Alice. "Climate Change Adaptation and Land Use: Exploring the Federal" (2013) 47 J Marshall L Rev 509.

Kienast, Andrea N. "Consensus Behind Action: The Fate of the Paris Agreement in the United States of America" (2015) 2015 CCLR 314.

Kahan, Dan M. "Foreword: Neutral Principles, Motivated Cognition, and Some Problems for Constitutional Law" (2011) 125 HARV. L. REV. 1, 19.

Kahn, Walter. "From the Nansen Principles to the Nansen Initiative" (2012) 41 FORCED MIGRATION REV. 48.

Keesen, M. Andrea. "Adaptation to Climate Change in European Water Law and Policy" (2012) 8 Utrecht L. Rev. 38.

Kahneman, Daniel & Jack L. Knetsch and Richard H. Thaler. "Fairness and the Assumptions of Economics" (1986) 59 J Bus 285.

Kaiser, Florian G. et al. "Contrasting the Theory of Planned Behavior with the Value-Belief-Norm Model in Explaining Conservation Behavior" (2005) 35 J. APPLIED SOC. PSYCHOL 2150.

Kalas, Peggy Rodgers, and Alexia Herwig. "Dispute Resolution under the Kyoto Protocol" (2000) 27(1) Ecology Law Quarterly 53.

Kaminskaitė-Salters, Giedrė. "Climate Change Litigation in the UK: Its Feasibility and Prospects" In Climate Change Liability, edited by Michael Faure and Marjan Peeters. Cheltenham, UK: Edward Elgar, (2011) 165.

Karkkainen, Bradley C. "Panarchy and Adaptive Change: Around the Loop and Back Again" (2005) 7 MINN. J.L. SCI. & TECH. 59.

Kaswan, Alice. "A Cooperative Federalism Proposal for Climate Change Legislation: The Value of State Autonomy in a Federal System" (2008) 85 DENV. U. L. REV. 791.

Kaswan, Alice. "Environmental Justice and Domestic Climate Change Policy" (2008) 38 ENvTL. L. REP. 10287.

Kaswan, Alice. "The Domestic Response to Global Climate Change: What Role for Federal, State, and Litigation Initiatives?" (2007) 42 U.S.F. L. REV. 39.

Kattelmann, Richard. "Glacial Lake Outburst Floods in the Nepal Himalaya: A Manageable Hazard?" (2003) 28 Natural Hazards145.

Kaufmann, Daniel, Aart Kraay, and Pablo Zoido-Lobatón. "Governance Matters: From Measurement to Action" (2000) 37(2) Finance and Development 10.

Keane, David. "The Environmental Causes and Consequences of Migration: A Search for the Meaning of 'Environmental Refugees" (2004) 16 Georgetown International Environmental Law Review209.

Keiter, Robert B. "Ecological Concepts, Legal Standards, and Public Land Law: An Analysis and Assessment" (2004) 44 NAT. RES. J. 943.

Keiter, Robert B. "Ecosystems and the Law: Toward an Integrated Approach" (1998) 8 ECOLOGICAL APPLICATIONS 332.

Kelemen, R. Daniel & David Vogel. "Trading Places: The Role of the United States and the European Union in International Environmental Place" (2010) 43 Comp Pol Studies 427.

Kelley, Angela Haren. "Seawater Desalination: Climate Change Adaptation Strategy or Contributor?" (2011) 38 Ecology L Currents 40.

Kellogg, William W. & Robert Schware. "Society, Science and Climate Change" (1982) 60 Foreign Aff. 1076.

Kennedy, Duncan. "Form and Substance in Private Law Adjudication" (1976) 89 HARV. L. REV. 1685.

Kent, George. "The Human Right to Disaster Mitigation and Relief" (2001) 3 Environmental Hazards 137.

Keohane, Robert O. "Compliance with International Commitments: Politics within a Framework of Law" (1992) 86 American Society of International Law Proceedings 176.

Kerr, Richard A. "Atlantic Current Can Shut Down For Centuries, Disrupting Climate" (2014) 343 Science 831.

Kerr, Richard A. "Confronting the Bogeyman of the Climate System" (2005) 310 SCIENCE 432.

Kerr, Richard A. et al. "Latest Forecast: Stand by for a Warmer, but Not Scorching, World" (2006) 312 SCIENCE 351.

Kerr, Richard. "A Worrying Trend of Less Ice, Higher Seas" (2006) 311 Science 311: 1698.

Kerr, Richard. "Scientists tell Policymakers we're All Warming the World" (2007) 315Science754.

Kerr, Thomas M. & Richard M. Saines. "International Climate Change and Corporate Action" (2004) 18 Nat. Resources & Env't. 51.

Khor, Martin. "Complex Implications of the Cancun Climate Conference" (2010) 52 Economic & Political Weekly 10.

King, Joseph H. "Causation, Valuation, and Chance in Personal Injury Torts Involving Pre-existing Conditions and Future Consequences" (1981) 90(6) Yale Law Journal 1353.

Kingsburry, Benedict & Nico Kirsch and Richard B. Stewart. "The Emergence of Global Administrative Law" (2005) 68 Law and Contemporary Problems 1.

Kingsbury, Benedict. "The Concept of Compliance as a Function of Competing Conceptions of International Law" (1998) 19 Michigan Journal of International Law 345.

Kirkwood John B. "A Prudent Approach to Climate Change" (2011) 1 Seattle J. Envtl. L. 159.

Kishor, Nalin, and Arati Belle. "Does Improved Governance Contribute to Sustainable Forest Management?" (2004) 19 Journal of Sustainable Forestry 55.

Klein, Richard J. T. "Identifying Countries that Are Particularly Vulnerable to the Adverse Effects of Climate Change: An Academic or Political Challenge" (2009) 3 Carbon and Climate Law Review 284.

Knox, John H. "Climate Change and Human Rights Law" (2009) 50 VA. J. INT'L L. 163.

Koch, Hans-Joachim. "Climate Change Law in Germany" (2010) 7 J. Eur. Envtl. & Plan. L. 411.

Koh, Harold Hongju. "Why Do Nations Obey International Law?" (1997) 106 Yale Law Journal 2599.

Koontz, Tomas M. & Jennifer Bodine. "Implementing Ecosystem Management in Public Agencies: Lessons from the U.S. Bureau of Land Management and the Forest Service" (2008) 22 CONSERVATION BIOLOGY 60.

Korobkin, Russell B. "Behavioral Analysis and Legal Form: Rules us. Standards Revisited" (2000) 79 OR. L. REV. 23.

Koskenniemi, Martti. "Breach of Treaty or Non-Compliance? Reflections on the Enforcement of the Montreal Protocol" (1992) 3 Yearbook of International Environmental Law 123.

Koskenniemi, Martti. "The Pull of the Mainstream" (1990) 88(6) Michigan Law Review 1946.

Kravchenko, Svitlana. "The Aarhus Convention and Innovations in Compliance with Multilateral Environmental Agreements" (2007) 18(1) Colorado Journal of International Environmental Law and Policy 1.

Krent, Harold J. & Nicholas S. Zeppos. "Monitoring Governmental Disposition of

Assets: Fashioning Regulatory Substitutes for Market Controls" (1999) 52 VAND. L. REV. 1705.

Krier, James E. "The End of the World News" (1994) 27 LOY. L.A. L. REV. 851.

Krishna, S. M. "At the Interactive Debate on 'Lasting Peace through Joint Global Governance'. At the Preparatory Ministerial Meeting of the Non-Aligned Movement Tehran. Iran on 28 August 2012" (2012), online: http://www.un.int/india/nam/2012eam.nam.pdf.

Krutilla, John V. "Conservation Reconsidered" (1967) 57 AM. ECON. REV. 777.

Kulovesi, Kati. "A New Chapter in the UN Climate Change Negotiations? First Steps under the Durban Platform for Enhanced Action" (2012) 3 Climate Law 181.

Kumar, S., & Sarma, V. V. S. "Performance and Challenges of Newspapers in India: A Case Study on English versus Vernacular Dailies in India" (2015), online: http://www.aims-international.org/aims12/12A-CD/PDF/K740-final.pdf.

Kuran, Timur & Cass R. Sunstein. "Availability Cascades and Risk Regulation" (1998) 51 Stan. L. Rev. 683.

Kronk, Warner, Elizabeth Ann. "Indigenous Adaptation in the Face of Climate Change" (2015) 21 J. Envtl. & Sustainability L. 129.

Kaswan, Alice. "Seven Principles for Equitable Adaptation" (2012) 13 Sustainable Dev. L. & Pol'y 41.

Lian, Koh Kheng & Lovleen Bhullar. "Governance on Adaptation to Climate Change in the Asean Region" (2011) 2011 Carbon & Climate L. Rev. 82.

Lyster, Rosemary. "Smart Grids: Opportunities for Climate Change Mitigation and Adaptation" (2010) 36 Monash U. L. Rev. 173.

Leva, Charles. "The Paris Agreement and the International Trade Regime: Considerations for harmonization" (2016) 17 Sustainable Dev L & Pol'y 20.

Lin, Albert. "Evangelizing Climate Change" (2009) 17 NYU Envtl LJ 1135.

Latif, Birkah. "Indonesian and Climate Change" (2016) 45 JL Pol'y & Globalization 37.

Lahan, Dan M. et al. "Fear of Democracy: A Cultural Evaluation of Sunstein on Risk"

(2006) 119 Harv. L. Rev. 1071.

Lahsen, Myanna. "Technocracy Democracy and US. Climate Politics: The Need for Demarcations" (2005) 30 SCI. TECH. & HUM. VALUES 137.

Laitos, Jan G. & Rachael B. Gamble. "The Problem with Wilderness" (2008) 32 HARV. ENVTL. L. REV. 503.

Laitos, Jan G. & Thomas A. Carr. "The Transformation on Public Lands" (1999) 26 ECOLOGY L.Q. 140.

Landes, William M. & Richard A. Posner. "Tort Law as a Regulatory Regime for Catastrophic Personal Injuries" (1984) 13(3) Journal of Legal Studies 417.

Lang, Winfried. "UN Principles and International Environmental Law" (1999) 3 Max Planck Yearbook of United Nations Law 157.

Larson, Linda R. & .Jessica K. Ferrell. "Precautionary Resource Management and Climate Change" (2009) 24 Nat. Resources & Env't 51.

Latin, Howard A. "Climate Change Mitigation and Decarborization" (2014) 25 Vill. Envtl. L.J. 1.

LaTourette, Shawn M. "Global Climate Change: A Political Question" (2008) 40 Rutgers L.J. 219.

Lazarus, Richard J. "Climate Change Law in and over Time" (2010) 2 San Diego J. Climate & Energy L. 29.

Leatherman, Samuel P. "Social and Economic Costs of Sea Level Rise" (2001) 75 INTERNATIONAL GEOPHYSICS 181.

Lecocq, F. & Ambrosi, P. "The clean development mechanism: history, status, and prospects" (2007)1 Review of Environmental Economics and Policy134.

Lee, Kai N. & Jody Lawrence. "Adaptive Management: Learning from the Columbia River Basin Fish and Wildlife Program" (1986) 16 ENVTL. L. 431.

Lefeber, René. "From The Hague to Bonn to Marrakesh and Beyond: A Negotiating History of the Compliance Regime under the Kyoto Protocol" (2001) 14 Hague Yearbook of International Law 25.

Lehner, Peter. "Changing Markets to Address Climate Change" (2008) 35 B.C. Envtl. Aff. L. Rev. 385.

Leiserowitz, A., & Thaker, J. "Climate change in the Indian mind" (2012), online: http://environment.yale.edu/climate-communication/files/Climate-Change-Indian-Mind.pdf.

Libecap, Gary D. "Open-Access Losses and Delay in the Assignment of Property Rights" (2008) 50 ARIZ. L. REV. 379.

Limon, Marc. "Human Rights and Climate Change: Constructing a Case for Political Action" (2009) 33 HARV. ENVT L. REV. 439.

Lin, Albert C. "Virtual Consumption: A Second Life for Earth?" (2008) B.Y.U. L. REV. 47.

Lin, Jolene. "Litigating Climate Change in Asia" (2014) 4 Climate L. 140.

Littlefield, fiNeil O. "Municipal Home Rule -Connecticut's Mature Approach" (1962) 37 CONN. BAR J. 390.

Liu, Jin. "The Cancun Agreements" (2011) 13 Envtl. L. Rev. 43.

Loewenstein, George & Jane Mather. "Dynamic Processes in Risk Perception" (1990) 3 J. Risk & Uncertainty 155.

Lohan, Dagmar. "A Framework for Assessing the Input of Scientific Information into Global Decision making" (2006) 17 COLO. J. INT'L ENVTL. L. & POL'Y 1.

Lohmann, Larry. "Regulatory Challenges for Financial and Carbon Markets" (2009) 3(2) Carbon and Climate Law Review 161.

Long, Andrew. "International Consensus and U.S. Climate Change Litigation" (2008) 33 WM. & MARY ENVTL. L. & POL'Y REV. 177.

Long, Elisabeth & Eric Biber. "The Wilderness Act and Climate Change Adaptation" (2014), 44 ENVTL. L. 623.

Lopez, Aurelie. "The Protection of Environmentally-Displaced Persons in International Law" (2007) 37 Environmental Law 365.

Lovett, Jon C. Lovett. "1997 Kyoto Protocol" (2005) 49 J. Afr. L. 94.

Lucero, Lora A. "Climate Change Litigation and Policy - A Rapidly Shifting Landscape" (2008) 60 Planning & Envtl. L. 3.

Lund, Emma. "Dysfunctional Delegation: Why the Design of the CDM's Supervisory System is Fundamentally Flawed" (2010) 10 Climate Policy 277.

Lvey, Janet et al. "Community Capacity for Adaptation to Climate-Induced Water Shortages; Linking Institutional Complexity and Local Actors" (2004) 33 ENVTL. MGJMT. 36.

Mark, Byrne. "Climate Crime: Can Responsibility for Climate Change Damage be Criminalised" (2010)14 Carbon & Climate L Rev 278.

Marzen, Chad G & J Grant Ballard. "Climate Change and Federal Crop Insurance" (2016) 43 BC Envtl Aff L Rev 387.

McKinnon, Catriona. "Climate Change and Corrective Justice" (2009) 17 JRE 259.

McNamara, Karen Elizabeth. "Exploring Loss and Damage at the International Climate Change Talks" (2014) 5:3 International Journal of Disaster Risk Science, online: http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s13753-014-0023-4.

Macey, Adrian. "Climate Change: Governance Challenges for Copenhagen" (2009) 15 Global Governance 443.

Mayer, Benoît. "Whose 'Loss and Damage'? Promoting the Agency of Beneficiary States" (2014) 4:3–4 Climate Law 267.

Maryna, Medvedieva. "Sovereignty, Jurisdiction and Responsibility in the Era of Climate Change" (2017) 2017 Law Rev Kyiv UL 272.

Miller, Cory C. "Developments in Climate Change in 2004: Three Cheers for Russia" (2004) 16 Colo J Int'l Envtl L & Pol'y 143.

Macey, Gregg P. "The Architecture of Ignorance" 2013 UTAH L. REV. 1627.

Maggio, G.F. "Inter/intra-generational equity: current applications under international law for promoting the sustainable development of natural resources" (1996) 4 Buffalo Environmental Law Journal 161.

Malhotra, I. "Changing face of Indian media" (2008), online: http://www.mediamimansa.com/6th%20issue/6eng 67-72.pdf.

Maljean, Sandrine Dubois & Matthieu Wemaere. "The Legal Form of the Paris Agreement: A Comprehensive Assessment of Options" (2015) 9(1) CCLR.

Mandel, Gregory N. & Gary E. Marchant. "The Living Regulatory Challenges of Synthetic Biology" (2014) 100 IOWA L. REV. 155.

Mann, Roberta F. "Lighting in a Bottle: Using Tax Policy to Solve Renewable Energy's Storage Challenges" (2013), 20 J. ENVTL. & SUSTAINABILITY L. 71.

Manning, Andrew C., Euan G. Nisbet, Ralph F. Keeling, and Peter S. Liss. "Greenhouse Gases in the Earth System: Setting the Agenda to 2030" (2011) 369 Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society 1885.

Mantel, Jessica. "Procedural Safeguards for Agency Guidance: A Source of Legitimacy for the Administrative State" (2009) 61 ADMIN. L. REV. 343.

Marauhn, Thilo. "Towards a Procedural Law of Compliance Control in International Environmental Relations" (1996) 56 Zeitschrift für Ausländisches Öffentliches Recht und Völkerrecht 696.

Margalioth, Yoram "Tax Policy Analysis of Climate Change" (2010) 64 Tax L. Rev. 63.

Margalioth, Yoram. "Analysis of the US Case in Climate Change Negotiations" (2013) 13 Chi. J. Int'l L. 489.

Martin, Susan. "Climate Change, Migration, and Governance" (2010) 16 Global Governance 397.

Matthews, Robin B., Meine van Noordwijk, Eric Lambin, Patrick Meyfroidt, Joyeeta Gupta, Louis Verchot, Kristell Hergoualc'h, and Edzo Veldkamp. "Implementing REDD: Evidence on Governance, Evaluation and Impacts from the REDD-ALERT Projec" (2014) 19(6) Mitigation and Adaptation Strategies for Global Change 907.

Maturana, H. "Ontology of Observing: The Biological Foundations of Self-Consciousness and the Physical Domain of Existence" (1988), online: http://ada.ever green.edu/~arunc/texts/cybernetics/oo/old/oo.pdf.

Mayer, B. "The International Legal Challenges of Climate-Induced Migration: Proposal for an International Legal Framework" (2011) 22 Colorado Journal of International Environmental Law and Policy 357.

Mayer, Benoit. "The Applicability of the Principle of Prevention to Climate Change: A Response to Zahar" (2015) 5 (1) Climate Law 1.

Mayer, Benoit. "The International Legal Challenges of Climate Induced Migration: Proposal for an International Legal Framework" (2011) 22 COLO. J. INT'L ENVTL. L. & POL'Y 357.

Mburia, R. "Africa climate change policy: An adaptation and development challenge in a dangerous world" (2015), online: http://www.fao.org/fsnforum/sites/default/files/resources/AFRICA%20CLIMATE%20CHANGE%20POLICY-CEI.pdf.

McAaney, Sheila C. "Sinking Islands -Formulating a Realistic Solution to Climate Change is placement" (2012) 87 N.Y.U. L. Rev. 1172.

Mcadam, Jane. "Conceptualizing Climate Change-Related Movement" (2012) 106 Am Soc'y Int'l L Proc 433.

McAdams, Richard H. "The Origin, Development, and Regulation of Norms" (1997) 96 MICH. L. REV 338.

McBee, Joshua D. "Distributive Justice in the Paris Climate Agreement: Response to Peters et al" (2017) 9

McClelland, Robert. "Climate Change" (2011) 18 James Cook U. L. Rev. 6.

McCue, Gregory. "Environmental Refugees: Applying International Environmental Law to Involuntary Migration" (1993) 6 Georgetown International Environmental Law Review151.

McDonald, Jan. "A Short History of Climate Adaptation Law in Australia" (2014) 4(1–2) Climate Law 150.

McDonald, Lynn. "Constitutional Change to Address Climate Change and Nonrenewable Energy Use" (2008) 17 Const. F. 113.

McDonnell, Brett & Daniel Schwarcz. "Regulatory Contrarians" (2011) 89 N.C. L. REV. 1629.

McFarland, Jeffery M. "Warming Up to Climate Change Risk Disclosure" (2009)14 Fordham J. Corp. & Fin. L. 281.

McGillivray, M. "Measuring development? The UNDP's Human Development Index" (1993) 5 Journal of International Development 183.

McKibben, B. "Global warming's terrifying new math. Rolling Stone, 19, 43." (2012),

online:http://www.rollingstone.com/politics/news/global-warmings-terrifying-new-math-20120719.

McKinstry, Robert B. "Laboratories for Local Solutions for Global Problems: State, Local, and Private Leadership in Developing Strategies to Mitigate the Causes and Effects of Climate Change" (2004) 12 PENN ST. ENVTL. L. REV. 15.

McKinstry, Robert B. et al. "Federal Climate Change Legislation as if the States Matter" (2008) 22 NAT. RESOURCES & ENV'T 3.

Mehrishi, M. "Speech at 18th Conference of Parties (COP 18)" (2012), online: http://unfccc.int/resource/docs/cop18_cmp8_hl_statements/Statement%20by%20India%20(COP%2018).pdf.

Menkes, Jerzy; Marcin Menkes. "International Organisations, Climate Change Expectations, and the Reality of Institutionalisation - An Analysis of the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change" (2009) 29 Polish Y.B. Int'l L. 115.

Michaelowa, A. & F. Jotzo. "Transaction Costs, Institutional Rigidities and the Size of the Clean Development Mechanism" (2005) 33 Energy Policy511.

Michaelowa, A. "Unilateral CDM – can developing countries finance generation of greenhouse gas emission credits on their own?" (2007) 7 International Environmental Agreements 17.

Millar, Ilona & Martijn Wilder. "Enhanced Governance and Dispute Resolution for the CDM" (2009) 2009 Carbon & Climate L. Rev. 45.

Millar, Ilona. "There's No Place like Home: Human Displacement and Climate Change" (2007) 14 Austl. Int

Miller, A. "As quoted in The Observer. London, UK. Mineral Concessions Rules, Government of India" (1961), online: http://www.coalindia.in/RTI_crchp3.aspx.

Minchin, Nick. "Responding to Climate Change: Providing a Policy Framework for a Competitive Australia" (2001) 24 U.N.S.W.L.J. 550.

Mitchell, Ronald B. "Compliance Theory: A Synthesis" (1993) 2(4) Review of European Community and International Environmental Law 327.

Mitchell, Ronald B. "Sources of Transparency: Information Systems in International Regimes" (1998) 42 International Studies Quarterly 109.

Modi, N. "Narendra Modi's speech at UNESCO in full" (2015a), online: http://blogs. wsj.com/indiarealtime/2015/04/10/narendra-modis-speech-at-unesco-in-full/.

Modi, N. "Statement by Prime Minster at COP 21 Paris, November 2015. Paris: UNFCCC" (2015b), online: https://unfccc.int/files/meetings/paris_nov_2015/application/pdf/cop21cmp11_leaders_event_india.pdf.

Molk, Peter. "The Government's Role in Climate Change Insurance" (2016) 43 B.C. Envtl. Aff. L. Rev. 411.

Moomaw, William. "Will the Paris Climate Accord and Future Climate Treaties Be a Vision or a road map" (2015) 39 Fletcher F. World Aff. 41.

Morgan, Jennifer P. "Carbon Trading under the Kyoto Protocol: Risks and Opportunities for Investors" (2006) 18 Fordham Envtl. L. Rev. 151.

Muller, A. "How to make the clean development mechanism sustainable – the potential of rent extraction" (2007) 35 Energy Policy 3203.

Mundaca, Luis, and Jessika Luth Richter. "Challenges for New Zealand's Carbon Marke" (2014) 3 Nature Climate Change 1006.

Murdiyarso, Daniel, Maria Brockhaus, William D. Sunderlin, and Lou Verchot. "Some Lessons Learned From the First Generation of REDD+ Activities" (2012) 4 Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability 678.

Milne, Janet E. "Storms ahead: Climate Change Adaptation Calls for Resilient Funding" (2015) 39 Vt. L. Rev. 819.

McGee, Jeffrey & Liam Phelan, Joseph Wenta. "Writing the Fine Print: Developing Regional Insurance for Climate Change Adaptation in the Pacific" (2014) 15 Melb. J. Int'l L. 444.

Miller, Kathleen A. "Climate Change and Water in the West: Complexities, Uncertainties and Strategies for Adaptation" (2007) 27 J. Land Resources & Envtl. L. 87.

Nikolic, Dusan. "Climate Changes and Civil Law Elementsfor an Adaptation Strategy" (2013) 47 Zbornik Radova 61.

Nagle, John Copeland. "Climate Exceptionalism" (2010) 40 Environmental Law 53.

Nagle, John Copeland. "The Evangelical Debate over Climate Change" (2008) 5 U. St. Thomas L.J. 53.

Nagle, John Copeland. "The Spiritual Value of Wilderness" (2005) 35 ENVTL. L. 955.

Narain, Urvashi, Sergio Margulis, and Timothy Essam. "Estimating Costs of Adaptation to Climate Change" (2011) 11(3) Climate Policy 1001.

Natarajan, J. "Speech at 17th Conference of Parties (COP 17) in Durban" (2011), online:http://www.moef.nic.in/downloads/public-information/MEF%20statement HLS CoP17 Dec-07.pdf.

Natarajan, J. "Statement made at 19th Conference of Parties (COP-19). Warsaw: UNFCCC" (2013), online: http://www.ieee.es/Galerias/fichero/Varios/Cumbre_CambioClimatico Varsovia Nov2013.pdf

Nature Editorial. "Gas and Air" (2012) 482 Nature 131.

Nature Editorial. "The Final Assessment" (2013) 501 Nature 281.

Neeff, Till, and Francisco Ascui. "Lessons From Carbon Markets for Designing an Effective REDD Architecture" (2009) 9 Climate Policy 306.

Newlon, Jeanne L. "New Requirements for Alternative Fueled Automobiles: Fuel Economy Labeling and the CAFE Program" (1995) 1 ENVTL. LAW. 891.

Nicholls, Robert J. "Coastal Flooding and Wetland Loss in the 21st Century: Changes under the SRES Climate and Socio-Economic Scenarios" (2004) 14 Global Environmental Change 69.

Nickerson, Raymond S. "Confirmation Bias: A Ubiquitous Phenomenon in Many Guises" (1998) 2 REV. GEN. PSYCH. 175.

Nishimura, Lauren. "Climate Change Migrants: Impediments to a Protection Framework and the Need to Incorporate Migration into Climate Change Adaptation Strategies" (2015) 27 INT'L J. REFUGEE L. 107.

Nolen, Kelly. "Residents at Risk: Wildlife and the Bureau of Land Management's Planning Process" (1996) 26 ENVTL. L. 771.

Nollkaemper, André. "Compliance Control in International Environmental Law: Traversing the Limits of the National Legal Order" (2002) 13 Yearbook of International

Environmental Law 165.

Nolon, John R & Patricia E. Salkin. "Integrating Sustainable Development Planning and Climate Change Management" (2011) 63 Planning & Envtl. L. 3.

Nolon, John R. "Climate Change and Sustainable Development: The Quest for Green Communities" (2009) 61

Nolon, John R. "Land Use and Climate Change: Lawyers Negotiating above Regulation" (2010) 78 Brook. L. Rev. 521.

Nordhaus, William D. "A Review of the Stem Review on the Economics of Climate Change" (2007) 45(3) Journal of Economic Literature 686.

Norton, Bryan G. "The Rebirth of Environmentalism as Pragmatic, Adaptive Management" (2005) 24 VA. ENVTL. L.J. 353.

Nussbaum, Martha C. "Climate Change: Why Theories of Justice Matter" (2013) 13 Chi. J. Int'l L. 469.

Nussbaumer, Patrick. "On the Contribution of Labelled Certified Emission Reductions to Sustainable Development: A Multi-Criteria Evaluation of CDM Projects" (2009) 37(1) Energy Policy 91.

Olawuyi, Damilola S. "Achieving Sustainable Development in Africa through the Clean Development Mechanism: Legal and Institutional Issues Considered" (2009) 17:2 African Journal of International and Comparative Law 270.

O'Connell, Mary Ellen. "Enforcement and the Success of International Environmental Law" (1995) 3(1) Indiana Journal of Global Legal Studies 47.

O'Neill, J. "Building better global economic BRICs" (2001), online: http://www.goldmansachs.com/our-thinking/archive/archive-pdfs/build-better-brics.pdf.

Oberthür, Sebastian, and René Lefeber. "Holding Countries to Account: The Kyoto Protocol's Compliance System Revisited after Four Years of Experience" (2010) 1(1) Climate Law 133.

Oberthür, Sebastian. "Options for a Compliance Mechanism in a 2015 Climate Agreement" (2014) 4(1–2) Climate Law 30.

Oberthur, Sebastian. "Perspectives on EU Implementation of the Paris Outcome" (2016) 2016 CCLR 34.

Obold, Jason; Matthew Burns; Caroline Baker. "Impressions from Durban: COP-17 and Current Climate Change Policies" (2012) 23 Colo. J. Int'l Envtl. L. & Pol'y 389.

Ogletree, Charles J. "Repairing the Past: New Efforts in the Reparations Debate in America" (2003) 38 HARV. C.R.C.L. L. REV. 279.

Okonkwo, Theodore Okonkwo. "From the Copenhagen Accord to the Paris Agreement: Reaching Concord on a Single Document" (2017) 21 Kor. U. L. Rev. 21.

Olbrisch, Susanne, Erik Haites, Matthew Savage, Pradeep Dadhich, and Manish Kumar Shrivastava. "Estimates of Incremental Investment for and Cost of Mitigation Measures in Developing Countries" (2011) 11(3) Climate Policy 970.

Oleszkiewicz, Vincent S. & Douglas B. Sanders. "The Advent of Climate Change Litigation against Corporate Defendants" (2004) 27 INT'L ENV'T REP. 936.

Olsen, Karen Holm, and Jørgen Fenhann. "Sustainable Development Benefits of Clean Development Mechanism Projects" (2008) 36(8) Energy Policy 2819.

Olsen, Karen Holm. "The Clean Development Mechanism's Contribution to Sustainable Development: A Review of the Literature" 8 (2007) 4 Climatic Change 59.

Onuma, Uloma. "Suspension of Eligibility to Use the Kyoto Flexible Mechanisms: A Review of Substantive Issues" (2009) 2009 Carbon & Climate L. Rev. 357.

Oren, Craig N. "How a Mandate Came from Hell: The Making of the Federal Employee Trip Reduction Program" (1998) 28 ENVTL. L 267.

Osborn, Rachael Paschal. "Climate Change and the Columbia River Treaty" (2012) 2 Wash. J. Envtl. L. & Pol'y 75.

Osofsky, Hari M. & Janet Koven Levit. "The Scale of Networks? Local Climate Change Coalitions" (2008) 8 CM. J. INT'L L. 409.

Osofsky, Hari M. "Climate Change Legislation in Context" (2007) 102 Nw. L. Rev. Colloquy 245.

Osofsky, Hari M. "The Continuing Importance of Climate Change Litigation" (2010) 1 Climate L. 3.

Osofsky, Hari M. "The Geography of Climate Change Litigation: Implications for Transnational Regulatory Governance" (2005) 83 WASH. U. L.Q. 1789.

Osofsky, Hari. "Climate Change and Dispute Resolution Processes" In International Law in the Era of Climate Change, edited by Rosemary Rayfuse and Shirley V. Scott. Cheltenham, UK: Edward Elgar, (2012) 350.

Ostrom, Elinor. "Polycentric Systems for Coping with Collective Action and Global Environmental Change" (2010) 20 GLOBAL ENVTL. CHANGE 550.

Owley, Jessica. "Conservation Easements at the Climate Change Crossroads" (2011) 74 Law & Contemp. Probs. 199.

Peel, Jacqueline & Lee Godden. "Planning for Adaptation to Climate Change: Landmark Cases from Australia" (2009) 9 Sustainable Dev. L. & Pol'y 37.

Preston, Brian J. "Climate Change Litigation" (2011) 3 Carbon & Climate L Rev 3.

Perez, Carlota. "Technological Revolutions and Techno-economic Paradigms" (2010) 34:1 Cambridge Journal of Economics 185.

Proelss, Alexander & Monika Krivickaite. "Marine Biodiversity and Climate Change" (2009) 2009 Carbon & Climate L Rev 437.

Pacala, S. & R. Socolow. "Stabilization Wedges: Solving the Climate Problem for the Next 50 Years with Current Technologies (2004) 305 SCIENCE 901.

Parmesan, Camille & Gary Yohe. "A Globally Coherent Fingerprint of Climate Change Impacts Across Natural Systems" (2003) 421 Nature 37.

Parmesan, Camille. "Ecological and Evolutionary Responses to Recent Climate Change" (2006) 37 ANN. REV. ECOLOGY EVOLUTION & SYSTEMATICS 637.

Paulsson, E. "A review of the CDM literature: from fine-tuning to critical scrutiny?" (2009) 9 International Environmental Agreements 63.

Peel, Jacqueline. "Climate Change Law: The Emergence of a New Legal Discipline" (2008) 32 Melb U L Rev 922.

Peel, Jacqueline. "Issues in Climate Change Litigation" (2011) 2011 Carbon & Climate L. Rev. 15.

Peel, Jacqueline; Lee Godden; Rodney J Keenan. "Climate Change Law and Governance from the Bottom up: Introduction to the Special Issue" (2011) 2 Climate L 459.

Peeters, Marjan, and Thomas Schomerus. "Modifying Our Society With Law: The Case of EU Renewable-Energy Law" (2014) 4(1–2) Climate Law 131.

Penca, Jerneja. "International Maritime Organization" (2009) 24 Int'l J. Marine & Coastal L. 713.

Percival, Robert V. "China's 'Green Leap Forward' Toward Global Environmental Leadership (2011) 12 VT. J. ENVTL. L. 633.

Peters, Glen P., Gregg Marland, Corinne Le Quéré, Thomas Boden, Josep G. Canadell, and Michael R. Raupach. "Rapid Growth in CO2 Emissions after the 2008–2009 Global Financial Crisis" (2012) 2 Nature Climate Change 2.

Peters, Glen P., Jan C. Minx, Christopher L. Weber, and Ottmar Edenhofer. "Growth in Emission Transfers via International Trade from 1990 to 2008" (2011) 108(21) PNAS 8903.

Peters, Victoria. "A Legal Obligation to Mitigate Greenhouse Gas Emissions from Agriculture: A Challenge to the European Union's Emissions Trading System and the EU Member States with the Largest Agricultural Impact" (2015) 19 UCLA J. Int'l L. Foreign Aff. 213.

Peterson, Thomas D. et al. "Developing a Comprehensive Approach to Climate Change Policy in the United States that Fully Integrates Levels of Government and Economic Sectors" (2008) 26 VA. ENVTL. L.J. 227.

Phuong, Catherine. "Improving the United Nations Response to Crises of Internal Displacement" (2001) 13 International Journal of Refugee Law491.

Potter, Christopher, Peggy Gross, Steven Klooster, Matthew Fladeland, and Vanessa Genovese. "Storage of Carbon in U.S. Forests Predicted from Satellite Data, Ecosystem Modeling, and Inventory Summaries" (2008) 90 Climatic Change 269.

Pragmatic Panacea and Idealistic Impediment. The Optimisation of the CBDR Principle via Realism" (2009) 42 Comp. & Int'l L.J. S. Afr. 166.

Prouty, A.E. "The clean development mechanism and its implications for climate justice" (2009) 34 Columbia Journal of Environmental Law 513.

Purcell, Mark & Christopher Brown. "Against the Local Trap: Scale and the Study of Environment and Development Progress" (2005) 5 DEV. STUD. 279.

Purdy, Ray. "The Legal Implications of Carbon Capture and Storage under the Sea" (2006) 7SUSTAINABLE DEV. L. & POL'Y 22.

Quirico, Ottavio. "Amidst Fragmentation and Coherence: A Systemic Interpretation of the World Heritage Convention and the UNFCCC Regime" (2012) 10 N.Z. Y.B. Int'l L. 33.

Rosencranz, Armin & Dilpreet Singh, Jahnavi G. Pais. "Climate Change Adaptation, Policies, and Measures in India" (2010) 22 Geo. Int'l Envtl. L. Rev. 575.

Redgwell, Catherine. "UNCLOS and Climate Change" (2012) 106 Proceedings of the Annual Meeting 406.

Risse, Mathias. "The Moral Case for a Human Right to Relocation: Disappearing Island Nations and Common Ownership of the Earth" (2008) SSRN Electronic Journal, online: http://www.ssrn.com/abstract=1380425.

Risse, Mathias. "The Right to Relocation: Disappearing Island Nations and Common Ownership of the Earth" (2009) 23:3 Ethics & International Affairs 281.

Rose, Carol M. "Commons, Cognition, and Climate Change" (2017) 32 J Land Use & Envtl L 297.

Rabe, Barry. "Race to the Top: The Expanding Role of US. State Renewable Portfolio Standards" (2007) 7 SUSTAINABLE DEV. L. & POL'Y 10.

Rachlinski, Jeffrey J. "The Psychology of Global Climate Change" (2000) 2000 U. ILL. L. REV. 299.

Raijamani, Lavanya. "Differentiation in the Emerging Climate Regime" (2013) 14 Theoretical Inq. L. 151.

Rajamani, Lavanya. "The Climate Regime in Evolution: The Disagreements that Survive the Cancun Agreements" (2011) 2011 Carbon & Climate L. Rev. 136.

Rajamani, Lavanya. "The Durban Platform for Enhanced Action and the Future of the Climate Regime" (2012) 61 International & Comparative Law Quarterly.

Rajan Sudhir Chella. "Climate Change Dilemma: Technology, Social Change, or Both? An Examination of Long-Term Transport Policy Choices in the United States" (2006) 307

34 ENERGY POL'Y 664.

Rajasekhar, D., & Sahu, G. "The growing rural -urban disparity: Some issues" (2006), online: http://www.isec.ac.in/wp.html#top.

Rajiv Gandhi Grameen Vidyutkaran Yojna. "Government of India" (2012), online: http://www.rggvy.gov.in/rggvy/rggvyportal/plgsheet frame3.jsp.

Ramesh, J. "Jairam Ramesh statement on Copenhagen Accord in Rajya Sabha" (2009), online:http://www.thehindu.com/news/national/jairam-ramesh-statement-on-copenhagen-accord-in-rajya-sabha/article69893.ece.

Ramesh, J. "Letter to parliamentarians on the Cancun agreement" (2010), online: http://www.sanctuaryasia.com/index.php?view=article&catid=122%3Aclimate-chan Ge&id=3929%3Aletter-from-jairam-ramesh-on-the-cancunagreement&option=com content&Itemid=289.

Ramesh, J. "Speech at conference of parties to the UNFCCC (COP-16)." (2010), online:http://admin.indiaenvironmentportal.org.in/files/speech-cancun.pdf.

Ranson, Matthew & Robert N. Stavins. "Post-Durban Climate Poliy Architecture Based on Linkage of Cap-and-Trade Systems" (2013) 13 Chi J of Ind Law 403.

Rapaport, M.S. & Peebles, J. "Socially responsible investment" (1992) 6 Probate and Property 58.

Raustiala, Kal. "The "Participatory Revolution" in International Environmental Law" (1997) 21 HARV. ENVTL. L. REV. 537.

Rayfuse, R. & M.G. Lawrence and K.M. Gjerde. "Ocean Fertilization and Climate Change: The Need to Regulate Emerging High Sea Uses" (2008) IJMCL 23.

Reiblich, Jesse; Christine A. Klein. "Climate Change and Water Transfers" (2014) 41 Pepp. L. Rev. 439.

Revesz, Richard L. & Matthew R. Shahabian. "Climate Change and Future Generations" (2011) 84 S. Cal. L. Rev. 1097.

Ringius, Lasse, Asbjørn Torvanger, and Arild Underdal. "Burden Sharing and Fairness Principles in International Climate Policy." (2002) 2 International Environmental Agreements 1.

Rivera-Batiz, Francisco L. "Democracy, Governance, and Economic Growth: Theory and Evidence" (2002) 6(2) Review of Development Economics 225.

Rivier, Leonard et al. "European CO2 Fluxes from Atmospheric Inversions Using Regional and Global Transport Models" (2010) 103 Climatic Change 93.

Roberts, Mark W. "The Montreal Protocol Must Act to Prevent Global Climate Change While Restoring the Ozone Layer" (2009) 9 Sustainable Dev. L. & Pol'y 33.

Robinson, Glen O. "Probabilistic Causation and Compensation for Tortious Risk" (1985) 14(3) Journal of Legal Studies 779.

Robinson, Mary. "Social and Legal Aspects of Climate Change" (2014) 5 J. Hum. Rts. & Env't. 15.

Rodgers, William H. & Anna T. Mortiz. "The Worst Case and the Worst Example: An Agenda for Any Young Lawyer Who Wants to Save the World from Climate Chaos" (2009) 17 SE. ENVTL. L.J. 295.

Rogers, Nicole. "Climate Change Litigation and the Awfulness of Lawfulness" (2013) 38 Alternative L.J. 20.

Roisman, Florence Wagman. "Sustainable Development in Suburbs and Their Cities: The Environmental and Financial Imperatives of Racial, Ethnic, and Economic Inclusion" (1998) 3 WIDENER L. SYMP. J. 87.

Romijn, Erika, Martin Herold, Lammert Kooistra, Daniel Murdiyarso, and Louis Verchot. "Assessing Capacities of Non-Annex I Countries for National Forest Monitoring in the Context of REDD+" (2012) 19–20 Environmental Science and Policy 33.

Romo, Carlos R. "Rethinking the ESA's 'Orderly Progression' Recovery Credit Systems and Energy Development on Public Lands" (2013) 49 IDAHO L. REV. 471.

Rose, Carol M. "Giving, Trading, Thieving, and Trusting: How and Why Gifts Become Exchanges. (1992) 44 FIA L. REV. 295.

Rose, Carol. "The Comedy of the Commons: Custom, Commerce, and Inherently Public Property" (1986) 53 U. CHI. L. REV. 711.

Rose, Greogory. "A Compliance System for the Kyoto Protocol" (2001) 24 U.N.S.W.L.J. 588.

Rothchild, Jonathan. "Law, Religion, and Culture: The Function of System in Niklas Luhmann and Kathryn Tanner" (2009) 24 J.L. & RELIGION 475.

Ruhl, J.B. & James Salzman. "Gaming the Past: The Theory and Practice of Historic Baselines in the Administrative State" (2011) 64 VAND. L. REV. 1. 53.

Ruhl, J.B. & Robert L. Fischman. "Adaptive Management in the Courts" (2010) 95 MINN. L. REV. 440.

Ruhl, J.B. "Climate Change and the Endangered Species Act: Building Bridges to the No-Analog Future" (2008) 88 B.U. L. REV. 1, 17.

Ruhl, J.B. "Regulation by Adaptive Management Is It Possible?" (2005) 7 MINN. J.L. SCI. & TECH. 21.

Ruhl, J.B. "Taking Adaptive Management Seriously: A Case Study of the Endangered Species Act" (2004) 52 U. KAN. L. REV. 1249.

Ruhl, J.B. "Thinking of Environmental Law as a Complex Adaptive System: How to Clean Up the Environment by Making a Mess of Environmental Law" (1997) 34 Hous. L. REV. 933.

Ruhl, J.B., and James Salzman. "Climate Change Meets the Law of the Horse" (2013) 62(4) Duke Law Journal 975.

Ryan, Erin. "Federalism and the Tug of War Within: Seeking Checks and Balance in the Interjurisdictional Gray Area" (2007) 66 MD L. REV. 503.

Rypdal, Kristin, Frode Stordal, Jan Fuglestvedt, and Terje Berntsen. "Introducing Top-Down Methods in Assessing Compliance with the Kyoto Protocol" (2005) 5 Climate Policy 393.

Ruhl, J. B. "Climate Change Adaptation and the Structural Transformation of Environmental Law" (2010) 40 Envtl. L. 363.

Rosenbloom, Jonathan. "Funding Adaptation" (2013) 47 J. Marshall L. Rev. 657.

Royster, Judith V. "Climate Change and Tribal Water Rights: Removing Barriers to Adaptation Strategies" (2013) 26 Tul. Envtl. L.J. 197.

Sagar, Ambuj D, Hongyan H Oliver & Ananth P Chikkatur. "Climate Change, Energy, and Developing Countries" (2006) 7 Vt J Envtl L 71.

Savaresi, Annalisa. "Forests, economics, and climate change" (2011) 3 Climate Law 439.

Segger, Marie-Claire Cordonier. "Advancing the Paris Agreement on Climate Change for Sustainable Development" (2016) 5 Cambridge J Int'l & Comp L 202.

Stone, Christopher D. "Common but Differentiated Responsibilities in International Law" (2004) 98:2 the American Journal of International Law 276.

Streck, Charlotte. "Forests, Carbon Markets, and Avoided Deforestation: Legal Implications" (2008) 10 Carbon & Climate L Rev 239.

Stallard, Hannah. "Turning up the heat on Tuvalu: an Assessment of Potential Compensation for Climate Change Damage in Accordance with State Responsibility Under international Law" (2009) 15 Canterbury L Rev 163.

Stillings, Zackary L. "Human Rights and the New Reality of Climate Change: Adaptation's Limitations in Achieving Climate Justice" (2014) 35 Mich J Int'l L 637.

Sagar, Ambu & T. Banuri. "In Fairness to Current Generations: Lost Voices in the Climate Debate" (1999) 27(9) ENERGY POLICY 509.

Sagara, A.D. & Najam, A. "The human development index: a critical review" (1998) 25 Ecological Economics 249.

Salkin, Patricia. "Squaring the Circle on Sprawl: What More Can We Do? Progress toward Sustainable Land Use in the United States" (2007) 16 WIDENER L. REV. 787.

Salsich, Peter W. "Toward a Policy of Heterogeneity: Overcoming A Long History of Socioeconomic Segregation in Housing" (2007) 42 WAKE FOREST L. REV. 459.

Sand, Peter H. "Institution-Building to Assist Compliance with International Environmental Law: Perspectives" (1996) 56 Zeitschrift für Ausländisches Öffentliches Recht und Völkerrecht 774.

Sandman, Peter M. et al. "Communications to Reduce Risk Underestimation and Overestimation" (1998) 3 Risk Decision & Pol'y 93.

Saran, S., & Jones, B. "An 'India Exception' and India-US partnership on climate change" (2015), online: http://orfonline.org/cms/export/orfonline/modules/ issue brief/attachments/ORF_Issue_brief_85_1421127922603.pdf.

Saran, S., & Sharan, V. "Giving BRICS a non-western vision" (2012a), online: http://www.thehindu.com/opinion/op-ed/article2889838.ece?mstac=0.

Saran, S., & Sharan, V. "Identity and energy access in India—Setting contexts for Rio+20" (2012b), online: http://bookstore.teri.res.in/docs/newsletters/ESI%207 (1) %20Jan-Mar%202012.pdf.

Saran, S., & Sharan, V. "Indian leadership on climate change: Punching above its weight. Brooking blog" (2015), online: http://www.brookings.edu/blogs/planetpolicy/posts/2015/05/05-indian-leadership-climate-change-saran-sharan.

Saran, S., & Sharan, V." More than just a catchy acronym: Six reasons why BRICS matters" (2013), online: http://www.globaltimes.cn/content/754826.shtml.

Saran, Shyam. "Global Governance and Climate Change" (2009) 15 Global Governance 457.

Scalia, Antonin. "The Rule of Law as a Law of Rules" (1989) 56 U. CHI. L. REV. 1175.

Schauer, Frederick. "The Tyranny of Choice and the Rulification of Standards" (2005) 14 J. CONTEMP. LEGAL ISSUES 803.

Schmidt, Gavin A. "On Scientists and Advocacy" (2014) 344 Science 256.

Schneider, Lambert. "Assessing the Additionality of CDM Projects: Practical Experience and Lessons Learned" (2009) 9 Climate Policy 242.

Schneider, Lambert. "Perverse Incentives Under the CDM: An Evaluation of HFC-23 Destruction Projects" (2011) 11 Climate Policy 851.

Schonne, Marion Lemonie. "International law" (2016) 2016 CCLR 166.

Schreuer, Christoph. "Regionalism v. Universalism" (1995) 6 European Journal of International Law 477.

Schueth, S. "Socially responsible investing in the United States" (2003) 43 Journal of Business Ethics 189.

Schultz, Courtney & Martin Nie. "Decision-Making Triggers, Adaptive Management, and Natural Resources Law and Planning" (2012) 52 NAT. RES. J. 443.

Schwarte, Christoph & Will Frank. "The International Law Association's Legal Principles on Climate Change and Climate Liability under Public International Law" (2014) 4 (3-4) Climate Law 201.

Scott, Joanne. "Multi-Level Governance of Climate Change" (2011) Carbon & Climate L. Rev. 25.

Sengupta, A. "On the theory and practice of the right to development" (2002) 24 Human Rights Quarterly 837.

Sergienko, Gregory. "Property Law and Climate Change" (2008) 25 GPSolo 32.

Sethi, N. "Javadekar to lead at Ban Ki-moon's climate summit in New York" (2014), online:http://www.business-standard.com/article/economy-policy/javadekar-to-lead-at-ban-ki-moon-s-climate-summit-in-new-york-114091800023 1.html.

Shapiro, Sidney A. & Robert L. Glicksman. "Congress, the Supreme Court, and the Quiet Revolution in Administrative Law" (1988) 1988 DUKE L.J. 819.

Sharan, V., & Kumar, P. "South–South cooperation: A survey of recent trends" (2013), online:http://orfonline.org/cms/export/orfonline/modules/issuebrief/attachments/issuebrief65_1388636496297.pdf.

Shen, G. Guang. "Clean Development Mechanism in China; Taking a Sustainable and Proactive Approach" (2004) 2 Sino Sphere Journal 3.

Shih, Wen-chen. "The World Bank and Climate Change" (2000) 3 J. Int'l Econ. L. 633.

Sieghart, L.C. "Unilateral clean development mechanism – an approach for a least developed country? The case of Yemen" (2009) 12 Environmental Science and Policy198.

Sigman, Hilary. "Legal Liability as Climate Change Policy" (2007) 155 U. Pa. L. Rev. 1953.

Silva-Castañeda, Laura. "A Forest of Evidence: Third-Party Certification and Multiple Forms of Proof—A Case Study of Oil Palm Plantations in Indonesia" (2012) 29(3) Agriculture and Human Values 361.

Simma, B. & D. Pulkowski. "Of Planets and the Universe: Self-Contained Regimes in International Law" (2006) 17: 3 EIL529.

Simonetti, Sander. "Legal Protection and (the Lack of) Private Party Remedies in International Carbon Emission Reduction Projects" (2010) 28 J. Energy & Nat. Resources L. 171.

Sinden, Amy. "Climate Change and Human Rights" (2007) 27 J. LAND RESOURCES & ENVTL. L 255.

Singh, Dilpreet. "Climate Change Adaptation, Policies, and Measures in India" (2010) 22 Geo Int'l Envtl L Rev 575.

Singh, Margaretha Wewerinke & Curtis Doebbler. "The Paris Agreement: Some Critical Reflections on Process and Substance" (2016) 39 U.N.S.W.L.J. 1486.

Sinha, Y. "Speech at the World Summit on Sustainable Development" (2002), online: http://www.un.org/events/wssd/statements/indiaE.htm.

Smagadi, Aphrodite. "Analysis of the Objectives of the Convention on Biological Diversity: Their Interrelation and Implementation Guidance for Access and Benefit Sharing" (2006) 31 COLUM. J. ENVTL. L. 243.

Small, Deborah A. & George Loewenstein. "The Devil You Know: The Effects of Identifiability on Punishment" (2005) 18 J. Behav. Decision Making 311.

Smith, Joel B., Thea Dickinson, Joseph D.B. Donahue, Ian Burton, Erik Haites, Richard J.T. Klein, and Anand Patwardhan. "Development and Climate Change Adaptation Funding: Coordination and Integration" (2011) 11(3) Climate Policy 987.

Smith, Kirk R. et al. "Greenhouse Implications of Household Stoves: An Analysis for India" (2000) 25 ANNUAL REVIEW OF ENERGY AND THE ENVIRONMENT 741.

Smith, Susan L. "Ecologically Sustainable Development: Integrating Economics, Ecology, and Law" (1995) 31 WILLAMETTE L. REV. 261.

Sofferman, Sophia. "Climate Change Negotiations and DOHA, Qatar" (2014) 26 Pace Int'l L. Rev. 32.

Sokona, Y. "The Clean Development Mechanism: What Prospects for Africa?" (2005) ENDA 1.

Solomon, Susan, et al. "Persistence of Climate Changes Due to a Range of Greenhouse Gases" (2010) 107 Proceedings Natl Acad Sci 18354.

Soudani, Kamel, and Christophe François. "A Green Illusion" (2014) 506 Nature 165.

Squillance, Mark. "Climate Change and Institutional Competence" (2010) 41 U. Tol. L. Rev. 889.

Srivas, A. "Fighting climate change needs climate justice, Says India" (2015), online: http://thewire.in/2015/09/26/international-partnerships-must-for-fighting-climate-change-says-modi-11668/.

Stallworthy, Mark. "Environmental Justice Imperatives for an Era of Climate Change" (2009) 36 J.L. & Soc'y 55.

Stavros Afionis. "European Union Coherence in UNFCCC Negotiations under the New Treaty of Lisbon (Reform Treaty)" (2009) 9 Sustainable Dev. L. & Pol'y 43.

Stephens, Pamela. "Applying Human Rights Norms to Climate Change: The Elusive Remedy" (2010) 21 Colo. J. Int'l Envtl. L. & Pol'y 49.

Stewart, Richard B. "States and Cities as Actors in Global Climate Regulation: Unitary vs. Plural Architectures" (2008) 50 ARIZ. L. REV. 681.

Stiglitz, Joseph E. "Participation and Development: Perspectives from the Comprehensive Development Paradigm" (2002) 6(2) Review of Development Economics 163.

Streck, Charlotte, and Jolene Lin. "Mobilising Finance for Climate Change Mitigation: Private Sector Involvement in International Carbon Finance Mechanisms" (2009) 10(1) Melbourne Journal of International Law 70.

Streck, Charlotte. "The Global Environment Facility—A Role Model for International Governance?" (2001) 1 Global Environmental Politics 71.

Strydom, Hennie. "Are Climate Change Policies Justiciable" (2011) 2011 J. S. Afr. L. 373.

Stuenkel, O. "Responding to global development challenges: Views from Brazil and India" (2010), online: https://www.die-gdi.de/uploads/media/DP_11.2010. Pdf.

Sturges, Wesley A. &William W. Sturges. "Appraisals of Loss and Damage under Insurance Policies" (1957) 11 Miami L.Q. 323.

Subbarao, Srikanth, and Bob Lloyd. "Can the Clean Development Mechanism (CDM) Deliver?" (2011) 39(3) Energy Policy 1600.

Sugiyama, Taishi, and Axel Michaelowa. "Reconciling the Design of CDM With Inborn Paradox of Additionality Concept" (2001) 1(1) Climate Policy 75.

Sullivan, Karen. "Technology Transfer and Climate Change: Additional Considerations for Implementation under the UNFCCC" (2011) 7 Law Env't & Dev. J. 1.

Sunga, Lyal S. "Does Climate Change Kill People in Darfur" (2011) 2 J. Hum. Rts. & Env't. 64.

Sunstein, Cass R. "Of Montreal and Kyoto: A Tale of Two Protocols" (2007) 31 Harv. Envtl. L. Rev. 15.

Susskind, Lawrence et al. "A Critical Assessment of Collaborative Adaptive Management in Practice" (2012) 49 J. APPLIED ECOLOGY 47.

Susskind, Lawrence et al. "Collaborative Planning and Adaptive Management in Glen Canyon: A Cautionary Tale" (2010) 35 COLUM. J. ENVTL. L. 1.

Sussman, Edna. "Reshaping Municipal and County Laws to Foster Green Building, Energy Efficiency, and Renewable Energy" (2008) 16 N.Y.U. ENVTL. L.J. 1, 8.

Sutter, C. and Parreño, J.C. "Does the current clean development mechanism (CDM) deliver its sustainable development claim? An analysis of officially registered CDM projects" (2007) 84 Climatic Change 75.

Sutter, Christoph, and Juan Carlos Parreño. "Does the Current Clean Development Mechanism (CDM) Deliver its Sustainable Development Claim? An Analysis of Officially Registered CDM Projects" (2007) 84 Climatic Change 75.

Swart, Rob, Peter Bergamaschi, Tinus Pulles, and Frank Raes. "Are National Greenhouse Gas Emissions Reports Scientifically Valid?" (2007) 7 Climate Policy 535.

Sword, Keith. "Responses to Geopolitical Change: Refugee Flows in the Post-Communist Era: A Report on the Third Annual Meeting of the International Research and Advisory Panel January 1992" (1992) 5 Journal of Refugee Studies 87105.

Sussman, Edna. "Building Stock Offers Opportunities to Foster Sustainability and Provides Tools for Climate Change Mitigation and Adaptation" (2007) 7 Sustainable Dev. L. & Pol'y 17.

Sussman, Edna & David C. Major, Rachel Deming, Pamela R. Esterman. "Climate Change Adaptation: Fostering Progress through Law and Regulation" (2010) 18 N.Y.U. Envtl. L.J. 55.

Smith, Joel B. "Adaptation: Another Approac" (1990) 16 EPA J. 29.

Trisolini, Katherine. "Holistic Climate Change Governance: Towards Mitigation and Adaptation Synthesis" (2014) 85 U. Colo. L. Rev. 615.

Termeer, Catrien & Art Dewulf, Helena van Rijswick, Arwinvan Buuren. "The Regional Governance of Climate Adaptation: A Framework for Developing Legitimate, Effective, and Resilient Governance Arrangements" (2011) 2 Climate L. 159.

Thoms, Laura. "A Comparative Analysis of International Regimes on Ozone and Climate Change with Implications for Regime Design" (2003) 41 Colum J Transnat'l L 795.

Tabau, Anne-Sophie. "Evaluation of the Paris Climate Agreement According to a Global Standard of Transparency" (2016) 2016 CCLR 23.

Thompson, Barton H. "Tragically Difficult: The Obstacles to Governing the Commons" (2000) 30 ENVTL. L. 241.

Tol, Richard S.J. & Roda Verheyen. "State responsibility and compensation for climate change damages a legal and economic assessment" (2004) 32 Energy Policy 1109.

Tolan, Patrick E. Jr. "Homeland Security Challenges of Global Climate Change" (2008) 54 Loy. L. Rev. 800.

Tompkins, Emma L. & W. Neil Adger. "Does Adaptive Management of Natural Resources Enhance Resilience to Climate Change?" (2004) 9(2) ECOLOGY & SOC'Y 1.

Trachtman, Joel P. "Bananas, Direct Effect and Compliance" (1999) 10(4) European Journal of International Law 655.

Trisolini, Katherine A. "All Hands on Deck: Local Governments and the Potential for Bidirectional Climate Change Regulation" (2010) 62 STAN. L. REV. 669.

Tsai, Sophia Tsai. "UNFCCC Technical Workshop on Mechanisms of the Kyoto Protocol" (2000) 11 Colo. J. Int'l Envtl. L. & Pol'y 220.

Tsang, Stephen & Ans Kolk. "The Evolution of Chinese Policies and Governance Structures on Environment, Energy and Climate" (2010) 20 ENVTL. PoL'Y & GOVERNANCE 180.

Tuana, Nancy. "Ethically Valuing the Future: Non-Market Loss and Damage in the Context of Climate Change" (2017) 15 Geo. J.L. & Pub. Pol'y 979.

Vina, Antonio G M La. "Climate Change, Scientific Uncertainty and International Law" (1993) 68 Phil LJ 17.

Verheyen, Roda & Peter Roderick. "Beyond Adaptation" (2008) WWF-UK, available at http://assets.wwf.org.uk/downloads/beyond adaptation lowres.pdf.

Voigt, Christina. "State Responsibility for Climate Change Damages" (2008) 77:1 Nordic Journal of International Law 1.

Vihma, Antto & Kati Kulovesi. "Can Attention to the Process Improve the Efficiency of the UNFCCC Negotiations?" (2013) 2013 CCLR 242.

Van Vliet, Oscar, André Faaij, and Carel Dieperink. "Forestry Projects under the Clean Development Mechanism?" (2003) 61 Climatic Change 123.

Vandenbergh, Michael & Brooke A. Ackerly. "Climate Change: The Equity Problem" (2007) 26 VA. ENVTL. L.J. 55.

Vandenbergh, Michael P & Mark A. Cohen. "Climate Change Governance: Boundaries and Leakage" (2010) 18 N.Y.U. Envtl. L.J. 221.

Vandenbergh, Michael P. & Anne C. Steinemann. "The Carbon-Neutral Individual" (2007) 82 N.Y.U. L. REV. 1673.

Vandenbergh, Michael P. & Jonathan A. Gilligan. "Beyond Gridlock" (2015) 40 COLUM, J. ENVTL, L. 217.

Vido, Sara De. "The Right to Water as an International Custom: The Implications in Climate Change Adaptation Measures" (2012) 2012 CCLR 221.

Verchick, Robert R.M. "Why the Global Environment Needs Local Government: Lessons from the Johannesburg Summit" (2003) 35 URB. LAW. 471.

Verschuuren, Jonathan. "The Paris Agreement on Climate Change: Agriculture and Food Security" (2016) 7 Eur. J. Risk Reg. 54.

Victor, David G. "Enforcing International Law: Implications for an Effective Global Warming Regime.' 10 Duke Environmental Law and Policy Forum 147–184. Victor, David G. (2008). 'On the Regulation of Geoengineering" (1999) 24(2) Oxford Review of Economic Policy 322.

Victor, David G. et al. "The Geoengineering Option: A Last Resort against Global Warming?" (2009) 88 FOREIGN AFF. 64.

Victor, David. "Enforcing International Environmental Law: implications for an Effective Global Warming Regime" (1999) DELPF Fall 1999 Vol 10.

Voigt, Christina. "State Responsibility for Climate Change Damage" (2008) 77 NORDIC J. INT'L L. 1, 21.

Volkman, John M. & Willis E. McConnaha. "Through A Glass, Darkly: Columbia River Salmon, the Endangered Species Act, and Adaptive Management" (1993) 23 ENVTL. L. 1249.

Wilson Elizabeth & Catrien Termeer. "Governance of Climate Change Adaptation: Introduction to the Special Issue" (2011) 2 Climate L. 149.

Werrell, Caitlin E. "Francesco Femia, Climate Change, the Erosion of State Sovereignty, and World Order" (2016) 22 Brown J World Aff 221.

Williams, Angela. "Climate Change Law: Creating and Sustaining Social and Economic Insecurity" (2011) 20:4 Social & Legal Studies 499.

Wibisana, Andri G. "Equity and the Global Policy on Climate Change: a Law and Economic perspective" (2012) 2 Indon L Rev 295.

Williams, Angela. "Turning the Tide: Recognizing Climate Change Refugees in International Law" (2008) 30 Law & Pol'y 502.

Walline, Conor J. "Executive Power and Regional Climate Change Agreements" (2014) 31 Pace Envtl L Rev 803.

Warnock, Ailsa Ceri. "The Climate Change Regime: Efficacy, Compliance and Enforcement" (2004) 8 NZ J Envtl L 99.

Walker, George. "Filling Some of the Gaps: The International Law Association Law of the Sea Definitions Project" (2009) 32 FORDHAM INT'L L.J. 1336.

Wang, Qiang. "China Should Aim For a Total Cap on Emissions." 512 Nature 115.

Wang, Xueman and Glenn Wiser (2002). 'The Implementation and Compliance Regimesunder the Climate Change Convention and its Kyoto Protocol' (2014) 11(2) Review of European Community and International Environmental Law 181.

Wanjiru, Lucy. "Gender, Climate Change and Sustainable Development" (2011) 23 Fordham Envtl. L. Rev. 1.

Wara, Michael W., and David G. Victor. "A Realistic Policy on International Carbon

Offsets" (2008) Stanford University Working Paper No. 74.

Waring, P. & Edwards, T. "Socially responsible investment: explaining its uneven development and human resource management consequences" (2008) 16 Corporate Governance: An International Review 135.

Warner, Koko. "Global Environmental Change and Migration: Governance Challenges" (2010) 20 GLOBAL ENVTL. CHANGE 402.

Weiner, J. "Global Environmental Regulation: Instrument Choice in Legal Context" (1999) 108 Yale L.J. 722.

Weisbach, David. "Designing Subsidies for Low-Carbon Energy" (2013) 20 J. ENVTL. & SUSTAINABILITY L. 1.

Weiss, Edith Brown. "Understanding Compliance with International Environmental Agreements: The Baker's Dozen Myths" (1999) 32(5) University of Richmond Law Review 1555.

Weiss, Janet A. & Mary Tschirhart, "Public Information Campaigns as Policy Instruments" (1994) 13 J. POL'Y ANALYSIS & MGMT 82.

Werksman, Jacob. "Compliance and the Kyoto Protocol: Building a Backbone into a "Flexible" Regime" (1999) 9 Yearbook of International Environmental Law 48.

Werksman, Jacob. "Compliance and Transition: Russia's Non-Compliance Tests the Ozone Regime" (1996) 56 Zeitschrift für Ausländisches Öffentliches Recht und Völkerrecht 750.

Werner, Carol M. et al. "Commitment, Behavior, and Attitude Change: An Analysis of Voluntary Recycling" (1995) 15 J. ENVTL. PSYCH. 197.

Wexler, Lesley. "The Non-Legal Role of International Human Rights Law in Addressing Immigration" (2007) 2007 U. CHI. LEGAL F. 359.

Widerness, Sandra Zellmer. "Water, and Climate Change" (2012) 42 Envtl. L. 313.

Wieher, Jonathan B. "Radiative Forcing Climate Policy to Break the Logjam in Environmental Law (2008) 17 NYU. ENVTL. L.J. 210.

Wiener, Jonathan B. "Climate Change Policy and Policy Change in China" (2008) 55 UCLA L.REV. 1805.

Wiersema, Annecoos. "The New International Law-Makers? Conferences of the Parties to Multilateral Environmental Agreements" (2009) 31(1) Michigan Journal of International Law 231.

Wiggins, Lucy. "Existing Legal Mechanisms to Address Oceanic Impacts from Climate Change" (2007) 7 SUSTAINABLE DEV. L. & POL'Y 22.

Wirth, Timothy E. "A Way forward on Climate Change" (2008) 2 Harv. L. & Pol'y Rev. 313.

Wirth, Timothy E. "Making the International Climate Change Process Work" (1996) 7 Department of State Dispatch 376.

Wiseman, Hannah J. "Coordinating the Oil and Gas Commons" (2014) 2014 B.Y.U. L. REV. 1543.

Wiseman, Hannah J. "Governing Fracking from the Ground Up" (2014) 93 TEX. L. REV. 29.

Wiseman, Hannah J. "Regulatory Islands" (2014) 89 N.Y.U. L. REV. 1661.

Wiseman, Hannah J. "Risk and Response in Fracturing Policy" (2013) 84U. COLO. L. REV. 729.

Wong, Penny. "From Copenhagen to Paris: Climate Change and the Limits of Rationality, ultilateralism, and Leadership" (2015) 21 Brown J. World Aff. 267.

Wood, James C. "Intergenerational Equity and Climate Change" (1996) 8 Geo Int'l Envtl L Rev 293.

Wyman, Katrina M. "Are We Morally Obligated to Assist Climate Change Migrants?" (2013) 7 L. & Ethics Hum. Rts. 185.

Young, Margaret A. "Climate Change Law and Regime Interaction" (2011) 2011 Carbon & Climate L. Rev. 147.

Zimmerman, Carl L & Katharine Owens. "A Local Solution for Climate Change: The Climate Adaption Board" (2012) 5 Sea Grant L & Pol'y J 41.

Zahar, Alexander. "Methodological Issues in Climate Law" (2015) 5 Climate L 25.

Ziegler, Edward H. "Urban Sprawl, Growth Management, and Sustainable

Development in the United States: Thoughts on the Sentimental Quest for a New Middle Landscape" (2003) 11 VA. J. SOC. POL'Y & L. 26.

Zinn, Matthew D. "Adapting to Climate Change: Environmental Law in Warmer World" (2007) 34 Ecology L.Q. 61.

JURISPRUDENCE

American Electric Power Company v Connecticut, 564 US 410 (2011)

China Environmental Federation v Dezhou Jinghua Group Zhenhua Co, Ltd. (2016)

Carolina v Tennessee Valley Authority, 593 F Supp (2d) 812 (ND Cal 2009)

Friends of the Earth v Canada, [2009] 3 FCR 201.

Georgia v Tennessee Copper Co, 206 US 230 (1907)

INTERNATIONAL ORGANIZATION DOCUMENTS

Alliance of Small Island States (AOSIS), *Multi-Window Mechanism to Address Loss and Damage from Climate Change Impacts*, Official Records (UNFCCC, 2008), online: http://unfccc.int/files/kyoto_protocol/application/pdf/aosisinsurance061208.pdf.

Bureau of Energy Efficiency, *Annual report 2007–08, Ministry of Power, Government of India* (2008), online: http://beeindia.in/about_bee/documents/annualre ports/2007-08E.pdf.

Census of India, *Ministry of home affairs*. *Government of India* (2011), online: http://censusindia.gov.in/.

Confederation of Indian Industries, *Climate change* (2013), online: http://www.cii.in/Sectors.aspx?enc=prvePUj2bdMtgTmvPwvisYH+5EnGjyGXO9hL ECvTuNvtoshNFjXWF9pWAvpZBDgh.

IPCC. 2007: Climate Change 2007: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability. Contribution of Working Group II to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, Official Records, by IPCC, Official Records (UK: IPCC, 2007).

IPCC. 2014: Climate Change 2014: Synthesis Report, Official Records, by IPCC, Official Records (Switzerland: IPCC, 2014).

IPCC. 2014: Introductory Chapter. In: Climate Change 2014: Mitigation of Climate Change. Contribution of Working Group III to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, by IPCC (United Kingdom: IPCC, 2014).

IPCC. 2014: Point of departure. In: Climate Change 2014: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability. Part A: Global and Sectoral Aspects. Contribution of Working Group II to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, Official Records, by IPCC, Official Records (United Kingdom: IPCC, 2014).

IPCC. 2013: Introduction. In: Climate Change 2013: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, by IPCC (United Kingdom, 2013).

IPCC. 2007: Climate Change 2007: Synthesis Report. Contribution of Working Groups I, II and III to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, by IPCC (Switzerland: IPCC, 2007).

IPCC. 2001: Climate Change 2001: Synthesis Report. A Contribution of Working Groups I, II, and III to the Third Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, by IPCC (United Kingdom: IPCC, 2001).

IPCC. Climate change 1995: Impacts, Adaptations and Mitigation of Climate Change: Scientific-Technical Analyses, by IPCC (United Kingdom, 1995).

IPCC. Climate change 1995: Contribution of WGI to the Second Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, by IPCC (United Kingdom: IPCC, 1995).

IPCC. Climate Change 1995 Economic and Social Dimensions of Climate Change, by IPCC (United Kingdom, 1995).

International Law Commission, Yearbook of the International Law Commission: Report of the International Law Commission covering the work of its Fourteenth Session, Official Records A/CN.4/SER.A/1962/Add. 1 (Geneva: International Law Commission, 1962), online: http://legal.un.org/ilc/reports/.

International Law Commission, Report of the International Law Commission covering the work of its fifteenth session, State responsibility, Official Records A/CN.4/163 (Geneva: International Law Commission, 1963), online: http://legal.un.org/ilc/reports/.

International Law Commission, Report of the International Law Commission on the 323

work of its fifty-third session, Official Records A/56/10 (Geneva: International Law Commission, 2001), online: http://legal.un.org/ilc/reports/.

International Law Commission, Report of the International Law Commission on the work of its fifty-eighth session, Official Records A/61/10 (Geneva: International Law Commission, 2006), online: http://legal.un.org/ilc/reports/.

India Disaster Knowledge Network, *Disaster profile* (2009), online: http://www.saarc-sadkn.org/countries/india/disaster profile.aspx.

Ministry of Ecology and Environment of the People's Republic of China, *China's Policies and Actions for Addressing Climate Change* (Beijing: Ministry of Ecology and Environment of the People's Republic of China, 2018).

National Development and Reform Commission, *China's Policies and Actions for Addressing Climate Change* (Beijing: National Development and Reform Commission, 2013).

National Development and Reform Commission, *China's Policies and Actions for Addressing Climate Change* (Beijing: National Development and Reform Commission, 2017).

National Development and Reform Commission, *China's Policies and Actions for Addressing Climate Change* (Beijing: National Development and Reform Commission, 2016).

National Development and Reform Commission, *China's Policies and Actions for Addressing Climate Change* (Beijing: National Development and Reform Commission, 2015).

National Development and Reform Commission, *China's Policies and Actions for Addressing Climate Change* (Beijing: National Development and Reform Commission, 2014).

Rajendra K Pachauri, Leo Mayer & Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, *Climate change 2014: synthesis report* (Geneva, Switzerland: Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, 2015), online: http://www.ipcc.ch/publications and data/publications and data reports.shtml.

United Nations, *Report of the Conference of the Parties on its sixteenth session*, Official Records FCCC/CP/2010/7/Add.1 (Cancun: UN, 2010), online: https://unfccc.int/documents?f%5B0%5D=conference%3A3399&f%5B1%5D=conference%3A3452.

United Nations Environment Programme, *The Adaptation Gap Report 2014* (Nairobi: UNEP, 2014), online: https://www.unenvironment.org/resources/adaptation-gap-report-2014.

United Nations, Report of the Conference of the Parties on its twenty-third session, Official Records FCCC/CP/2017/11/Add.1 (Bonn: UN, 2017), online: https://unfccc.int/node/65126.

United Nations, *Report of the conference of the Parties on its seventh session*, Official Records FCCC/CP/2001/13/Add.3 (Marrakesh, 2001), online: https://unfccc.int/documents?f%5B0%5D=conference%3A3620&f%5B1%5D=confee. nce%3A3614&search=&page=0%2C0%2C1.

United Nations, *Mechanisms to manage financial risks from direct impacts of climate change in developing countries*, Official Records FCCC/TP/2008/9 (United Nations, 2008), online: https://unfccc.int/resource/docs/2008/tp/09.pdf.

United Nations, *Report of the Conference of the Parties on its nineteenth session*, Official Records FCCC/CP/2013/10/Add.1 (Warsaw: United Nations, 2013), online: https://unfccc.int/documents?f%5B0%5D=conference%3A3667&f%5B1%5D=conference%3A3936&search=&page=0%2C0%2C1.

UNEP. The Adaptation Gap Report 2017, by UNEP (Nairobi, Kenya: UNEP, 2017).

UNEP. The Adaptation Gap Report 2017, by UNEP (Nairobi, Kenya: UNEP, 2016).

UNEP. The Adaptation Gap Report 2017, by UNEP (Nairobi, Kenya: UNEP, 2015).